
Bundu is an anomaly among the precolonial Muslim states of West Africa. Founded
during the jihads which swept the savannah in the eighteenth and nineteenth
centuries, it developed a pragmatic policy, unique in the midst of fundamentalist,
theocratic Muslim states. Its founder, Makik Sy, set the state on a distinctive course,
and the ruling Fulbe group kept its distance from subsequent Islamic revolutionary
movements, and tolerated the diverse religious and social practices of its Soninke,
Malinke and Wolof subjects. Located in the Upper Senegal and with access to the
Upper Gambia, Bundu played a critical role in regional commerce and production
and reacted quickly to the stimulus of European trade.

Drawing upon a wide range of sources both oral and documentary, Arabic, English
and French, Dr Gomez provides the first full account of Bundu's history. He analyses
the foundation and growth of an Islamic state at a cross roads between the Saharan
and trans-Atlantic trade, paying particular attention to the relationship between
Islamic thought and court policy, and to the state's response to militant Islam in the
early nineteenth century.
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Notes on spelling

Concerning place names, the designations of various states are anglicized.
However, in an effort to avoid confusion, the names of Bundunke towns,
villages, and areas within Bundu retain their French form, in conformity
with the maps of the Institut geographique national.

The names of all living people, or of those who have recently died, are
spelled as the individuals themselves spell them. With regard to historical
figures, the Pulaar, Malinke, or Soninke forms are used, except when an
individual is more widely recognized by the purely Arabic designation. Thus,
the Arabic form is employed for al-hdjj Umar, while the Pulaarized "Bokar
Saada" is used instead of Abu Bakr Sa'd. Proper names are unaccompanied
by diacritical marks.

The plural forms of all Arabic nouns are anglicized (e.g., imams or jihads).
Adjectives derived from Arabic terms are simply anglicized without italici-
zation (e.g., jihadists).
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Introduction

West Africa in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries witnessed the erupt-
ion of several major "holy wars" across the wide expanse of its savannah,
from the Senegal River to Lake Chad. Each holy war, or jihad, represented
the emerging interests of a militant, rural Islamic community, and resulted in
both substantial conversion of the peasantry and widespread social change.
The leaders of the holy wars were renowned clerics who were committed to
the comprehensive Islamization of their respective societies; that is, they
endeavored to bring government and social order into conformity with
Islamic law (sharfa). While these movements constitute a dominant theme
during this period, it is important to note that there were concurrent
exceptions to these expressions of militant Islam. The Kunta religious
scholars (shaykhs) are one example, as they provided leadership for the
Qadiriyya brotherhood (tanqd) from their base near Timbuktu, and used
that influence to support the descendants of one jihadist (Amadu Sheku of
Maasina) against the claims of another (al-hdjj Umar). A second example
can be found in the policies of the clerical leader al-Kanemi of Bornu, who
militantly opposed the expansion of the Sokoto Caliphate in the name of
holy war.

The polity of Bundu, located in what is now eastern Senegal along the
border with Mali, also ran counter to the grain of jihadic activity. Estab-
lished in the late seventeenth century, and ostensibly maintaining its form of
government until 1905, Bundu was the creation of the confluent or conver-
gent forces of Islam and commerce in Senegambia, but its particular synthe-
sis is unique for its regional and historical context. This is because it was
established by Muslim clerics during the jihadic phase as a land of Islam; yet,
this was not achieved through the vehicle of holy war. And although the
clerical leadership of the state was rural, its behavior more closely approxi-
mated that of urbanized clerics. As a result, the principal factor in the
development of state policy was that of pragmatism. As it applies to Bundu,
this concept must be understood within the context of Senegambian devel-
opments from the late seventeenth through the nineteenth centuries, and it
relates to both external and internal affairs of state. Regarding the former,

1



Pragmatism in the age of Jihad

pragmatism is a policy in which the pursuit of commercial and agricultural
advantage supercedes all other considerations, to the extent that alliances
and rivalries with both neighboring polities and European powers are
determined by economic expediency, and are subject to rapid and frequent
realignment. Foreign policy is not formulated on the basis of advancing the
claims of Islam within the region. Concerning domestic affairs, pragmatism
promotes a climate of tolerance towards non-Muslims, and seeks neither
their conversion nor the rigid implementation of Islamic law in the
governance of the ascendant Muslim constituency.

There are several reasons for the emergence of Bundu as a rural yet
pragmatic Islamic society within the dominant context of rural, militant
Islam. One has to do with the circumstances surrounding its origins, and the
character of the individuals associated with its founding. A second cause
concerns the nature of the territory itself, as it assumed a frontier-like quality
over which it was difficult to impose a normative set of ideological guide-
lines. These are factors which will be investigated more fully in chapters 2
and 3. But the more salient reason for the moderate posture of the Bundunke
almaamies (the plural of the dynastic title almaami, itself a Pulaarized form
of the Arabic imam), and one that can be partially addressed at this juncture,
was the crucial importance of both commerce and related agricultural
productivity. That is, the fortunes of the Bundunke state were so tied to the
successful conduct of trade and cultivation of crops (for internal consump-
tion and export), that in their collective wisdom, the Bundunke rulers
determined that pragmatism was essential to the state's well-being. Militant
Islam represented change, disruption, and uncertainty, and was therefore
eschewed.

The role of commerce is of particular importance to the development of
Bundu. Indeed, the overall theme of trade is inextricably interwoven into the
fabric of West African Islam. Trading networks, established before the
introduction of Islam into West Africa c. 800 C.E., were expanded during
Islam's early development. The forest, savannah, and desert zones became
more extensively interconnected, as the majority of long-distance traders
were Muslims. The Juula merchants were the principal agents of exchange
from the savannah to the forest, and from Senegambia to the Upper Niger
Valley. The regional market provided for the exchange of such commodities
as salt, cattle products, cereals, fish, and shea butter. Gold and cotton
textiles were also among the more sought-after items. The North-South
axis, linking West Africa to the Maghrib (North Africa) and beyond, was
particularly lucrative. The legendary grandeur of Mali, Songhay, and
Kanem-Bornu was to a large extent the consequence of the northern focus of
the Sudanic empires' trading policies.

The coming of the European gradually affected this commercial activity.
Beginning in the fifteenth century, European merchants established a series
of trading posts or factories along the West African coast. By the late
seventeenth and early eighteenth centuries, the Atlantic frontier was in
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competition with the Sahara as a principal medium of West African inter-
national trade. The procurement and exportation of human cargo was a
primary industry, but Europe was also interested in such raw materials as
gum and beeswax. In exchange, Africans imported firearms, gunpowder,
iron, textiles (especially Indian cloth), rum and brandy, horses, brassware,
silver, glass beads, and semiprecious stones. As a result of the growth of the
Atlantic commercial frontier, new trading networks were established along
East-West axes, co-existing with the older routes leading to the Maghrib.
New towns evolved into new states, stimulated by both transatlantic and
transsaharan exchange. In fact, it is possible to argue that several of the jihads
of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries were either directly or indirectly
encouraged by the emergent Atlantic frontier.

Bundu was strategically important to both the Atlantic and Saharan com-
mercial frontiers. While it was a major supplier of rice, maize, sorghum,
millet, indigo, and cotton in the Upper Senegal Valley, its principal attribute
was its location relative to both the sahel (sdhil or "shore," where the Sahara
and the savannah meet) and the Atlantic. Bundu maintained a series of trade
routes, over which local products were exported, and across which resources
and products of adjacent polities passed en route to either the Maghrib or to
the European factories along the coast. To the immediate east of Bundu,
across the Faleme, lay the fabled goldfields of Bambuk. Further east was
Kaarta, to which the salt of the Saharan regions of the Tagant and the Hodh
was carried for subsequent distribution in the savannah. Still further east was
the Upper Niger Valley, with its renowned commercial centers such as Segu,
Jenne, and Timbuktu. European powers repeatedly attempted to establish
ties with both Bambuk and the Niger floodplain well into the nineteenth
century, convinced that these areas contained immeasurable wealth, prin-
cipally in gold. Towards the end of the nineteenth century, peaceful overtures
were superceded by military conquests. Up until that point, Bundu was an
important gateway to the east. The success of trading expeditions, whether
heading east or west, depended upon the good favor of the Bundunke almaa-
mies and their ability to preserve order and tranquility throughout the realm.

Another aspect of Bundu's strategic importance was that its northern and
southern reaches straddled the Upper Senegal and Gambia Rivers. Kola was
cultivated in the densely forested territories astride the Upper Gambia, an
important element in the pursuit of religion, medicine, and social etiquette
throughout Muslim West Africa. The trade in kola from the Gambia north
into the sahel necessarily passed through Bundu in great measure, and
reinforced its key role in the commerce of Senegambia. The introduction of
groundnut cultivation along the Upper Gambia towards the middle of the
nineteenth century would further stimulate Bundu's interest in the area. In
time, the Senegal and Gambia Rivers would become the exclusive preserves
of the French and the British respectively. Bundu was critical to both powers
in their determination to dominate Senegambian trade, and Bundu would
continually seek to exploit their rivalry.
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In light of the foregoing, it can be argued that Bundu, together with
Futa Jallon and Futa Toro, were in fact novel West African experiments in
Islamic government. For while Takrur and Silla (in the Lower Senegal
Valley) were militant Muslim polities in the eleventh and twelfth centuries,
they were not led by clerics, and were a consequence of the Almoravid
movement, as opposed to representing the culmination of autochthonous
concerns. Similarly, reformers such as Askia Muhammad Ture of Songhay,
Sarki Muhammad Korrau of Katsina, and Mai Dunama Dibbalemi of
Kanem tended to limit their efforts to the confines of court life, and in any
event their reforms did not affect the larger society. There emerged in
Bundu and the two Futas, however, for the first time in West African
history, subsaharan Islamic governments administered by clerics and
resulting in, by the late eighteenth century, overwhelmingly Muslim soci-
eties. The creation of the Bundunke experiment was assisted by elements in
both Futa Toro and Futa Jallon, with which the Bundunke leadership
enjoyed familial and religious ties. The fledgling Bundunke state would in
the course of the eighteenth century repeatedly require the aid of the two
Futas to survive various crises. In turn, the success of Bundu as an Islamic
polity did not escape the attention of reformers in the Futas, and possibly
contributed to their eventual decision to perform jihad in their respective
homelands.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the rise of militant Islam in Senegambia,
first in Futa Jallon in the 1720s, next in Futa Toro in the 1760s, and then
under the leadership of al-hdjj Umar in the mid-nineteenth century, pre-
sented a conundrum for the Bundunke rulers. Intent upon maintaining an
atmosphere conducive to the uninterrupted flow of commerce, Bundu could
not afford the disruption that would inevitably follow the attempt to imple-
ment Islamic law throughout its environs. At the same time, the state could
not insulate its constituency from the penetration of powerful and persuasive
views emanating from the militant reformers of the two Futas. As a result,
Bundu would experience considerable social and political upheaval during
the ascendancy of Abdul Qadir and al-hdjj Umar, who both intervene
directly in Bundu's internal affairs. In each instance, the fervor for reform
within Bundu will dissipate with the decline of either man's fortunes. The
ephemeral nature of militant activity in Bundu strongly suggests that,
although there were those who were genuinely committed to reform as
defined by the movements in the Futas and Maasina, there was no ongoing,
self-sustaining tradition of reform within Bundu itself. The majority of the
ruling elite subscribed to the policy of pragmatism. However, the involve-
ment of both Abdul Qadir and al-hdjj Umar in Bundu would have lasting
repercussions for the polity's social and political order. Relations between
the two ruling branches would become severely strained in the aftermath of
Abdul Qadir's tenure. Power and succession struggles between the two
branches would also find expression in divergent economic policies. In time,
these differences would result in regional divisions within the state itself, as
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the two camps underwent a physical polarization consonant with their
distinct interests.

Further complicating the internal schisms within Bundu was the intense
competition among indigenous states for control of the Upper Senegal
Valley's commerce. Bundu's alliances reflected the frequent changes in the
political fortunes of the various states; at times those alliances were poli-
tically expedient but religiously unpalatable. Eventually the Bundunke poli-
tical fabric tore at the seams: two civil wars and unending external hostilities
were among the consequences.

Moving to the late nineteenth century, Bundu would be directly affected
by the reform movement of Mamadu Lamine. Having suffered through the
ravages of war under al-hdjj Umar, Bundu was simply unable to withstand
another all-consuming conflict. The devastation of the Lamine period
brought the era of Bundu's significance to an end.

Precedents exist in both the Islamic and African contexts for the factional
disputes which characterized Bundu's history. In Islam, there is the example
of the Alfaya and Soriya ruling branches of Futa Jallon, representing the
moderate and militant camps respectively. In like manner, the history of late
nineteenth-century Kaarta represents a variation of the same theme, as
"war" and "peace" parties emerged according to divergent economic inter-
ests, culminating in internecine warfare among the offspring of al-hdjj Umar.
The central Islamic world also provides an example in the form of eleventh/
twelfth century Nishapur. There, the seemingly religiously motivated
Hanafi-ShafVi struggle was actually more of a political conflict. Finally, the
competing commercial claims of European powers operating within Sene-
gambia dramatically affected the Bundunke state. John Yoder has demon-
strated that nineteenth century Dahomey also experienced the consequences
of shifting British trade policies, which resulted in intensified factional
strife.1

Secondary literature

For the purposes of this study, secondary literature is to be distinguished
from primary information in that the former is compiled by scholars who are
not themselves witnesses to any of the events they describe, nor did they live
during the time of said events. Their approach to the subject matter is within
the parameters of modern social scientific inquiry. In contrast, primary data
is that information left by either the participants, their descendants, or those
collectors who witnessed some aspect of the history they purport to narrate.
With this distinction in mind, the present monograph is the first comprehen-
sive analysis of Bundu's history. There are, however, several studies which
relate to Bundu and its involvement in both regional and Islamic develop-
ments. The most recent and important is the work of Boubacar Barry (1988)
on the region of Senegambia, a cogent examination of those political,
economic, social and religious forces which coalesced to bind the region
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together via a shared historical experience. Barry's emphasis on the deleter-
ious effects of the Atlantic commercial frontier's emergence is related to his
dissatisfaction with the earlier work of Philip D. Curtin (1975), itself a study
of commercial activity in Senegambia that tends to ignore Europe's culpabi-
lity in the underdevelopment of the region. A critical issue concerns the
relative importance and impact of the slave trade in the region, for which
Barry allows a much more prominent role than Curtin. Abdoulaye Bathily's
work on Gajaaga (1989) is in some sense also a rejoinder to Curtin's
inadequate treatment of the regional slave trade, and in any event is a
significant contribution to the monographic materials. Cissoko Sekene-
Mody has likewise made a study of the regional role of Khasso (1986).
Useful theses at the monographic level include those of John Hanson (1989)
on Kaarta, and Abdel Wedoud ould Cheikh on Mauritania (1985).

Beyond political syntheses and works focusing on individual polities,
there are the studies of the Jakhanke (Malinke clerical communities), who
maintained an extensive presence in Bundu. Lamin Sanneh (1979), Thomas
Hunter (Ph.D. thesis, 1979), and Pierre Smith (1968) have all worked on the
Jakhanke within Bundu, and Curtin has also published his findings con-
cerning their activities (1971).

The larger theme of Islam has benefited from the recent discussion of
rural-versus-urban categories by Nehemia Levtzion (1987), which provides a
useful framework for the present study. Regarding the impact of the
eighteenth and nineteenth century jihadists on developments within Bundu,
Robinson (1985; 1975), Bathily (1989; 1970), Saint-Martin (1970), and
Nyambarza (1969) are the most germane. However, an adequate analysis of
the Futa Jallon jihad has yet to appear, to the detriment of all scholarly
activity relating to Senegambia.

Primary sources

This section will initially focus on categorizing the various types of sources
available for the history of Bundu, and will essentially be descriptive in
nature. Upon completion of an adequate framework of organization, an
analysis of the reliability of the sources will follow. The discussion at this
juncture will turn upon such matters as the conditions of transmission and
the period of collection of information, as these issues directly impact upon
the utility of the data base.

In his work on al-hajj Umar, Robinson has effectively demonstrated the
need to categorize primary materials with regard to their relative proximity
to the subject matter.2 That is, documents, whether oral or written, should be
distinguished on the basis of whether they represent the indigenous perspec-
tive, or whether they are the observations of non-participatory witnesses.
The resulting divisions of internal, external, and "mixed" bodies of infor-
mation are much more useful to a critical analysis of the data than the
customary dichotomy of oral and written sources, often a false (or at least
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misleading) distinction. In view of this persuasive approach to source mater-
ials, I have divided the primary sources on Bundu into endogenous, exoge-
nous, and intermediate genres. Endogenous materials include indigenous
Arabic documents and oral recordings, the latter ranging from interviews
with informants of varying social backgrounds, to the highly stylized
accounts of oral historians. Also included in this category are the traditions
of singular episodes or individuals found within traveler accounts. In such
cases, the traditions stand out in bold relief vis-a-vis the preceding and
ensuing text - the recorder has simply written down the tradition. Any
personal commentary is duly noted, and is easily dissociated from the
tradition itself. The time frame is not a determinant in selecting the data for
this category, as it all tends to reflect the view (collective, individual, or
elitist) of the Bundunkobe ("people of Bundu").

Exogenous documents concern the observations of individuals from
outside of the community in question, who do not attempt to represent that
community's historical self-perception; rather, such individuals seek only to
report on the community as external, non-participatory witnesses. This
category is largely filled by French materials, consisting of reports filed by
people either passing through Bundu on special assignment, or by officials
residing in such fortified posts as Bakel and Senoudebou. Although neces-
sarily informed by members of the community, the documents of this genre
nevertheless reflect the opinion, assessment, and conclusions of the external
observer, with all of the attendant problems of bias, ignorance, and misinfor-
mation which are a matter of course.

The intermediate variety of source materials is the most challenging in that
it consists of witnesses who have both recorded local accounts of historical
events, and who have then proceeded to complement that data with either
exogenous materials, their personal observations, or both. An attempt is
made to investigate persons or events from a variety of informants, and to
then present their statements in synthesized form. The obvious problem
concerns the process of separating the original transmission from the sub-
sequent reflections of the recorder. In some instances the recorder clearly
indicates when he is adding his own commentary. In all cases it is necessary
to compare these traditions with others of the same type, and with those of
the endogenous genre, to achieve a sufficient level of control. Differences
between intermediate and endogenous traditions are overwhelmingly the
result of varying times and conditions of transmission. Singular traditions,
either uncorroborated or at variance with the view presented by a prepon-
derance of other primary sources, must necessarily be approached with great
caution.

Andre Rangon (1894) is by far the most prominent example of this genre.
His ethnography of Bundu has been critical to any subsequent study of the
area. In addition to Rangon, the records of Moussa Kamara, the early
twentieth century scholar of Futa Toro, must also be placed into this
category. More will be said about these two individuals later.
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Endogenous materials. The relative scarcity of clerical writings on Bundu's
history suggests that the Bundunkobe regard their history as the proper
preserve of oral historians, or griots, of whom the awlube (s. gawlo) are
principal in Bundu. This is entirely consistent with a widespread, time-
honored conviction throughout subsaharan Africa that the past is to be
experienced and relived through the spoken word.3 Indeed, the past
expressed orally is shared by all, whereas the written word has certain
mystical properties understood by only a select few.4 The use of letters is
consequently often limited to areas such as religious legal texts and amulets
(protective charms). With this in mind, the first one hundred years or so of
Bundu's existence is largely revealed through oral sources.

The oral materials of the endogenous variety were recorded for posterity
in various languages, including Pulaar, Soninke, and French. The earliest
accounts derive from European travelers passing through the area, who took
an interest in the Bundunkobe, and proceeded to record traditions of
singular events or persons, especially those revolving around the probable
founder of the Bundunke state, Malik Sy (d. c. 1699). The first to do this in
any systematic way was Anne Raffenel (1847; 1843), who was followed by
Carrere and Holle (1855). Although their accounts are brief and their
sources unspecified, what they have written is very consistent with later,
better substantiated collections. Two additional collections were made just
prior to the colonial era: Berenger-Feraud (1885), and Diakite (published in
1929, but gathered in 1891). During the colonial period, four more collec-
tions of oral data were accomplished: Adam (1904), Djibril Ly (1938),
Brigaud (1962), and Dieng Doudou (quoted in Brigaud). Finally, the post-
colonial period saw the assembly of two collections: Curtin (1966) and Alfa
Ibrahim Sow (1968).

It is not always known where the traditions were recorded, nor from
whom they were taken.5 Curtin's collection was for the most part made in
Bundu, with some interviews held in Saint Louis, Bakel, and Dakar. His data
cover a wide range of topics over a vast period of time. Interviews were
conducted in Pulaar, Soninke, and Malinke with informants from a variety
of social strata: awlube, clerics, Sissibe (descendants of Malik Sy and the
ruling dynasty of Bundu), and members of traditional occupational castes
(e.g., a leather worker, or gayahke). The informants were all celebrated for
their knowledge of the Bundunke past. Curtin is careful to give the status of
his informants and the circumstances of the interviews. Many of his inform-
ants were well advanced in age (some of their parents were either eyewit-
nesses of or participants in the wars of Mamadu Lamine towards the end of
the nineteenth century), but the problem of senility is never encountered,
whereas faulty memories can be assisted with other, more established mater-
ials. The basic form of the accounts was a presentation lasting from ten
minutes to one hour; the awlube were accompanied by the hoodu (musical
instrument in Fulbe areas) or the kora (in Malinke-speaking areas).

Of the precolonial accounts, Mamadou Aissa Kaba Diakite was a Soninke
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cleric living in Nioro, and was descended from a family originally living in
the Bakel area.6 He himself is a source, his accounts having been produced at
the request of a Commander Claude in the cercle of Nioro in 1891. Ten years
later, at the age of 36, Diakite recounted the story of Malik Sy to Adam, so
that both of these sources hail from outside of Bundu.7 For the colonial
collection, the account of Djibril Ly originated from Futa Toro, where he
was the principal interpreter at Kaedi.8 In contrast, Brigaud was informed
by Sy Amadou Isaaga, a grandson of Abdul Sega, one of Ramon's sources.9

It is in Brigaud that we also find Dieng Doudou's account; nothing is said
concerning Doudou's background.

As for my own 1984/87-88 collection of oral data, for which I spent eight
months in Senegambia (and most of that time in Bundu itself), I approached
informants with the conviction that the existing corpus of oral materials,
collected by Rangon, Kamara, Curtin, and others, provides the larger,
stylized, more sweeping accounts of the Bundunke past. I was therefore
more interested in either accounting for the historical lacunae created by
these collections, or with investigating specific, unresolved issues arising
from said collections. All of my informants were associated with the court in
one way or another, a reflection of the emphasis of my research at the time.
For the most part, I confined my inquiries to the second half of the
nineteenth century, and focused on the reign of Bokar Saada. At the same
time, most of the Bundunkobe preferred to talk about Malik Sy, who retains
a place of prominence in the Bundunke collective memory.

All of my interviews were conducted in French. In the large towns (e.g.,
Goudiry and Bakel), many informants spoke French, so that the need for an
intermediary was minimal. However, in smaller villages such as Gabou and
Kidira, intermediaries were indispensable. In the smaller villages, it was
difficult to arrange exclusive sessions with informants - this was possibly the
result of the brevity of my visits (two to three days on average), which tended
to attract considerable attention. On the other hand, it was much easier to
limit the number of people present during the interview in the larger towns,
and the length of the sessions tended to be shorter due to the fact that many
of the Sissibe hold important government posts and so maintain busy
schedules. All of the sessions were tape-recorded, and complemented with
written notes. The most useful interviews are listed in the bibliography.

The Bundunkobe express wariness in the matter of sharing their historical
traditions with outsiders. In a number of villages and towns, it was remarked
that others had preceded me, asking similar questions for similar purposes,
never to be heard from again. It is therefore probable that these earlier
experiences conditioned the responses of informants, especially in areas of
heightened sensitivity. In particular, questions concerning Bokar Saada's
relations with al-hdjj Umar produced noticeable discomfort, even more so in
cases where an associate of the court was answering queries in the presence
of Sy family members. In some instances, individuals actually said that they
did not know the answer to a given question; in others, informants were
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evasive. Given that such lines of inquiry constituted my primary interest, my
own data is most effectively employed in conjunction with other supportive
sources. Otherwise, in cases where there is conflict between my sources and
the archival records, I have sided in most instances with the contemporary
accounts. This decision is both in light of the preceding discussion, and for
reasons which will become clear at subsequent points. A lack of confidence
in some of my informants' replies has necessarily created the need to
carefully distinguish between what informants said and what I deem
credible.

The majority of Arabic documents retrieved from Bundu belong in the
endogenous category, and are to be found in the Fonds Curtin. Interestingly,
I uncovered no such documentation in the Fulbe towns of Bundu, with the
exceptions of Senoudebou and Koussan. Even then, as was true of the
various libraries in the Jakhanke villages of southern Bundu, the documen-
tation consists primarily of genealogies and tankhs ("histories") of the
Jakhanke clans, shedding little light on the larger Bundunke context, and in
any event are represented in the Fonds Curtin.

The scarcity of Arabic documentation is a reflection of several factors.
First, writing within the West African Muslim community tended to focus
on matters of religion - treatises and commentaries; such matters were not of
immense importance to the ruling elite of Bundu. Second, there is no
evidence that much effort was expended to create records regarding tax
revenues, judicial rulings, and the like. Third, even the Jakhanke Arabic
documentation only dates back to the latter quarter of the nineteenth
century, and most of it was written in the twentieth. The latter quarter of the
nineteenth century in Bundu saw a great deal of destruction and ruin; Bundu
was severely depopulated for significant stretches of time. The catastrophic
experiences of the state could therefore also account for the absence of
written records.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, some of the Arabic manuscripts are
useful. Several concern the emigration of the Jakhanke to the Upper
Gambia, following the flight and demise of Mamadu Lamine, and thus
indirectly give some information on Bundu during this period. Other docu-
ments list Bundu's heads of state and their respective tenures in chrono-
logical order.

Exogenous materials. Most of the documentation in this category consists
of archival records produced by European travelers and officials who made
little attempt to transmit the indigenous view of Bundu's history or society,
but who rather sought to record their own observations. To be sure, this
involved the use of informants, but the substance of the reports clearly
conveys the opinions and sentiments of the foreign observer, to the virtual
exclusion of internal assessment and perspective. Such records become much
more substantial, as would be expected, in the nineteenth century. With
regard to traveler accounts, those of David (1744), Rubault (1786), and
Mungo Park (1795) tend to be the more useful for the eighteenth century, as
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they do reveal somewhat careful observation of and interaction with the
Bundunkobe. Mollien (1818), and Gray and Dochard (1818-19) also
attempted to describe early nineteenth century Bundunke towns. None of
these travelers, in either century, bothered to record local traditions.

In addition to traveler accounts, there also exists a body of reports on the
Upper Senegal Valley by officers of French commercial and military posts.
Prior to 1820, the French were able to monitor events in the Upper Senegal
from their posts in Gajaaga (or Galam, directly north of Bundu along the
Senegal River). With the establishment of French forts at Bakel (1820) and
Senoudebou (1845), information reaching the French concerning activity
within Bundu greatly increased. As was the case with the travel literature,
much of the information obtained by the French posts was filtered through
local agents. However, because an official would sometimes spend several
years at a given post, he would be less dependent on the discretion of such
sources than would someone simply passing through the area. The official
could cultivate more substantial relationships, and come to a more refined
appreciation of the politics and customs of the people. At the point that the
official, or the traveler for that matter, began to record traditions to the
degree that they are identifiably autochthonous, or began to create a synthe-
sis of personal observation and internal perspective, is the point at which his
contribution would be categorized as either endogenous or intermediate.

Intermediate materials. The sources in this category represent the first
attempts to develop a coherent history of Bundu. Lamartiny (1884) and
Roux (1893) produced brief narratives of Bundu's past, in which traditions
and synthesis are interspersed. Of the two, Roux is the more important,
having served as commander of the French fort at Bakel, during which time
he conducted interviews. Concerning Lamartiny, it can be assumed that he
spent some time gathering data in Bundu itself, since he was commissioned
to write a monograph on Bundu by the Societe de geographie commerciale
de Paris. But Rangon's contribution to this genre is the most critical, as he
toured the Upper Senegal and Gambia Valleys twice towards the end of the
nineteenth century. He benefitted from the work of Roux and Lamartiny,
citing them extensively, and combining their accounts with official reports
emanating from the various posts of the Upper Senegal. But Ran^on also
collected oral data of his own, his principal source having been Abdul Sega,
a Sissibe leader from Koussan in Bundu. The French ethnographer creates
an encompassing blend of all these sources as he writes on the Bundunke
past; he is also the first to discuss the larger Bundunke society and culture, in
which some attention is given to the role of Islam. In short, his is a more
complete picture of the whole.

Having stated the foregoing, it should be made clear that there are several
serious shortcomings in Rangon's work. First of all, he has a tendency to
uncritically accept the testimony of Lamartiny and Roux, and to even
"borrow" numerous passages from their efforts without benefit of citation.
This is important in that it reveals a mindset that is more interested in
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synthesis than analysis. By extension, it would follow that this uncritical
attitude would be true of his approach to the reports of the trading posts.

Secondly, in discussing various aspects of eighteenth century Bundu,
Ran$on is quite unspecific about the precise mix of his sources. That is, in
those passages in which it is evident that he is not conveying traditions as he
received them, it is conversely no longer evident as to where he has obtained
his information. From comparing such passages with Lamartiny, Roux, and
other traveler accounts, it is possible to reduce the possibilities to either
unpublished reports from the posts, or to anonymous informants. The
problem at this point is distinguishing such sources from Rangon's own
opinion.

Thirdly, as Ran9on has taken it upon himself to render a detailed and
complete historical statement, he fails to account for European commercial
and political policies in the region (the latter a function of the former). We
get little sense of the relationship between the metropole and the periphery,
and therefore of how Senegambia in general, and Bundu in particular, are
adversely affected by decisions made in Paris/London via Saint Louis/
Bathurst. There is no attempt to identify the forces which conspire to create
the condition of underdevelopment in the region, of which Bundu is a part.
Consequently, we witness the rise of the state in the early eighteenth century
and its demise in the nineteenth, in the absence of any effort to explain these
developments beyond the internal politics and issues of the region.

Finally, this category also features the important collection of oral data on
Bundu by Shaykh Moussa Kamara of Futa Toro, which is contained in his
Zuhur al-Basdtin ft Tarikh al-Sawddin ("Flowers of the Gardens Concerning
the History of the Blacks," 1924), and translated into French by N'Diaye
(1975). Kamara (1864-1945) was a contemporary of the period, his family
having maintained cooperative relations with the French. However, Kamara
remained a son of the soil and a Muslim. He developed a principled stance
against the waging of jihad (he is particularly critical of the effects of al-hdjj
Umar's campaigns), and declined an invitation to participate in the jihad of
Mamadu Lamine. In his challenge to the reformist position, he would be
especially interested in emphasizing the adverse impact of the various jihads
upon the Bundunke state. His account of these movements, and of the
political factions within Bundu, must therefore be employed with care.

Kamara's overall work is a unique blend of traditional and, to a lesser
extent, archival elements interpreted from the perspective of an indigenous
scholar. On the basis of the analysis of his work elsewhere, it would appear
that his reputation for integrity would preclude any deliberate falsification of
the historical record. However, it is not always known from whom he
received his information on Bundu, and it is not uncommon for his account
of a particular period or person to be at considerable variance from the
consensus of the other sources. One could surmise, then, that his section on
Bundu was largely derived from a modicum of informants.10

The issue of reliability. All three types of source materials - endogenous,
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exogenous, and intermediate - must necessarily be examined for dependabi-
lity. It is especially true of the endogenous and intermediate genres, and to a
lesser extent the exogenous, that the question of reliability is in turn a
function of at least three determinants: the purpose and perspective of the
informant; the process and context of transmission; and the experience,
orientation, and intent of the observer. The following comments are applic-
able to all of the sources consulted in this study, and serve as instruments by
which the data can be properly and successfully utilized.

With regard to the first determinant, the purpose and perspective of the
informant, information from the ruling circles would constitute the primary
source from which the various categories were supplied. This source con-
sisted of both members of the leading families, and more importantly those
awlube for whom the elite served as patrons. The second category comprised
the merchant community, which in the interest of maintaining cordial
commercial ties with any and all trading partners (including the European
tubaab, or "foreigner"), was probably the most accessible group for those
seeking information. A third source of intelligence came from those Africans
who were directly in the employ of colonial powers: those who fought in the
Senegalese Riflemen's Corps under the command of French officers, and
from whom, due to their outsider and humble status (many having formerly
been slaves), only a minimum of reliable information could flow concerning
the host society; and the interpreters, laborers, couriers, and others who
served colonial administrators in the network of fortified trading posts. The
first two categories of informants were consistently available to foreign
observers throughout the history of Bundu, and supplied the preponderant
amount of information on its development and society. Concerning the third
type of informant, it is evident that those who served for extended periods of
time at the fortified entrepots provided the more valuable insights into the
surrounding area. This was especially true of the interpreter. Likewise, the
testimony of the African soldier was of some utility in describing the wars of
al-hdjj Umar and Mamadu Lamine in the nineteenth century. Such testi-
mony is of negligible value, however, in the matter of interpreting the
policies of the Bundunke court.

A fourth type of informant concerns those descendants of eyewitnesses,
who in my scheme qualify as primary sources. While these would operate at
a disadvantage due to their displacement in time, that same displacement
could to an extent liberate them from the need to present a certain class (or
caste) view consistent with that of their ancestors.

In light of the above comments, these various categories of informants
obviously did not constitute a monolithic community or coherent perspec-
tive. Their purposes and vantage points would necessarily differ. There were
those who sought to put the best face on the activities of the rulers, and who
deemed it appropriate to conceal those policies which may have caused
friction with either the French or the British. These observations would
expressly apply to the members of the Sissibe family, along with their closely
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associated clerical staff and awlube. Such matters qualifying for concealment
would include trade agreements with alternative powers (i.e., Bundu some-
times sought to hide from the French the full extent of its commercial
relations with the British). Such informants served as apologists for the
moderate posture of the Bundunke rulers in any religious controversy, and
would therefore be unreliable sources of information with regard to disputes
between Bundunke Muslim factions during the periods of Abdul Qadir and
al-hdjj Umar. Due to their close association with the court, the awlube would
not be able to discuss, or would at least be reticent to address, any politically
sensitive issues with a sufficient degree of objectivity or forthrightness.

In sum, the ruling family members and attendant awlube and clerics could
only reflect the values and vantage point of the minority ruling class, as
opposed to the majority of the Bundunkobe, the herding and farming
peasantry. The multiethnic character of the state also suffers from inade-
quate representation in the court-oriented sources, as the latter promoted
the interests of the Fulbe. The use of non-Fulbe informants, several of whom
were consulted by Curtin, and who are further represented in the data from
Diakite and Adam, helps to balance such ethnocentricity, and serves as an
important check on the views of the Sissibe.

The second criterion by which reliability is judged concerns the process by
and context in which information is transferred. Concerning the process, a
number of variables are therein operative and must be considered in assess-
ing the validity of the data transfer. One variable would be the possibility of
mistranslation, ranging from insignificant errors to serious inaccuracies,
depending upon the skills of the interviewers and translators involved. A
second variable concerns the deliberate alteration of the data by the
recorder. Reasons for altering or tampering with received traditions would
include the desire to create a favorable slant on a given event in order to
promote an individual career; conversely, the uncovering of politically
embarrassing information (to either the metropole or the individual) could
also result in changes in the record. A third variable concerns the role of the
informant, and involves the matter of misinformation, or selective transfer
of information. In this instance, in order to protect the interests of the court,
or to conceal embarrassing revelations, the informant either avoids full
disclosure or declines to give a factual account. Finally, a fourth variable
concerns the problem of human error. For any number of reasons (e.g., the
recorder being ill on the day of an interview, or in a state of haste), the
recorder could misplace the emphasis in a given account, or simply misre-
cord the data.

Regarding the context of transmission, while scholars tend to emphasize
the penultimate transmission, i.e., the relay of data from the indigenous
source to the recorder, the relay of information within the indigenous
community over a period of time is just as critical in the determination of
validity. Unfortunately, it is rarely possible to know the chain of attestors
and, based upon that gauge, the veracity or authenticity of the tradition.
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Given that this is necessarily so, one can only make certain qualified
deductions about a particular set of traditions with respect to another such
set collected during an earlier or subsequent time, or within a different
setting. More specifically, in the absence of any insight into the identity or
background of the informants, any differences between two sets of traditions
concerning the same subject can either be attributed to a difference in the
process or the time/space context, or both. In fact, with regard to context, it
is reasonable to expect that social, political, and economic factors operating
at the time of transmission will affect that transmission in such a way that
wholly unrelated periods and aspects of history will suffer some distortion. A
good example of this concerns the person of Malik Sy. With two exceptions,
all of the traditions which speak of him range some 200 to almost 300 years
after his death. The autocratic, ruthless, and duplicitous behavior of nine-
teenth century Bundunke rulers is projected back into the late seventeenth,
where it is employed to characterize the conduct of Malik Sy. The truth is
that very little is really known about Malik Sy's personality, so that the
traditions seize upon contemporary models to fill the void. If used sagacious-
ly, however, such traditions which purport to reveal the person of Malik Sy
can tell us something about those in power during the time of transmission.

By the same token, one must be careful to identify those issues producing
social tension or conflict at the time of data transfer. History is a powerful
tool of affirmation or condemnation, and can be manipulated by the ruling
elite to justify or legitimize its policies. This is accomplished by simply
relocating the present conflict in an earlier context, within which it is
resolved by esteemed ancestors in a way that is consistent with the con-
temporary policy. An example of this would be the story of Malik Sy's son
and successor Bubu Malik Sy, and the building of "Kumba's well." Much
more will be stated about this in chapter 3; suffice it to say that nineteenth
century traditions make the claim that this particular well was made
operational by Bubu Malik Sy, which within the cultural symbolism of the
time meant that by this feat he had become the rightful owner of the land.
This, in turn, indicates that there was considerable conflict between various
groups over ownership of the land during the period of Bundu's expansion in
the eighteenth century; hence, the need for extrapolation.

In addition to the purpose and perspective of the informant, and the
process and context of transmission, the experience, orientation, and intent
of the recorder is fundamental to assessing the reliability of the sources. It
should be noted at the outset that the purpose of the French in producing the
monographical material was to acquire data on the region in order to
facilitate commerce (through the mid-nineteenth century) and to inform
proto-colonial rule (from the mid-nineteenth century). In order to accom-
plish these objectives, it was important to understand something of the
structure of indigenous governments, the location of major trade routes, and
the nature of regional politics.

With such goals in mind, the French observer set out to study the region.
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Most of these external investigators could not converse in the languages of
the region. It will be argued here that the limitation to French translation has
not, however, substantively diminished the credibility of the materials. Of
greater concern was the reliance of some observers upon only one or two
informants. This is obviously a constraint to developing a full picture of
Bundu's past, or even a segment thereof. However, the multiplicity of
versions bearing upon a given aspect of Bundunke history provides a
requisite counterweight to such an imbalance.

Notwithstanding the aforementioned objectives, the ethnocentric (usually
gallocentric) arrogance of many external observers, combined with an ignor-
ance of Islam, led to such deliberate distortions in the process as the
tendency to exaggerate the numerical forces of the anti-French armies in an
effort to add to the victories of individual military commanders; the
accounts of Gallieni and Frey are particularly suspect in this regard. More
importantly, this tendentious approach has resulted in a number of adverse
consequences for the study of Bundu, for which a scholastic remedy is
difficult to achieve. To be more precise, these dual deficiencies of arrogance
and ignorance created a mindset that evinced little interest in the issues and
controversies associated with Islam in the area; or for that matter, in the
social significance of Islam in general. Religious figures were viewed with
great hostility, not for the simple reason that many such leaders eventually
wound up fighting against the French, but also because the external
observers were uneducated in Islam, so that they did not and could not
understand the Muslim perspective. Furthermore, the limited view of such
observers meant that they lacked the consciousness to investigate the policies
of the Bundunke state, or those of neighboring states, with the result that
Bundu's history is presented as a series of unrelated developments, episodic
interludes, and spasmodic reactions to various stimuli from beyond Bundu's
borders. From this view, the state has no clear political direction. Such
historical writing fails to consider the long term development of the state. It
also fails, as did Rangon, to ponder the devastating impact of metropolitan
decisions upon the Senegambian economy and society over time.

Plan of utilization. In light of the foregoing discussion of reliability, it is
clear that a careful assessment of the sources for this study is critical. For the
period before the mid-nineteenth century, the principal sources are Rangon,
Kamara, Roux, Diakite, Lamartiny, and Curtin. After this period, data from
the trading posts, in addition to Frey and Gallieni, serve to supplement the
accounts of Kamara and Rangon. My own interviews are used to both
corroborate existing accounts and to fill the voids they create.

With regard to informants, the preponderance of the information on the
pre-1850 period reflects the views and interests of the ruling elite; non-Fulbe
groups do not have much voice, and the peasantry is rarely discussed.
Consequently, the non-court perspective must either be deduced from the
court-centered materials of Rangon and Roux, or derived from the compi-
lations of Diakite, Adam, and Curtin. A careful treatment of Kamara, given
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his probable preference for the more moderate faction in Bundunke politics,
yields additional insight into the politics of the court. Post-1850 data
emanate from more diverse sources, such as trading agents and those in the
employ of the French, and therefore help to balance the Sy-oriented view so
consistently represented by Rant^on.

Concerning the process and context of transmission, it should be assumed
that one or more variables of the process have influenced all genres of
sources: endogenous, intermediate, and exogenous. Further, varying con-
texts have resulted in differing versions of the same events. In order to
successfully use the sources, therefore, it is necessary to approach them with
the goal of determining consensus, plausibility, and internal logic. Accounts
exhibiting high levels in all three categories can be viewed as relatively
reliable, as will be demonstrated in the discussion of Malik Sy and Bubu
Malik Sy. Given the greater number of contemporary accounts after the
mid-nineteenth century, the variable of context diminishes as a factor.
However, corroboration among as many sources as possible remains essen-
tial to the establishing of factual accounts.

The intention and orientation of the recorder, as gallocentric and relig-
iously uninformed as it is, affects all of the major sources. The counterweight
to this problem can only be a reasoned speculation, drawing upon the
geopolitical realities of the time, into the strategies of the Bundunke state
and the role of Islam therein, thus compensating for the lack of such a
perspective in the literature. However, intermediate and exogenous mater-
ials, particularly after the mid-nineteenth century, remain important sources
for such data as the places and dates of military and political events.

Finally, it is unavoidable that certain events and scenarios will be
premised upon the authority of singular accounts. In such instances, the
likelihood and logic of the matter in question will play major roles in
determining its potential significance.

The physical setting

The boundaries of Bundu were subject to both steady expansion during the
eighteenth century and to frequent fluctuations in the nineteenth, so that its
precise locality is somewhat elusive. During parts of the eighteenth century
Bundu included territory beyond the eastern bank of the Faleme River,
encroaching upon Bambuk. By the nineteenth century, however, the Faleme
River had become the established boundary between Bundu and Bambuk.
By the end of the nineteenth century, Bundu had reached the apex of its
territorial expansion, having an estimated longitude of 12° 20' to 13° 30'
west, and a latitude of 13° 12' to 14° 45' north.11 Measuring 190 kilometers
from east to west, and 170 kilometers from north to south, Bundu contained
a surface area of almost 33,000 sq. km. Bounded on the east by the Faleme,
the Senegal River from Tiyaabu to the Faleme confluence provided the
northern limit. To the west lay the vast Ferlo area, a mostly dry plain
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sparsely occupied by trees and shrubs. The southern reaches of the realm
would either expand or contract according to the political fortunes of the
state, but they never extended beyond the kingdoms of the Upper Gambia.

The reference to Bundu's southern border indicates that while the
northern and eastern perimeters were relatively stable, most of the state's
growth beyond the eighteenth century took place at the expense of peoples
further south. This observation suggests the existence of a core area and a
periphery. Roughly speaking, Bundu's core extended from Gabou in the
north to Didecoto to the south, and from the Faleme in the east to the Ferlo
in the west. The eastern sector of the core was the polity's agricultural focus,
although at various times this sector also served as the site of the court.
Beyond this lay a combination of tributary states (to the south) and largely
wasteland (to the west), over which Bundu exercised fluctuating control
throughout the nineteenth century. To the north, the important Soninke
entrepot of Bakel experienced pressures from Bundu, but was never fully
integrated into the state or under its firm control.

Surrounding Bundu were a number of states of varying size and power,
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which were more or less involved in the politics of the Upper Senegal. To the
immediate north, along the banks of the Senegal River, were the Soninke
states of Gajaaga (Galam) and Guidimakha. Gajaaga, to the south of the
Senegal, was of considerable antiquity, and was a collection of relatively
sizeable commercial towns along with smaller centers of political authority.
The political centers were controlled by the warrior class, over which ruled a
king (Tunkd) from the Bacili clan. Merchants held power in the trading
centers, and from their profits they accumulated large holdings in cattle,
land, and slaves. With regard to religion, the Soninke boasted of well-
established clerical lineages. Mosques and schools were financed by the
merchants, who were Juula (and therefore Muslim). Concerning Guidi-
makha, it lay north of the Senegal, and its inhabitants were nominally
Muslim. Guidimakha was sparsely populated by agriculturalists, although
trade villages were also present. There was no central government, a fact
which contributed to Guidimakha's inability to defend itself from the raids
of the Moors.

The Moors were to the north of the Soninke states, in what is now
southern Mauritania. They were principally engaged in pastoralism and
trade. By the end of the seventeenth century, the Banu Maghfar had estab-
lished both the Trarza emirate (north of the Lower Senegal) and the Brakna
emirate (north of the Middle Senegal), while the Banu Ma'quil had created
an emirate in the Hodh area (to the north of Nioro). These polities, together
with other parts of Senegambia, would fall under the influence of the
Moroccan Sultan Mawlay Isma'il (reigned 1672-1727), an influence that
would directly affect both Bundu and the reform movement in Futa Toro.
Finally, the Idaw 'Aish would take control of the area between the Brakna
and Hodh emirates in the last quarter of the eighteenth century.

It is sufficient here to note that the densely-populated Middle Senegal
Valley was controlled by the Muslim Fulbe of Futa Toro, and that their
involvement with Bundu was crucial, as will be demonstrated by subsequent
investigation. Further to the east, the Lower Senegal had for centuries been
the stronghold of the Wolof states: Jolof, Walo, Cayor (Kajor), and Baol
(Bawol), which were largely non-Muslim until well into the nineteenth
century. In contrast to Futa Toro, there is little evidence of significant
relations between Bundu and the Wolof governments.

Turning to the east, between the Faleme and the Niger floodplain, several
kingdoms would have a profound impact upon Upper Senegal develop-
ments. In particular, the partially Islamized Fulbe-Malinke kingdom of
Khasso was significant. Straddling both banks of the end of the navigable
Upper Senegal, Khasso placed a greater emphasis on agriculture and animal
husbandry than commerce. The Fulbe dynasty, established by the seven-
teenth century, was eventually weakened by succession disputes, and was
forced to witness the extension of Kaartan influence over its northern half.
Only Medine and villages in its immediate vicinity remained firmly under the
ruling family's control. Concerning the powerful, non-Muslim Bambara
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state of Kaarta, established by the Massassi in 1754, its interests and
activities in Senegambia are fundamental to understanding the history of the
region, and will be discussed in greater detail.

Bambuk, wedged between Bundu and Khasso, was a sparsely-populated
but numerous series of small and autonomous villages inhabited by non-
Muslim Mandinka. The mountainous terrain provided ideal havens of
refuge for political outcasts, absconded slaves, and other asylum-seekers.
The Bambuk states were never able to forge an effective alliance among
themselves, and were thus prey to the more powerful polities throughout the
eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. The availability of gold at or near
surface level allowed for labor-intensive mining during the dry season, and
helped to compensate for the poverty of the soil.

Further to the south, well beyond the Upper Gambia, was the large,
Islamically militant Futa Jallon empire, nestled in the highlands of what is
now Guinea.12 Relations between Bundu and Futa Jallon were extensive,
and will receive subsequent treatment, as the two states periodically coord-
inated their foreign policies, especially in the matter of exploiting the
Malinke lands of Wuli and Tenda in the Upper Gambia. These territories
were in effect caught in a vise, between Bundu in the north and Futa Jallon in
the south, with the former exercising greater control over the embattled area.

The founders of the state of Bundu were quite astute in selecting the site of
their new polity. Bundu was placed at the very core of Senegambia, and
hence at the center of the region's commercial nexus. A significant propor-
tion of the region's trade, conducted both internally and with the English
and the French, would necessarily flow through Bundu. The merchants of
Bambuk, Khasso, Kaarta, and the Upper Niger, in trading with the Upper
Gambia or the Middle Senegal and points further west, traveled in large
measure through Bundu, and vice-versa. The Soninke of Gajaaga and
Guidimakha, in their commercially reciprocal relations with the Malinke of
the Upper Gambia, maintained those relations largely via Bundunke terri-
tory. Therefore, as a consequence of its very location, the economic impera-
tive that would shape Bundu's government policy was all but inescapable.

Traveling through Bundu in December of 1795, Mungo Park observed:
"Bundu, in particular, may literally be pronounced ca land flowing with milk
and honey'."13 Mollien passed through the area in 1818, remarking that the
"kingdom is but one vast forest" resembling a bow.14 In fact, Bundu is not a
vast forest, but rather a land of four physically distinct zones. Towards the
southern portion of the state, one experiences dense growth and undulating
hills, along with extreme heat and humidity. As one proceeds from south to
north, the land gradually flattens out into an increasingly sparsely covered
plain, characterizing the central and northern sections of the realm, and
constituting a single, second zone (in the north, towards the Senegal River,
the land becomes somewhat hilly again, and the climate more arid). The
third zone consists of the western portions of the state, towards the Ferlo,
which increasingly assumes the placid character of that "wilderness" as it is
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approximated. This is in sharp contrast to the eastern fringes, along the
Faleme and its tributaries, where the land is quite fertile and green with
crops and trees. Startlingly picturesque, this fourth zone was clearly the
productive center of Bundu.15

The Faleme River flows through Bundu for approximately 150
kilometers.16 During the rainy season, boats are capable of navigating up the
river from Falou Falls, but in the dry season, only lighter boats with flat
bottoms, or canoes, can make the trip. Pascal, who explored Bambuk in
1859, said of Falou Falls: "The great trees which adorn its shores, the noise
of the water that falls in cascades, and the rocks which obstruct its course,
make this passage one of the most beautiful sites of the Faleme."17

The rainfall pattern for Senegambia changes dramatically from the
Senegal River to the Casamance, and is a function of the Inter-Tropical
Convergence Zone, itself a consequence of two other major air masses, the
Tropical Maritime and the Tropical Continental.18 As a result, the average
rainfall for northern Bundu, 800 mm per year, is twice that of the Lower
Senegal Valley (400 mm per year). In central Bundu the average is 900 mm,
and in southern Bundu it reaches 1000 mm per annum. In the southern
section of Bundu, the rains begin as early as the latter part of May, lasting
until the beginning of November.19 In northern Bundu, the rainy season is
much shorter. This period is marked by daily storms and high winds,
culminating in torrential downpours.

An important consequence of both the rainfall and the proximity to the
Faleme is the production of a second annual crop.20 The Faleme, as is the
case with the Senegal, has its source in the Futa Jallon mountains, where the
average rainfall is greater than 2,500 mm per year. These conditions insure a
dependable water supply. With the onset of the annual rains, the river rises
and floods the adjoining land; crops can be sown on that land, sustained by
the residual water throughout the dry season. As a result, both rainfall and
floodland agriculture are possible and productivity greatly enhanced.

In Bundu, the land used for rainfall cultivation is called jeeri or seeno,
whereas floodland is referred to as waalo, usable in the dry season. In Bundu,
the floodplain of the Faleme is narrower than that of the Middle Senegal,
resulting in less waalo. But since rainfall in Bundu is greater, jeeri is more
valuable, and much more economically vital. Whereas millet and sorghum
were almost exclusively grown in the Middle Senegal, crops with longer
growing seasons could be sown in Bundu: rice along the tributaries, maize,
cotton, tobacco, and indigo.21 On higher land groundnuts, sorghum and
millet were cultivated. Western hemispheric crops such as maize,
groundnuts, and tobacco were introduced into the area sometime before the
1720s, although millet remained the principal export crop until the mid-
nineteenth century. Groundnuts were domestically consumed, and never
approximated the level of production along the Upper Gambia after the
mid-nineteenth century.22 Bundu was also an important center of cotton
production and weaving, and an exporter of raw and woven cotton; cotton
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was also used internally as currency.23 Mollien and Gray, who both visited
Bundu around the same time, mention these crops as well as watermelons,
sorrel, onions, and pepper.24 Both men also agree that the proportion of
cultivated land was small.25 In Bundu, as was basically true of Futa Toro,
ownership of the land belonged to the man who first cleared it and made it
productive, as well as to his descendants.26

Besides an occasional reference to "wild" and "ferocious" beasts abound-
ing in Bundu, cattle and horses were raised domestically.27 The horses were
considered excellent, a mixture of "Arabian and African." Of course, the
Middle Senegal was the center of the pastoral industry, and nomads were not
as numerous as in Bundu.28 But there was no impediment to breeding cattle
in the area, especially in the absence of the tsetse fly.29

The people and society

Bundu's own traditions state that the Sissibe were not the original inhabit-
ants of the land. Rather, they emigrated from Futa Toro to what would
become Bundu, where they encountered existing communities of other
ethnicities. The Sissibe were subsequently able to usurp political power and
to expand their authority over the area. When Gray and Dochard visited
Bundu in 1819, they found the population a mixture of "Foolahs, Mandings,
Serrawollies, and Joloffs," with the culture and language of the first domi-
nant.30 That is, Bundu was an ethnically heterogeneous society made up of
Fulbe, Malinke, Soninke, and Wolof elements. The lingua franca of the
society was Pulaar, a member of the West Atlantic language family and
closely related to Sereer and Wolof.31

The precise order in which the various ethnicities came to inhabit Bundu
cannot be established with absolute clarity. The Malinke and Soninke
populations certainly antedate the Fulbe in Bundu, and the Wolof clearly
preceded the Sissibe. However, the Sissibe were only one of a number of
Fulbe families which migrated from Futa Toro (and to a lesser extent Futa
Jallon) to Bundu, and it is not certain that the Wolof preceded these other
Fulbe groups (more will be said about these groups in chapter 2). Further-
more, various subgroups within the broader ethnic divisions continued to
come and go over the centuries. As will be examined more thoroughly, these
migrations were both rapid and gradual, and could be numerically sub-
stantial or insignificant, depending upon the causes of change. Given the
particular period in question, the Fulbe population could be either greater or
smaller than the others, but they always controlled the political fortunes of
the state. The Jakhanke, those Manding clerical communities who followed
the religious tradition of al-hajj Salim Suware (d. 1525), and who constituted
an integral part of the realm, exercised a disproportionate level of economic
and religious influence upon the society, as will be discussed.

The Fulbe as a distinct people apparently originated just above the sahel
between Mauritania and Mali, and over the centuries migrated throughout
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the savannah of West Africa as far as the Lake Chad area. One of the areas
they settled was the Middle Senegal Valley. The middle valley people refer to
themselves as Haalpulaaren (s. Haalpulaar, "speaker of Pulaar"), whether
they are pastoralists or cultivators. It was the nineteenth century French
ethnographers who divided these people into distinct groups: the largely
non-Muslim pastoralists were called "Peuls," while the mostly Muslim
agriculturalists were referred to as "Toucouleur." English travelers to the
Sokoto Caliphate (in present-day Nigeria) adopted the Hausa word for the
Fulbe there, "Fulani," while the English in the Gambia used the word
"Fula," a Malinke loan. The result was that four terms were being employed
to refer to essentially the same ethnic group, with English scholars adopting
the French designations, and vice-versa.

Senegambian societies were as a rule highly stratified, and Bundu was no
exception. The various ethnicities both within and without Bundu mirrored
one another in the almost ubiquitous tripartite division of their societies. It
should therefore be kept in mind that, with the exceptions of religion and
inheritance practices, the following discussion of the Fulbe is also applicable
to the social organization of the Soninke, the Malinke, and the Wolof alike.

Fulbe society was divided into the free men (Pulaar, riimbe), the caste
groups {neenbe), and the slaves (maacube).32 Numerous substrata existed
within the three major categories and, in general, those at the top of the caste
and servile categories possessed greater wealth and power than did those in
the lower levels of the riimbe classification. Being "free," then, was simply a
"zero point," a ground floor. Kinship was all important, and to belong to a
noble lineage guaranteed a higher status. The Fulbe were patrilineal (inherit-
ance and identity passed through the male line), having switched over from
matriliny (passing inheritance and identity through the female line) with
conversion to Islam. Included within the riimbe were the cultivators, herders,
fishermen, and Muslim traders and clerics. It was not necessary to be Fulbe
in order to be part of the nobility, but such was usually the case.

The neenbe included endogamous occupational groups such as the awlube,
blacksmiths, leatherworkers, fashioners of wood, cloth, pottery, and so on.
Curtin argues effectively that these groups were not so much "lower" or
inferior in the social hierarchy as they were outside of it. While sexual
relations with the neenbe were regarded as defiling, social interaction was
perceived differently. In the case of the awlube, the nature of their craft led to
client-patron relations with the nobility and ruling elite. Blacksmiths were
feared and respected for their ability to communicate with tree spirits,
necessary for making charcoal. Woodworkers and leatherworkers were
shunned, however, in that they either worked extensively with trees, the
repository of dead spirits, or they violated blood taboos when preparing the
skins of animals.

The third category, the maacube, constituted the servile community. They
were not slaves in the western, proprietary sense, but were such in that they
were separate from the host society; they were foreigners who did not
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"belong." This group can be further broken down into three subdivisions:
trade slaves, who had been either captured or purchased, and had no rights
whatsoever; slaves born in captivity, who acquired a subordinate, fictive tie
to the master's family; and royal slaves, who frequently served in administra-
tive or military positions. Such royal slaves were often positioned to exercise
authority over the non-elite riimbe. By 1904, according to one estimate,
two-thirds of Bundu's population were enslaved.33

Turning to the other constituent communities of Bundu, the Soninke, like
the Fulbe, were also stratified into hooro (free peasants), namaxala (caste
groups), and komo (slaves).34 The Soninke were patrilineal and largely
Islamized by the late eighteenth century. In fact, one could speculate that
Bundu's proximity to Gajaaga, the heartland of the Soninke, caused the
Soninke of Bundu to maintain their deep reverence for the old and very
influential maraboutic families of the Darame, Silla, Ture, Saaxo, and Sisse
clans. However, any political ties to the ruling elite of Gajaaga must have
necessarily weakened to the point of insignificance with the expansion and
consolidation of the Bundunke state.

The Mande-speaking (or Malinke) communities were similarly patrilineal.
While they were probably non-Muslim towards the beginning of Bundu's
history, the evidence would suggest that they converted to Islam in increas-
ing numbers during the latter part of the eighteenth and throughout the
nineteenth centuries. They also maintained a hierarchical structure consist-
ing of the foro (peasants), the namaxala (or nyamaxala, castes), and the joon
(slaves). The Mande speakers were largely concentrated along the Faleme
River and to the south towards the Upper Gambia, and proved to be the
most resistant to the expansion of Sissibe authority into their territory.
Along with the Soninke, they would constitute the majority of the Bundunke
population after the second half of the nineteenth century.

The much smaller Wolof population was similarly divided into the baa-
doolo (literally, "the people without power"), neeno or artisan castes, and the
servile jaam groups. In the Wolof states along the Atlantic coast, the
legendary ceddo warrior class emerged from within the jaam, as they were
originally royal slaves. However, there is no evidence that elements of the
Wolof ceddo, who became a branch of the ruling elite in the Wolof states,
ever migrated to Bundu. Concerning religion, and in contrast to the Soninke
and Malinke communities in Bundu, the sources suggest that the Wolof in
Bundu (referred to as the "Fadube") were mostly non-Muslim. Because of
an ancient pact between the Sissibe founders of Bundu and the early Wolof
community that respected the latter's cultural autonomy, the Wolof were
able to resist Islam without state harassment until the jihads of the nine-
teenth century, when they became subject to periodic abuse. Even so, the
sources suggest that in Bundu the Wolof remained mostly non-Muslim as
late as the 1890s. While it is possible that the few who did convert to Islam
adopted patriliny, it should be noted that important clans in the Atlantic
Wolof states did not change their lineage system upon conversion to Islam.
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As previously stated, the Soninke, Malinke, and Wolof communities in
Bundu are all older than those of the Sissibe. Evidence relating to the
founding of the state clearly indicates that the Soninke and the Wolof were
already resident in the sparsely inhabited land by the time of Malik Sy's
arrival in the vicinity, while the presence of the Malinke along the Faleme,
bordering Bambuk, is a well-established fact. Prior to the advent of the
Fulbe in significant numbers, contact between the other three communities
was most likely minimal, as they were located in three different areas of what
would become Bundu. The Soninke lived in the north, approaching the
Upper Senegal; it is probable that the Wolof occupied an area to the south of
the Soninke; while the Malinke were concentrated along the Faleme. With
the establishment of the Bundunke polity, there was an additional influx of
ethnicities due to the tolerant policies of the government. At the same time,
however, the evidence suggests that the previous Soninke and Malinke
populations along the expanding periphery of the state were either absorbed
or gradually displaced in the course of the eighteenth century; repeated
references to warfare to the north and along the Faleme support this
assertion. The displacement was a consequence of the decision within these
communities to reject the political claims of the new polity. At the same time,
the sources consistently describe relations between the Fulbe and the Wolof
as cordial (until the nineteenth century jihads), a reflection of the aforemen-
tioned accord between the founders of Bundu and the Wolof, the specifics of
which will be discussed in chapter 2.

Those Malinke communities which accepted Sissibe rule, along with other
Soninke, Wolof and Fulbe populations, proceeded to form numerous homo-
geneous villages and several heterogeneous towns within Bundu. In the latter
case, members of an ethnic group and clan lived together in the same ward
(in adjacent compounds) of a given town, and had their interests represented
before government officials by the oldest member of the ward. The clans
were linked by a perceived common ancestor and a common surname
(yetoode in Pulaar, jaamu in Malinke, and sant in Wolof). Among non-
Muslim populations, identity was also derived from common, dual totemic
animals: one animal was associated with the ancestors and served as a
unifying symbol and source of protection for the clan, whereas the corres-
ponding animal functioned to repel those who did not belong to the clan.
These totemic markers of identity would fall into disuse with conversion to
Islam, but not completely.

It is probable that very few representatives of the nobility from any of
these communities remained in (or migrated to) Bundu, and those few who
did, if they were to retain upper class prerogatives within the context of the
Bundunke polity, probably joined the Torodbe community, from which
emerged Bundu's political leadership (and about which more will be said in
chapter 2). In any case, it is difficult to imagine how the nobility of separate
ethnic groups could have maintained their existence in the face of a newly
constituted state with its own ruling and noble classes.
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As will be discussed subsequently, the diversity of Bundu's initial popu-
lation was an important consideration in the formation of a pragmatic
domestic policy. Notwithstanding the commonalities, the cultural differences
(in such matters as language, religion, and kinship) between the various
ethnicities mitigated against the imposition of religious prescription.

The early, liberal policy of the state was partially responsible for attracting
immigrants of varying backgrounds to relocate in Bundu. The nineteenth
century, however, would witness the increasing domination of the state and
its economy by the Fulbe, reaching its apex under the reign of Bokar Saada,
who would target non-Fulbe groups, in particular the Soninke, to bear the
brunt of increased taxation. It is in the last quarter of the nineteenth century,
then, that this heretofore successful experiment in multiethnic relations turns
sour, and a definitive anti-Fulbe sentiment develops.

Concerning population figures, a 1976 census found that 87,566 people
resided in the departement of Bakel, an area that includes the former state of
Bundu.35 For reasons to be discussed later, it is probable that Bundu's
population in the period under review never exceeded 30,000, and that it
neared this upper limit shortly before the mid-nineteenth century.

Although Bundu was relatively fertile, the evidence indicates that the area
was only lightly populated prior to the foundation of the Bundunke state.
This was due to several factors, the most important having been that the
major trade routes did not lead through the area before the eighteenth
century. The combination of religious and political turmoil in the Middle
Senegal, along with the arrival of the French in the region as traders, greatly
stimulated the immigratory and centralization processes.

Islam in Bundu

From the time that Malik Sy founded the state, the official religion of Bundu;
that is, the religion of the nobility and ruling class, has always been Islam.
Moreover, from the latter part of the eighteenth century on, the majority of
the inhabitants have followed Islam. Prior to this point, there is evidence of
significant numbers of non-Muslims in Bundu. But with the expansion of the
Muslim rulers' power, Islam became firmly entrenched. To have lived in
Bundu in the late eighteenth century was to have lived as a Muslim.

Having stated that Bundu was a Muslim land, it must be kept in mind that
the political leadership was pragmatic. The available evidence is not suffi-
cient to preclude the possibility that Bundu's government sought to regulate
itself in strict accord with Islamic law, but the data strongly suggest that the
elite by and large resisted the call to conform to the emerging theocratic
examples of Futa Jallon and Futa Toro. However, there is no question that
Islam was a powerful and ubiquitous force throughout the society, and that
the policies of the Bundunke rulers represented an attempt to strike a balance
between the claims of militant Islam and the demands of commercial
profitability.
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In all of the travel literature on Bundu, it is never suggested that the
majority of Bundunkobe were anything other than Muslims. Mungo Park
maintained that the people of Bundu differed from those of the adjacent
Manding lands

... chiefly in this, that they are more immediately under the influence of the
Mahomedan laws: for all the chief men ... and a large majority of
the inhabitants of Bondou, are Mussulmen, and the authority and laws of the
Prophet, are every where looked upon as sacred and decisive.36

Raffenel even went so far as to favorably compare religion in Bundu with
that in Futa Toro: "The Mohammedan religion is practiced in Bundu with
more loyalty and sincere faith than in Futa .. . "37 What Raffenel may have
been referring to was what Mollien described as Bundu's clearly established
Muslim character, yet its lack of "fanaticism," a characteristic attributed to
Futa Toro.38

Islam in Bundu gradually evolved into the pervasive force that it was by
the beginning of the nineteenth century. By that time, the clerical community
was divided, according to Lamartiny and Raffenel, into three classes: the
imams (literally, "leaders of the prayers"), the tamsirs (a corruption of tafsir,
or Quranic exegesis), and the tdlibs (literally, "students").39 According to
them, the tdlibs were in fact educators who ran the schools and led the public
prayers. The imams ceremonially presided over successions and served as
judges; the tamsirs were intermediate judges between the imams and the
Almaami (head of the Bundunke state), and presided over courts of appeal.
Quranic schools were found in a majority of the towns, where classes were in
session from four to six in the morning, and again from seven to nine in the
evening. Small boards were provided for the students to write their Qur'anic
verses in Arabic. At least so far as the Jakhanke system was concerned,
students began Qur'anic school at age three or four, where they first learned
the alphabet.40 They then progressed to Qur'an memorization, a process
which usually took five years. Most left Qur'anic school at this point, but
some went on to study tafsir. From there, the few who continued their
training had to search out the various scholars wherever they could be
found, and with whom they could advance their knowledge of tafsir, tawhid
(theology), hadith (traditions of the Prophet), and fiqh (Islamic juris-
prudence).

Lamartiny, seconded by Rangon, observed that both between and after
classes, the students went into the villages seeking alms, and that this was
their primary method of paying their instructors.41 If this was indeed the
established practice in Fulbe villages, Jakhanke schools were financed differ-
ently. Beyond their sometimes large slave holdings, Jakhanke clerics also
required their pupils to work in the clerical fields to pay for their instruction,
food, and lodging.42 At the completion of the instruction, it was customary
to give the instructor a slave, or his or her equivalent.43 Such remuneration
implies that the Jakhanke trained primarily the elite, who could afford the
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"tuition," while the less fortunate had to settle for whatever was available
locally.

More advanced education and scholarship took place within the larger
Senegambian context. The entire region was interconnected, where shaykhs
("teachers") and students interacted across hundreds of miles, regardless
of ethnic or state affiliation. A prime example of this was the education of
Karamoko Ba (d. 1836), the founder of Touba (Toubacouta, or "new
Touba") in Futa Jallon, on the south bank of the Koumba River, in the
upper valley of the Rio Grande.44 Born in Bundu, he studied in several
villages in Khasso, including Goundiourou.45 Among his instructors in
Khasso were al-Shaykh Ibrahim Jane, Fudi Mahmud Jawari, and Fudi
Gassama Gaku.46 He then went on to fabled Jenne, where he studied
under Alfa Nuh, his most important instructor, as well as Alfa Hatib, Alfa
Raji, Umar "the Grammarian," Muhammad Tumane, Muhammad al-
Kharashi, Muhammad Ghali, Muhammad Kumasat, and Muhammad al-
Taslimi.47 At the same time that he was studying in Jenne, he was being
sought out as a shaykh by pupils from all over West Africa, including
Bundu, Futa Toro, Gajaaga, and Kaaba.48 It is entirely possible that the
particular case of Karamoko Ba represents an exaggeration in the effort to
embellish his image. Notwithstanding this, the account of his travels
remains highly useful in documenting the interconnectedness of the Sene-
gambian educational and religious communities.

Not everyone was as illustrious as Karamoko Ba, but many had to
travel outside of their native lands to complete their studies. This was the
nature of the shaykh-student educational system. But where that education
was completed was not uniform for everyone. Bubu Malik, Malik Sy's son
and successor, went to Futa Jallon, whereas Almaami Abdul Qadir of Futa
Toro studied in southern Mauritania. Mamadu Lamine went to Bakel to
sit at the feet of the Darame shaykhs; al-hdjj Umar spent several years in
Futa Jallon before going on to Maasina and Sokoto.

Robinson has already noted that scholarship in Futa Toro, and by
extension in Bundu, was of a limited nature and not to be compared with
the intellectual centers of Timbuktu, Sokoto, or Jenne.49 Such works as the
Mukhtasar (fiqh) of Khalil b. Ishaq (d. 776/1374) and the Maqamat
(poetry) of al-Hariri (d, 516/1122) were part of Karamoko Ba's curriculum
in Khasso.50 In Jenne he studied the Shifa (Maliki law) of al-Qddi'lyad
(d. 544/1149), and the Sahih (hadith) of al-Bukhari (d. 256/870). Besides
these, it is not beyond reason that such works as the Muwattd (fiqh) of
Malik b. Anas (d. 179/795), the Risala (fiqh) of Ibn Abu Zayd (d. 386/996),
and the Sahih (hadith) of al-Muslim (d. 261/875) were also familiar to the
clerics of Bundu, as they are West African favorites. Mungo Park had the
privilege of being shown a library in which there were numerous Arabic
manuscripts, but he was unable to identify them.51
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Jakhanke and Sissibe

As early as 1725, the French viewed Bundu as basically a theocratic power,
in which the clerical community enjoyed great esteem and influence.52

Nearly one hundred years later, the power of the Bundunke clerics was still
considered second only to that of the Almaami.53 Preeminent among this
group were the Jakhanke, a Malinke (or Soninke) clerisy identified by their
rejection of jihad and their non-involvement in political affairs. The various
communities throughout Niani, Wuli, Dentilia, Futa Jallon, and Bundu all
trace their lineages back to al-hdjj Salim Suware (d. 1525). At least fifteen
Jakhanke villages were located in what would become Bundu.54 Two of
those villages may have been established during the time of Malik Sy,
although they were not incorporated into the expanding state until after the
first quarter of the eighteenth century.55 Those which followed were attrac-
ted by the new Muslim state and, as Curtin maintains, the proximity of the
Bambuk goldfields.56 According to Jakhanke traditions, Malik Sy was in the
habit of seeking the prayers and amulets of Muhammad Fudi, who had
established a school in Safalou (in Diakha province, in what later became
southern Bundu), at which there were nearly 500 students at any given
time.57 Because of the efficacy of his amulets, Malik Sy gave Muhammad
Fudi his daughter Fatima in marriage.58 The union produced Muhammad
Fatima (d. c. 1772), who founded the town of Didecoto ("old Medina")
eleven miles southeast of Koussan (a Bundunke capital). Didecoto immedi-
ately began attracting significant numbers of Jakhanke from Diakha Ba in
Bambuk. Muhammad Fatima was celebrated for his great learning, and
became a shaykh and qddi Gudge) to the Bundunke ruler.59 He left seven
sons, one being the aforementioned Karamoko Ba.60

In reviewing the Jakhanke traditions, it is doubtful that Malik Sy
conceded the superiority of Jakhanke amulets, given his own preeminent
reputation in the field. However, it is very possible that Fulbe clerics such
as Malik Sy and Jakhanke clerics developed cordial relations. The prospect
that Muhammad Fudi may have allied himself with Malik Sy through
marriage, given the Jakhanke disavowal of politics, is an indication that
Malik Sy was not perceived as a reformer bent on waging jihad. But
Muhammad Fatima's subsequent involvement with the politically oriented
Sissibe was a clear violation of the Suwarian ideology, and such alliances
may have been a principal reason for Karomoko Ba's departure to Touba,
so far removed from his native Didecoto. Whatever the truth of the specific
relationship between Malik Sy and the Jakhanke, the traditions point to a
general closeness and compatibility between the Sissibe and the Jakhanke
before the latter half of the nineteenth century, when these relations began
to deteriorate under Bokar Saada. In light of the fact that such traditions
were recorded after the definitive break in relations between the two
groups under Mamadu Lamine, it is all the more probable that cooper-
ation did indeed exist in earlier times. In any event, the traditions are
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consistent in identifying the Jakhanke as the principal advisors to the
Bundunke rulers.61

The close association between the Sissibe clerical leaders of the state and
the Jakhanke clerical advisors to the state resulted in a mutual reinforcement
of the pragmatic nature of Bundu's government. Moreover, the preeminence
of the Jakhanke clerical reputation surpassed that of the Sissibe, and prob-
ably encouraged, in conjunction with other factors, the abandonment of
scholarly pursuits by the descendants of Malik Sy. The Sissibe, while
remaining Muslim, began to gravitate towards a political posture more in
keeping with the examples of the surrounding traditional monarchies: the
Denyanke of Futa Toro, the Bacili of Gajaaga, etc. At the same time, the
reputation of the Jakhanke as teachers and producers of amulets continued
to grow.62 There were other clerics in Bundu: Wolof, Fulbe, and Malinke,
who knew the bdtin ("secret") sciences. But the amulets of the Jakhanke
were the most highly prized. Amulets were among the more concrete expres-
sions of faith; they were used for medicine, for protection from wild beasts,
for seeking political power, and so on.63 They were especially important to
warriors, who wore as many as they could for protection against injury. The
Jakhanke did a thriving business in producing these charms for those
engaged in war, so that they became the premier source of both amulets and
education in Bundu.64 The growing political and commercial agenda of the
Sissibe, combined with the religious superiority of the Jakhanke, further
explains the court's moderate posture, and its inability to embrace the
Islamic revolutions of Futa Jallon and Futa Toro.

Jihad

The history of Bundu is filled with the details of military campaigns. Given
that the principal means of conducting legal warfare for Muslims is Viz jihad,
the Bundunke almaamies were careful to characterize their various wars and
expeditions as holy wars (as did the leaders of Futa Jallon), even though they
were often only punitive or extractive raids.65 While the concept of jihad will
be examined more closely in chapter 2, suffice it to say that these "jihads" are
to be clearly distinguished from the movements of Usuman dan Fodio,
al-hdjj Umar, and Abdul Qadir, whose efforts were greater, conducted
legally, and had further-reaching consequences. An example of the Bun-
dunke perception of their activities is given by Fox, who advised the
Almaami Saada Amadi Aissata against going to war in 1838, protesting it
was a sin to kill. The Almaami responded that

... it was not the good people they should kill, it was those only who did not
pray to God; and for doing this the Almighty would be well-pleased, and
would reward him; and that if he himself fell in the contest, he should go to
heaven .. ,66

Fox went on to state that "the almamy, and in fact, all Mohammedan chiefs,
consider they have a Divine right for making war upon the Pagans, ... "67
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That the Almaami regarded his campaign as prescriptive is substantiated
by the theological discussion that developed with Fox. The Wesleyan missio-
nary was asked if his teaching was the same as Muhammad's, to which Fox
replied in the negative, "adding that I did not find such a name in my Bible.
This led to a number of other questions, such as, 'Do you face the east when
you pray?' "68 Fox took the opportunity to explain the tenets of Christianity;
the Almaami politely rejected his claims, incredulous that God could have a
son, or that such could suffer death. The Almaami walked away from the
encounter convinced of the superiority of his religion, and that he was
operating wholly within its framework.

The furious assaults on Wuli and Tenda in the nineteenth century were
also perceived by the Bundunkobe as holy war. Rancgn comments that the
frequent campaigns against Tenda were "under the pretext of making war
against the infidels to convert them to Islam, .. . "69 Even Almaami Bokar
Saada (1857-85) viewed his activities as religiously justified. Asked the
reason for his attacks on the "pagans" of the south, while maintaining good
relations with the French, he responded that the Christians were dhimmis
(non-Muslims who were to be protected).70 For all of his questionable
actions, Bokar Saada never saw himself as anything other than a Muslim.
His attitude typified the handling of the jihadist ideology by Bundu's rulers:
they were aware of its theological claims, and exploited those claims when it
benefitted their own imperialist designs; but they steadfastly resisted the
reformist implications of the jihadists' activities within their own domain.

With this sketch of Bundunke society in hand, a discussion of Bundu's
evolution is now possible. We will begin with an examination of Malik Sy,
and the circumstances surrounding the foundation of Bundu.
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Malik Sy and the origins of a pragmatic
polity

The Bundunke sources are unanimous in their claim that Malik Sy, progeni-
tor of the Sissibe ruling dynasty, was the actual founder of the state. He is
thus the most highly venerated figure in the collective memory of the
Bundunkobe, surpassing others of his descendants whose reigns were far
longer and whose accomplishments were arguably far greater. To this day,
the name of Malik Sy is revered; inhabitants of the area continue to make
annual pilgrimage to the site of his purported tomb (at the base of a
mountain at Wuro Himadou). It is therefore quite essential and appropriate
to attempt an approximation of the historical figure, so laden with the
vestments of embellishment and anachronism.

It should be noted at the outset that it is not possible to establish with
absolute certainty that Malik Sy founded Bundu. However, the weight of the
evidence points in that direction. Such evidence will be examined in the
course of this chapter, as it is an issue for the history of the Bundunkobe. But
more important than the question of who founded the state is a consider-
ation of the circumstances and forces operative in the area during Malik Sy's
period, circumstances and forces which early on conspired to channel the
nascent policy towards a pragmatic posture. That is, the early period of the
state proved to be a formative one, establishing a paradigm from which
subsequent rulers did not seek to deviate. Directly related to this formative
period is the person of Malik Sy, whose background and career require some
reconstruction.

Sources

In order to achieve a credible approximation of Malik Sy's life and accom-
plishments, it is necessary to employ the filter of the preceding chapter's
analytical framework. That is, the dependability of sources relating to the
historicity of Malik Sy must be essayed according to such instruments of
measure. After a proper assessment, a plan of utilization specific to the case
of Malik Sy can be outlined.

The vast majority of sources concerning Malik Sy reflect a perception of

32



Malik Sy and the origins of a pragmatic polity

him developed by his descendants, the Sissibe. Whether communicated
through the medium of court-affiliated griots, or spoken directly by a scion
of the Sy family, the principal objective of these traditions is to honor the
name of the founder of the state, and to bestow upon him the requisite
attributes of greatness. As such, the resulting perception of Malik Sy is very
much the self-perception of the Sissibe; his glory is carefully cast to further
the self-interests of the ruling elite, interests which could only be contested
by those outside of the circles of power. Hence, the traditions must make it
clear that those who wield power do so by way of superior endowment and
divine approbation.

Having established that the preponderance of the Malik Sy materials
project the interests of the court, it next becomes necessary to examine the
context of the traditions' transmission. At this juncture it is critical to
observe that Malik Sy is wholly known to us through oral data; there are no
contemporary accounts of him. Some twenty-six more or less complete
versions of his life exist, collected throughout the late precolonial, colonial,
and postcolonial periods. Of that number, seven were collected prior to
1900, and only two before 1855.1 In other words, most of the accounts of
Malik Sy were recorded at least 200 years after his death; even the two
earliest collections are separated from him in time by approximately 150
years. Such accounts tend to be riddled with issues and ideas current during
the late eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, rather than the late seventeenth.
Late eighteenth and nineteenth century Sissibe rulers were employed as
models to form an image of what Malik Sy must have been like. In addition,
the lacunae in the various Malik Sy stories were filled with episodes whose
purpose was to explain or legitimize subsequent social and political realities.
As a consequence, we cannot be absolutely certain about the specifics of
Malik Sy's life. We can be reasonably assured of the fact that he is indeed an
historical figure, that he emigrated from Futa Toro to what became Bundu,
and that he was the progenitor of the ruling dynasty.

Beyond the context of time, there is a consideration of space. At least six
of the Malik Sy collections were recorded outside of Bundu: Diakite (1929),
Roux (1893), Adam (1904), Ly (1938), a number of the Curtin interviews
(1966), and Sow (1968). In turn, Rangon (1894) depends in part upon the
data acquired by Roux, so that at least some of his material does not
emanate from within Bundu. The consideration of spatial context also
partially addresses the initial issue of court-oriented materials: these six
collections can be used to adjust for the elitist perspective of the remaining
twenty.

With regard to the process of transmission, some of the penultimate
informants are known. For example, Ran^on cites Abdul Sega Sy of
Koussan as a major source, and Brigaud (1962) received his information
from Sy Amadou Isaaga, Abdul Sega Sy's grandson. Diakite, the Soninke
cleric, was a source for his own account and that of Adam. The sources of
Curtin and Gomez are clearly identified. Beyond these exceptions, the

33



Pragmatism in the age of Jihad

majority of the penultimate informants are unknown, and the various chains
of transmission irretrievable. The anonymous nature of these sources miti-
gates their authority, and means that earlier accounts are not necessarily
more reliable than subsequent collections.

Finally, it is assumed that the various observers made errors in their
reconstructions. The inaccuracies result from both the self-interests of the
ruling elite and inadequate methodology and comprehension on the part of
the observers.

Altogether, the problems of self-serving traditions, unidentified sources,
and observer error raise the pertinent question of how to critically use such
information. Notwithstanding the deficiencies, the collections of Ran^on,
Roux, Lamartiny, Kamara, Sow, Berenger-Feraud, Brigaud, Doudou,
Adam, Diakite, and Curtin constitute the core of the most important data
because of their breadth and detail, as they are largely whole traditions of
Malik Sy from birth to death. There are other accounts, such as Raffenel,
and Carrere and Holle, which serve to supplement the more comprehensive
collections.

These accounts, taken from a number of sources and collected over a
150-year span, form a very rich and diverse reservoir of information. While
much of the data reflects the Sissibe perspective, variations of the common
themes do occur. Such variations are not only the function of differing
periods of time and space; contemporary observers also produce differing
versions of the same story.

In light of the foregoing observations, it is essential to approach the
sources with the objective of establishing consensus, plausibility, and inter-
nal logic. By employing this methodology, several major phases of Malik
Sy's life can be discerned, concerning which a significant number of the
sources more or less agree. The probable historicity of these phases is
enhanced by accounts originating from outside of Bundu, but which are
nonetheless consistent with the view from within. In this way, data from
Diakite (hence Adam), Curtin, and Kamara became especially useful. Iso-
lated vignettes, outside of the consensus and thus impossible to corroborate,
cannot be relied upon as foundations for recreating the broad contours of
Malik Sy's life. However, such dissident voices retain anecdotal value, and
are judiciously employed in exploring the plausibility of explanations at
variance with the consensus. Matters of contemporary relevance, not at issue
during Malik Sy's tenure, must be identified and dissociated from the
historical period.

Of the twenty-six accounts of Malik Sy, nineteen feature recurrent epi-
sodes, but no single episode is found in all twenty-six accounts.2 The most
common episode is a reference to Malik Sy conducting some form of warfare
in Bundu, found in fifteen of the twenty-six narratives.3 A second common
theme concerns the establishment of the border between Gajaaga and
Bundu, repeated in fourteen accounts. The third most frequent theme is the
story of Kumba's well, which has to do with the origin of the name "Bundu."
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Beyond this, a substantial number of the sources discuss Malik Sy's early life
and training, journeys to Gajaaga and Diara, and eventual settlement in
Bundu. Upon a thorough examination of these themes, we will have formed
the most probable reconstruction of the life of Malik Sy.

Background and relationship to the Torodbe

Malik Sy was born in the town of Suyuma (Sonima, Souima, Soimna, or
Sonyma), a few kilometers from Podor in Futa Toro.4 Although Berenger-
Feraud states that he was of Manding origin, all other sources maintain that
he was Fulbe.5 The year of Malik Sy's birth is unknown, but based upon
Ramon's itinerary, it would have been around 1637.6 N'Diaye's dating of
Malik Sy to 1512 is a singular instance and can be discounted.7

Ran9on was the first to provide insight into Malik Sy's background.
According to his sources, the family of Malik Sy was very old, descendant
from a cleric named Ibnu Morvan (a corruption of Marwan), a sharif
(descendant of Muhammad).8 Ibnu Morvan would be Malik Sy's great-
grandfather, a person identified by Moussa Kamara as Taim Sy Hamme-
Mishin.9 According to the latter source, Taim Sy Hamme-Mishin came from
a Mauritanian town named "Suyumma"; following a personal conflict with
another party, he reestablished himself in Futa Toro, founding a new village
which he named "Suyuma."

Ramon's informants state that Ibnu Morvan and his Fulbe wife produced
a son named Hamet, who became "chief of a Toucouleur tribe of Toro."10

Hamet is referred to as Bakar by Moussa Kamara.1' Hamet in turn had two
sons and two daughters: N'Diob-Hamet and Dawuda-Hamet, and Maty-
Hamet and Tieougue-Hamet.12 The oldest, N'Diob-Hamet, produced a large
family which later became a critical source of aid for the progeny of Malik
Sy. One of the daughters, Maty-Hamet, married an important cleric who
later moved to Futa Jallon, and whose sons assisted Malik Sy. The other son,
Dawuda-Hamet, was Malik Sy's father. He reportedly became "one of the
great marabouts" in the land, and is referred to as Dawda, B'our Malick,
Ben Malik, and Bokar Diam Hamet Misin Habiballah in the other sources.13

Dawuda-Hamet is also described as being the head of the village.14 How
"great" Dawuda-Hamet was is questionable: Diakite states that the whole
family was erudite, whereas Adam, whose source was Diakite, records that
Suyuma was an "agglomeration of little importance, consisting of only
about thirty dwelling units, all occupied by marabouts."15 The fact that
Malik Sy is described as an "obscure marabout" by an independent source
lends credence to the relative insignificance of Suyuma.16 The fact that the
corpus of data on Malik Sy's ancestry is so limited also argues against
Dawuda-Hamet's importance.

The descendants of Malik Sy are referred to as the "Sissibe" (plural of
"Sy"), and they constitute a clan or lineage designation equivalent to other
Fulbe clans such as the Wane, Kane, Tal, Bal, Ly, Dia, Thiam, etc.17 But the
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Sissibe were also part of a collection of families known as the Torodbe. The
Torodbe would eventually emerge from rather humble origins to form an
elite social stratum within the Middle and Upper Senegal Valleys; Sissibe
membership in this restricted grouping served to bolster their claims to
political power, and was critical to their success in fending off periodic
challenges to their right to rule.

According to Moussa Kamara, the term Torodbe (singular Torodo) simply
signifies people from Toro.18 On the other hand, Robinson points out that
the term comes from the verb tooraade, which means "to ask for alms";
Willis defines it to mean "imploring Allah."19 What this implies is that the
Torodbe were at one time dispersed communities of Muslims, closely identi-
fied with the necessity of begging by outsiders.20 Ran$on states that they
were descendants of manumitted slaves in Futa Toro: "The origin of the
Torodos, according to my friend Captain Roux, . . . , is none other than the
application of a prescription of the Koran, which says that 'whoever gives
freedom to a believing slave will be rewarded'."21 Whatever their actual
origin, the Torodbe apparently occupied an inferior position within the
Futanke strata early in their existence, an element distinguishing Futa Toro
society from others in Senegambia. As the community developed, its
members came to be distinguished by four basic features: they were erudite
in the Islamic sciences; they were Pulaar-speakers but Arabic-writers; they
could not be fishermen, smiths, weavers, tanners, griots, or participate in any
other caste-occupation; and they disavowed the nomadic lifestyle.22 At some
time after a formative period, non-Fulbe individuals joined the ranks of the
Torodbe, who became the functional equivalent of the Moorish zwdya
(clerical communities).

According to oral tradition, the Sissibe were one of the last clans to
become Torodbe.23 The implication of the various sources, notwithstanding
the discrepancies, is that Malik Sy's great-grandfather Ibnu Morvan was the
first to enter the Torodbe ranks. If one allows thirty years for each gener-
ation, then this person was born sometime in the 1540s. That the Torodbe
existed prior to Ibnu Morvan means that they could have been in existence as
early as the fifteenth century. Ramon's sources claim that the Ly and Tal
clans of the Torodbe are descendant from a first/seventh century relative of
one of the Companions, who participated in an invasion of Futa Toro.24 It is
difficult to determine what this "invasion" actually refers to in the historical
record. However, the conquest of Futu Toro by the Denyanke in the latter
part of the fifteenth century may explain the drop in social status of the
Torodbe, or indeed their creation as a self-conscious, stigmatized group of
clerical villages.

Early years

Suyuma was for all practical purposes a clerical village. Malik Sy's first
instruction came from his father, under whom he studied Arabic based upon
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recitation, memorization, and copying of the Qur'an.25 Education for chil-
dren attending Qur'anic school (madrasd) usually began after circumcision,
around five years of age, and lasted until age thirteen or fourteen.26 Malik Sy
was no different, remaining under his father's tutelage until age fifteen.27

Upon completion of this phase, he earned the title tierno.28

At this point Malik Sy left Suyuma to study elsewhere. It is very likely that
he went into southern Mauritania.29 Depending upon the precise section of
southern Mauritania, he would have either concentrated on the Mukhtasar
of Khalil b. Ishaq (d. 776/1374), or asHar (poetry) and nahwa (grammar).30

Following his formal training, he returned to Suyuma.31 By this time he was
twenty years old, and three years later his father died. Malik Sy became the
head of the family. He married at age twenty-seven, and three years later his
first wife bore a son, Bubu Malik. By another wife he had two more sons:
Tumane Malik and Mudi Malik. Not long afterwards, he went to Gajaaga
(or Galam) where he produced amulets for the Tunka at Tiyaabu; he
remained there for the next three years. While in Gajaaga, he would often
visit the Torodbe who had already emigrated to southern Gajaaga (which
later became Bundu). It was during this period that Malik Sy began thinking
about moving with his family to southern Gajaaga. In exchange for his
services to the Tunka, he received gifts of cattle and slaves, with which Malik
Sy returned to Suyuma. Two years later, he set out for the east, passing
through Gajaaga and Khasso.

It is very probable that, as four of the nineteenth and three of the twentieth
century sources testify, Malik Sy went next to Diara, another Soninke
stronghold (as was Gajaaga) in the sahel.32 Diara had been founded by the
Nyakhate clan, who were later overthrown by a new dynasty, the Diawara,
towards the end of the fourteenth century. The capital at Kingui was a
commercial center, whose vitality was a principal reason for the state's
expansion at the expense of old Mali. By 1754, however, the Bambara of
Kaarta were successful in extending their hegemony over neighboring
Diara.33

Beyond a high level of consensus, the internal logic of the Diara trip is
sound. The sources are careful to distinguish between the Diawara dynasty
and the Bambara of Kaarta. Because of the extensive relations between
Bundu and Kaarta since the eighteenth century, it would have been easy to
place the Bambara in Diara during the seventeenth. The plausibility of the
venture is also very credible. Diara, besides being an important center of
trade, was noted for fielding an impressive army. Armies in West Africa were
in turn noted for their usage of amulets. For a cleric who was trying to make
a living by creating these amulets, Diara would have been an ideal market.

With the commercial nature of Diara in mind, it is probable that Malik Sy
left Futa Toro (at first temporarily, then permanently) primarily for the
purpose of making money to help alleviate the stressful conditions of his
family's finances; part of the stress was related to exorbitant taxation levied
by the Denyanke regime, about which more will be said in chapter 3.
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However, it should be recognized that multiple explanations have been
forwarded regarding the reason for his departure; the issue is fundamental to
understanding the subsequent development of Bundu. For example, accord-
ing to Rangon, Malik Sy was simply adventurous, a statement influenced, no
doubt, by the exploits of the nineteenth century Almaami Bokar Saada.34

Such a contention is hardly satisfactory in explaining Malik Sy's overall
behavior. Two other explanations are related to Islam. One is that Malik Sy
was a missionary, a kind of successor to the sixteenth-century figure al-
Maghili, in that he was primarily interested in converting rulers. According
to this version, he traveled from the Middle Senegal all the way to Segu
making converts. Having heard that the Tunka of Gajaaga was a just man,
although an unbeliever, he decided to rectify the situation: "Malik-sy, who
lived for the triumph of Islam, said to himself: it is proper that a man as wise
as the Tunka of Goye not remain a kaflr (an idolater) until his death; it is
necessary that his subjects not vegetate perpetually in the obscurities and the
practice of animism."35 The other religious explanation is that Malik Sy was
an itinerant 'alim (scholar), touring various lands "functioning as the reader
of sacred manuscripts, commenting on the Koran and living on alms ... "36

While it is possible that Malik Sy performed both of these services, it is
doubtful. The evidence indicates that he was not perceived as a scholar.

It is conceivable that factors not mentioned by the sources could have
influenced Malik Sy's decision to leave Suyuma. For example, the gradual
development of the Atlantic slave trade was impacting the Senegambian
interior, such that the failure of the Denyanke dynasty to protect the
inhabitants of Futa Toro was one likely reason for the Islamic revolution of
the 1760s. In light of both the Atlantic trade and the continuation of the
trade into Mauritania, Malik Sy may have experienced pressure to protect
himself and his family. Another possibility is that, as a member of the
Torodbe, Malik Sy would have been aware of the tense relations between
that clerisy and the Denyanke ruling elite.37 Presumably, such tension was
related to the former's perception that the Denyankobe had failed to prop-
erly observe the tenets of Islam. Some Torodbe communities had already
emigrated to southern Gajaaga and Futa Jallon for asylum. Consequently,
in view of the developing crises of the slave trade and Denyanke hostility, it
is entirely plausible that Malik Sy would have had sufficient cause to leave
Futa Toro.

However, the various traditions indicate that as many as fourteen years
elapsed between the initial travels of Malik Sy (after his studies were
finished), and the time when he finally removed his family from Futa Toro.38

The question becomes, if the aforementioned pressures were so great, why
did Malik Sy leave his family behind in Suyuma? The answer to this query
lies in the probability that Malik Sy was fundamentally motivated by other
concerns. The sources overwhelmingly indicate that the primary and original
cause of his departure was financial in nature; the rather humble circum-
stances of the Torodbe condition strengthen this observation. Because of the
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financial strains on his family, he went to the commercial town of Diara to
earn money, principally by writing amulets; sustained economic pressures,
possibly including insufferable taxation, would lead to his permanent
departure. Ly records that he sought to make a living by selling "charms and
amulets, which had great success in the country of the Sarrakolets (Soninke)
in this land of the east," who were unbelievers and "dominated by the
sorcerers."39 He reportedly acquired great influence due to the virtue of his
amulets and the "realization of certain of his predictions."40 N'Diaye
records that Malik Sy led a holy life, and attained the title waliyu, which in
Bundu signified a person who had a thorough knowledge of the Qur'an, the
ability to predict the future, and was capable of supernatural feats.41 An
early tradition concerning Malik Sy confirms N'Diaye on this point: "He
(Malik Sy) was everywhere the object of an eager reception, because of both
his reputation for holiness, and for the superb amulets that he made."42

The various sources, separated by time and space, are almost all agreed
that Malik Sy was renowned for the efficacy of his amulets. Even when the
primary reason for his leaving Futa Toro is given as something else, the
benefits of his being an amulet-maker are also mentioned. An example of this
is Berenger-Feraud, who after portraying Malik Sy as a missionary, in the
same breath stated that he made excellent gris-gris (amulets) to guard against
"all the dangers which are able to assail a man."43 Perhaps Rangon said it
best when he wrote: "He desired to see a little of the world, and to make a
fortune."44

Diara and the sword of power

According to Ran9on, Malik Sy was at least thirty-five years old by the time
he set out for Diara.45 He passed through Gajaaga and Khasso, lands
"infested with brigands," where he spent some time "predicting the future
and giving away amulets, and was thus able to reach Diara without having
suffered too much."46 Malik Sy supposedly arrived at Diara during the
tenure of Fari Mamadou Ben Damankalla (or Fie Mamadou, or Faregne).47

However, estimates on the reign of Mamadou range from the late fourteenth
century to the middle of the fifteenth. The attempt on the part of traditiona-
lists to render Malik Sy a contemporary of Mamadou reflects the fact that
both men were the progenitors of novel dynasties: Malik Sy founded the
Sissibe, whereas Mamadou initiated the Diawara. Notwithstanding this
method of etiological embellishment, the Diara trip retains sufficient credi-
bility for the aforementioned reasons.

The sources are agreed that Malik Sy was well-received by the ruler, who
was probably Fari Ntiangulai (c. 1597-1679).48 His services to the Fari
included producing amulets and predicting future events. As payment,
Malik Sy was given substantial wealth. He was also given a house next to the
ruler's, and because of his sagacity and knowledge, was honored by the
residents of Diara with the title Eliman (literally "leader of the prayers," a
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corruption of the Arabic al-Imdm).49 That this title may have been given
before Malik Sy settled in southern Gajaaga is important, and will be
addressed later when the nature of the imdmate is discussed.

Of the many services Malik Sy reportedly performed for the Fari, his most
dramatic involved his causing the Farfs previously barren wife, Dongo, to
become pregnant and bear a child.50 In return, he was permitted to examine
a certain magical sword, upon which was inscribed an unspecified but potent
Arabic formula. However, after seeing the sword, he was asked to leave
Diara by the Fari, out of fear that his experience with the sword had made
Malik Sy too powerful and, hence, a threat.

The tale of the sword is clearly a vehicle of legitimization: Malik Sy,
formerly a poor, obscure cleric with no trace of royal or noble blood, is now
invested with the stuff of political power. The sword symbolizes the con-
veyance of the right to both territorial conquest and temporal rule; such
imagery is not uncommon in matters involving the contesting of political
authority (i.e., the "sword of truth" of Usuman dan Fodio, scholar, leader of
jihad, and founder of the Sokoto Caliphate c. 1804 in northern Nigeria). The
sword is from Mecca, containing Arabic inscriptions, and was once in the
possession of Sunjaata himself (founder of the Malian empire c. 1230). It
therefore follows, in the view of the Sissibe, that the political authority
eventually wielded by Malik Sy in Bundu was doubly sanctioned: for those
concerned with Islam, the sword came from the center of the Muslim world,
thus demonstrating divine approval. For those not necessarily impressed
with the tenets of Islam, the sword was formerly the possession of one of the
most illustrious rulers of all time. By implication, the right - indeed, the
mandate - to create empire in the spirit and likeness of Sunjaata is now
conferred upon Malik Sy. The latter aspect of the sword's significance, its
association with Sunjaata, would be especially useful in justifying Bundu's
territorial expansion at the expense of the Malinke and Soninke, who once
belonged to the Malian empire. Thus, the tale of the sword of power has as
its purpose the establishment of Malik Sy as a temporal ruler. It would be
left to another tale, the "Tale of the Walk," to determine the land and people
over which Malik Sy was to exercise this right of dominion.

Implicit in the sources is Malik Sy's desire to rule, and that he consciously
sought to realize his ambitions. He is portrayed as willingly employing
deception to achieve his goals. The characterization of Malik Sy as poli-
tically ambitious comes up again and again; it is argued here that this
portrayal is heavily informed by the behaviour of the nineteenth century
descendants of Malik Sy. Because expansionist policies were pursued by
later almaamies, it is assumed that such tendencies originated with Malik Sy.

It is extremely interesting that the magic sword is at Diara. The sword
could have been placed anywhere. The fact that Diara was chosen draws
attention to the close relations maintained between Kaarta and Bundu in the
eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. Around 1754 the Massassi of Segu
emigrated to Kaarta as a result of a civil war with the Kulubali. The region of

40



Malik Sy and the origins of a pragmatic polity

Kaarta borders the realm of the Diawara, and from 1754 to 1777 the
Massassi and the Diawara lived in peace.51 In 1777, the Diawara had become
the clients of the Massassi, and were given the northern province of Kaarta.
Therefore, the Diara episode can be viewed as not only an attempt to
legitimize Malik Sy's position as a ruler, but also to justify Bundu's relations
with non-Muslim Kaarta. This use of legal fiction would help quell the
subsequent protests of those in Bundu who, influenced by external reform
movements, objected to maintaining such alliances.

Settlement in southern Gajaaga

Most of the sources agree that when Malik Sy left Diara, he returned to
Tiyaabu, the capital of Gajaaga. The Tunka belonged to the Bacili dynasty,
and apparently was not a Muslim.52 The various other towns in Gajaaga,
such as Makhana and Kotere, were also under rulers called Tunkas. The
head Tunka for all of Gajaaga would change from time to time, so that the
Tunka of a given town may have been Tunka of Gajaaga as well. In the late
seventeenth century, Tiyaabu was the seat of the head Tunka. Once again,
Malik Sy is depicted as serving in the royal court, primarily writing amulets.
The Tunka is described as having had many virtues, but he lacked the
military courage possessed by the Fulbe and the Moors.53 He consequently
asked Malik Sy for the ability to overcome this shortcoming; Malik Sy
complied, giving the Tunka an amulet that assured victory in war.54 The
purpose of this anecdote is to explain Bundu's inability ever to subjugate
Gajaaga. The Sissibe "have often made war against the Bakiris, but they
have never had serious success, because the amulet given to the Tunka of
Tuabo by Malik Sy retained its protective virtue."55

As payment for his services, Malik Sy asked the Tunka for "a small
corner of land in this fertile country" in which to settle.56 Some of the
sources indicate that the Tunka immediately set into motion the means of
establishing the boundaries between Gajaaga and Bundu.57 Others indi-
cate that at first Malik Sy was only interested in maintaining a village, and
that after his community of followers had grown, he requested more land
from the Tunka.5* The elements of consensus, internal logic, and plausibi-
lity are sufficiently high to make this episode credible. It must be kept in
mind that southern Gajaaga often served as a political refuge; the Satigi of
Futu Toro had fled there during the tubenan takeover (to be discussed
later), as had the Buur-ba-Jolof.59 That Malik Sy would request and be
granted land in the same area is entirely consistent with Gajaaga's pre-
vious policy.

Malik Sy sent for his family in Suyuma. In addition to his family, Malik Sy
is said to have had numerous followers.60 Lamartiny claims that it was
because he had so many students that he required more land.61 Among his
followers were three close companions: Sevi Laya (or Layal), a gawlo;
Tamba Kunte, a smith; and Keri Kafo (or Terry Tafo), a slave.62 These three
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are traditionally viewed as the ancestors of the caste and servile groups
which developed in Bundu.

Where Malik Sy settled is also an issue in the sources. Moussa Kamara
states that he first settled in a place called Wajini, then moved on to
Dyunfung on the other side of the Faleme.63 It is Diakite's contention,
reflected in Adam as well, that Malik Sy founded Boulebane. Carrere and
Holle also support this view.64 On the other hand, both Dieng Doudou and
Brigaud state that Malik Sy settled at Guirobe, eight miles northwest of
Senoudebou, and Rangon says that he built the village of Wuro-Alfa
("village of the alfa") near Guirobe.65 It is unlikely that Malik Sy settled
across the Faleme River in Bambuk. Boulebane is usually described as an
eighteenth-century construction. Since Guirobe was already established by
Torodbe before Malik Sy came to southern Gajaaga, it is likely that he first
went to Guirobe, then built a settlement nearby.

In the late seventeenth century, the population of southern Gajaaga was
both sparse and heterogeneous. The earliest inhabitants were the Fadube,
the Badiar, the Wualiabe, and the "Bakiri" (the Jakhanke would arrive
during or after the tenure of Malik Sy).66 The first two groups were culturally
akin to the Badiaranke, the Coniagui or Conadjis, and the Bassari who
currently live further south along the Senegal-Guinea border.67 Regarding
the Fadube, they were Wolof cultivators and herdsmen who had been forced
to leave Jolof because of the oppression they experienced under the Buur-ba-
Jolof.6S Having sought exile with the Tunka, they were sent to southern
Gajaaga. After Malik Sy had settled at Wuro-Alfa, Adam says that he
encountered a people "who resembled animals more than men, in the
manner of their dress and how they walked."69 They introduced themselves
as the Fadube. Malik Sy returned the introduction, stating that he had been
under the impression that the country was unpopulated. He then pledged
that he would never disturb their affairs, on the condition that they live
peacefully in their caves.70

N'Diaye similarly records that when Malik Sy came to southern Gajaaga,
the Fadube, or Wolof, owned the land. They lived in the ground, and had
tails. In responding to the preaching of Malik Sy, however, they came out of
their holes and had their tails cut off.71 The clear implication in both of these
anecdotes is that the Fadube were uncivilized - practically subhuman, and
that they had failed to make productive use of the land. As a result, even
though they were the first to inhabit the land, they did not deserve to own or
control it. Once again, this characterization is employed to justify the seizure
of territory by referring to the supposedly inferior culture of the "natives."
As a result of the civilizing influence of Malik Sy, the indigenous inhabitants
actually experience marked improvement in the quality of their lives, which
compensates for the loss of their autonomy and control over their land.

Amadi Bokar Sy maintains that Malik Sy converted the Fadube to Islam;
similarly, Curtin and Skinner, in commenting on the preceding story, suggest
that the emergence from the subterranean lifestyle and the removal of tails
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imply conversion to Islam and circumcision.72 The theme of conversion
facilitates the overall efforts of these authorities to portray Malik Sy as a
reformer, but other sources, closer to the period, do not support the interpre-
tation. Ran9on states:

The Fadoube were thus established there and maintained very intimate rela-
tions with the Guirobe; but they always remained separated from them [the
Guirobe] by their tastes, their manners, and their religion. They were pagans
and superstitious, and had strange practices and customs. The darkest forests
served as their places of seclusion. They often sacrificed victims at the feet of
old trees, staining the trunk with the blood; and eating the flesh of animals
having died from sickness, without having bled them. They also ate pork.73

Roux relates that Malik Sy signed a treaty with the Fadube; he would be
their ruler and cleric, and in return they would be allowed to continue eating
pork.74 Notwithstanding this testimony, it is doubtful that the Fadube
became Muslims at this time. Indeed, Roux, writing in the nineteenth
century, went on to add: "Today they submit themselves to the common
custom and construct dwellings, but they have kept from their barbaric past
the habit of eating the flesh of pork, in spite of the formal interdiction of the
Koran."75 Because of their intransigence to Islam, they repeatedly were the
targets of the jihadists of the nineteenth century.76 In contrast to the attitude
of the nineteenth century jihadists, Malik Sy is depicted by most of the
sources as compromising with the unbelieving element for political gain.

As for the Badiar, they were Malinke in origin.77 By the time of Ranc^on's
study, they had completely disappeared from Bundu.78 The Wualiabe were
also Malinke from Bambuk, who maintained a few villages along the west
bank of the Faleme River. They were chased from Bundu by the almaamies,
and went on to establish the state of Wuli, on the Gambia River. Tamba-
counda, the large community in Wuli, was supposedly established by
Malinke immigrants from Bundu.79 Of course, the "Bakiri" were the Bacili,
the Soninke rulers of Gajaaga.

As previously stated, by the time Malik Sy arrived in southern Gajaaga,
some Torodbe groups had already settled there. One of these communities
was that of the Guirobe, a name taken from their village of Guirobe.
Otherwise, they are referred to as the N'Guenar, reflecting their origin in the
similarly named province of Futa Toro.80 The other group were the Tamba-
dunabe, or the Bambadu, whose chief village was Wuro-Dawuda, north-
west of Senoudebou.81 Beyond the Torodbe, it is also possible that the
Jakhanke established communities around the period of Malik Sy's resi-
dence there.82

The Tale of the Walk

We have already introduced the notion that Bundu was a heterogeneous
society. Carrere and Holle maintain that Bundu became a refuge for Torodbe
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"Peuls," immigrants from Jolof, and "Sarracoclet" (Soninke) and Diawara
groups chased out by Kaarta.83 While Berenger-Feraud is not specific, he
states that Malik Sy followed a deliberate policy of incorporating disparate
elements into a larger collective: "Malik-si made of the country that was
granted to him by the Tunka a place of refuge; therefore, in a short time, he
had a numerous population made up of people from many countries who
were needy and often without [necessities], or else they had committed
crimes."84 The conclusion is that from the outset, Bundu was characterized
by a variety of ethnic communities.

As a result of the tubenan failure, southern Gajaaga experienced acceler-
ated growth in the latter part of the seventeenth century. Population density
in Futa Toro also contributed to emigration. This is reflected in the account
of how southern Gajaaga became independent of the Tunka at Tiyaabu, and
how the border was established between the two states. After initially
settling at Wuro-Alfa, Malik Sy's community of followers is said to have
increased to such an extent that "he had to request an increase in the
concession [of land] in order to lodge all of his proselytes."85 Adam, in an
interesting contrast, states that Malik Sy requested independence for the
whole region, not just Wuro-Alfa and its environs.86 The Tunka agreed to
the more modest option and proposed the following procedure: "Return to
your camp at Guirobe. Set out again tomorrow as soon as day breaks.
Likewise, I will leave from my end at Tuabo, and the spot where we meet will
be the boundary between my states and the lands that I will give you."87 The
account of the "Walk" is found in all of the nineteenth century versions
except for Diakite, and in eight of the remaining nineteen versions from the
twentieth century.88 A few versions state that on the morning of the
scheduled walk, the Tunka rose late, procrastinated until noon, and walked
slowly towards the south.89 The Tunka "had barely walked five hundred
paces when he encountered Malik-si . . . "90 They met very close to Tiyaabu,
and the Tunka is made to say: "You Fulahs, you have more energy than we
do. You come to take from me a part of my domain; but I have given my
word, I know that I have to keep it: henceforth, here will be the line of
demarcation between your country and mine."91 Implicit in these versions is
the reason why the Tunka was unhurried: he believed Malik Sy. It was
therefore the Tunka's fault that he lost so much territory, because he was
naive to put faith in Malik Sy. This in turn suggests that Malik Sy was less
than trustworthy.

On the other hand, the majority of the pre-1966 accounts state that the
boundary between Bundu and Gajaaga was established deceitfully.92 A
certain day was designated for the mutual march, and both men were to
begin walking toward each other that morning. Whereas the Tunka kept the
agreement and began at dawn, Malik Sy took off during the previous night.
They met four or five kilometers south of Bakel, not far from Tiyaabu.93 The
Tunka is made to be furious with the cleric: "'What!\ he said to him. T had
confidence in you, but you deceived me, and I am disappointed at that! But a
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ruler only has his word. Therefore, I will faithfully keep the promise that I
gave you'."94

The "Tale of the Walk," within which is an account of the formation of
the Bundu-Gajaaga border, is clearly designed to explain the genesis of
Sissibe control over Bundu. As such, its function is similar to other such
stories describing the origins of various states and dynasties (e.g., Queen
Dido and the founding of Carthage). The previous story of the "Sword of
Power" established Malik Sy's right to rule; the "Walk" addresses the
specific territorial application of that right. Secondarily, the "Walk" seems
to account for the proximity of the Bundu frontier to Tiyaabu.95 Equally
important, however, is the portrayal of Malik Sy. He is a deceiver, a
power-hungry trickster who betrays a trust. The underlying issue here is the
right of sovereignty; southern Gajaaga belonged to the Bacili of Tiyaabu,
and it somehow became the property of the Sissibe. The transfer is related in
mythical terms, suggesting that the reality it seeks to represent is in fact more
complex and difficult to explain. For the reality is that what began as a small
group of clerical communities became, by the middle of the eighteenth
century, a predatory state. The story communicates that this transformation
was illegal and a usurpation of legitimate authority.

It becomes almost impossible to discern what the historical Malik Sy was
really like, as the mythical figure has been made a composite of the expan-
sionist tendencies of subsequent almaamies. By the time Ran9on made his
collection, Bundu was seven generations removed from Malik Sy, and in the
absence of any contemporary accounts, he was for all practical purposes a
remote and legendary figure. By contrast, Bokar Saada had just died; under
his leadership Bundu reached its maximum territorial expansion, and he left
a lasting impression for all posterity after a thirty-year reign. In many ways,
the story of Malik Sy is a commentary on his successors.

The death of Malik Sy

In discussing events surrounding Malik Sy's death, the sources make a
transition from semi-mythology to an attempt at straightforward narrative.
There are no supernatural swords, subhuman creatures, or flying dragons
involved. A number of the sources do not mention the manner of Malik Sy's
death at all.96 Of those which treat his death, all agree that Malik Sy died
violently.

That the issue of sovereignty was creating conflict between Malik Sy's
adherents and the Tunka is supported by the key nineteenth-century sources.
Roux writes that Malik Sy had succeeded in conquering some Malinke
strongholds in southern Gajaaga, and that the Tunka was anxious to regain
control of these areas.97 Lamartiny states that Malik Sy was covetous of the
Tunka's domain, and was awaiting an opportunity to seize it.98 According to
Ran$on, the Tunka gradually became aware of Malik Sy's "profound
ambition" which, if unchecked, would cause great damage to the realm.99
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Ration adds that Malik Sy had taken command of both sides of the Faleme
River, and was claiming the land just south of Tiyaabu itself.100 All of this
reinforces the view that Bundu had not become territorially defined during
Malik Sy's time; that, in fact, Gajaaga had not ceded any territory to Malik
Sy with the understanding that he was to create a state.

As a result of heightened tensions, war broke out between Malik Sy and
the Tunka. Commanding an army of 2,000 men, Malik Sy reportedly cap-
tured three villages in a march on Gajaaga, killing all of the men and
enslaving the women.101 He then crossed the Faleme River at Senoudebou,
and marched north to the Senegal River. He stopped near Arondou, about
two kilometers east of the Faleme's mouth.102 There he was engaged by the
superior forces of the Tunka. Alfa Ibrahim Sow recounts the events:

They arrived at the deep waters of
Bodogal which no one had ever crossed by
fording.

Keri-Kafo came to himself and declared:
Maliki-Dawouda, what is then the meaning

of this day?
I came here with you and I do not see a

passage;
an army is coming and we do not have the

force to defeat it.
Maliki-Dawouda replied:
have faith in God.
He took for himself the magic fire and

with it struck the water.
A passage of land appeared,
A ford appeared,
Maliki-Dawouda crossed.
The horses of the pursuers had to wait

for someone:
the river!
His companions said to him:

Maliki-Dawouda, stop!
Cease from lengthening your course; you

are well leading us to the
Place-without-name;
the price of dignity, it is death.
Maliki-Dawauda took the reins of his

horse.
They sent out the Axe-of-torments to him

to cut off
the head.
At the place where the head fell, it

cried out:
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Silamfan, satanfan!
The faint-hearted died, the brave died.
The most capable bodies to suffer the

injury of the blows
and the men best-endowed with powerful

muscles,
there they remained with the power.
Maliki Si the son of Dawauda-Hamme,
son of Manti-Ali, of Eli Bana-Musa
did not feel the pain.103

The Battle of Arondou was fiercely contested; in spite of his bravery and
vigor, Malik Sy was forced to beat a hasty retreat. He was pursued by the
Tunka, who surrounded his position at Dialiguel on the Faleme. After a
pitched battle, Malik Sy was mortally wounded. He managed to escape the
scene of hostilities, only to die shortly thereafter at Goumba-Koko, near
Selen on the Faleme. The probable year was 1699.104

In the aftermath of his demise, Malik Sy rose from relative obscurity to a
place of unequalled esteem in the traditions of the Bundunke people. His
effort to establish Bundu is a major reason for his revered memory, but there
are others. His fight against localized opposition was a portent of Bundu's
subsequent struggles for power within the region, and would be drawn upon
both to inspire and to legitimize such struggles. Secondly, his example of
moderate clerical governance would be used by his descendants to defend
against unfavorable comparisons with the reformist leadership of the two
Futas. Finally, the political crises following his death and that of his
successor Bubu Malik Sy were ultimately resolved to the advantage of the
Sissibe. However, in order to further strengthen their claims, the Sissibe
would begin to promote and embellish the traditions of Malik Sy to the
exclusion of all others, and in this way effectively exploit a critical vehicle of
justifying the monopoly of political power.

On the creation of a pragmatic state

While it cannot be established with absolute certainty that Malik Sy estab-
lished the state of Bundu, the weight of the evidence leans in this direction.
The fact that he assumed the title Eliman, a designation usually associated
with religious functions, is of some utility, as it suggests accepting the
political leadership of a Muslim land.105 However, it is possible that he
received this title in Diara, not in Bundu, which would support the notion
that the title simply recognized his clerical leadership. Reinforcing this view
is the fact that the Jakhanke leaders also carried such titles as alkali (from
al-qddi) and imam; Ayuba Sulayman Diallo, otherwise known as Job Ben
Solomon and about whom more will be said in chapter 4, reported that this
father was called "alfa" in Bundu early in the eighteenth century.106

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the traditions are unrelenting in their
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assertion that Malik Sy founded the state. Ran£on writes that Malik Sy con-
cluded treaties with both the Fadube and the Guirobe, or N'Guenar, and
then began collecting taxes from both groups.107 After his death, both Bubu
Malik Sy and Maka Jiba were compelled to return to Bundu from Futa
Jallon and Futa Toro respectively to fight for the preservation of the polity.
Their behavior implies that a prior investment had been made; they could
have remained in the Futas. While the evidence is not particularly strong, it
is such that no other alternative has sufficient plausibility. Malik Sy is the
most likely original investor in the Bundunke polity.

Assuming that Malik Sy founded the state, he did not do so in a political
vacuum. That is, he must have had certain ideas relative to the organization
and function of government, and those ideas were in all probability influ-
enced by existing forms of government in the region. If the foregoing is
plausible, then it would appear that Malik Sy and his successors made a
conscious decision to adopt a pragmatic approach to government. There are
a number of reasons for the adoption of such an approach, but it is neces-
sary to begin with a consideration of what was probably the most influential
factor in the unfolding of events in the Upper Senegal, the wars and endur-
ing legacy of Nasir al-Din. Given the magnitude of Nasir al-Din's move-
ment, and the far-reaching, albeit short-lived, consequences of his activities
and influence for the region in general and Bundu in particular, it is not pos-
sible to pass over its critical history without giving it adequate con-
sideration.

I have argued elsewhere that Malik Sy does not represent the continu-
ation of the jihadist tradition in North-West Africa, begun by the Almora-
vids in the eleventh century and inherited by the illustrious Nasir al-Din in
the seventeenth.108 Malik Sy was not involved in Nasir al-Din's movement;
in fact, he was busy traveling during the period of the struggle. There is
absolutely no mention of Nasir al-Din in any of the Malik Sy traditions, and
the evidence suggests that Malik Sy died in the course of fighting a defensive
war, rather than leading a jihad. To state it succinctly, there is no evidence
for any linkage between Nasir al-Din and Malik Sy.

However, to say that Malik Sy did not emulate Nasir al-Din is not to say
that the latter's movement was without significance for what would become
the polity of Bundu. On the contrary, the militant struggle of Nasir al-Din
helped to create those conditions which led to the creation of Bundu, and it
also contributed to the character of the state. To fully appreciate this contri-
bution, a succinct summary of the movement is in order.

Some time during the second half of the seventeenth century, and most
likely between the years 1666 and 1674, a war erupted between the zwdya
(clerical) community led by Nasir al-Din, and the warrior Hassaniya in
southern Mauritania.109 Ould Cheikh has characterized this conflict as a
"lutte de classement" between the two protagonists, as each represented
contrasting interests and cultural values.110 From this view, the conflict in
late seventeenth century Mauritania, otherwise called the "Shurrbubba,"
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was primarily the consequence of long-standing enmity between the religious
emphasis of the zwdya and the warrior mindset of the Hassaniya.111

At the head of the zwdya faction, Nasir al-Din first launched the jihad in
the region south of the Senegal River, where it became known as the tubenan
movement, from the Arabic tawba, or "repentance." He then turned his
attention north of the Senegal, where the Shurrbubba was initiated, but
proved short-lived. Nasir al-Din was killed in battle in 1674, and the
Shurrbubba was quickly lost to the Hassaniya. The defeated followers of
Nasir al-Din renounced all political pretensions and use of arms, began
paying tribute to the Hassaniya, and returned to what they had previously
been, zwdya.

Before his death, Nasir al-Din's jihad to the south, the tubenan, had
succeeded in overthrowing the governments of Futa Toro, Walo, Jolof, and
Cayor. These were replaced with clerics, who collected zakdt from a sup-
posedly majority Muslim population, recently converted through the
tubenan. The clerical governors appointed lesser clerics throughout the ranks
of their administrations, with ultimate allegiance to Nasir al-Din. In this
way, not only did the fame and ideas of the reformer traverse the waters of
the Senegal, but so did his tangible political overlordship. As a consequence,
both the Satigi of Futa Toro and the Buurba of Jolof were forced into exile in
Gajaaga.112 It appeared that a new chapter in the development of militant
Islam was in the making.

But with Nasir al-Din's death, the political gains in the south rapidly
dissipated. Under the preaching of Nasir al-Din and his envoys, the Sene-
gambians, and in particular the Wolof, had been persuaded that a super-
natural harvest was forthcoming, and that there was no need to engage in
agricultural activity.113 When Nasir al-Din was killed, and the inevitable
famine set in, the Senegambians interpreted the millenialism of the tubenan
as a ruse. Beginning with Walo, the Wolof states revolted against clerical
rule one by one, and by 1677, Futa Toro was once again under the rule of the
Denyanke. The Satigi permitted some of the clerics to remain in Futo Toro,
but their political influence was greatly diminished. In the Wolof states,
however, the reaction against the tubenan was much stronger. A once
popular movement was now decidedly unpopular; the militant clerisy was
not simply suppressed, it was expunged.

The movement of Nasir al-Din impacted the whole of Senegambia, having
produced political revolution, religious fanaticism, and widespread suffer-
ing. Given its ultimate defeat, Nasir al-Din's legacy is necessarily composed
of irreconcilable contradictions. His successes were greatly mitigated by his
failures. He was a rightly guided imam, who led a far-reaching jihad.
However, he was an early casualty in that same struggle. He was widely
regarded as a miracle-worker, but his most ambitious attempt, the creation
of a theocratic empire, ended in utter disaster. It is this total legacy that was
remembered decades after the events themselves, not just those aspects
which were momentarily successful.
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With regard to the impact of the tubenan on southern Gajaaga, its failure
was of greater significance than its brief ascendancy. Torodbe refugees, who
in all probability sided with the tubenan reformers, began to emigrate
elsewhere, including southern Gajaaga. Malik Sy's family may have also
been affected by the reformers' demise, as they reportedly suffered some type
of abuse by the Satigi while they lived in Suyuma.114 The N'Guenar and the
Tambadunabe were two early Torodbe groups in southern Gajaaga, and are
possible examples of those who fled the political crisis of the Middle Senegal.
With the total legacy of the tubenan experience as a recent memory, neither
these Torodbe communities nor Malik Sy expressed the slightest interest in
continuing the militant tradition of Nasir al-Din and the Almoravids. On the
contrary, their exodus from the Middle Senegal indicated their desire to
escape political entanglements. This search for a more tranquil, secure
lifestyle helped to fashion an anti-militant posture for the emergent Bun-
dunke state, and what was most likely a prime determinant in the Sissibe
decision to develop a pragmatic approach to governance.

A second factor contributing to Bundu's pragmatism, and in conjunction
with the recoil of the Torodbe to the tubenan failure, was the active involve-
ment of the Jakhanke clerisy. Their early presence in the area, combined
with their extensive ties to Malik Sy and influence over subsequent almaa-
mies, helps to explain the gravitation towards a moderate policy. The Jak-
hanke were renowned for their anti-militant, apolitical ideology; and, at
least in the Bundunke context, very active in commercial affairs. Their
preeminent status as religious leaders no doubt reinforced the moderate
orientation of their counsel in matters of state. From every available indi-
cation, the Bundunke almaamies heeded much of their advice, and pursued
centrist policies which were in opposition to the reformist demands of the
regional militants. The ingredients for this ongoing relationship between the
Jakhanke and the Sissibe were present early on in the life of the state, and
provide an additional reason for the formation of a pragmatic polity in
nascent Bundu.

The third factor in the creation of a moderate Bundunke government
involves the nature of southern Gajaaga during the late seventeenth century.
Sparsely inhabited by a heterogeneous population comprised of refugees,
social outcasts, and miscreants, the area assumed a frontier-like atmo-
sphere.115 Communities were self-sufficient, spatially separate, politically
autonomous, and fully expectant that these circumstances would extend into
the future. It would have been problematic indeed to have attempted to
impose, without sufficient force, reformist Islam on such a disparate patch-
work of villages. It would be far better to solidify their allegiance by offering
security, increased prosperity, and a measure of continued local autonomy.
And in fact, this is precisely the tactic adopted by Malik Sy in his agreement
with the Fadube. The precedent established, Bundu's population was aug-
mented by a steady influx of newcomers who were attracted by the relative
tolerance of the state. While the religious character of the polity would
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gradually change and become predominantly Muslim, concomitant with the
expansion and consolidation of Sissibe authority, this early existence of a
frontier mentality would continue well into the eighteenth century, and thus
play a role during the critical, formative stage of Bundunke pragmatism.

In light of the above, there were sufficient influences within nascent Bundu
which were compatible with the adoption of a moderate administrative
philosophy. It is highly probable that Malik Sy, having served for years in
the royal courts of Diara and Tiyaabu, was familiar with the practical
perspective and values of the ruling elite. The contrast between the models
before him, of which he could not have been ignorant, were striking: a failed
experiment in militant Islam in Mauritania and throughout Senegambia, the
repressive Denyanke regime of Futa Toro, and the relatively successful,
prosperous monarchies of Tiyaabu and Diara. In his desire to realize
financial profit and to secure political asylum, but in full view of his Islamic
convictions, it is very possible that he chose the most appealing aspects of the
existing alternatives. As such, he launched a new concept in statecraft, in
which Islam would be preeminent, and over which clerics would govern, but
throughout which tolerance of and cooperation with diverse groups would
provide the principles of the collective venture. In short, a pragmatic Muslim
polity.
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eighteenth century

During the first quarter of the eighteenth century, the fledgling state of
Bundu faced two major, existence-threatening challenges. The initial crisis
developed after Malik Sy's unexpected fall in battle; not only was there the
question of succession, but the very viability of the polity was at issue. The
second challenge to the realm came after the death of Bubu Malik Sy, Malik
Sy's son and successor, and resulted in a temporary dissolution of the state.
These crises together underscore the difficulties involved in launching a
wholly new political entity in the midst of established, well-defined states.
Neighboring hostility, ill-defined laws of succession, and the failure to find a
satisfactory formula for power-sharing among Bundu's various groups were
the key issues exposed by the deaths of these two men.

While this early period was difficult and filled with uncertainty, it was also
formative in that the agricultural base of the state gradually expanded; at the
same time, the commercial orientation of the realm began to take form. The
latter development was largely a response to neighboring markets, but at the
same time the entire region was experiencing the growing stimulation of the
French and English trading presence along the Senegal and Gambia Rivers
respectively.

Following the demise of Bubu Malik Sy, Bundu was characterized by a
brief period of decentralization. The state's reconstitution under Maka Jiba
(1720-64) took place during a period of significant change within the wider
context of Senegambia. To the south, in the lofty highlands of Futa Jallon,
the forces of militant Islam were successful in creating a theocratic govern-
ment via a protracted jihad. The accomplishment would reverberate
throughout West Africa, and would have far-reaching implications for the
region's subsequent development. For Bundu, the rise of a reform govern-
ment represented both an opportunity and a challenge to the ruling elite to
develop in a similar direction. By the end of Maka Jiba's reign, however,
pragmatism continued to provide the principles by which the government
was organized and policies determined.

It was also during the tenure of Maka Jiba that the pace of the slave trade
quickened. The establishment of a new Bambara dynasty at Segu under
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Marmari Kulubari (1712-25) resulted in a marked increase in the number of
Malinke captives available for sale along the Atlantic coast. Much of this
increased traffic passed from the Upper Niger through the Upper Senegal
and Gambia Valleys en route to the coast; Bundu therefore took measures to
position itself to tax the wayfaring caravans. This necessarily involved
territorial expansion and warfare, with which Maka Jiba was primarily
occupied.

In conjunction with the slave trade, there was an elevation in European
interest in the goldfields of Bambuk. The British in particular made a greater
effort at accessing these fields, with the result that polities within the area
began to contest both the source of the gold and the routes leading from the
source to the Upper Gambia. Bundu was likewise involved in the com-
petition, but was unable to achieve a clear advantage in this arena.

The sources for the period from Bubu Malik Sy through the interregnum
(1700-20) are much more limited in number and scope than those pertaining
to Malik Sy. That is, while many of the Malik Sy materials contain infor-
mation on his successors, such information tends to be sketchy. The focus is
clearly on the progenitor; the accomplishments of Malik Sy's descendants,
even though far greater than his own in some instances, consequently suffer
from a lack of attention.

In view of the foregoing, the accounts of Ran£on, Roux, and Lamartiny
constitute the basis for what is known about Bundu during this stretch of
time. There is useful information from Diakite, Adam, and Kamara, but the
perspective is overwhelmingly that of the court. The process and context of
the sources are no different from those applicable to the Malik Sy materials;
this observation holds true regarding the experience, orientation, and inter-
est of the observer as well.

The significance of the preceding observations is that the vehicle of
consensus, so critical in the discussion of Malik Sy, cannot be utilized for
this initial period. Internal logic, plausibility, and informed speculation
become much more important in the attempt to approximate the historical
reality. The consequence is an emphasis on general patterns of development,
as opposed to more detailed information on specific episodes and principals,
about which there can be little certainty.

In contrast to information on Bubu Malik Sy, the sources for the reign of
Maka Jiba represent a subtle shift from primarily oral, endogenous materials
to a combination of such materials and exogenous, independent observa-
tions recorded by travelers (David, Bayol, and others) and Europeans posted
at the comptoirs (settlements) of the Upper Senegal. That is, the European
presence in the upper valley slowly increased during the reign of Maka Jiba,
making it possible to corroborate the endogenous sources with independent
data. However, the endogenous materials continue to constitute the major
reservoir of information for the period.

Regarding the endogenous sources, Ramon's collection of oral data is far
more substantive than any other, although Roux and Lamartiny offer some
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insight into Bundu during this time. The recordings of Curtin and Gomez
help to create a more complete picture of the realm. The Sy-centric perspec-
tive presents an even greater challenge than it did concerning Bubu Malik
Sy, as there is a dearth of information on Maka Jiba from non-Fulbe
sources. However, the issues of process, context, and observer status remain
unchanged from the discussion pertaining to Bubu Malik Sy.

The exogenous records concerning Maka Jiba make it possible to substan-
tiate certain indigenous accounts by employing external observations. For
example, it is with Maka Jiba that the first encounter between an Eliman of
Bundu and a European (David) is recorded. At the same time, however, the
value of the observations made by Europeans either passing through Bundu
or stationed at an area trading settlement at this time is mitigated by their
shallow acquaintance with the region; their writings reflect little comprehen-
sion of the geopolitical realities of the period. Consequently, while Europe
begins to compile firsthand knowledge of Bundu during Maka Jiba's reign,
such records are only exploratory, and therefore fragmentary and
ambiguous.

In approaching the sources for Maka Jiba's reign, it is essential that
informed speculation and the corroboration of independent observers be
used to balance the indigenous record. As was true for the data for Bubu
Malik Sy, the brevity with which the endogenous sources treat the tenure of
Maka Jiba makes reconstruction via consensus impossible. General patterns
of the reign can be discerned from the endogenous genre. There can be no
certainty regarding specifics, however, unless verified by external observa-
tion. In turn, the outside perspective can aid in the effort to elucidate
developments within the court, but cannot be relied upon to provide defini-
tive answers.

The return of Bubu Malik Sy (reigned 1699-1715)

According to our key sources, Bubu Malik Sy had been sent to Futa Jallon
several months prior to the outbreak of hostilities between Malik Sy and the
Tunka of Tiyaabu.1 He had previously spent some time studying in Futa
Jallon, and was returning for the purpose of obtaining aid from his cousins,
the sons of Malik Sy's aunt, Maty Hamet, in anticipation of the struggle with
Tiyaabu.2 His recruiting demonstrates the early and relatively close ties
between Bundu and Futa Jallon; Bubu Malik's son, Maka Jiba, would go on
to study with Karamoko Alfa, the principal leader of the Futa Jallon jihad.
Notwithstanding these ties, it is also possible that this recruitment story was
concocted in order to excuse Bubu Malik of any culpability in the death of
Malik Sy: he could not prevent it, because he was not there.

Bubu Malik, according to the limited sources, was successful in recruiting
assistance in Futa Jallon, but by the time he returned to Bundu, the conflict
with Gajaaga had already commenced, his father an early casualty. As
Lamartiny relates the story, Malik Sy had become "impatient," and decided
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to attack; but the idea that he had sent for help months prior to the war, and
yet was unable to wait for it, indicates that he was forced into battle by an
attack from the Bacili. As the tale goes, Bubu Malik finally returned with a
"numerous" army, but had to take a detour in order to obtain water. It was
an unfortunate decision, if the tradition can be believed. No sooner had
Bubu Malik reached Bundu, than Malik Sy expired at Goumba-Koko.3

Leading an army of supposedly 1,000 men, armed with spears, bows and
arrows, Bubu Malik did what Malik Sy could not do with 2,000.4 While the
Tunka was celebrating his victory at Tiyaabu, Bubu Malik proceeded to
attack Gajaaga at Kounguel, Golmy, Arondou, and other villages. By the
time this "belle et rapide" campaign was over, he had reportedly burned and
pillaged from twenty to thirty villages, enslaving the survivors.5 The effect of
his exploits was to demonstrate the viability of the newly-born polity, even in
the absence of the charismatic leadership of Malik Sy.

While the foregoing scenario cannot be established, all of the Malik Sy
traditions are emphatic that Bubu Malik both assumed authority upon the
death of his father, and provided some stability and direction for the newly
formed state. This emphasis supports the Sissibe contention Malik Sy had
previously staked out a territorial claim in what was southern Gajaaga, and
that this claim was defended under successive leadership.

The early court

His objective accomplished, Bubu Malik returned to Wuro Alfa. He took the
title Eliman and became the head of state, but in apparent violation of the
pact between his father, the N'Guenar, and the Fadube.6 In that "consti-
tution," it was agreed that the leading individual (based upon age, and
distinction in piety, wisdom, and war) from among the Sissibe and the
N'Guenar would succeed Malik Sy as Eliman, while the Fadube would
remain outside of the circle of power in perpetuity. The Jakhanke are
nowhere mentioned with respect to this arrangement, suggesting that while
they may have been in the vicinity, they were either not yet under Bundunke
political rule, or their numbers did not warrant inclusion in the negotiations.
There are few details on the other aspects of the "constitution," which
suggests that it was fundamentally a compromise between two Fulbe com-
munities on how executive power would be shared. But the circumstances
surrounding Malik Sy's death were such that an abrogation of the pact was
easily achieved through a show of military force. On the strength of his Futa
Jallon support, Bubu Malik undermined the succession process and seized
power. His action would have serious repercussions in the near future, as a
violent struggle over political power between the N'Guenar and the Sissibe
erupted. In the end, the Sissibe would emerge with exclusive rights to
executive power, while the N'Guenar would settle for comprising the middle
and upper strata of the nobility.

With regard to the sovereign power, the early role of the state centered
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upon the defense of the realm and the oversight of its economic growth to
ensure viability. The Eliman was head of a non-standing military, mustered
in times of crisis. Taxes were collected, a process begun under Bundu Malik,
although the particular forms of taxation are unspecified. It is likely that at
this early juncture, there was no substantive distinction between what the
Muslim Fulbe and non-Muslim Fadube paid to the state, although the
former was probably referred to as zakdt (obligatory alms), while non-
Muslims paid jizya ("secular" revenue in recognition of protective and other
services rendered by the Muslim government). It is possible that certain
religious functions were performed by the Eliman, given Bubu Malik's
period of study in Futa Jallon. It is also possible that he may have led the
collective prayers on special occasions. As will be discussed in more detail
later, the Eliman constituted the court of last appeal; this practice could have
started as early as Bubu Malik.

Concerning the matter of justice as a whole, ordinary complaints were
heard at the village level and according to customary law during the early
p^rt of the eighteenth century. As the polity grew, and interaction between
villages and towns resulted in unavoidable disputes, the growing Jakhanke
community would have led the Muslim clerisy in adjudicating the more
important cases according to Islamic law.

The principal imperative in the policy of the early court was the acqui-
sition of a larger and more fecund agricultural base. To that end, Bundu's
initial policy was centered upon territorial expansion into the fertile plains of
the Faleme River, at the expense of its Malinke inhabitants. The estab-
lishment of such a base strengthened the power of the nobility, who hereto-
fore premised their claims to such a status solely upon membership in the
ranks of the Torodbe. Internal slavery was therefore stimulated, as increased
land necessitated greater numbers of cultivators.

Kumba's well and the name "Bundu"

When Bubu Malik took power, Bundu consisted of a handful of villages,
including Wuro-Alfa, Guirobe, Fissa-Tamba, and Bubuya.7 It was in
Bubuya ("house of Bubu"), northwest of Senoudebou, that Bubu Malik
fixed his permanent residence. While many of the recruits from Futa Jallon
returned there after Bubu Malik was safely in power, others remained with
him in Bundu, helping to ensure his reign and Sissibe succession.

It is during Bubu Malik's tenure that the name "Bundu" began to be
applied to the area. According to Lamartiny, there was a very old legend,
known only to a few aged men, that the area was once called "Babawuama-
taguifama."8 The first two letters stood for the Bacili of Gajaaga; the second
"ba" stood for the Badiar; "wua" represented the Wualiabe; the "ma"
recalled the Malinke from Bambuk; the "ta" related to the people of Tamba;
the Guirobe were represented by the "gui" and the Fadube by the "fa"; and
the final "ma" was added for Malik Sy. The legend is obviously a construct,
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but it is very useful in that it underscores the diversity and decentralized
character of the area, and possibly represents the order of settlement by
ethnicity.

While it is clear that it took some time before the area came to be known as
"Bundu," its earlier designation is uncertain. Besides the names Gajaaga and
Bambuk (or Bambuhu), the section that became southeastern Bundu was at
one time called "Combegoudou," whereas the Faleme Valley was identified
as "Contou."9

The term "bundu" means "well' in Soninke, and is traditionally believed
to have come from a well found at Bubuya.10 There are several stories
relating to this well. According to one version, the followers of Malik Sy
repaired a well {bundu) belonging to a woman named Kumba. The well was
therefore called "Bundu-Kumba." Bubu Malik also had to repair the well,
after which it was called "Bundu Bonadu Malik Sy," or the "well repaired
by Bubu Sy." By extension, the name of the well was applied to all of the
territory subjugated by the Sissibe.11 A second version has Malik Sy digging
a well in front of Wuro-Alfa, which was then given the name "Bunda Ba," or
the "Great Well," and was subsequently used for the name of the area.12

In nine of the thirteen versions recorded by Curtin, the story of Kumba's
well is repeated.13 N'Diaye's account differs from the others, however, in
that it maintains that the Fadube dug the well, but were unable to line it due
to the jinn (spirits) living in nearby trees. Malik Sy prepared an aaye (amulet,
from the Arabic ay a), which consisted of writing Qur'anic verses on a board,
then washing the board in water.14 He then sprinkled the water on the trees
and cut them down. Bubu Malik was able to finish the well later.15 Curtin
points out that the right to own land went to the one who first cleared it and
dug a well, meaning that the Fadube did not have clear title to the land,
whereas the Sissibe established their claim via the well.16 N'Diaye's version
seeks to justify the Sissibe domination of the area, and does not address the
issue of how it came to be called Bundu. But the two ideas are closely related:
Kumba's bundu became functional because of the Sissibe, which is a sym-
bolic way of saying the Bundu became productive and thriving because of
the Sissibe, whereas before their settlement it was unproductive and unim-
portant. It is not surprising that a well would be chosen to convey these
claims, as it is an indispensable resource in the pursuit of pastoral and
agricultural activities in a hot, relatively dry climate such as characterizes
Bundu.

It is probable that the Soninke name "Bundu" was not the innovation of
the Sissibe. However, implicit in the name is the idea of increased agri-
cultural productivity and pastoralism, and the adoption of the name for the
state reflected an increase in population and land under cultivation and
pastoral use. In turn, this increased productivity became noticeable while
Bubu Malik was in power, thus the usage of "Bundu" is attributed to his
period.

The story of Kumba's well not only concerns agriculture and pastoralism,
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but also the manner in which the state was created. It is noteworthy that
most of the sources credit Bubu Malik, not Malik Sy, with finishing the well.
This reflects the fact that Malik Sy was prevented from completing the
foundation of Bundu by the war with the Bacili. Bubu Malik was able to
regain power, and to create a form of stability for the realm.

Expansion to the south and east

At the outset of Bubu Malik's reign, it is unlikely, given the limited collection
of villages which made up Bundu at this time, that the state had any
productive or distributive economy worth mentioning. This would rapidly
change as the eighteenth century unfolded. At this early stage, Bubu Malik
identified lands to the south and east as possessing the greatest potential for
immediate growth.17 This emphasis was possible because of a temporary lull
in the violence with Gajaaga, apparently a reflection of some internal
problems within that realm which prevented the continuation of hostilities
with the upstart Bundu.18 With his northern border momentarily peaceful,
Bubu Malik turned his attention to the south and east. The first step he took
was defensive: he constructed the tata, or "fortress," at Fena, in close
proximity to Koussan.19 He placed his son Maka Jiba at the head of the
fortified post, under whom served a large number of Malinke slaves. This
accomplished, Bubu Malik soon commenced the expansion to the east,
targeting the Malinke villages above Bubuya, along the Faleme River.20

To what extent these southern and eastern moves were influenced by the
English presence along the Upper Gambia is unclear. To be sure, the English
were firmly established at James Island by 1661, having operated there as
early as 1588. Into the region the English brought iron bars, copper basins,
knives, inexpensive textiles, gunpowder and firearms, coral and crystal
beads, amber, woolens, French brandy, and West Indian rum. Re-exports
included east Indian cottons, calicoes and prints; Swedish and German iron
and copper; and Baltic amber.21 In exchange for these goods, the English
were interested in the slaves, gold (from Bambuk), and gum trade of the
region. It is inconceivable, then, that the early Bundunkobe were oblivious
to the English presence.

Having stated the foregoing, there were certainly other reasons for Bubu
Malik's southern and eastern strategies. First of all, the state needed to
expand territorially, and given the strength of Gajaaga's forces to the north,
it was only logical to expand into areas of lesser resistance. Secondly, he
wanted to control the fertile waalo or floodplain of the Faleme, upon which a
productive economy could be premised. Concomitant with territorial expan-
sion and more cultivable land was the need for a larger population; the
importation of slaves would partially fulfill this demand for labor. Finally, it
was from the south that the valuable kola nut originated; Bundu's gravi-
tational direction indicates that the Eliman was very much interested in
benefitting from that commerce. This was to be accomplished by taxing the
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caravans passing through the area, but this could not be achieved unless
control over the area's trade routes could be established. Thus, the need to
develop both productive and distributive capacities greatly stimulated the
growth of early Bundu, and was important to the development of a prag-
matic perspective in the court.

Stirrings along the north-west frontier: the Upper Senegal

The power of Gajaaga along the Upper Senegal precluded for the moment
any bid by Bundu to contest the former's control of that area's trade. In
time, however, the commerce of the Upper Senegal would prove to be an
irresistible attraction for the Bundunke ruling elite, causing it to commit
itself to almost perpetual war. This was a consequence of the expansion of
the French up the Senegal. Having founded Saint Louis at the mouth of the
Senegal in 1659, the French had established comptoirs (settlements) at
Arguin, Saint Joseph, Goree, Joal, Albreada, Bintan, and Bisseaux by 1700.
The French presence along the Senegal gave them access to the valued gum
trade.22 The gum trees are located both to the north of the Senegal, in the
steppe, as far east as Guidimakha; and also to the south of the Senegal, in the
Ferlo. The gum was harvested from March until the beginning of the rainy
season, usually June or July. The gum was then taken to the various towns
along the river and subsequently transported to Saint Louis for sale.23

According to Cultru, the "trade in gum was always the most important of
those [commodity exchanges] which were conducted at our settlements in
West Africa."24 The European demand for gum continued to increase from
the 1740s through the early twentieth century.25 Because of its location,
Bundu was in a position to benefit from the gum harvests on both sides of the
Senegal.

According to Delcourt, following gum, the French were mostly interested
in slaves, then gold, beeswax, and ivory.26 It is Bathily's position that the
number of captives from the Upper Senegal has been seriously under-
estimated, and thus the impact of the slave trade on the region not fully
understood.27 Given that the regional slave trade was probably more impor-
tant than previously understood, and that Bundu maintained domestic
slaves and became a major commercial power in the region, it is necessarily
the case that it directed war and raid captives to the comptoirs of the French.
However, the extent of this activity in the first twenty years of the state's
existence is difficult to ascertain. It would appear that its own need for labor
during this period superceded export demands.

In addition to gum and slaves, the French had an abiding interest in
Senegambian gold.28 Specifically, the Bambuk region was famous for its
goldfields, having supplied the ancient kingdom of Ghana with its resources.
Six hundred years after the demise of Ghana, the "golden trade" of the
Gambia River continued to be supplied by Bambuk gold, and was a major
reason European factories were placed along the Senegambian coast in the
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seventeenth century.29 For their part, the French launched three projects
between the latter seventeenth and nineteenth centuries to exploit the
Batnbuk mines. All three were disappointing failures.30 Bundu, established
adjacent to Bambuk, would soon realize the value of its strategic position. It
is quite possible that the waalo lands along the Faleme were also seized by
Bubu Malik because of their proximity to the Bambuk fields; it is more
likely, however, that the issue of controlling the flow of gold from Bambuk
was more of a preoccupation with his successors.

The French, in pursuit of commercial gain, established posts deep in the
interior of the upper valley, at Kounguel (1697); Fort Saint Joseph, east of
the Senegal-Faleme confluence (1700-58); Boulam (1700-5); Fort Saint
Pierre on the Faleme River (1714-20); Kainura, near Senoudebou (1725);
Farabana (1726); Sirimana (1728); and Cagnou Island near Felou Falls
(1744).31 The intent was to divert all commercial traffic away from the
English along the Gambia and towards the Senegal. However, the French
never succeeded in shutting down the trade to the Gambia, and this was
largely because of the strategically placed polity of Bundu, which insisted
upon conducting trade with both European powers. This policy of trading
with both the French and the English began with the reign of Bubu Malik,
and continued on despite the demands of reformers in subsequent years to
curtail that trade for reasons which will become clear in subsequent chapters.

In pursuit of his southern strategy, Bubu Malik made the fatal decision to
attack Samba N'Gala, a Malinke village between Goundiourou and Dide-
coto, east of Koussan. The Elliman was mortally wounded in the chest, and
died en route to Wuro-Alfa near a small village called Wassa (also near
Goundiourou).32 The sources are by no means agreed as to the length of his
reign, but the date of 1715 is a reasonable approximation, based upon
several considerations.33

The interregnum (1716-1720)

At Bubu Malik's death, the forces of decentralization were immediately set
into motion. From without, the Malinke states bordering Bundu began to
counterattack the young upstart, in retaliation for the latter's expansionist
policies. From within, the fragile compact between the Sissibe, the
N'Guenar, and the Fadube fell apart. Fulbe immigrants loyal to the Deny-
anke of Futa Toro had never recognized Sissibe claims in the first place. The
N'Guenar, still smarting from Bubu Malik's usurpation of power and upset
over his imperialist objectives, declared both their independence from the
Sissibe and their intention to henceforth rule Bundu. At the same time, the
other Torodbe communities exerted their autonomy, so that there was no
central authority in place. "In a word, the most complete anarchy reigned in
Bundu."34

In light of these developments, Bubu Malik's descendants "found them-
selves defenseless."35 All of the Sissibe reportedly fled to Futa Toro except
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for Maka Jiba, who found refuge with the Torodbe at Fissa-Tamba for five
years, until he declared his candidacy for the leadership of Bundu.36 Mudi
Malik and Tumane Malik, Bubu Malik's brothers, never returned to Bundu.
From his sanctuary in Fissa-Tamba, Maka Jiba maintained a low profile
and carefully observed the activities of the N'Guenar. The latter constituted
a relatively important power in an otherwise decentralized context, as the
previously cohesive modicum of villages now experienced virtual autonomy.
Rangon maintains that the N'Guenar "abhorred" the Sissibe, and that they
sought to systematically eliminate them. Such animosity may have indeed
characterized relations between the N'Guenar and the Sissibe immediately
following Bubu Malik's death. However, the resumption of Sissibe power
within Bundu would also involve the acceptance of the N'Guenar as part of
the nobility. This means that the Fulbe in this instance were able to agree
that reconciliation was more advantageous than continued strife, par-
ticularly if the state was to prosper and to survive the hostility of its
neighbors.

The dating of the interregnum, is problematic. Rangon gives the period as
1718 to 1728.37 Curtin, in turn, believes it lasted until 1731 or 1735.38 The
reason he lengthens the period is because of the failure of Ayuba Sulayman
Diallo (or "Job Ben Solomon") to mention the Sissibe. However, since
Ayuba Sulayman Diallo was captured and exported to North America as a
slave in 1731, and Maka Jiba was definitely in power when Thomas Hull
visited Bundu in 1735, Maka Jiba must have taken the reins between 1731
and 1735 at the latest.39

The evidence indicates, however, that Maka Jiba came to power even
before 1731. A critical portion of this evidence is a report written by the
Commandant of Fort Saint Joseph in April of 1725, describing the country
of Gajaaga. According to this document, Gajaaga was divided into two
social groups: "marabouts" and "commoners."40 The clerics were involved
in commerce, exerting great control over trade and legal matters, and even
influencing the royal court. To the northwest of Gajaaga was the "Royaume
des Siratiques," a reference to Futa Toro. To the southwest was the
"republique de Bondou." It was composed of three "estates." The first was
that of the clerics, of whom the greatest was the king, and who did nothing
without first consulting the other two "estates." The second category
included the "noblemen," who were the governors of the villages, and the
free warriors. The third "estate" is difficult to discern from the text, but it
appears to have been the merchants. The commandant added that Bundu
had always been well-maintained "since its first founder," and that its
citizens had originally come from the land of the "Siratiques," having left
because of exorbitant taxation. This is a clear reference to Malik Sy, as there
are no other candidates who fit this description. Furthermore, there is the
complementary account of Boucard, who journeyed through Bambuk in
1728, and reported that the "Republique de Bondou" was west of Bam-
buk.41 It was the custom of the French at this time to label African theocratic
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states as "republiques." Therefore, based upon reports in 1725 and 1728,
Bundu had reconstituted its central authority by these dates, and was once
again under the control of the descendants of the founder of the state, Malik
Sy.42

There is an obvious conflict in the sources. Ayuba Sulayman Diallo does
not mention the Sissibe, yet there are clear, independent sources which state
that Bundu was thriving some three to six years before Ayuba Sulayman
Diallo's capture and exportation to the western hemisphere. The probable
key to the disparity lies in the political orientation of Ayuba Sulayman and
the Diallo family. According to his own account, the Diallo family was allied
to the Denyanke dynasty. His failure to mention Malik Sy and Bubu Malik is
therefore in keeping with his family's refusal to acknowledge Sissibe sover-
eignty. His omissions must have been deliberate, for Bundu was definitely
under Sissibe control in 1725.

In light of the foregoing, this study proposes that the interregnum lasted
only five years, based upon several factors. The first is the likelihood that
Bundu was reconstructed by 1725. Secondly, in contrast to Ran^on and
Roux, the Bundunke rulers' lists do not recognize the interregnum. Instead,
they record that Tumane Bubu Malik Sy succeeded Bubu Malik, and that he
reigned either four or five years.43 Rangon simply says that Tumane Bubu
Malik died shortly after his father.44 It is probable that the rulers' lists seek
to mask the fact that the Sissibe had lost power during this period, while
maintaining accuracy regarding the period's duration. The last factor con-
cerns the consensus among the sources that the reign of Maka Jiba was an
extremely long one, with estimates ranging from thirty-one to forty-four
years.45 Since most of the sources agree that his tenure ended in 1764,
forty-four years subtracted from this date yields 1720, supporting the asser-
tion that the interregnum ended around this time.

In sum, Bubu Malik had succeeded in restoring order to the microstate of
Bundu around the turn of the eighteenth century. Steps were taken to
enhance Bundu's productive capacity in conjunction with its need to grow in
population. The move to lay the foundation for the domestic economy
stimulated expansionist behavior, and was the beginning of the tensions
which characterized Bundu's relations with its neighbors for the remainder
of its existence. Nascent commercial activity also began to contribute to the
state's meager coffers. But the death of Bubu Malik momentarily halted
progress towards realization of a prosperous, pragmatic, Muslim-controlled
polity. That the interregnum did not result in the permanent dismemberment
of Bundu is evidence of the belief by some in the potential of the state. In
particular, it is testimony to the abilities of Bundu's next ruler, Maka Jiba.

The emergence of Maka Jiba

Between the ages of thirty and thirty-two, Maka Jiba decided to reestablish
the Sissibe in Bundu.46 Rangon states that he left his asylum in Fissa-Tamba
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to discuss his intentions with his family in Futa Toro, many of whom had
fled Bundu with the death of Bubu Malik and the rise of anti-Sissibe
sentiment.47 The descendants of Malik Sy's uncle, N'Diob-Hamet, are
spoken of in the sources as already residing in Futa Toro, so apparently they
never left Suyuma.

Ironically, it was the sons and grandsons of N'Diob-Hamet who were
receptive to Maka Jiba's plans, and agreed to help him. Maka Jiba's uncles,
the brothers of Bubu Malik, refused to return to Bundu, and remained in
Futa Toro. Maka Jiba and his small cohort of relatives journeyed back to
Bundu, where he arranged for a meeting with the N'Guenar at Bubuya. The
choice of Bubuya, the home of Bubu Malik, was clearly intended to lend
credibility to Maka Jiba's call for a renewed Bundu under Sissibe rule. In
response, certain of the Torodbe vehemently disagreed. Maka Jiba, sup-
ported by family, the residents of Fissa-Tamba, and probably a contingent
of armed slaves from the tata at Fena (under Maka Jiba's command during
Bubu Malik's reign), enjoyed an advantage in the brief armed struggle which
ensued. The vanquished N'Guenar were forced to recognize Maka Jiba's
authority, and in time regained their noble rank. With the matter of execu-
tive power settled, those villages formerly under Bubu Malik were once
again united, and Maka Jiba was named Eliman.4S

It must be underscored that Maka Jiba's initial sphere of control extended
to only a few villages. There were a number of communities which, after the
dissolution of the state in 1716, refused to acknowledge Sissibe sovereignty.
Thus, the primary objective of the Maka Jiba court was to reestablish and
consolidate the power of the state over recalcitrant villages. The evidence
would suggest that this was a task that was both difficult and fully realized
only towards the end of Maka Jiba's reign. One example of the difficulty is
the case of "Eliman" Salum, an unidentified Bundunke dignitary who may
have been Alium Bubu Malik, Maka Jiba's youngest brother. In 1744 Pierre
David, director of the Compagnie des Indes from 1738 to 1746, met with
representatives of Maka Jiba's court at Fort Saint James, near Makhana.49

He then received "Eliman" Salum, who was introduced as the "second most
important person in the country."50 David, interested in the gold of
Bambuk, had originally planned to construct a settlement on the Faleme's
east bank, but Salum had objected because the area was beyond his con-
trol.51 Kidira, equidistant from Farabana in Bambuk and Fort Saint Joseph,
was a compromise solution.52

When Maka Jiba arrived later at Fort Saint Joseph, he became incensed at
the news that "Eliman" Salum had "cut his own deal."53 Maka Jiba was
described to David as "the master of all Bundu."54 Whether Salum's actions
represented insubordination or competition from an independent source is
unclear. In either case, the fact that he was conducting trade talks with the
French in the name of Bundu, almost twenty-five years into the reign of
Maka Jiba, suggests the problems associated with consolidating Sissibe rule
at this time.
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A second example of the difficulty of consolidation is much more
speculative. According to several sources (cited in the previous chapter),
Tumane Bubu Malik Sy, Maka Jiba's eldest brother, succeeded his father
Bubu Malik as Eliman (as opposed to the interregnum). These sources
do not discuss the way in which power was transferred from Tumane
Bubu Malik Sy to Maka Jiba, but they agree that such a transfer was
made. Given the violence associated with Maka Jiba's assumption of
authority, it is not beyond credulity that he contested the control of
Bundu with his brother as well as other Torodbe opposition following the
interregnum.

To facilitate the consolidation process, Maka Jiba selected immediate
family members for crucial posts. For example, the important tata at Fena
was placed under the command of his youngest son Pate Gai, celebrated
for his military prowess. Besides Pate Gai, Maka Jiba had six other sons,
all of whom were associated with political or military positions of leader-
ship during and after Maka Jiba's reign. In addition to the sons of Maka
Jiba,* who formed the upper stratum of power, the Eliman consulted with
the N'Guenar and the Jakhanke in matters of importance. Consultation
with this council of notables became an established practice of all Bun-
dunke rulers from Maka Jiba on, although relations between the principals
antedate him.

It is under Maka Jiba that Bundu began to maintain a standing army,
although the proportion of free persons to slaves would have been small at
this junction. The increase in the number oftatas during this period from one
to three signals the growth of Bundu's military capacity. These tatas were
staffed with armed slaves, whose primary task was to fight under the
direction of Sissibe commanders. Their specific duties will be discussed
shortly; suffice it to say here that under Maka Jiba, an armed force capable
of responding immediately to a given challenge had grown quickly and
relatively significantly.

As a consequence of both administrative and social developments, and in
response to regional challenges, Maka Jiba would develop a four-fold
strategy. First, he would emphasize the expansion of an agricultural base
along the Faleme, a policy inaugurated by Bubu Malik. Second, he would
seek to control the goldfields of Bambuk, given rising European interest.
Third, the Eliman would attempt to control the trade routes in and near
Bundu by providing adequate security for traders, and by taxing caravans at
certain towns along the routes. Finally, Maka Jiba, in addition to expanding
to the east and south, would defend Bundu's northern frontier against the
Moors and the Denyanke rulers of Futa Toro. In the end, he would achieve
tremendous success in accomplishing the majority of his goals, and is
therefore considered by the Bundunkobe themselves as second only to Malik
Sy in honor and greatness. If Malik Sy founded the state, it was Maka Jiba
who made it truly viable.
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The Jakhanke clerisy

Assisting Maka Jiba in his efforts to establish the polity were the Jakhanke,
whose role in the development of Bundunke government and society was
both unique and substantial. With regard to the life of the court, the earlier
relationship between Malik Sy and Muhammad Fudi flourished into a
commitment between the Sissibe and the Jakhanke that would extend into
the late nineteenth century. The latter continued to accept Sissibe political
authority, and served as counselors to the court; in turn, the Jakhanke
enjoyed a high level of autonomy in their settlements.55 The Jakhanke, for
example, were never required to serve in the military; however, they were
expected to maintain defensive walls around their towns, and they had to
pay taxes to the government in the form of food and livestock.56

The political union of the Sissibe and the Jakhanke had resulted in the
aforementioned Muhammad Fatima of Didecoto. He served as a teacher,
counselor, and qddf to the Sissibe elite until his death c. 1772, which makes
him a contemporary of Maka Jiba.57 Such was the rapport between Muham-
mad Fatima and the Sissibe that large numbers of Jakhanke were encour-
aged to migrate from Diakha Ba in Bambuk to Didecoto, and the town grew
rapidly in both population and prestige.58 All four of the major Jakhanke
clans were represented: the Suware, the Jakhite-Kabba, the Silla, and the
Jabi-Gassama. It is estimated that 300 compounds of Jakhanke families
settled there, together with sixty additional compounds composed of slaves
and various caste groups (ironworkers, leatherworkers, etc.).59 The growth
of the town's population, however, led to its ultimate ruin, as the land could
not sustain the densification. Exhausted soil, combined with interclan
rivalries among the Jakhanke, eventually led to an exodus from Didecoto by
the end of the eighteenth century.

Muhammad Fatima's considerable reputation for learning, combined
with the support and protection of the Sissibe, were important factors in
Didecoto's emergence. But another factor, indirectly alluded to earlier,
concerned the relative richness of the soil prior to its exhaustion. Because
of its productivity, agriculture and animal husbandry were major activities
in Didecoto, and in other Jakhanke settlements as well.60 With the labor
provided by slaves and students, Didecoto and other Jakhanke centers
became important sources of farm production. Such a capacity was crucial
to the success of Bundu's attempts at territorial expansion and stabili-
zation.

Another factor stimulating Sissibe support for Jakhanke activity, in addi-
tion to their clerical services and agriculture, was the fact that the Jakhanke
settlements tended to be either identical with or proximate to key entrepots
within the trading networks of the region.61 The precise role of the Jakhanke
in commerce is arguable; nevertheless, it is clear that they sought to benefit
from trade in some way by locating at important staging points along the
various routes.62 Again, the control of area trade routes constituted a
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principal focus of Bundu's activities during this period, so that Jakhanke
and Sissibe interests were mutually reinforcing.

From the foregoing discussion, it is apparent that the growth of the
Jakhanke in Bundu during the eighteenth century was directly related to the
concurrent consolidation and expansion of Sissibe authority. The Jakhanke
not only played key advisory roles in the government, but they were also
important as commercial and productive allies. In this way, the prosperity of
the Jakhanke was important to the overall economic welfare of the state.

In addition to their contribution to the court, the Jakhanke's impact upon
Bundunke society was considerable. This society-wide influence was clerical
in nature, and tended to emanate from their settlements throughout Bundu,
including Didecoto, Bani Israila, and Qayrawan.63 By the second half of the
nineteenth century, the Jakhanke had spread to a number of towns to the
southwest of Didecoto, in Diakha province.64 From these centers, the
Jakhanke provided both the Sissibe elite and the society as a whole with such
services as education, prayer (of all kinds), psychological healing (often
through amulets), and divination (usually via dream interpretation).65

Prayers for the success of military campaigns were especially important, as
was divination, a category that included a complex and highly-valued form
of prayer (al-istikharah) that sought God's guidance when faced with a set of
alternatives. But the Jakhanke were also skilled in Islamic law, and provided
the majority of qddis for the various towns.66

While Muslims utilized the services of the Jakhanke, non-Muslims also
sought to benefit from their availability. Non-Muslims frequented the Jak-
hanke for divination and amulets, and the Jakhanke accepted non-Muslim
children into their schools. The Jakhanke educational system was by far the
most important in Bundu, attracting students from all ethnic groups.
Through the instrumentality of these various means, the Jakhanke consti-
tuted the principal forces in the conversion of non-Muslims to Islam. Their
active presence was also fundamental to the health of the Muslim commu-
nity. By giving their full support to the Sissibe regime, the Jakhanke granted
the ruling elite enormous legitimacy. The quid pro quo was protection and
non-interference from the regime. In this way, Bundu gradually became a
Muslim land, under Muslim political leadership, but without benefit of an
Islamic revolution.

Notwithstanding the tremendous influence of the Jakhanke, there were
also other forces in operation within Bundu. It is possible that the first half
of the eighteenth century saw significant change in that considerable
numbers of immigrants may have settled in Bundu to escape the accelerated
pace of the slave trade, especially in the form of the raiding Ormankobe.
Paradoxically, as a result of Bundunke raiding of the Malinke along the
Faleme, and in conjunction with the rise of Segu and its involvement in
producing human captives, it is likely that there was a noticeable increase in
domestic slaves in Bundu.

Immigration from the Middle Senegal Valley, along with the rise in
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prominence of the Jakhanke clerisy, suggests that Islam was making sig-
nificant strides in becoming the predominant religion of Bundu. The emer-
gence of Islam could only support the struggle of the Bundunkobe against
their non-Muslim neighbors, and would be used to justify the confiscation of
land and enslavement of various communities. The confiscation of land was
critical to the agricultural needs of the state, and was calculated into the first
part of Maka Jiba's four-fold strategy; namely, establishing control of the
Faleme.

Expansion along the Faleme

Although David's visit to the Upper Senegal indicated increasing French
interest in the area, and notwithstanding the reciprocating attitude of the
Bundunke rulers, the primary focus of the state during the reign of Maka
Jiba was the Faleme and the southern frontier, and as such it represented
continuity with the previous orientation of Bubu Malik and Malik Sy. The
fertile lands of the Faleme, the proximity to the Bambuk goldfields, the
increasingly traveled routes of the slave caravans, and the greater access to
British traced commodities constituted ideal circumstances by which Bundu
could develop its potential. The Eliman naturally gravitated towards such an
opportunity.

As evidence of his territorial expansion, Maka Jiba constructed two tatas
in addition to the one at Fena. Dara (twenty kilometers east of Senoudebou)
and Dyunfung (six kilometers west of Farabana), both on the east side of the
Faleme River, were designed to provide bases from which Maka Jiba could
launch forays into the surrounding country.67 So important was the eastern
Faleme to his plans that Maka Jiba himself moved to Dara, entrusting the
tata at Fena to his youngest son Pate Gai. Maka Jiba then expanded to the
south, attacking the kingdom of "Contou."68 Those who managed to escape
traveled southwest, where they later established the village of Tambacounda
in Wuli.69

In his push along the Faleme, Maka Jiba engendered a conflict that would
survive his own tenure; namely, the struggle with Farabana over the Bambuk
goldfields and the slave caravan routes. According to Ran$on, Maka Jiba
sought revenge for the death of his father by attacking the village of
Miramguiku, near Samba N'Gala.70 The village head, Sambu Amadi
Tumane, fled to the other (east) side of the Faleme, where he reportedly
founded Farabana. However, Farabana antedates Amadi Tumane, for he
became the ruler of Farabana at the death of his father, the former ruler of
Farabana, in 1737.71 These two accounts can be reconciled by assuming that
Miramguiku was a satellite of Farabana. It was not unusual for rulers of
large towns to also control nearby villages. Maka Jiba, in consolidating
Bundunke territory, pushed Amadi Tumane beyond the Faleme, where he
assumed leadership of Farabana at his father's death.

The struggle between Maka Jiba and Amadi Tumane was long and
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uncelebrated. Given Maka Jiba's relocation to the eastern bank of the
Faleme, it can be surmised that he was not only interested in controlling the
trade routes over which the gold passed, but that he was vying for control of
the goldfields themselves. From his tatas in Dara and Dyunfung, Maka Jiba
could continually challenge Amadi Tumane's authority in Bambuk.72 The
conflict between the two rivals was such that David found it necessary to
attempt a mediation between the two in order to successfully operate in the
area. He spoke with Bundunke envoys and with Amadi Tumane, who was
credited with ruling Seconuduwa, Niamila, and other villages in Bambuk, in
addition to Farabana.73 David went on to establish posts at both Farabana
and Kidira, but they never became very significant, due in part to the
continuation of hostilities between Bundu and Farabana.

While Bundu was contesting the control of Bambuk, the British along the
Gambia were developing a lively interest in Bundu's strategic and commer-
cial potential. This is well illustrated by the account of Ayuba Sulayman
Diallo, a Pullo from Bundu who had been captured along the Gambia and
sold into the transatlantic slave trade in 1731. After a short stay in Mary-
land, his literacy in Arabic attracted considerable attention, and upon
persuading a British benefactor to purchase his freedom, he returned to West
Africa in August of 1734.74 Arriving on the Gambia, he sent a message to his
father in Bundu, and waited until 14 February 1735, when an envoy
returned. At that time he was informed that his father had died, and that
since he was away, "there has been such a dreadful War, that there is not so
much as one Cow left in it, tho' when Job was there, it was a very noted
Country for numerous herds of large Cattle."75 Curtin has suggested that
this war was a reference to the civil war between the N'Guenar and the
Sissibe.76 However, as has been discussed, the "civil war" between the
Torodbe was of a limited nature, and did not include groups or areas which
had never acknowledged Sissibe sovereignty. The war that was reported to
Ayuba Sulayman Diallo was apparently on a much larger scale; the mess-
enger's account was more than likely a description of the devastation caused
by the Ormankobe incursions. It could also have been related to the ouster
of Samba Gelaajo Jegi by 1735, concerning whom more will be said later in
this chapter.

Ayuba Sulayman Diallo was returning to his native land not solely as a
weary repatriate, but also as an agent for British trading interests. On 4 July
1734, the Royal African Company sent a letter to Governor Richard Hull in
Gambia regarding the freed slave: "If the person you should send up river
with him should be willing to accompany him into his own country, possibly
he might by that means be able to do the Company good service by opening
and settling a trade and correspondence between the natives of those parts
and our highest factories."77 In addition to slaves and Bambuk gold, the
British were also interested in the gum trade. Governor Hull had learned of
the gum tree forests southwest of Bundu, not far from Niani-Maro, in the
Ferlo.78 The forests were divided between the people of Niani, the "grands
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Jalaofs," and "Futa" (i.e., Bundu), and it was reported that no one actually
lived there.79 Governor Hull therefore determined to accompany Ayuba
Sulayman Diallo from Joar (on the Gambia) to Bundu, but was obliged to
return to England before he could do so.80 Instead, the repatriate was
accompanied by Thomas Hull, Governor Hull's relative.81 Thomas Hull
would make a second trip to Bundu and Bambuk in 1736.82

By 1736, Ayuba Sulayman's activities in Bundu were causing quite a stir
among the French. On 15 June 1736, a report from Fort Saint Joseph stated
that an English delegation of about sixteen people had visited Bundu,
accompanied by fifty Bundunke escorts, bearing merchandise and a few
horses.83 The report went on to advise that steps be taken "to find and
apprehend the Negro Job."84 Later in November of the same year, a report
was issued warning that "the affair concerning the Negro Job deserves
attention .. ,"85 Again, in December, it was reported that "Job had to be
chased out of Bundu by any means possible."86 In fact, "Job" was captured
and imprisoned by the French at Fort Saint Joseph sometime in December
of 1736 for having been a British agent.87

The brief detention did not succeed in stopping Ayuba Sulayman. He was
able to send two letters to the Royal African Company, expressing appreci-
ation for their help.88 One of the letters, composed in Arabic, was translated
by Melchoir de Jaspas, "an Armenian, native of Diarbekir, the capital city of
Mesopotamia."89 In 1737, the Royal African Company sent de Jaspas to
Fort James along with a "Persian" slave named Joseph. After a brief
interlude, he went to Bundu with "Lahamin Jay," who had been captured
and enslaved along with Ayuba Sulayman in 1731, and who was being
returned at the Bundunke's request.90 De Jaspas was in Bundu from 1738 to
1740, but there is no account extant.91 In 1744 de Jaspas journeyed to
Portuguese Guinea, where he was killed the next year. As for Ayuba
Sulayman Diallo, all mention of him in the Company's records ceases after
the 1740s.92 However, he maintained contact with the British along the
Gambia until he died in 1773.93

Despite Gray's assertion that "no material advantage was derived by the
Company from these visits to Bondu,"94 it is clear from the flurry of British
activity that commercial contact with the Bundunkobe was seen by both
parties as important, and was in the process of becoming regularized. Hence,
the southern gravitation of Maka Jiba.

Challenge of the north-west

The expedition of David to the Upper Senegal, combined with the preoccu-
pation of the French with Ayuba Sulayman Diallo, indicates the interest of
the French in establishing diplomatic and commercial relations in the area.
However, the story of Ayuba Sulayman demonstrates how little the French
actually knew of Bundu at this time; few Europeans had actually ever visited
Bundu. Consequently, while the Bundunkobe were aware of the French
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presence, and sought to capitalize on it, they were more inclined to conduct
business with agents associated with the southern frontier.

Another factor that contributed to the early Bundunke orientation
towards the south and east concerned the Ormankobe incursions, a combin-
ation of Moroccan and Hassani forces originally under the control of Sultan
Mawlay Isma'il (reigned 1672-1727) of Morocco.95 The Moroccans were
interested in recruiting candidates for their %abid, or slave army. Mawlay
Isma'il formed a corps of black troops separate from the regular army, and
maintained them in the garrison town of Mashra' al-Rami.96 At the begin-
ning, Mawlay Isma'il extended his authority into certain areas in the Sahara,
apparently during the period of the Shurrbubba.97 In the 1690s he began
sending expeditions into Senegambia on an annual basis. In the 1720s and
1730s, the raids were especially heavy in Futa Toro, Gajaaga, Bambuk, and
Bundu.98 The raids continued well into the 1760s, and were a major factor in
the formulation of the 1760s jihad in Futa Toro.99 Towards the conclusion of
the Sultan's reign, the ranks of the 'abfdhad reportedly swelled to 150,000.10°

The Ormankobe excursions produced a significant change in the pattern
of the Senegambian slave trade. The policies of such states as Futa Toro,
Bundu, Gajaaga, and the microstates of Bambuk were alike in that they
forbade the sale of their own citizens in the trade.101 Even Ayuba Sulayman,
technically beyond the authority of the Sy elimans, reported that anyone
who sought asylum in his town could not be made a slave.102 Although states
such as Bundu and Futa Toro opposed selling their own subjects, they were
hardpressed to protect their constituencies from the Ormankobe raids.
Widespread insecurity set in; populations living north of the Senegal River
crossed to the south, and emigration to Bundu and Futa Jallon was further
stimulated.

In addition to raiding for slaves, the Ormankobe began making alliances
with certain rulers, arbitrating differences, and making and deposing various
Satigis in Futa Toro.103 This indicates that their influence was much stronger
in Futa Toro than in Bundu, which did not experience such meddling in their
internal affairs, and was sheltered from more serious disruption by Gajaa-
ga's position to the north. An example of the complex relations at the time
was the figure of Samba Gelaajo Jegi, reportedly the best known of all
Senegambian traditional heroes.104 Samba Gelaajo Jegi spent time in Bundu
as a political refugee, and became the contested Satigi of Futa Toro from
1725 to 1735, and again from 1740 to 1743.105 In 1724, he made an alliance
with both the Ormankobe forces and the French at Fort Saint Joseph.
Ayuba Sulayman Diallo was part of the faction that recognized Samba
Gelaajo Jegi as Satigi, and his presence in Bundu during this period is a
measure of the difficulty Maka Jiba experienced in implementing his domin-
ion.106

Perhaps the most serious challenge to Bundu during the reign of Maka
Jiba came not from the Moroccans, nor from Farabana, but from the
Denyanke of Futa Toro. Samba Gelaajo Jegi had been removed from office
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by Konko Bubu Musa, a decided enemy of the French. The Satigi Konko
reigned from 1743 to 1747, when he turned power over to his brother Sule
N'jai. Sule N'jai was immediately run out of office by Sire Sawa Lamu, but
retook office in 1749 and remained until 1751.107 Some time between 1747
and 1751, the emergence of Bundu attracted Sule N'jai's attention.108 David
had just visited the area in 1744, giving Bundu increased status in the eyes of
the Denyankobe. The rise and potential of Bundu, in an area probably
viewed by Futa Toro as its colony, caused Sule N'jai to attempt to extract
tribute. Rangon records a letter from the Satigi to substantiate this develop-
ment, although the form in which he received the correspondence is unclear.
While the specifics are therefore susceptible to challenge, the overall tone of
the letter suggests the posture of the Denyanke dynasty towards the Sissibe.
The themes contained in it are reflective of the historical reality, as they
include: the Denyanke contempt for and fear of the Torodbe, the existing
prosperity and potential wealth of Bundu, the difficulties of the new polity in
gaining legitimacy, and the growing importance of the Upper Senegal. Sule
N'jai wrote:

From the glorious, powerful and formidable Sattigui, ruler of all Futa, he who
was created in order to be happy here below, and in order to be destined for
eternal life in the other world; the proof is that he drinks a full cup of the
pleasures of life; he who is so kind and charitable towards his friends, as well as
being dreadful, redoubtable and implacable towards his enemies, to his lowly
and faithful servant Maka-Guiba, who has the audacity to call himself
'almamy,' and who signs his name as such, whose family is the issue of the
Torodos, who were created to be continually miserable and to ask for charity
from others. Greetings!

Maka-Guiba, I need the smiths to make some gold ornaments for my wives
and my children. I need gold, and that in large supply; you are to therefore
send to me five full bars of gold, with the briefest delay.

I have learned that you have an all-white Arabian horse that dances a great
deal; you are to send the horse to me, at the same time as the gold, for one of
my men who does not have one.

I have learned that, among your wives, you have one who knows how to
prepare couscous well; it will be necessary to send her to me also so that she can
prepare my food. All of this is to be done immediately, otherwise you will force
me to come to Bundu.

I think that you would like to avoid my coming, because if I come to Bundu,
there will only be death and ruin, and I swear to smash over your head the lone
calabash that your parents left to you in your inheritance, which you still use in
obtaining alms from the hands of others, as they themselves obtained alms
when they were alive.

You are only Torodo; you were created only for misery and slavery.109

Maka Jiba convened a war council, and after lengthy debate, prepared to
confront the Satigfs forces. Although Sule N'jai was initially successful in
his march through Bundu, his army suffered heavy losses in a subsequent
battle and was forced to retreat to Futa Toro. A formal peace was signed
later.110
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The retreat of the Futanke army, combined with the cessation of the
Ormankobe incursions in the 1750s, allowed the Bundunke government to
entertain thoughts of modest expansion to the north. Some time after the war
with Futa Toro, Bundu entered a prolonged period of hostilities with Gajaa-
ga.111 The conflict saw Bundu allied with Khasso, whereas Gajaaga enlisted
the aid of the Bambara. However, the struggle was waged at a relatively low
level of intensity; Bundu's primary focus remained the south and east.

Revolution in Futa Jallon

Early in Maka Jiba's reign, forces were gathering in the mountains of Futa
Jallon which would have serious political, economic, and social ramifications
for Senegambia in particular and West Africa as a whole. Between 1725 and
1728, a "holy war" was launched at Fugumba by a combination of Fulbe and
Jallonke elements, under the clerical leadership of Karamoko Alfa.112 The
jihad culminated with the victory of the jihadists at Talansan in 1747. With
this aceomplishment, the forces of militant Islam established the almaamate
of Futa Jallon.

Maka Jiba enjoyed special ties to the clerical leadership of the Futa Jall-
onke jihad. His mother, Jiba Hammadi, was the sister of Haba Hammadi, the
mother of Karamoko Alfa.113 Karamoke Alfa and Maka Jiba both studied
under the renowned Tierno Samba in Fugumba.114 In view of this, it is very
likely that events in Bundu and Futa Jallon were carefully monitored by both
leaders.

While the sources speak glowingly of the familial ties between the two men,
there is silence on the role of Bundu in the Futa Jallonke jihad. This suggests
that if the Bundunkobe did participate, the effort was rather minimal. This
lack of assistance on the part of the Bundunkobe, especially in view of the
earlier support of Bubu Malik by elements within Futa Jallon, can be
explained by the fact that Bundu was having tremendous problems of its own
between the 1720s and the 1740s - reconstitution, the Ormankobe, Farabana,
etc. - and was in no position to give tangible aid.

In addition to this, however, is the matter of policy. Notwithstanding
Maka Jiba's training and acquaintance with Futa Jallonke political stirrings,
there is absolutely no evidence that he ever entertained militant or reformist
views. In fact, he apparently had a "reputation" for drinking alcohol, and
was forced upon threat of war to abstain by Karamoko Alfa's successor
Ibrahim Sori.115 Sule N'jai, one of Maka Jiba's most ardent foes, was reputed
to have been a devout Muslim and a convert of Ibrahim Sori.116 Con-
sequently, if it is accurate to portray Maka Jiba as having been an adherent of
pragmatism, then it would have been problematic for him to have fought for
an ideal that he himself did not embrace. Therefore, in conjunction with
pressing domestic problems, the question of the implications for the Bun-
dunke state could have also reduced Maka Jiba's enthusiasm for the jihad
under Karamoko Alfa.
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Maka Jiba died in an unsuccessful siege of Farabana.117 Forced to retreat
under pursuit from his old nemesis Amadi Tumane, Maka Jiba's turban
reportedly became lodged in a tree branch; his decision to retrieve it was a
fatal one.118 At his death, executive power passed to Samba Tumane, the son
of Maka Jiba's oldest brother, Tumane Bubu Malik Sy. Elected by the
Torodbe notables, an intrigue was soon formed against him, led by Maka
Jiba's son Amadi Gai. Employing the argument that Samba Tumane's father
had refused to aid Maka Jiba's reconquest efforts, he was stripped of power
and sent into exile in Fute Toro. His tenure lasted only two or three months,
although the rulers' lists give him credit for an entire year.119 It was also
decided at that time that all those families who had failed to support Maka
Jiba would be prevented from ever becoming Eliman of Bundu. Besides
Samba Tumane, the families of Mudi Bubu Malik (who lived in N'Dagor
and Amaguie) and Alium Bubu Malik were so affected.120 This reduced the
succession to the descendants of Maka Jiba; the claims of the N'Guenar,
under the old pact with Malik Sy, had been effectively rejected with the
seizure of power by Maka Jiba.

The overthrow of Samba Tumane strengthens the possibility that his
father, Tumane Bubu Malik Sy, had been previously opposed by Maka Jiba.
Furthermore, the exclusion of Alium Bubu Malik's family from the succes-
sion may also indicate that Alium was in fact "Eliman" Salum, who had
negotiated with David independently of Maka Jiba, and who was now
suffering the consequences of his actions. In any case, the refinement of the
succession process clearly demonstrates Maka Jiba's resounding success in
having consolidated power by the end of his reign.

It is the scions of Maka Jiba who form the two reigning branches of the
Sissibe.121 By his first wife, Jelia Gai, he had four sons: Amadi Gai, Musa
Gai, Sega Gai, and Pate Gai. The first three went on to rule, while Pate Gai
died in a raid on Tenda. The children of Jelia Gai would establish Koussan,
in southern Bundu. Maka Jiba's second wife, Aissata Bela, was reportedly of
Susu rather than Fulbe origin.122 By her he had three sons: Amadi Aissata,
Malik Aissata, and Usuman Tunkara. Amadi Aissata would go on to reign,
but the other two died at the Battle of Dara Lamine (c. 1800). The Aissata
progeny would found the Boulebane branch, and would reside in that
northern town.

The children of Jelia Gai were older than those of Aissata Bela, and were
conscious of the purity of their Fulbe heritage. These distinctions were
important in that they helped to determine the specificity of the succession.
In the late eighteenth century, however, these distinctions would translate
into an informal division between the two branches, a consequence of the
victory of militant Islam in Futa Toro. Bundu will be faced with the claims of
reform Islam much more directly than was the case with the reformist victory
in Futa Jallon, and will be forced to either accept or reject its social and
governmental implications.
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The last quarter of the eighteenth century proved to be a critical test for the
pragmatism of Bundu. The victory of militant Islam in the neighboring
state of Futa Toro would reverberate throughout the Bundunke court and
society. Together with the preceding establishment of a reform government
in Futa Jallon, Futa Toro's militancy constituted a powerful alternative to
the practicalism of Bundu's leadership. The Bundunke ruling elite was both
Muslim and Fulbe, as was true of the two Futas, and the three entities
enjoyed important economic, religious, and familial relations. Trade
routes, clerical traditions and lineages, Muslim schools and peripatetic
scholars, and ongoing migratory activity were the principal vehicles
through which these three polities were closely linked within a single
region. As a result, Bundu was profoundly affected by the Islamic revo-
lution in Futa Toro.

The moderate orientation of Bundu, initiated by Malik Sy, was main-
tained by Bubu Malik and Maka Jiba. In spite of the establishment of Futa
Jallon as a theocratic paradigm by 1747, to which Maka Jiba had personal
and lineage ties, the Eliman continued to pursue policies identical to those of
his father and grandfather: the development of the productive and commer-
cial sectors of the economy, an acceptance of ethnically diverse immigrants,
and a tolerance of non-Muslim communities. The religious leadership origi-
nally displayed by Malik Sy (keeping in mind his reputation as an amulet-
maker) began to dissipate, and was gradually assumed by the Jakhanke
clerisy. But while the Sissibe were becoming more secularized, every evidence
indicates that the population was becoming increasingly Islamized. In turn,
this increase in the relative Muslim population tended to legitimize Sissibe
rule. Together with the growth of Bundu's economy, the flowering of the
Muslim religion worked against the emergence of a self-sustaining reform
movement within Bundu.

However, the rise of militant Islam in Futa Toro would create pressures
for the Bundunke elite to embrace reform. A small portion of Bundunke
society would support reform efforts, but it would be dependent funda-
mentally upon Futanke strength, and would become insignificant in the
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wake of the latter's diminished influence. Given this reliance upon Futa
Toro, it is difficult to establish an independent tradition of reform within
Bundu. It would appear, however, based upon the capitulation of Amadi
Gai to demands for reform, that those Bundunkobe who were inspired by
the Futanke militants also had specific concerns of their own. These included
the call for an eliman who would lead an exemplary life of piety; the
implementation of Islamic law in the structure and function of government;
and a definitive rejection of alliances with non-Muslim entities, a response to
the growing affinity between Bundu and encroaching Kaarta. The elite's
disproportionate share in the state's growing prosperity may also have been
a factor in the rise of militancy in Bundu; the disaffected would have found
their collective voice in the demand for reform.

The campaign to institute reforms began under the reign of Amadi Gai
(1764-86), waned with the installation of Musa Gai (1786-90), and came to
full fruitition with the advent of Sega Gai (1790-97). But the forces of
militancy within Bundu alone were not strong enough to challenge the
government, and their short-lived success was a direct consequence of the
intervention of the Futanke jihadist, Abdul Qadir.

Concomitant with these developments was the emergence of another
regional power, the non-Muslim Massassi of Kaarta. Having achieved their
sovereignty in 1754, by 1777 they had extended their control to Diara. The
shadow of Kaarta quickly lengthened to encompass much of commercially
strategic eastern Senegambia, and resulted in Kaarta's political and
economic domination. From the end of the eighteenth century until the jihad
of al-hajj Umar, Bundu would be concerned with maintaining its indepen-
dence in the face of this challenge and, contrary to the experience of many of
its neighbors, was largely successful in so doing.

Materials for this period are more diverse than those previously employed.
The endogenous data of Ran9on and Lamartiny continues in significance,
but just as important are the exogenous accounts of various travelers who
passed through the land during this time. In addition, the oral compilations
of Kamara and Curtin became much more pertinent. The greater diversity is
a consequence of the later time frame, and results in the capability of
increased verification of specific detail via corroboration of the various
genres.

At the same time, the sources fail to provide a cohesive picture of Bundu's
development. The emergence of militancy within Bundu and the related
influence of Abdul Qadir, combined with the growing competition between
the two branches of the Sissibe, are examples of two major themes into which
the sources give little insight. This may be because both developments are
sources of embarrassment for the Sissibe, and are consequently understated
in the traditions. A third example concerns the end of Sega Gai's tenure,
which must be pieced together from very different angles. The challenge,
then, is to elucidate the context and content of the period with sufficient
clarity.
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Internal developments

The last quarter of the eighteenth century, until the involvement of Adul
Qadir, saw relatively tranquil, peaceful conditions among the Bundunke
peasantry. Proliferation of Bundunke villages along the eastern bank of the
Faleme greatly augmented agricultural production, and facilitated the com-
mercial activity of the state. The rise of the eastern Faleme as a commercial
focus encouraged successive elimans to maintain capitals there. In addition
to this general prospering of the state was the growth of the Muslim
population vis-a-vis the non-Muslim; not one traveler failed to comment on
what appeared to them to be a monolithic religious community.

Within the circle of power, two developments which would affect the
polity for the remainder of its existence began to take form. The first
concerned the growing resentment of the sons of Aissata Bela towards the
domination of political office by Amadi Gai and his full brothers. The
tension between the two sets of Maka Jiba's progeny did not become critical,
however, until the introduction of a second conflict. In the latter instance,
the moderate ruling elite began to experience pressure from Futa Toro's
reformists to change the direction of the government.

The victory of the jihadists in Futa Toro created such a climate for reform
that the Bundunke court was forced to embrace the movement. Eliman
Amadi Gai was the first to acquiesce, and he and his full brothers became
identified with the reform effort. However, the new militancy did nothing to
address the grievances of the sons of Aissata Bela and, in fact, exacerbated
them. The latter would eventually marshal sufficient anti-reform forces to
take power and return to a more moderate posture.

In spite of the internal conflicts, Bundu managed to pursue coherent
economic and political policies within the larger region. In the first place,
Bundu sought to solidify its existing territorial authority rather than to
expand into new areas. Secondly, there was a greater emphasis on commerce
than previously, consisting of exporting agricultural goods to the Gambia
and gold to the Moors. In order to realize the former, Bundu focused on
controlling the eastern Faleme; three capitals - Dyungfung, Dara, and
Fatteconda - were established there to direct this effort. As for the gold
trade, Bundu sought to direct the commodity from its place of origin in
Bambuk to a principal point of exchange along the Upper Senegal, the town
of Bakel. Undergirding all of this activity was the importation of European
firearms into Bundu. Ownership of these firearms was limited to the nobility,
and was of increasingly critical importance.

Regarding Amadi Gai, his reign was a veritable calm before the storm. In
contrast to his father Maka Jiba, Amadi Gai was more interested in solidify-
ing his authority over lands already under nominal Bundunke control. He is
described as having inherited great wealth, while his constituents "were able
to enjoy a peaceful life, and to devote themselves to agriculture and the
raising of cattle."1 Dara had served as the capital of Bundu under Maka
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Jiba, having been established along with Dyunfung as tatas along the eastern
Faleme. Apparently Amadi Gai alternated his residence between both towns
early in his reign.2 But at some later point, he chose for security reasons the
town of Koussan as a third capital of Bundu.3 Koussan is described in 1786
as having consisted of 1,000 to 2,000 residents, and having previously served
as a tat a for Amadi Gai. The ruler's residence was a compound of several
houses surrounded by walls of earth: "The sight of this surrounding wall
resembles the idea of a citadel."4 The main entrance to the royal house was
guarded, as were all the houses within the complex. The layout was more or
less a maze, wherein it was difficult to locate the actual house of the ruler
without an escort.

Commerce and firearms

The reputation of Bundu as a exporter of agricultural products continued to
develop during the last quarter of the eighteenth century. Late in 1795,
Mungo Park traveled through Bundu, and described a tranquil, almost
idyllic scene. The "Foulahs" were cultivators and herders, whose livestock
was on the whole in better condition than those of the Malinke.5 They
reportedly raised an "excellent breed of horses, but the usual beast of burden
in all the Negro territories is the ass."6 The price of a fowl was a button or a
small piece of amber, while goat meat and mutton were "proportionately
cheap." The Bundunkobe enjoyed "all the necessaries of life in the greatest
profusion," while the states along the Gambia were "also supplied, in
considerable quantities, with sweet-smelling gums and frankincense, the
produce of Bondu."7 Just a few years earlier (some time between 1784 and
1787), Goldberry also passed through Bundu, and described it as a center of
cotton and indigo production.8

With regard to northern commerce, there was a flourishing trade between
Bundu and the Moors. Bundu was part of the "desert-edge" system of
complementary exchange between the ecologically distinct zones of the
southern Sahara and the savannah. From the mines of Ijil and Tawdenni, the
caravans of the Moors crisscrossed the desert bearing slabs of salt. The
Moors, specifically the Kunta zwdya confederation, had taken control of the
commodity's production and transport by the last quarter of the eighteenth
century. Passing through such oases as Tishit (also a source of salt) in the
Tagant and Walata in the Hodh, the Moors would deliver the salt at various
termini in the savannah, including Bundu. There, the Moors would trade for
cereals, cattle products, slaves, Bundunke cloth, and Bambuk gold. As a
cotton-producer, Bundu was a key supplier of the Moorish demand for
white and indigo-dyed cloth.9

The slave trade was also of significance; Saugnier and Labarthe even
traveled to the Upper Senegal with the intent to further stimulate the
exchange in Africans.10 The foregoing suggests the growing importance of
the northern trade, in that trade to the south and east had preoccupied the
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Bundunke governments through the reign of Maka Jiba. However, the latter
trades remained fundamental to Bundu's prosperity. A sizeable proportion
of that trade passed through the Bundunke border village of Tillika (or
Tallico) to the south. The Frenchman Rubault, commissioned by Durand to
travel overland to the Upper Senegal, visited the village in 1786, and
characterized it as a merchant village, whose residents made money by
selling food and ivory to passing caravans.11 When Park visited Bundu in
1795, he claims to also have visited Tillika, describing it as a town of Muslim
"Foulahs," "who live in considerable affluence."12

The visits of Europeans to Bundu sparked the energies of the Bundunkobe
to participate even more in every aspect of the region's commerce. These
visits, although rare, alerted the leadership to the upper valleys' growing
importance within the framework of international exchange. Perhaps more
pertinent is the fact that such visits underscored how critical Bundu's need
had become for European firearms. A case in point was the 1786 visit of
Rubault, for whom an audience with Amadi Gai was held. Rubault was
interrogated about his native land and the power of its ruler. He was then
asked if he had brought "gifts," to which he replied in the negative.
Rubault's account of Amadi Gai's response is a good example of how the
Eurocentric perspective can obfuscate the indigenous reality:

The Compagnie des Indes used to have a settlement in Galam, and my father
received from it expensive gifts; I thought that the same thing would happen
under my reign and that I would not have to wait. Vain hope! I received
nothing. But should I not hope for a white traveler? However, that which had
never been came about [the arrival of Rubault]. I left my camp in order to see
him, and I did not receive the gift that I had anticipated. It is in vain that you
would like to leave without satisfying me. I will never consent to it.13

According to Rubault, the "Almamy" changed his mind the following day,
and agreed to allow Rubault to continue on to Gajaaga under escort. Upon
reaching Gajaaga, he was to send back two pieces of "guinee," a single-
barreled firearm, one hundred flints, one hundred balls, four pounds of
gunpowder, and a pair of pistols.14 It is in the request for firearms that we see
the real interest of Amadi Gai; his own personal prestige, in addition to the
security of the state, was becoming more dependent upon European
weaponry. Indeed, the continued supply of such weaponry from both the
Gambia and Senegal Rivers would partially explain Bundu's successful
expansion in the nineteenth century.

A further illustration of the importance of European firearms comes from
the reign of Musa Gai (1786-90). The French had failed to reoccupy their
former posts in Gajaaga following their setback in the Seven Years' War,
although by 1779 they had returned to Saint Louis. Either just before or after
his taking executive power, Musa Gai traveled to Saint Louis to discuss the
absence of the French in the Upper Senegal.15 He was undoubtedly attempt-
ing to persuade the French to hasten their return, as the developing regional
power of Bundu was becoming dependent upon the procurement of firearms.

78



External reforms and internal consequences: Futa Toro and Bundu

Bundu's ability to purchase those arms came through taxing caravans from
other lands en route to the various entrepots, as well as levies placed on the
sale of gold, gum, cotton, indigo, and other commodities by the Bundun-
kobe themselves. However, there are no data on the substance of these talks,
and no evidence of any tangible results.

Impasse to the south and east

Amadi Gai was generally uninterested in territorial expansion. He began his
reign in 1764 by agreeing to a "treaty of alliance" with Wuli, whereby the
remaining inhabitants of Contou were required to relocate to Tambacoun-
da.16 His control of the trade to the Gambia continued to be challenged by the
power of Farabana, and the rise of a new adversary, the Malinke kingdom of
Tenda.17 Tenda, together with Farabana, proved to be an unending source of
military harassment, preventing Bundu from ever realizing the kind of control
it sought over the Faleme and the southlands. While Amadi Gai achieved
some success in extending his suzerainty over several Tenda villages, he was
simply unattracted to campaigning on the scale of his father Maka Jiba.
Before he died, however, Amadi Gai made two attempts to capture Farabana.
As has been previously noted, Farabana was a nexus for several caravan
routes, and in close proximity to the Bambuk goldfields. As long as Farabana
remained autonomous, Bundu could not possibly control all of the trade
routes extending from there, routes leading north to Gajaaga and Khasso,
east to the centuries-old markets of the Upper Niger, and south to the Gambia
and beyond to the highlands of Futa Jallon. In view of Farabana's commercial
versatility, Amadi Gai could not completely ignore the potential gain for
Bundu. A report filed in 1784 underscores the overall character of the conflict:
"This people Manding is [sic] almost always at war with those of Bundu, who
are separated by the Faleme, and in order to go beyond Galam to the land of
the mines, one does not go around the land of Bundu."18

Farabana's resilience is explained not only by its multiple trade connec-
tions, but also by the military cooperation of the Malinke independent towns
within Bambuk as a whole. Although politically autonomous, they were able
to join forces for purposes of defense.19 Because of Farabana's formidabi-
lity, Amadi Gai's two attempts at conquest were unsuccessful and Farabana
remained independent.20 However, it is likely that Bundu won a partial
victory in that it was able to wrest control of the trade routes to the Gambia
from Farabana. This assertion is based upon the testimony of Major Daniel
Houghton, who had been active in Senegambia between 1772 and 1783, and
who made a scientific expedition to Bundu in May of 1791, with the intent of
going as far inland as the Niger.21 Houghton reported that Bundu had
"won" the recent conflict with Farabana, but he then goes on to talk about
his additional visit to the "king" of Bambuk.22 The "king" complained that
although he had previously been able to procure munitions from Fort Saint
Joseph, the French had abandoned the site for some time; meanwhile,
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Bundu was still able to obtain military goods from the English on the
Gambia, putting the "king" at a decided disadvantage.23 Thus, it would
appear that Farabana remained free of Bundunke political control, but lost
its access to the Gambia. These circumstances were extremely fluid, and
would change several times in the course of the nineteenth century.

Gajaaga

Although Amadi Gai was unable to seize Farabana, his efforts were suffi-
cient to give Bundu greater control over the Faleme River as far south as
Tomboura.24 The advantage temporarily enjoyed by Bundu over Farabana
allowed Musa Gai, Amadi Gai's successor, to turn his attention north to
Gajaaga. Amadi Gai had experienced peaceful relations with Gajaaga
during his reign, but Musa Gai embarked upon a different strategy.25 Some
years prior to Musa Gai's coming to power, the N'Diaye family, under
N'Diaye Gauki, had established themselves at Bakel under the protection of
the Eliman of Bundu.26 Amadi Gai extended this arrangement to N'Diaye
Gauki's successor, Silman Molaju. At some point after 1779, the Tunka at
Tiyaabu began a dispute with the N'Diaybe over who actually owned the
land around Bakel, and who should therefore receive payments from the
French. Because of the superior forces of the Tunka, Silman Molaju was
forced to rely upon the military aid of Bundu, which continued to provide
protection in exchange for a fee.

Apparently the cost of Bundu's protection became very steep. The
N'Diaybe sought to escape the oppression by soliciting the help of
Kounguel, a thriving commercial center near the mouth of the Faleme.
Having worked out an arrangement with the merchants of Kounguel, the
N'Diaybe stopped payment to Bundu during Musa Gai's tenure. The ruler
responded by attacking Bakel; Silman Molaju took flight, and the Bundun-
kobe temporarily took over the town. Musa Gai then imposed levies on the
merchants who conducted business at Bakel and Kounguel.27

As is demonstrated in this account, Bakel was an important entrepot in
the Upper Senegal, and would become even more important after 1820 and
the establishment of a French fort there. Gajaaga and Bundu consequently
fought over its control, with the result that Bundu's tight political grip,
established over the town under Musa Gai, would weaken in the nineteenth
century. Firm political domination over a subject Bakel would change to
political influence over an autonomous Bakel, and this influence would vary
in intensity from time to time.

The brief dispute with Tiyaabu and Kounguel over the status of Bakel
carried portents of Bundu's future. Increasingly, the northern frontier would
play a larger role in the development of Bundu. While commercial and
political activity to the south and east remained important, nineteenth-
century developments in the Upper Senegal would more deeply impact the
course of Bundunke history.
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Attempts at reform

At some point during his reign, Amadi Gai constructed the tata at Koussan,
the eventual site of one of his residences. The reason given for this construc-
tion was to defend against raiding and the "enemies of his family, who,
excited by the clerics, attempted to foment revolts."28 This vague statement
is undoubtedly a reference to the growing influence of the jihadists of Futa
Toro. The holy war against the Denyanke dynasty began in the 1760s under
the leadership of Sulayman Bal, and culminated in the victory of Abdul
Qadir in 1776. Having begun his reign in 1764, Amadi Gai came under the
scrutiny of those Bundunkobe who were ideologically in support of the
Futanke jihadists. Such supporters questioned the secular character of the
leadership, and called for implementation of Islamic law within Bundunke
society. As Futanke influence grew, the reformers created sufficient
pressures upon Amadi Gai to force his removal to Koussan. The vehicles
through which these pressures were brought to bear included: contact
between Bundu and Futa Toro at the clerical levels; students from Bundu
studying in Futa Toro, and vice-versa; and a number of Bundunkobe who
may have fought under Abdul Qadir, and who returned to Bundu. All of
these categories would have included individuals who advocated the refor-
mist position in Bundu.

The Futanke jihadists, coupled with the need to effectively govern the
state, eventually forced Amadi Gai to abandon the centrist posture of his
predecessors. The principal indication of this shift was the adoption of the
title Almaami, in lieu of Eliman. More than simply a Pulaarization of the
term imam, the Sissibe adoption of this title reflects the influence of the
Futanke jihadists, as Abdul Qadir had taken the title Almaami.29 This, in
turn, suggests that the title was assumed by Amadi Gai after 1776.

But beyond the mere adoption of a modified title, Amadi Gai began to
implement reforms according to Islamic law, such that Rangon describes
him as the first sovereign of Bundu "who accomplished something, frotn the
point of view of the administration of the country."30 He attempted to
adhere to sharia in matters of taxation and civil behavior, organizing a
police force as well. Bowing to the pressures for reform generated by Abdul
Qadir, "he tried to apply the Koran in every circumstance where it was
possible."31 The transformation of Amadi Gai from moderate to reformer
was startling; it was also shrewd politics, as the waves of militancy emanat-
ing from Futa Toro threatened to overwhelm the ship of the Bundunke
state.

Almaami Amadi Gai spent his last years in Dara, and at his death he was
survived by seven sons.32 Amadi Makumba was the only one born of a free
woman, and he was killed in Tenda. Tumane Mudi, Malik Kumba, and
Amadu Sy went on to reign. The others were Abd al-Rahman Amadi Gai,
Sega Amadi Gai (who died at Dara Lamine c. 1880), and Salif Amadi Gai.
The rulers' lists disagree on the length of Amadi Gai's tenure, ranging
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anywhere from ten to twenty-one years. Only Curtin has suggested a twenty-
one-year span, which is consistent with the current proposal.

Amadi Gai's brother and immediate successor, Musa Gai (1786-90), was
the oldest surviving Sy, and therefore the rightful Almaami. In addition to
what has already been discussed regarding his activity along the frontiers,
the tenure of Musa Gai was relatively uneventful. The sources do not
address the question of whether he followed the reform policies of Amadi
Gai or not. Musa Gai also died at Dara, and was survived by one son, Umar
Musa, who established himself at Belpounegui. His other son, Malik Musa,
died in infancy.33 All of the sources agree that he reigned either four or five
years.34

Sega (or Ishaq) Gai, Musa Gai's younger brother, succeeded him as
Almaami (1790-97). From his new residence at Fatteconda on the east side
of the Faleme, Sega Gai ruled over a land of growing tensions. Park visited
Bundu as late as 1795, and described it as inhabited by devout Muslims.
Small madrasas were sprinkled among the various towns, while most of the
Bundunkobe Park encountered possessed a "slight acquaintance" with the
Arabic language.35 Boars ran wild in the woods, "but their flesh was not
esteemed."36 In comparing Bundu with the Malinke states along the
Gambia, Park found that the differene was "in this, that they are more
immediately under the influence of the Mahomedan laws; for all the chief
men (the king excepted) and a large majority of the inhabitants of Bondou,
are Mussulmen, and the authority and laws of the prophet are every where
looked upon as sacred and decisive."37 The exception made for the "king" is
most revealing. Park was told that the ruler was not a Muslim, but a kdfir;
that he was a "Soninke, or pagan, like the king of Woolli, but he adopted the
Moorish name of Almaami... "38 Park's informants were clearly disaffected
Muslims, so upset with Sega Gai's policies that they considered him an
apostate. Unwittingly, Park was painting a striking picture of Bundu in
1795: a surface peace, behind which was developing a mounting resentment.

In fact, it is under Sega Gai that civil, religious, and interstate war erupt
simultaneously, largely the consequence of the emergence of militant Islam.
Almost as soon as the new Almaami took office, he was forced to repress a
number of local uprisings, the participants of which had "made common
cause with his enemies."39 It is a distinct possibility that his "enemies" were
from several different camps. First of all, there were the militants, who were
actually following the leadership of Abdul Qadir, and who were clearly
opposed to Sega Gai. Beyond this group, it is likely that his half-brothers,
the sons of Aissata Bela, were also beginning to resent the domination of the
Gai branch. To this must be added those communities in Bundu which still
maintained some ties to Gajaaga, and were adversely affected by the recent
Bundunke forays into the north. Indirect evidence suggests that all three
camps were operating in opposition to Sega Gai. While there may have been
collusion between the latter two factions, it is evident that the militant camp
was being "agitated" by influences from Futa Toro.
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The beginning of the end for Sega Gai is marked by his sack of the Muslim
village of Sangalou in 1797. The casualties were numerous, with many women
and children taken captive.40 The sources differ as to what happened after
that. According to Roux, the Sangalou affair was nothing short of an outrage
to the Muslim community. When he heard of it, Abdul Qadir decided to
punish Sega Gai and expand his reform by marching on Bundu. He arrived at
Marsa, where he met Sega Gai, and proceeded to reprimand him severely for
his treatment of Sangalou's people, "a harmless village," and asked the clerics
to make a judgment of his fate.41 He was sentenced to die, a verdict which
Abdul Qadir carried out in the presence of Bundu's powerless army.

An alternate version has Sega Gai and the Bambara army of Kaarta
raiding the village of Njukunturu, reducing the women and children to
slavery.42 Among the inhabitants of the village, one Fudiya Ansura com-
plained to Abdul Qadir, who subsequently led an army to Bundu and put the
Bundu Almaami to death. Both this story and its predecessor have in
common the allegation that Sega Gai attacked and enslaved Muslims, in
contravention of sharia. (Fudiya Ansura was the father of Shaykh Musa
Makka, who reportedly collected zakdt for either al-hdjj Umar or his son
Amadu in Guidimakha.)43

Gray, Ran^on, and Lamartiny introduce several new factors.44 Agreeing
that Sangalou was sacked by Sega Gai, they state that it was the Tunka of
Tiyaabu who sought the aid of Abdul Qadir, and that the latter was motivated
by feelings of revenge to respond. This was because Abdul Qadir was born in
Bundu, in the village of Diamwali, and was reportedly chased out of the realm
by Musa Gai because of his "religious fanaticism." Therefore, according to
this version, Abdul Qadir was eager to aid the Tunka, but the Sangalou affair
was not sufficient provocation. It was around this time, however, that a group
of Kaartans were chased west by forces from Segu, the former seeking refuge
in Gajaaga. Abdul Qadir, now supervising Gajaaga's affairs, refused them
permission, and sent an army to chase them out. As the Kaartans retreated,
they burned several villages in their path. A leader of one of these villages,
"Imam," complained to Abdul Qadir that Sega Gai had assisted the
Kaartans, taking his wife and daughter for himself. Sega Gai was also accused
of destroying a number of important books. Adul Qadir thereupon led 20,000
men (i.e. an uncountable number) to Marsa, where he summoned Sega Gai.
He then sentenced the Sy to exile in Futa Toro, but before Sega Gai could
leave the Futanke camp he was killed by Abdul Qadir's men.

From the preceding accounts, it would appear that the Kaartans and Sega
Gai had united to make common assault upon the villages of Gajaaga,
among which Sangalou was one. It would also appear that Abdul Qadir had
obtained tremendous influence over the militant factions of Gajaaga and
Bundu, and even had some form of agreement with Sega Gai that recognized
the Futanke Almaami as ascendant.45 To support this, Kamara writes that
Sega Gai has sworn fealty (bay a) to Abdul Qadir, and had become his
khalifa (lieutenant).
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It does not require long contemplation to recognize the bias of Ran$on
and Lamartiny in the matter. The French had had their share of problems
with African Muslim reformers by the late nineteenth century. The allega-
tion that revenge was Abdul Qadir's motive cannot be taken seriously.
Neither can it be denied that the Futanke Almaami was a reformer. He was
considered erudite, a cleric who scrupulously observed sharia. The move on
Bundu was clearly an attempt to expand his reform, if not his authority.46

The implication of these events is that the reform measures of Amadi Gai
had fallen short of their objectives, and that Sega Gai was anything but a
rightly guided imam. One view is that after Maka Jiba, the Bundunke
almaamies became kdfirs ("unbelievers," or in this sense, "apostates") and
that their constituency reverted to unspecified, pre-Islamic ritual observ-
ances.47 Sega Gai was accused of entering the mosque in Marsa without
performing ghusl (a total bath), having just been with his wife.48 Kamara
more or less supports this view, stating that Abdul Qadir had made Sega
Gai promise to abandon the dance of the Bambara, a pledge he later dis-
regarded.49 Although this indicates that relations between Kaarta and
Bundu had become important, and were a source of discomfort for the mili-
tant camp, it is a bit much to contend that the Bundunke almaamies were
not Muslims. It should be kept in mind that, aside from Demba Sock and
Moussa Kamara's comments on Sega Gai, none of the sources imply that
syncretism or even dualism characterized the Bundunke almaamies or
people.

The execution of Sega Gai was most unpopular in both Bundu and Futa
Toro. When Abdul Qadir gave the initial order, his troops refused to carry
it out.50 After the execution was finally performed, the resulting collective
revulsion was expressed by the Moor Mukhtar-uld-Buna, who reportedly
was an eyewitness:

As for me, I was disgusted with the religion of the whites [Moors], and I came
to the land of the blacks in order to be instucted in their religion, and I aban-
doned the teaching of the people who do not believe. But you, you sent for
this man under the protection of Islam . . . ' They did not enter into discussion
with him, for it had not been a good affair, and Mokhtar-uld-Buna returned
to the land of the Moors.51

At the news of Sega Gai's death, the notables convened to choose a succes-
sor. Bowing to the wishes of Abdul Qadir, Amadi Pate Gai, the son of the
deceased Pate Gai, was named Almaami. Sega Gai's own son, Bubacar
Sega, never became very important. The sources disagree on the length of
Sega Gai's reign.52

The eighteenth century had witnessed the development of Bundu from a
tiny entity into a relatively influential state. Its growth was fundamentally
tied to the commerce of the region, over which it sought to strengthen its
control. The extent to which Bundu was successful in achieving this was
becoming increasingly a function of its ability to access European firearms.
The nineteenth-century expansion of the French in the Upper Senegal
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would only intensify the pattern of Bundu's dependency on such arms, and
on trade with French and British merchants in general.

At the same time, the pragmatic orientation of the state came under fire
with the rise of Abdul Qadir. The struggle between the Futanke-led militants
and the moderates of Bundu would issue into a dynastic war between the two
branches of the Sissibe. Ironically, Abdul Qadir's intervention in Bundunke
internal affairs sowed the seeds for his own demise, and that at the hands of
the Bundunke moderates, who would win the internecine conflict.
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Abdul Qadir's intrusion into Bundunke affairs galvanized those moderate
forces which had steadily lost ground to the proponents of Islamic militancy
in both Futa Toro and Bundu. The execution of Sega Gai was the beginning
of an informal split between the Boulebane and Koussan branches of the
Sissibe dynasty. While the division was never hard and fast, the Boulebane
branch, during the ascendency of Abdul Qadir, assumed an anti-militant
posture, whereas the Koussan branch represented reform interests. With the
defeat of Abdul Qadir, reform ceased to be a viable option in Bundu.
Subsequently, Boulebane tended to be associated with pro-French and
pro-Kaarta sentiments; the latter connection would vacillate between amity
and enmity, and would involve intermarriage between the royal families of
Kaarta and Bundu. In contrast, Koussan was hostile to alliances with
non-Muslim entities, and maintained a commercial orientation towards the
politically non-threatening British along the Gambia. In the final analysis,
however, Bundu's pragmatism and centralized character survived these
differences until the advent and intervention ofal-hdjj Umar in the middle of
the nineteenth century. The split between the Sissibe was therefore not as
powerful as the common threads linking the two.

The first third of the nineteenth century in Bundu is represented by a blend
of endogenous, exogenous, and intermediate sources. Reports from the
comptoirs are fairly substantial, so that details are more precise, and corro-
boration more extensive. However, the challenge of developing a clear
understanding of the Bundunke perspective persists. The strategy and inter-
nal dynamics of the court are by no means apparent, and must be extracted
from the data.

Overview of internal affairs

The start of the nineteenth century saw the polity beset with civil strife, only
to be followed by a protracted engagement with Kaarta. The economic
expansion of Bundu, so well demonstrated by its growth during the second
half of the eighteenth century, was temporarily halted by the exigencies of

86



The reassertion of Sissibe integrity

war. But while the realm suffered some agricultural decline, the Faleme
remained the breadbasket of the state, and commerce continued to flow, as
evidenced by the activity of Segu merchants in Bundu immediately following
the Kaartan conflict. At the same time, Bundu began to experience some
difficulties with its servile population, who began absconding beyond the
Faleme to the east. Their flight, which could very well have been deliberately
encouraged by Bambuk and Kaarta, was in any case a direct indication of
the free populations' preoccupation with war during this period, to the
extent that they had problems maintaining control over their slaves.

Within the court, the period was decidedly marked by the internecine
struggle among the Sissibe. This followed the antebellum creation of dual
administrative nuclei, reflecting the two ruling factions. The moderate wing
would ultimately prevail, but the forceful seizure of power by the moderate
candidate, Amadi Aissata, indicates that the fissures within the ruling elite
were deep and pervasive. In a procedure reminiscent of Maka Jiba, Amadi
Aissata took the almaamate against the wishes and to the consternation of
the non-Sissibe nobility, who had decided to resolve the internal con-
tretemps by selecting a head of state from outside of the Sissibe. Once in
power, the Boulebane branch began to manipulate the succession process to
their advantage.

The strategy employed by Bundu during this period was one of shifting
alliances based upon expediency as opposed to religion or ethnicity. Bundu
would seek to use Kaarta to rid itself of Abdul Qadir, only to turn and form
an alliance against Kaarta. Bundu sought nothing less than hegemony over
the Upper Senegal, a region characterized by rapid political change and
escalating competition over control of regional commerce. In order to
prevail, Bundu became very aggressive militarily. The focus was the northern
entrepot of Bakel, but the slave and kola nut trades from the south remained
very important. In the end, the French would take notice of Bundu's rise,
and would actively resist its expansion.

Amadi Aissata (1797-1819) and the First Civil War

According to Moussa Kamara, Amadi Pate Gai, Abdul Qadir's candidate to
succeed Sega Gai, proved to be unjust, tyrannical, and wanton.1 That he was
constantly accompanied by "les griots et les flutistes" is further indication
that he was not a reformer, and that he was chosen by Abdul Qadir because
he could be controlled.

But more important than the question of Amadi Pate Gai's weakness or
Abdul Qadir's sense of loyalty to Pate Gai was the fact that Amadi Pate
Gai's selection was an attempt on the part of Abdul Qadir to disrupt the
legal succession process. By so doing, he was assuming the authority to
determine Bundu's leadership and, in essence, reducing Bundu to vassalage.
By subordinating the Bundunke elite, Abdul Qadir could then alter the
state's moderate posture, as it was viewed as antithetical to the reforms of
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the Futanke Almaami. The demise of Sega Gai therefore represented an
opportunity for Abdul Qadir to implement this strategy, but the consequent
choice of Amadi Pate Gai proved to be an unmitigated disaster. It was
unacceptable in that an outsider had made the determination, and it was
illegal in that the rightful successor was Amadi Aissata, another of Maka
Jiba's sons.

Amadi Pate Gai's selection would touch off a civil war. As a result of
Abdul Qadir's intervention, the Boulebane branch was forced to fight for its
privilege and dignity, after which the sons of Maka Jiba found it desirable to
create spatial distance between their respective residences. While the two
branches would achieve some reconciliation in subsequent years, the con-
sequences of the Futanke Almaamfs policies would linger and continue to
affect relations between Boulebane and Koussan.2

In response to Abdul Qadir's choice of Amadi Pate Gai, the Bundunke
nobility, consisting of various Torodbe groups, met at Fissa-Daro to ponder
their options. The discussions resulted in the selection of the leader of
Fissa-Daro as Almaami, by invocation of the ancient agreement between
Malik Sy and the N'Guenar that the oldest of the two groups should rule.
Amadi Aissata, present at the meeting, vehemently took exception to the
decision, and ordered his chief slave to assassinate the village head. This
being carried out, the meeting hastily adjourned in confusion.3 Shortly
thereafter, Amadi Aissata was proclaimed Almaami by the Boulebane
branch.

According to Ran£on, Boulebane was founded by Amadi Aissata after the
death of Amadi Gai in 1786.4 Moussa Kamara confirms that Amadi Aissata
founded Boulebane.5 However, it is not clear when this branch moved to
Boulebane from Dyunfung. Ran$on gives the impression that Amadi
Aissata was already residing in Boulebane before the war with Amadi Pate
Gai, whereas Amadi Bokar Sy, Roux, and Kamara state that he had
remained at Dyunfung until later in his reign.6

Evidence that the division between the Koussan and Boulebane branches
was not absolute can be seen in the kind of support Amadi Aissata received.
Two of his chief lieutenants, Tumane Mudi and Malik Kumba, were from
the Koussan branch. Without question, self-interest was the important
factor in their decision to back Boulebane. Amadi Pate Gai was not only
behind Amadi Aissata in the line of succession, he was also behind Tumane
Mudi and Malik Kumba. To back Amadi Aissata was to support order and
to insure their own opportunity; to side with Amadi Pate Gai was to embrace
uncertainty. As it turned out, their loyalty to Boulebane proved sagacious;
both would reign as Almaami.

For his part, Amadi Aissata had not always been opposed to Abdul Qadir.
The former was responsible for the construction of a mosque at Kobillo in
Futa Toro, in the province of Bosseya.7 He had commissioned Bundunke
masons to build the structure as a way of honoring Abdul Qadir, easily the
most powerful figure in the Upper Senegal. But the reformer's declaration in
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favor of Amadi Pate Gai angered Amadi Aissata. The rightful heir met with
his nephew and reportedly said: " 'He names you as ruler to the detriment of
your uncles, and you accept. What an odious act you have performed'."8

Amadi Aissata understood that to rebel against Abdul Qadir's selection
was to rebel against Abdul Qadir. Even with the backing of a substantial
number of Sissibe "princes," however, Amadi Aissata needed additional
help to overcome the Futanke forces. Kamara records that immediately
following his brief meeting with Amadi Pate Gai, Amadi Aissata journeyed
to Kaarta and remained there for the next two years. While there, he was
given the king's daughter to marry, but he declined because he was much
older than she. The king's daughter, Kurubarai Kulubali, was instead given
to Amadi Aissata's son, Saada Amadi Aissata.9 The marriage sealed an
alliance between Bundu and Kaarta that would become problematic in the
future. For Kaarta, the alliance meant that it would have an agent repre-
senting its growing interests in the Upper Senegal. From Amadi Aissata's
perspective, the pact with Kaarta was ideal in that Kaarta could provide
substantial military aid for Bundu's quest to challenge Abdul Qadir and to
exert control over the upper valley's trade and resources. As matters turned
out, both partners underestimated the extent of the other's ambition.

Accompanied by Kaartan reinforcements, Amadi Aissata returned to
Bundu. He sent Tumane Mudi on a diplomatic mission to Amadi Pate Gai,
but the latter refused to participate in any negotiations, having taken
residence at the old tata at Fena. The forces of Boulebane, reportedly 15,000
to 20,000 strong (i.e. an uncountable number) laid siege to Fena under the
command of Tumane Mudi. The assault was successful, and Amadi Pate Gai
was forced to seek exile in Futa Toro with Abdul Qadir.

The following year (c. 1800), Abdul Qadir led a force of 4,000 Futankobe
to Bundu in order to reinstate Amadi Pate Gai. For his part, Amadi Aissata
assembled his army at Dara Lamine, about forty-five kilometers southeast of
Bakel.10 The ensuing Battle of Dara Lamine lasted for several days, and has
assumed epic proportions as one of the few times in which Sissibe actually
killed Sissibe. In all, seven Sissibe lost their lives, including Amadi Aissata's
brother Malik Aissata. Abdul Qadir emerged a winner, but at great cost in
lives, and was forced to retreat to Futa Toro.11

Amadi Aissata lost little time in reorganizing his army, an important
contingent of which came from Kaarta. He soon established control over all
of Bundu. It was at this time that he also began pushing into Gajaaga. The
combined forces of Bundu, Kaarta, and Khasso proved too powerful for
Gajaaga, and by the beginning of 1802, Bundu controlled the Senegal River,
from the convergence with the Faleme to slightly south of Bakel. These
events were being monitored by the French, who were concerned about their
effect upon trade. Bundu's ascendency was reassuring: 'The Eliman of
Bundu has forced the ruler of Galam to divide his kingdom into two
sections, of which he [Eliman] has kept one. This ruler [Eliman], being also a
friend of the French, is one we are able to rely upon."12 That Bundu had
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freed itself of Futanke control is confirmed by a report filed later in 1802,
stating that the Almaami of Futa Toro was unable to safeguard passage
beyond his own borders, since the frontier was occupied by "a formidable
army, composed in part of Bambara (soldiers), along with the allied troops
of Kasson and Bundu."13

In the meantime, Abdul Qadir's support in Futa Toro was eroding. By the
turn of the century he was around eighty years old. As a result of his failures,
advanced age, and strict adherence to sharia in meting out punishments, the
central provinces began to rebel. Abdul Qadir was eventually driven out of
the capital at Thiologne in Bosseya province.14

The decision to oust Abdul Qadir had a partial basis in fiqh. According to
the statutes governing the almaamate, the office was invalidated through loss
of mental or physical fitness, or loss of liberty.15 Abdul Qadir, having been
enslaved for three months by the Darnel of Cayor following a 1796 military
defeat, and now in rapid physical decline, forfeited the position on both
counts. Consequently, Shaykh Mukhtar Kudaije delivered a fatwa (legal
opinion) that Abdul Qadir was unfit for the almaamate. The ruling was
accepted throughout Futa Toro.16

Abdul Qadir, abandoned by all except his faithful entourage, eventually
sought refuge in the village of Gooriel in Futa Toro.17 By that time, elements
identified specifically with Bosseya province had been soliciting Kaarta for
aid in terminating their problem with Abdul Qadir.18 Their supplications
were honored in 1806-7, when the combined forces of Bundu, Kaarta, and
Khasso invaded Futa Toro. Abdul Qadir's small force was decimated. It is
generally reported that when the old reformer saw his followers being
crushed, he dismounted, sat under a tree, and began to pray. Amadi Aissata
personally saluted his enemy, and demanded that he give an account for the
death of Sega Gai. Receiving no response, he shot the kneeling man "in cold
blood."19 His death signaled the defeat of the forces of militancy within
Bundu and the termination of their viability.

Troubles with Kaarta

The end of one problem facing Bundu saw the beginning of another. The
ruler of Kaarta, Musa Kurabo (c. 1799-1808), fully expected that the defeat
of Abdul Qadir would translate into greater influence in the Upper Senegal
for Kaarta; further, he now viewed Bundu as a client state.20 At the same
time, Bundu envisioned a reduction in the Kaartan presence with the demise
of the Futanke Almaami. These conflicting expectations soon issued into a
military confrontation.

The Bundunke leaders, in conjunction with the Futanke nobility, met to
discuss the Kaartan threat as well as the future of the alliance between Futa
Toro, Bundu, Gajaaga and Kaarta.21 "The people of Foota, fearing that
Amadi Isata's connexion with so powerful a pagan chief as Modiba would
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militate against the advance of the Mahomedan faith in Bondoo, and might
ultimately lead the Kartans into their country, called a general assembly, and
required the attendance of Amadi Isata and Samba Congole."22 Samba
Kongole was the Tunka of Gajaaga, with his residence at Makhana. He had
previously concluded an alliance with Kaarta, under which Gajaaga
assumed tributary status. Whereas Bundu and Futa Toro agreed to break off
the alliance with Kaarta, Gajaaga did not. The latter, continually subject to
raiding by Bundu, needed a strong ally to maintain itself in the fiercely
contested upper valley. The Kaartans, informed of the Torodbe decision,
vowed to return as adversaries. This whole process of expunging the
Bambara forces apparently took a few years, since Isaaco found the joint
armies of Bundu and Kaarta ravaging Wuli in 1810.23

Moriba, or Bodian Mori Ba, became ruler of Kaarta in 1815.24 He
immediately demanded tribute of Amadi Aissata. The Almaamfs response
was to decapitate all of the Kaartan's emissaries except one, sending him
back with firearm ammunition, a declaration of war.25 In the beginning of
1817, Amadi Aissata began a march on Yelimane, capital of Kaarta.26

Moriba, for his part, simultaneously headed for Boulebane. While the army
of Khasso prevented Amadi Aissata from reaching Yelimane, Boulebane
was left exposed to the incoming Kaartans.27 After several attempts to take
the town, it was decided to construct a camp nearby and induce starvation
upon the town's residents. The siege of Boulebane was of several months
duration, and was nearly successful.28 However, Moriba made the critical
mistake of allowing a breakdown in discipline; his men were given per-
mission to attack neighboring villages and collect booty. It was at this point
that Amadi Aissata, reinforced with Bambuk recruits, relieved the siege of
Boulebane.29 The Bambara forces were completely disorganized, and
retreated with Moriba to Yelimane.30

The Bundunke victory was short-lived. In April of 1818, the combined
armies of Kaarta, Guidimakha, and Khasso returned to Bundu. Led by
Samba Gangioli of Guidimakha, they were opposed by the troops of Bundu,
Futa Toro, and Gajaaga. Futa Toro and Bundu had remained allies since the
defeat of Abdul Qadir, while Gajaaga, having momentarily sided with
Kaarta, returned to the Futa Toro-Bundu alliance in the aftermath of
Bundu's victory over Kaarta. This frequent shifting of military partnerships
would remain a feature of Upper Senegal politics, as such pacts were made
or broken on the basis of expediency as opposed to religion, ethnicity, or any
other consideration. In the course of events, the Bundu alliance was soundly
defeated, and Amadi Aissata was forced to seek asylum in Futa Toro. Amadi
Aissata's allies pressured him to accept the idea of a negotiated settlement;
delegates were sent to Samba Gangioli later in the year, who in turn agreed
to the peace.31
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Aftermath of the Kaartan conflict

A year before the 1818 conflict with the Kaartan alliance, Amadi Aissata was
described by visitors as the most powerful monarch in the region.32 This
rinding came on the heels of the Almaamfs victories over Abdul Qadir and
Moriba. But just a year later, the Kaartan forces had Bundu reeling. Mollien
visited Bundu during this period and, in contrast to Mungo Park's 1795
account, described it as generally poor and unproductive.33 Bundunke
clothes and other manufactured goods were inferior in quality to those of
Futa Toro. "All of the Poulas of Bondou dwell in the woods, attending to
the culture of small millet and cotton. They have some cows and fowls, but
no horses. Their villages are of a wretched description."34 Mollien failed to
appreciate the fact that Bundu had been at war for some time. He did
mention, however, that the lands bordering the Faleme were "uncommonly
fertile," where large plots of tobacco were grown.

In addition to the French missions, the Englishmen Gray and Dochard
also ventured to Bundu just prior to Amadi Aissata's death in 1819. They
described Boulebane as being situated in a vast plain surrounded by a range
of hills.35 The ruler made his home there, but "it is by no means so large a
town as we expected to see in the capital of so thickly inhabited a country.
The number of souls did not exceed fifteen or eighteen hundred; the greater
number are either the relatives, slaves, tradesmen, or followers of Almamy,
or those of the royal family."36 The town was surrounded by a clay wall ten
feet high and eighteen inches thick, in bad repair since the Bambara siege of
1817. The mosque was "by no means a good one," located in an open space
at the southwest end of the town. Boulebane was divided into streets, "or
more properly lanes," which were highly irregular. Outside of the town's
walls was "nothing but a continuous heap of filth."37 There was a regular
market place, where corn, rice, milk, butter, eggs, fowls, and game were sold.
While Boulebane was the principal site of exchange for all of the surround-
ing villages up to eight miles away, the Englishmen also observed a large
number of merchants from Segu.

On the whole. Gray's description of Boulebane was similar to Rubault's
concerning Koussan. As was the case in Koussan, the Boulebane royal
complex was divided into several courts, housing relatives, wives and concu-
bines, arms, and goods. The exterior walls were thirteen feet high, drawing
attention to the location. Elsewhere in Bundu, the valleys where the villages
were found were mostly cleared for cultivation, although the proportion
under cultivation was small compared to the remaining land.38 The
Englishmen substantiate Rubault's claim that Qur'anic schools were estab-
lished in most of the villages, but they reveal their own ignorance in stating
that "numbers and their uses are unknown."39

As a consequence of the wars with Kaarta, it would appear that Bundu
experienced a brief period of decline. By the time of Gray and Dochard's
visit, the capital at Boulebane had not had sufficient time to recuperate.
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However, the bustle of the market place, combined with the presence of
merchants from the Upper Niger, is evidence of Bundu's vitality and endur-
ing importance in the Upper Senegal and Gambia Valleys, and that the
realm was on the mend.

From the time that Amadi Aissata assumed the almaamate, he was
engaged in incessant war. The severity of the struggle for Bundu's survival
was embodied in the very person of Amadi Aissata, before whom Gray and
Dochard had an audience just prior to his death, and from whom was
projected the image of the quintessential warrior. At the audience, the aged
Amadi Aissata was covered with amulets "to the ankles," a direct indication
of the seriousness of his military strategies, given that amulets were used as
protective agents by soldiers in battle.40 To underscore the gravity of the
regional competition, the Almaami requested arms; to be specific, 120 bottles
of gunpowder, twenty "common" guns, and other military goods.41 He
never received them; he died while Gray and Dochard were in Bundu. They
record the date as 8 January 1819.42

By the time of Amadi Aissata's passing, the two major conflicts facing
Bundu had been momentarily resolved: the reformers' aspirations had been
checked by the defeat and death of Abdul Qadir, and the dynastic struggle
had ended. Amadi Pate Gai's brothers had been allowed to return from Futa
Toro.43 Koussan even came to Boulebane's aid in 1817. But the fact that the
two branches maintained separate capitals meant that the potential for civil
strife remained.

Although a consensus of rulers' lists credits Amadi Aissata with a
seventeen-year reign, independent evidence establishes that his tenure
spanned twenty-one years.44 He was survived by three sons: Saada Amadi
Aissata and Umar Sane, who both went on to rule, and Bokar Sane, who
apparently accomplished little of note.45

Bakel

Three Sissibe contested the succession after Amadi Aissata's death: Tumane
Mudi, Amadi Gai's oldest son and representative of the Koussan branch;
Musa Yero, Amadi Aissata's nephew and a member of the Boulebane wing;
and Malik Samba Tumane, their cousin and the legitimate heir.46 Beyond
these three, a descendant of Tumane Bubu Malik, Amadi Kama, also sought
the almaamate; Amadi Gai had banned this part of the family from holding
office, so that Amadi Kama's candidacy was not even discussed.47 Despite
Malik Samba Tumane's claims, the Torodbe elected Musa Yero as the new
Almaami on 20 January 1819.48 Gray and Dochard, who had been allowed
to proceed to Bakel earlier in January, were soon joined in Bakel by the new
Almaami. Suspected of supplying Kaarta with goods, they were forced to
return to Boulebane.49 The Englishmen were detained from February to the
end of May, being summoned to numerous meetings with Musa Yero. The
Almaami offered to allow them to go to Segu through Bambuk, or to Saint
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Louis through Futa Toro, but they could not return to Bakel, from where
they could easily reach Kaarta.50 Besides the fear of an English-Bambara
alliance, the Bundunkobe were also wary of an English-French domination
of the upper valley.51 Bundu had no objections to trading with the strangers,
so long as the latter remained inferior in number and separated by sub-
stantial distance. Gray and Dochard wisely elected to go to Saint Louis, and
were escorted to Futa Toro to make sure they did not deviate.52

The most significant event during the rule of Musa Yero was the estab-
lishment of a French post at Bakel. The post would become the most
important market in the Upper Senegal, and would spark intense com-
petition among the various upper valley states to procure exclusive trading
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privileges. In September of 1818, the French sent its first expedition up the
Senegal River since reoccupying Saint Louis in 1817. A temporary post was
constructed at Bakel, following the approval of Bundu, whose consent and
goodwill were indispensable.53 While Bakel was not actually a part of
Bundu, neither was it under the control of Gajaaga, as was demonstrated in
the dispute between the N'Diaybe and Tiyaabu during the reign of Almaami
MusaGai (1786-90).

Nevertheless, Bundunke influence continued to extend to Bakel in 1817, a
fact recognized by the French in that they sought Bundunke approval for
their post. Amadi Aissata has agreed to the post for twenty pieces of
guinee.54 However, Musa Yero initially displayed misgivings about the new
fort; such reticience was probably related to the fact that the post would not
be firmly under Bundu's dominion, and would therefore spark increased
competition among the regional powers over access to it.55 He went to Bakel
in early 1819 to negotiate the conditions under which he would accept the
new fort, conditions which included substantial payments to Bundu in the
form of jizya (poll tax).56 However, the negotiations did not go well; the
French viewed his demands as exorbitant. Musa Yero's response was to
attempt a blockade of the settlement.57 The staff were able to survive,
however, by selling salt to the neighboring villages in exchange for food.

By 1820, Bakel had become a permanent French fort.58 Precisely because
of its success, the Tunka of Tiyaabu once again began to press his claims to
dominion. Having rebuffed Bundunke demands the previous year, the
French now determined that the threat from Tiyaabu was sufficient to
warrant new negotiations with Bundu. In preparation for such talks, Hesse,
Commandant of Bakel in 1820, led an expedition up the river from Bakel to
Felou Falls.59 He found that Bundu had sufficient centralization to direct its
commerce to Bakel, as well as to divert other traffic to the post. In a separate
report, a Lieutenant LeBlanc argued that good relations with Bundu were
essential because of its commercial influence, and that the Soninke of
Gajaaga lived in fear of Bundu.60 Therefore, Hesse prevailed upon Musa
Yero to sign a treaty on 12 November 1820. The provisions of the treaty
required the Almaami to protect France's commercial interests, while pledg-
ing to join the French against any and all enemies. In return, the Bundun-
kobe would receive annual payments from the French. It was a partnership
born of necessity.61

The 1820 Bundunke-French treaty was tested the following year, when
relations between Bakel and Tiyaabu began to unravel. The Tunka, "embol-
dened by his raids on the cattle of the post, became more and more
troublesome and unreasonable .. . His demands no longer had any limits; he
wanted Hesse to pay him customs for the wood chopped outside of Bakel,
for the vessels sitting in the river, for the site of the fort, ..., etc., etc."62 The
discussions continued from the beginning of 1821 until May of the same
year, when Tiyaabu attacked the French at Bakel. The initial siege was
beaten back with the help of the Almaami, who was at the same time fighting
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the Malinke of Bambuk.63 The successful defense of Bakel caused Musa
Yero to seek realization of a long-standing aspiration: the elimination of
Bacili rule in Gajaaga. In June, he wrote to the Tunka of Tiyaabu demanding
that he give up his designs on Bakel, lest Tiyaabu suffer assault by the
Bundunkobe on land and by the French on the river.64 Meanwhile, Saint
Louis wrote to Bakel in June that reinforcements would be arriving in about
two months, and would put the Tunka "in his place," if Musa Yero had not
done so already.65 Musa Yero, seeking to exploit the potential of his new
alliance, proposed to Hesse his plan of replacing the Bacili with people he
claimed would be loyal to the French, but who would certainly have owed a
greater debt to Bundu. Hesse deferred the matter to LeCoupe, Governor at
Saint Louis. It was at this point that the French made a conscious decision to
resist the creation of Bundunke hegemony in the upper valley. Wrote
LeCoupe:

As soon as M. Hesse wrote on July 12 and made me aware of this proposal, I
feared that he would fall into an evil far greater than the one from which he
sought to escape, and I wrote to him immediately that the project made known
by Bundu, to become master of all of the left bank, sufficiently indicated to us
that we would not be politically astute in destroying Tuabo and its Bakiri
(Princes); that the interests of Bundu and these Sarracolet chiefs appear to me
to be in so great an opposition, that without question it was to our advantage
to keep them in their present position, in order to be able, if the need arises, to
be aided by the one against the aggressions of the other.66

The French rejection of Bundu's proposal caused great consternation at
Boulebane. Musa Yero responded by raiding the villages neighboring Bakel,
as well as intercepting the trade to and from the post. "Only the cannon of
the fort, and the fear of fighting against us, prevented him from assaulting
Bakel."67 In short, the Bundunke Almaami had decided to force Bakel out of
its neutrality.

By August, Musa Yero's strategy had worked, and Bakel could no longer
maintain its position. Hesse was instructed to tell Musa Yero that the French
wanted to punish Tiyaabu, and needed his aid.68 Musa Yero responded with
a brilliant move, sending a large contingent to Bakel in order to jointly
attack Tiyaabu.69 Hesse had no choice but to join the Bundunkobe. This was
probably Bundu's greatest opportunity to conclusively defeat Gajaaga, and
to seize the lion's share of control over the Upper Senegal's commerce.
Instead, the expedition met with utter disaster; the Almaami's troops were
thoroughly routed. One can only speculate that this otherwise inexplicable
turn of events was the result of half-hearted (or even duplicitous) French aid,
and was in keeping with the decision of LeCoupe to prevent Bundu's
expansion. In support of this possibility, it is instructive to note that a peace
treaty was signed on 21 September 1821, between Bakel and Tiyaabu,
without Musa Yero's knowledge. Bundu had been defeated, but Tiyaabu
had, in light of the conflict with Bundu, changed its belligerent stance
towards the French post. The French, in the end, achieved precisely what
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they wanted: Tiyaabu's cooperation, combined with the containment of
Bundu. Bundu, in turn, decided against engaging in reprisal.

As demonstrated by LeCoupe's correspondence and French policy in the
region, the thinking in Saint Louis was that Bundu should be prevented from
becoming too powerful. This approach to Bundu was again apparent when
in January of 1822, Bundu suffered "a great assault" by the Bambara of
Kaarta.70 The French viewed the Bambara incursions into Bundu, as well as
Gajaaga, as advantageous to Bakel: according to this logic, Bundu's pre-
occupation with the east allowed the French to solidify their position.71 The
French concern over Bundu's potential is understandable, but it was also
risky in that a weakened Bundu could spell the disruption of trade to Bakel.

Although relations between Bakel and Bundu were strained, commercial
transactions continued. In 1824, one Beaufort was given permission by Musa
Yero to station a merchant at Sansanding, on the Faleme.72 Sansanding was
a bustling town, split in two by the river. It was especially noted for the gold
that passed through it on its way to the Gambia.73 In an effort to further
demonstrate Sansanding's value, Musa Yero sent to Bakel letters he had
received from the English. In 1825, a comptoir was reestablished at Sansand-
ing. However, the French lost interest in Sansanding due to the interminable
wars in the area, and their comptoir never became important.74

Notwithstanding his affairs with Gajaaga and Bakel, and in spite of his
forays into Wuli, Tenda and Bambuk, Ran£on depicts Musa Yero as a
"relatively peaceful" man.75 He is credited, however, with reducing the
frequency of border raids from neighboring lands. He died sometime toward
the end of 1826.76 That he reigned eight years is generally agreed upon by all
the sources.77 He was survived by three sons: Demba Musa, Saada Dude,
and Bala Setai. They all died fighting under al-hdjj Umar.

At Musa Yero's death, Amadi Aissata's son Saada sought to become
Almaami, but "his greed was his downfall."78 This is an apparent reference
to his inability to compromise on such matters as appointees to important
offices and distribution of revenues. Instead, Tumane Mudi, son of Amadi
Gai, became Almaami (1827-35). Although he represented the Koussan
branch, his support of Amadi Aissata won him the reciprocating approval of
Boulebane. However, Saada Amadi Aissata never fully accepted Tumane
Mudi, and was busy throughout the Almaami's tenure garnering support for
his next bid for power.79

In July of 1827, hostilities again erupted between Bundu and Gajaaga. The
treaty of 1821 between the French at Bakel and Tiyaabu was abrogated by
the latter, and Bundu intervened to support its old allies, the N'Diaybe.80

Although Bundu's activities against the Bacili were not very intense, they did
result in the recovery of some Bundunke prestige after the fiasco of 1821. In
recognition of Bundu's improved position, the French at Bakel decided to
send the Almaami additional gifts to complement the annual jizya payments
he received in keeping with the 1820 French-Bundunke treaty.81

During the reigns of Musa Yero and Tumane Mudi, Bundunke activity
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along the north-west frontier had been largely focused on the French post at
Bakel. The decision to place the post beyond the territorial authority of any
regional power was designed to insure the autonomy of the comptoir, but it
also exacerbated tensions between the various states in the upper valley.
Those tensions would only increase in subsequent decades, and invite
powers such as Kaarta and the Moors of southern Mauritania to also join
the competition, as would be the case in the 1830s, when these powers
repeatedly invaded Bundu and the upper valley.82 In addition to trade goods
in general, the Moors were searching for slaves, and would be repelled on
several occasions by Bundunke forces.83

The south

While the establishment of the French fort at Bakel and related develop-
ments commanded most of the attention of the almaamies through the reign
of Tumane Mudi (1827-35), there was some activity to the south. Earlier,
Amadi Aissata had engaged in minor conflicts with Tenda and its principal
village of Gamon. This was an effort to reestablish Bundu's control over the
southern trade routes, which had atrophied due to the struggles with Abdul
Qadir and Kaarta from 1799 to 1818.84 Amadi Aissata also paid some
attention to the perpetual conflict with Bambuk. But in addition to the
question of gold and commercial routes, Bundu was also concerned with the
problem of absconding slaves. Many of Bundu's slaves were Malinke, and
hence escaped when possible into Bambuk, where they formed maroon
communities.85 This matter could become a source of considerable aggra-
vation, as the standing army relied heavily upon the recruitment of slaves.
Slave labor was also crucial in the successful pursuit of agriculture, and in
any event was important to the productive sector of the economy. Hence,
Amadi Aissata's attention to the matter.

Musa Yero also led a few strikes into Tenda and Wuli for the purpose of
controlling the kola nut trade, and to possibly replenish servile labor,
depleted due to the increase in absconding. However, it was Tumane Mudi
who commanded a major expedition into Wuli, probably for the same
reasons. By 1829, he had been joined by Awa Demba of Khasso, and
together they pillaged the countryside.86 Although Awa Demba had to
return to Khasso to repress a serious rebellion, the Bundunkobe continued
their raids into Wuli as late as 1832.87 Tumane Mudi even ventured beyond
Wuli, crossing the Gambia River on several occasions.88 One of these raids
took place during the last year of his reign, when he crossed the Gambia into
Kaabu. He suffered a serious wound while retreating from a counterattack,
and never recovered.89

Tumane Mudi reigned for the most part from Koussan, a fact confirmed
by Tourette's visit to Bundu in 1829. However, he spent his last years in
Boulebane in order to strengthen support there for his intended successor
and brother, Malik Kumba. This was done to counteract the claims of Saada
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Amadi Aissata, the "home" representative of Boulebane's interest.90 At his
death, Tumane Mudi had at least twelve sons.91 Two sons, Abbas and
Ibrahim Tenendia, died without reigning. Samba Tumane died in the Civil
War of 1852-54, while al-Kusun was assassinated at Somsom-Tata. A fifth
son, Salif, was still living in Koussan when Rangon visited there. The seven
remaining sons, Umar Bili Kari, Abdul Salum, Eli Gitta, Hamet, Bubacar
Sidiq, Sega Tumane, and Suracoto all followed al-hdjj Umar in his eastern
jihad, where they remained. All of the sources agree that Tumane Mudi
reigned eight years.

Malik Kumba, brother of Tumane Mudi and supporter of the late Amadi
Aissata, was named the new Almaami (1835-37).92 His selection caused a
rebellion by unidentified malcontents within Bundu. The Almaami was
forced to "repress harmful activities of some of the Sissibe, who sought to
turn the people against him, .. ."93 The leader of the rebellion was in all
probability Saada Amadi Aissata, whose previous bid for the almaamate, in
conjunction with the absence of any other viable challenger, qualifies him as
the likely ringleader of the sedition.

Malik Kumba's tenure was uniquely uneventful. William Fox, traveling
through Bundu in 1838, reported that Malik Kumba had died in 1837.94

That he was no longer Almaami in 1838 is also supported by the Bakel
correspondence. Yet, the majority of the sources state that he reigned for
four years.95 The reasons for this slight but uniform discrepancy are not
clear. He was survived by five sons, all of whom fought and died under
al-hdjj Umar. They were: Samba Gaissiri, Musa Yero Malik, Bubacar
Malik, Boila Malik, and Alium Malik.

From the reign of Amadi Aissata to that of Malik Kumba, the almaamate
of Bundu was directed by men who were essentially concerned with the
preservation and commercial expansion of the state. The demise of militant
Islam in the person of Abdul Qadir, combined with his interference in the
Bundunke succession, worked together to undermine the reformist position.
At the same time, the imperialist designs of Kaarta, together with the
construction of the French fort at Bakel, further encouraged pragmatic
policies on the part of states throughout the upper valley, all of which were
concerned with both survival and greater access to the commerce of the
region. Bundu was no exception, and was left with little choice except to
develop in the same direction as its neighboring states. The ability to access
weapons and control trade routes was crucial in Bundu's effort to stay afloat
in the increasingly dangerous upper valley.
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The end of Malik Kumba's reign provides an appropriate juncture at which
the theme of government in Bundu can be addressed. The almaamate, having
experienced significant instability between 1698 and 1720, had managed to
survive and develop within a region characterized by expansionist, competi-
tive states. That Bundu thrived during the eighteenth and first half of the
nineteenth centuries can to a large extent be attributed to the increasing
efficacy of its statecraft.

From the dawn of the polity until the reign of Amadi Gai (1764-86), the
principles of pragmatism guided the Bundunke leadership in matters of
state. Expanding the boundaries to appropriate fertile lands; encompassing
important trade routes; and accessing sources of primary materials (e.g.,
gold from Bambuk, gum from the Upper Senegal, kola nut from the
Gambia) were the chief determinants in fashioning a regional policy vis-a-vis
neighboring states. Islam continued to expand within Bundu throughout the
eighteenth century in that the population of Muslims relative to non-
Muslims steadily increased. However, the option of militant or reform Islam
was viewed by the Bundunke rulers as an unnecessary extreme. Not until the
external influence of Abdul Qadir after 1776 did the Bundunke government
begin to experiment with reform Islam at the administrative level.1

The sovereign

By the end of the eighteenth century, the core area of Bundu had been largely
defined. Stretching from the vicinity of Gabou in the north to Didecoto in
the south, and from the Faleme River to Boulebane in the west, the Bun-
dunke rulers had succeeded in imposing a centralized government over
ethnically diverse communities. With the rise of Amadi Aissata in 1797, the
realm was informally divided into two spheres: Boulebane was the focus of
the northern sphere, while Koussan controlled the southern half of the state.
The Almaami ruled all of Bundu, from either Koussan or Boulebane.
However, his influence and share of tax revenues would diminish outside of
his "home" sphere. No precise boundaries between the two spheres existed
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before 1887, but with Malik Ture and the virtual takeover of the Bundunke
government by the French, the lines between north and south became more
definitive. In 1905, those lines were formally demarcated, as Bundu was
divided by the French into southern and northern Bundu out of recognition
of the de facto arrangement.2

During the second half of the nineteenth century, the peripheral areas
were added to the core, largely through the conquests of Bokar Saada
(1857-85). The status of the peripheral communities was subordinate to that
of the core, in that the periphery consisted of previously autonomous entities
forcibly recruited into the Bundunke orbit. By the 1880s provinces within the
two main spheres had been created: Leze-Bundu, Leze-Maio, Ferlo-
Baliniama, Ferlo M'Bal, and Ferlo-Nieri were within the jurisdiction of
Boulebane; while Koussan directly supervised activities in Nague-Hore
Bundu, Do-Maio, Tiali, Nieri, Diakha, and Ferlo Maodo provinces.3 Sissibe
family members governed the provinces, with the more important ones
issued to the most influential members.4 Supporting this three-tier system
(the Almaami, the two Sissibe branches at Koussan and Boulebane, and the
provincial governors) were the local villages.

The sources are unanimous in stating that the Bundunke Almaami held
absolute authority by the nineteenth century, a considerable development
from the days of Bubu Malik and Maka Jiba in the eighteenth.5 In contrast
to Futa Toro, the Bundunke ruler was not required to defer to the advisory
council of notables,6 a fact that has led some to the conclusion that Bun-
dunke absolutism resulted in that ruler being more powerful than his
Futanke counterpart.7 However, in extremely difficult decisions, in times of
national emergency, and as a matter of protocol, the Almaami was expected
to consult with the advisory council of notables.8 The council's key consti-
tuent members were representatives of the Sissibe, the N'Guenar, and the
Jakhanke clerisy.9

The Almaami was both the head of religion and the temporal ruler.10 As a
political sovereign, his responsibilities included the security of the state, the
safeguarding of the caravan routes, the conducting of foreign affairs, and the
collecting of taxes to finance these endeavors. When the Almaami was
conscientious about performing his duties, commerce flowed uninterrupted
by brigands. Merchants consistently preferred Bundu to Futa Toro or Futa
Jallon due to the safety provided along the caravan routes.

The succession process was not formalized until the death of Maka Jiba
(1764), at which time certain families were forever excluded from exercising
executive power. Quite simply, executive power was to pass through the line
of brothers, beginning with the eldest, until it returned to the eldest son of
the eldest brother.11 However, the rightful heir had to enjoy substantial
backing among the remaining Sissibe, otherwise he risked forfeiting his
birthright. This was a practical matter; rulers who through weakness encour-
aged rebellion and instability were necessarily rejected. Several legal
heirs were denied the executive office as a consequence of some perceived
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shortcoming: Malik Samba Tumane in 1819, Saada Amadi Aissata in 1827
(although he later succeeded), and Amadu Sy in 1837 (he also subsequently
took power).

Although the succession was usually straightforward, it had to be sanc-
tioned by an electoral council, which involved the gathering of advisory
council members and additional representatives of the leading families. It
was at the death of an Almaami that the electoral council exercised its
greatest influence; once the succession was ratified, the electoral council
disbanded, and had no legal method of reversing its decision. An example of
this was Saada Amadi Aissata. Rejected in 1827, he finally took power ten
years later, after which he made the extremely unpopular decision of allow-
ing the French to build a fort at Senoudebou. For all of their objections, the
Sissibe had no viable recourse, and had to abide by the Almaamfs determi-
nation.

At the death of an Almaami, each village was required to send a delegation
to assist in the funeral.12 Almost immediately, a potential conflict was set in
motion: while the brother next-in-line inherited the executive office, the
deceased's eldest son was given almost three-fourths of his possessions.13

Included in this were all of the deceased's amulets, his dwelling, and a large
number of his slaves (this is precisely what happened following Bokar
Saada's death in 1885: Umar Penda assumed the title, but Usuman Gassi
received the lion's share of the inheritance). Once the new Almaami was
agreed upon, the installation ceremony was held the next day. It was
accompanied by a large-scale celebration, which included dancing, shouting,
and firearm salutes.14
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The court usually consisted of the Almaamfs advisory council, the royal
griots, family members, and trusted slaves. Lamartiny remarked that the
head advisor was always from outside of the royal family.15 When Fox
traveled through Bundu in 1838, he noted that the Almaami was accom-
panied by about 250 advisors, warriors, and "priests."16 This was at a time
when the Almaami was preparing for war. Later in 1843, Raffenel observed
that Saada Amadi Aissata's entourage was much more modest.17 From Gray
and Dochard's perspective in 1819, the entire town of Boulebane was a royal
"court," since everyone in it was either the sovereign's slave, relative,
confidant, or tradesman.18 As for slaves within the administration, their
numbers and influence would dramatically increase under Bokar Saada.19

This was an entirely logical development, since the hostility he generated left
him with few free men in whom he could trust.

Assemblies were generally held in the great court of the Almaamfs home,
or in the village central meeting place.20 The sovereign was always seated on
sheepskin covered with amulets. The chief advisor stood to his right, and
acted as the intermediary between the power and the supplicant.21 Foreign-
ers were granted special audiences; otherwise, visitors were not allowed to be
present during the assemblies of the notables, or to enter the royal court.22 It
was Bokar Saada's habit to receive his advisors, Sissibe "princes," and
others from seven to ten in the morning, and from four to six in the
evening.23 When traveling, he usually rode on horseback, followed by other
mounted Sissibe; then came his griots on foot, followed by the royal slaves.

Beneath the province was the village, the basic component of Bundunke
society, over which were the leading lineages.24 From these lineages the
headman was chosen, who ruled local affairs and adjudicated cases in
conjunction with the imam of the village. The leading families were so
because their ancestors were purported to have been the first to make the
land productive, either through digging a well or clearing the bush.25 The
successive village heads were always from the same families. The Almaami
rarely intervened in the local succession process, except in situations where
there was no legitimate heir, in which case the Almaami chose a council of
leading men to govern until the residents themselves elected a headman. If
the heir was a minor, the Almaami would again select several notables to
govern until the heir came of age. The Almaami reserved the right to dismiss
any headman who displeased him.

Those villages along key caravan routes made money by both trading
commodities and selling food to the passing caravans.26 According to
Mungo Park, the village of Tillika had a representative of the Almaami who
resided there permanently, in addition to the local rulers.27 His function was
to keep track of all incoming caravans from Wuli and points south, and to
levy a tax in the name of the Almaami. It is probable, based upon this single
reference, that Bundu stationed similar agents in all border villages through
which there were caravan routes. This agent did not get involved with local
affairs. Neither does it appear that he collected taxes from the village.
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Critical to the health of the Bundunke state was the maintenance of safe
and accessible trade routes. Within Bundu, there was little problem with
brigands. It was outside the limits of Bundu that serious disruptions occur-
red from time to time. The question arises as to how the security of the routes
was effected. There is no evidence of Bundunke garrisons being stationed at
regular intervals along the roads; the only mention of any Bundunke official
operating outside of Bundu concerns Amadi Musa, who is described as a
"lieutenant" of Saada Amadi Aissata (1837-51), permanently stationed in
Kantora.28 (What his function was is unclear; he may have actually set up an
independent polity in Kantora, over which Bundu claimed suzerainty.) In
any event, the only method clearly utilized by Bundu to control the trade
routes was that of punitive raiding: once a caravan was attacked, the
offending village would be identified. The destruction of the village served as
an example to all would-be brigands.29

The military

In contrast to Futa Toro, Bundu maintained a standing army. This differ-
ence between the two states is largely explained by the fact that throughout
much of its history, Bundu was constantly expanding. The army was modest
at first, and probably began under Maka Jiba at some point in the mid-
eighteenth century.30 Also unlike the Futanke state, the absolutism of the
Bundunke Almaami provided for the consistent loyalty of such an army.31

This body would eventually become responsible for the security of the trade
routes, and garrisons were kept at the principal towns of Boulebane and
Koussan. The army would be called upon to quell minor border skirmishes,
and units were especially concentrated along the southern and eastern
frontiers, at tatas such as Fena. However, in times of national emergency
(war, large raiding expeditions, etc.), it would be necessary to conscript
civilians. In such times, the Almaami notified the villages of his increased
need for troops. The sources mention three ways through which the call to
arms was transmitted: through slaves, who went from village to village; via
the Sissibe nobility, who would also crisscross the country; and through the
use of drums.32 The villages would be given as many as four days to send
men to the pre-arranged meeting place; any village that refused to participate
would be pillaged by the Almaami s slaves.33

Each free family was reportedly required to send one man to serve in the
military during periods of crisis, but the magnitude of the challenge may
have demanded even greater enlistments; this certainly seems to have been
the case under Amadi Aissata, who assembled an uncountable number for
the siege of Fena c. 1799. During stretches of relative peace, however, the
number of men comprising the standing army fluctuated from 400 to 1,000,
depending upon the ruler. This "peace time" force was composed primarily
of slaves, over whom was a command structure of free persons, at the top of
which was Sissibe leadership.34 In this way, the essentially servile standing
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army of Bundu resembled similar slave forces in seventeenth/eighteenth
century Morocco and Egypt from the twelfth through the sixteenth cen-
turies.

As was true of all Sudanic states which achieved significant empire, the
strength of Bundu's army was its cavalry.35 It was the responsibility of the
Almaami to supply mounts for all his courtiers, his relatives, and his royal
slaves.36 The various subdivisions and units of the army were placed under
the command of the Almaamfs sons and brothers.37 The commanding
officers were distinguished by their blue colors, and by an ostrich plume
extending from their turbans.38 Whoever functioned as the general wore
three such plumes.

Although the Bundunke armies were capable of battlefield maneuvers,
how much time they devoted to drilling is unclear. When Rubault was in
Bundu, he had an opportunity to review the troops heading for an encoun-
ter with Bambuk. The Almaami gave several commands, to which the
troops did not satisfactorily respond (of course, their failure on this
occasion does not preclude their success at other times).39 The Bundunke
armies did exhibit a degree of discipline, however, and usually camped in
the open air (except for the Almaami and the leading officers, who had
tents).40 Durand, who wrote of Rubault's travels, observed that the army
marched without any provision trains or baggage, and that each man had
to carry his own arms and food.41

Once the battle was engaged, the Bundunkobe usually dispersed and
fought hand-to-hand.42 Faidherbe noted that the "Toucouleurs" fought
similarly to the Moors and usually on foot.43 Music, specifically the drum,
was an important ingredient in signaling advance or retreat, and in inspir-
ing the men.44 Concerning weapons, Rubault in 1786 mentions that the
infantry carried firearms, daggers, swords, and either bows and poisoned
arrows, or assegais.45 Each person had to supply his own armament,
however. Mollien, some thirty-two years later, commented that firearms
were rare, and that most used bows and arrows.46 Fox noted the same
weapons, but failed to comment on proportions.47 Overall evidence,
however, suggests that firearms had become an important component of
the Bundunke arsenal during the last quarter of the eighteenth century. By
the nineteenth century, most of the army bore firearms of poor quality,
and poisoned arrows were almost completely in disuse.48 In the second half
of the nineteenth century much, if not most, of the Bundunke arms were of
British manufacture.49

The numbers involved in any one expedition fluctuated widely
throughout Bundu's history, from the few adherents of Bokar Saada after
he initially defected, to the uncountable numbers under Amadi Aissata.
Given a maximum population for Bundu of 30,000, the army at no time
represented more than one-tenth of the general populace. Of that number,
the cavalry comprised anywhere from one-tenth to one-fourth of the
army.50
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The legal treasury

While it is clear that Bundu collected taxes of various kinds from its
inception, the precise forms of taxation and the methods of collection are
very unclear. There are no extant written records, or evidence that such ever
existed. In the absence of the necessary data, one cannot argue with any
degree of assurance that Bundu complied with Islamic law in raising
revenue; or, conversely, that it failed to do so. It is logical, however, to
anticipate that certain categories of taxation would be levied in an Islamic
state.51 What follows is an attempt to discern from the sources those forms of
taxes which were collected in Bundu, and the ways in which they may have
been assessed.

There are several types of revenue which are discussed to some extent in
the Bundunke sources. These types can be divided into two classes: "relig-
ious revenue," collected from Muslims, and "secular revenue," provided by
non-Muslims.52 Regarding the first category, all Muslims are required to pay
zakdt, or obligatory alms. This is fundamental to the religion; zakdt is one of
the "five pillars" of the faith. Curiously, although Willis consistently men-
tions zakdt as a source of revenue in Bundu, none of the literary sources
actually refer to it.53 However, since zakdt is a fard (obligation), it is
unthinkable that the Bundunkobe did not pay zakdt.54 That the Bundun-
kobe did so can be demonstrated more convincingly by considering the
literary evidence in light of the principles of Islamic law.

Zakdt can be divided into three separate kinds of taxes: levies on flocks
and herds, on specie and commercial goods, and on harvests.55 The literary
sources are redundant in stating that the Bundunke government collected
the "tenth" of the harvest, or 'ushr.56 According to Maliki law, 'ushr is in fact
a constituent part of zakdt and equated with it.57 Clearly then, Bundunkobe
paid zakdt. Interestingly, there are no references to taxation on Fulbe herds.
There are references, however, concerning the taxing of merchants. Gray
and Dochard report that the Almaami received a tenth of all salt arriving
from the Atlantic coast.58 This salt was transported by Bundunke mer-
chants, not foreigners. Since they were Muslims, the duties they paid would
have to be considered as zakdt.

Concerning the collection of zakdt from the various settlements, the
sources suggest that the village heads carried their contributions to the town
where the Almaami resided.59 This was performed every harvest. Difficulties
would arise when Sissibe heads of principal towns and villages began
collecting revenue for themselves, in contravention of Islamic law. After
Bokar Saada's death, Bundu was more or less partitioned into numerous
zones of influence, akin to fiefs, where the individual "princes," based in
their home towns, extended their authority into the nearby villages. As a
consequence, zakdt payments were still collected, but only occasionally
reached the Almaami.

Although the Almaami was to receive zakdt revenues, theoretically he was
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not free to distribute them as he wished. The beneficiaries were clearly
specified in the law as follows: the poor (the determination of which was left
to the Almaami), the indigent (more needy than the poor, in the Maliki view),
those appointed by the Almaami to collect zakdt, slaves seeking manumiss-
ion, debtors, those unable to perform jihad, transients, and the muallafah
qulubuhum (a complicated category primarily composed of potential con-
verts and those of weak faith).60 In view of the foregoing, and assuming that
the Almaami did not misappropriate zakdt revenues, he would necessarily
need additional sources of income to finance his wars and other pursuits. He
could legally meet these needs through "secular revenue," which in turn
consisted of three main types: tribute, booty, and the poll tax.

Tribute (fay) and booty (ganimah) were absolutely essential to the strate-
gies of the Bundunke state (or any other expansionist polity, be it Muslim or
non-Muslim). Tribute was regularly imposed upon the vanquished by the
Almaami, and was a source of income that gave him much more discretion-
ary flexibility than did the zakdt revenues.61 However, it would appear that
booty was a much more important category of revenue, judging from the
frequency and scale of Bundu's raiding activities. A fifth of the booty was to
be administered by the Almaami, while the remaining four-fifths belonged to
his army. Although there are guidelines for how the fifth is to be distributed,
the evidence indicates that the Almaami benefitted personally, especially in
the augmentation of his slaves.62 Raffenel goes so far as to say that the
Almaami took one-half of the booty.63 During the periods of reform activity,
the Almaami's violation of the law in this regard would have constituted
grounds for opposition to his authority.

The last consideration under secular revenue is that of the poll tax, or
jizya, and in this category the nature of the tax required collection agents, or
'dshirs.64 Based upon information regarding the town of Tillika, there is
evidence that the equivalent of this office existed at certain points in Bun-
dunke history, and in certain localities. Included in this category were the
payments made by the French for the right to trade and maintain their posts.
According to Maliki law, dhimmi or "protected" traders were required to
pay a duty of ten percent of their goods.65 Gray and Dochard confirm that
merchants were forced to yield ten percent of their merchandise.66 This
usually was carried out by the merchant giving seven bottles of gunpowder
and a musket, or their equivalent, for every donkey load of European
merchandise.67 Some twenty-three years earlier, Mungo Park characterized
the Bundunke levies as "very heavy," noting that for each donkey load, a
merchant paid one Indian baft (blue cloth of East Indian manufacture), or a
musket, and six bottles of gunpowder.68 "By means of these duties, the king
of Bondou is well supplied with arms and ammunition; a circumstance which
makes him formidable."69

In sum, the Bundunke almaamate collected both religious and secular
revenues. In the absence of written records, however, it is entirely possible
that their collection was arbitrary and subject to illegalities.
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Justice in Bundu

As was the case with the legal treasury, only a modicum of documentation
gives insight into the Bundunke judicial system. What can be said is most
applicable to the nineteenth century, as was also true of the data on the
treasury. With these constraints in mind, there existed within the Bundunke
system of justice a three-tier hierarchy of authority. In the first instance,
cases were heard at the local level, over which the village head presided in
conjunction with the village imam.70 In this scheme, the imam is the func-
tional equivalent of a qddi. Ran£on in fact states that the qddis formed the
basis of the lower courts; but the term qddi rarely appears in any of the data,
written or oral.71 The official in question then was most likely the imam of
the local mosque. If a person was found guilty of an offense at the village
level, that individual could appeal his case to the intermediate judge, the
tamsir. The tamsir was usually a Jakhanke cleric and a member of the
Almaamfs entourage, serving as one of his closest advisors.72 He handled all
appeals that did not carry a death sentence. There may have been several
tamsirs at the same time, headed by a chief tamsir.73

The final court of appeal was that of the Almaami himself. He handled
only the most serious cases.74 A kind of police force was maintained that
answered solely to the Almaami; perhaps this force regulated the court
procedures in addition to maintaining order within the royal towns.75 When
the Almaami was trying a case, it was a grand event open to the public. All of
his courtiers would be present; the case would be stated, the appropriate
legal texts read by the clerics, and the decision reached.76

Bundu, as was true of Futa Toro and Futa Jallon, was known for its
severity in meting out punishments. Theft was punishable by amputation of
the right hand; a repeat offender suffered death through starvation.77

Murderers were either shot, strangled, or beheaded.78 The violation of a
virgin saw the confiscation of all the offender's possessions if he were a free
man; a slave would be instantly killed.79 Likewise, the punishment for
adultery was either death of the loss of one's goods. Illegitimate children
were social outcasts, and literally driven out of their villages when they
reached a mature age.80 In those matters less serious, offenders would often
receive a thorough flogging; Bundu was notorious for its severe public
chastisements.81 It was possible to avoid a flogging by payment of some sort;
according to Carrere and Holle, a cow was worth ten lashes. Whether one
escaped humiliation through payment, or suffered the loss of possessions
after being found guilty, all material advantage went to the Almaami, to do
with it what he pleased.82 Clearly, many of these punishments went beyond
the stipulations of Islamic law.

Under the Bundunke system of government, the state was able to field
impressive armies, defend its borders, maintain order among ethnically
diverse communities, protect the trade routes, participate in skilled diplo-
macy with representatives of both African and European powers, dispense
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justice, and collect revenues. Bundu's leaders also displayed some capacity
to change and adapt to novel circumstances. But the essential character of
the state remained pragmatic. This moderate tradition was severely tested in
the last quarter of the eighteenth century by developments in Futa Toro and
the emergence of a second paradigm of militant Islam under the clerical
leadership of Abdul Qadir (the first having been Futa Jallon). After a fifty
year interim, during which Bundu engaged in a fierce struggle for control of
the Upper Senegal, the tradition would be challenged again; this time, in the
person of al-hdjj Umar.
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The first half of the nineteenth century witnessed a slow increase in the
number of French comptoirs in the Senegal Valley. Besides Bakel, the French
constructed fortified posts at Dagana (1821), Merinaghen (1822), Lampbar
(1843), Senoudebou (1845), and Podor (1854).1 In 1850, these forts and posts
were given the name Senegal et Dependances. Between 1854 and 1855, eight
more were built, from Richard Toll to Medine. Such growth, while modest,
provided some support for a much more dramatic French expansion in the
second half of the century, or what has been described as the French "shift
from 'water' to 'land', from a coastal enclave with riverine interests to
control of the territory of today's Senegal."2

Echoing the French, the British were also increasing their commercial
activities along the Upper Gambia, with their principal settlement at
McCarthy Island. In the 1820s, the British signed a series of treaties with the
kingdom of Wuli for the purpose of facilitating such trade. Bundu, already
in contact with British merchants along the Gambia, became even more
involved with the latter in the exchange of various commodities, thereby
diversifying its trade options.

The response to this gradual increase in the European presence was a rise
in hostilities between the various states in the Upper Senegal. The struggle
was over control of the region's commerce, considerably enhanced with the
growth of French and British entrepots, and made much more deadly by a
rise in the availability of European firearms. As the upper valley states
intensified their competition, their dependency upon such weaponry conco-
mitantly deepened, which in turn further fueled the hostilities.

Bundu played a major role in the struggle for the Upper Senegal. The
government pursued a multifaceted policy which sought to encourage
increased trade with the Europeans, while limiting the influence of the
Kaartans. The problem with this approach was that, given the proximity of
the French, their trading activities also resulted in the augmentation of their
influence in upper valley politics. Consequently, Bundu walked a thin line,
attempting to curb French political intervention, while continuing to culti-
vate trade relations. This was especially evident in Gajaaga, where a civil war
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saw the Bundunkobe adopt a simultaneous anti-Kaartan, anti-French
position.

For the period under investigation, exogenous sources provide much more
data than do the endogenous and intermediate genres. The number of
reports emanating from the trading posts allows for substantial corrobor-
ation on events in the upper valley. On the other hand, the sources (from all
three genres) are deficient in explaining or interpreting the significance of
such events. Once again, it is necessary to deduce from the sources the
perspective and strategy of the court, and by the same process speculate on
those social conditions which were most likely in existence.

The election of Saada Amadi Aissata

After ten years of rule by individuals who ostensibly belonged to the
Koussan branch, but who in fact had been key supporters of Amadi Aissata,
the Sissibe formally returned executive power to Boulebane. Amadu Sy of
Koussan, son of Amadi Gai and the legal successor to Almaami Malik
Kumba, was unable to muster the necessary support to succeed; instead,
significant Torodbe backing, together with the overwhelming support of
courtiers and royal slaves who had risen to prominence, combined to elect
Saada Amadi Aissata (1837-51) as Almaami? The election of the Boulebane
candidate produced a considerable ripple in the pond of relations between
the two branches, which up to this time had managed to overcome the more
pernicious effects of the 1797-1807 Civil War. The following enjoyed by
Saada Amadi Aissata in 1837 was in fact the fruit of long and deliberate
cultivation, dating back to his bid for power after the death of Musa Yero in
1826. From that time to his eventual election, Saada Amadi made little effort
to conceal his ambition, as was the case when he publicly opposed the reign
of Tumane Mudi.4 His disregard for the legal succession was again demon-
strated when he fought against Malik Kumba's candidacy in 1835. Con-
sequently, his elevation to power in 1837 caused great consternation to the
Sissibe of Koussan, who "lowered their heads, without voicing their dis-
content."5

Under Saada Amadi Aissata, Bundu's economy and morale initially
suffered as a result of incessant warfare. The second half of the reign,
however, was characterized by economic recovery, which was directly stimu-
lated by a substantial influx of ethnically diverse immigrants, encouraged by
the Bundunke government to resettle in order to increase cultivation.

Saada Amadi Aissata's ascendance continued the domination of govern-
ment by the Boulebane branch. It is of interest that sources for his tenure
make reference to the rising influence of royal slaves. This development is
probably the end-product of at least two factors: an increase in the number
of domestic slaves, and growing tension within the Sissibe clan, necessitating
a greater reliance upon those who could be trusted, and who would be the
least likely to benefit from various intrigues.
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The court under Saada Amadi Aissata encouraged trade with the French
and British, while seeking to contain Kaartan expansion in the upper valley.
These two aims were directly related, as the Bundunkobe relied upon
European firearms, especially those of British manufacture, to achieve the
goal of containment. In pursuit of the latter, Bundu led the attempt to forge
a middle and upper valley alliance against Kaarta, an attempt that met with
some success. However, Kaarta maintained its influence over eastern Sene-
gambia.

The southern strategy employed by Bundu was also related to the upper
valley contest, as kola, slaves, and produce were acquired to trade with the
Moors in the north in exchange for horses. At the same time, the southern
raids helped Bundu to overcome its agricultural woes by accessing both
foodstuffs and slaves for cultivation.

While Bundu traded with the French, the polity was suspicious of French
intentions in the upper valley. When Saada Amadi Aissata signed the 1845
treaty with the French for the establishment of a French fort at Senoudebou,
this distrust was openly expressed most vociferously by the Koussan branch.
Saada Amadi Aissata had his own doubts about the treaty as well, but chose
in the end to approve the treaty for political as well as economic reasons. As
a result, Senoudebou became a serious source of contention between the two
branches.

Civil war in Gajaaga

Saada Amadi's distrust of the French was initially displayed early in his
reign, during the civil war in Gajaaga, where the transfer of the office of chief
Tunka from one town to another was not always problem-free. Since an
unspecified time early in its history, Gajaaga had been divided into the
provinces of Guey (Lower Gajaaga, with the provincial capital at Tiyaabu)
and Kamera (Upper Gajaaga, controlled by Makhana). In 1833 the Tunka of
Tiyaabu-Guey (and of all Gajaaga at that time) died, and was succeeded by
Samba Kumba Diama as Tunka of Tiyaabu-Guey only.6 The other center of
power, Makhana-Kamera, was ruled by the Tunka Samba Yacine. At the
death of the Tunka'of all Gajaaga in 1833, Samba Yacine began to receive
from the French both the customs due to him as ruler of Makhana-Kamera
and the customs paid to the overall sovereign of Gajaaga. The French action
in fact constituted meddling, as it was a deliberate decision to support the
claims of Samba Yacine of Makhana-Kamera against those of Samba
Kumba Diama of Tiyaabu-Guey. The repercussions of this policy were
serious; Gajaaga soon descended into civil war, resulting in the creation of
two politically distinct entities at its conclusion.7 Hostilities commenced in
1834, when Samba Yacine of Makhana-Kamera attacked Tiyaabu with
Bambara assistance, killing all of the Bacili there except for Samba Kumba
Diama, who was at Bakel at the time. Samba Kumba Diama was unable to
reconstruct the town, and consequently moved to Kounguel.8
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It was also during this time that the Frenchman Duranton, living in
Khasso, began to independently implement his own policies. It was his aim
to continue the feud between Samba Yacine and Samba Kumba Diama in
order to detract from the influence of Kaarta.9 Convinced that French
policies were ineffective, he took matters into his own hands and tried to
form an alliance between Bundu, Khasso, and Bambuk. This alliance, under
French authority, would then be able to resist the Kaartans.10 One of the
ways he pursued this was by trying to turn Saada Amadi Aissata against
Samba Yacine of Makhana-Kamera. Not much persuasion was necessary,
however, for the Almaami was already predisposed against Makhana-
Kamera, as the latter had received considerable French and Kaartan aid.
The Bundunkobe, having concluded that the French were opposed to their
hegemony in the upper valley, had assumed a cool posture towards them
since the construction of the fort at Bakel in 1818. Saada Amadi's decision to
fight Makhana-Kamera, following Duranton's 1837 visit, indicates Bundu's
distrust of French intentions, in addition to its hostility towards Kaarta.

Working against the personal diplomacy of Duranton was the Command-
ant at Bakel, who was instructed to promote good relations between Bundu
and Makhana-Kamera in view of the fact that Samba Yacine was a French
ally by way of a 28 August 1806 treaty.11 However, Saint Louis misunder-
stood Duranton's intentions; as early as 1833, the French suspected Duran-
ton of conspiring with Kaarta.12 By April of 1837, they were convinced that
he was persuading the Bundunkobe to direct commerce away from Bakel to
the Gambia.13 When Duranton visited Bakel in either June or July of 1837,
he was arrested on charges of furnishing Samba Kumba Diama of Guey with
arms and aiding the English on the Gambia. Sent "downriver" to Saint
Louis, he was later freed and allowed to return to Khasso, where he
remained.

Samba Yacine of Makhana-Kamera died in the latter part of 1841. At this
point, Guey and Kamera became distinct polities, a development at least
partially attributable to French involvement. Samba Kumba Diama was
officially recognized as the Tunka of independent Guey, while the control of
Kamera was disputed between Tambu, Samba Yacine's brother, and Barka,
the deceased's son. The French began paying half of the usual customs to
Samba Kumba of Guey, and the other half to Tambu, the eventual victor of
the contest in Kamera.14 Saint Louis' attempt to establish peace on its own
terms was shattered, however, by the 1842 assault of Bundu and Guey on
Kamera. Matters became further complicated in 1844, when Bundu attacked
Guidimakha. a vassal state to Kaarta.15

At this juncture the French found themselves in an interesting position:
while they wanted to see Bundu defeat Guidimakha and thereby weaken
Kaarta's power in the upper valley, they did not want to encourage any
movement by Bundu towards domination of the valley. As a consequence,
the Commandant at Bakel was instructed to use all his influence to prevent
Samba Kumba Diama of Guey from aiding Saada Amadi Aissata.16 Officials
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in Saint Louis wrote of their desire to see Bundu teach Guidimakha "a good
lesson," without such an accomplishment issuing into Bundunke hegemony
in the area.17 At the same time, however, the French opposed Kaartan
hegemony in the upper valley, and therefore did not interfere in Bundu's
organization of an anti-Kaartan alliance, which by early 1846 consisted of
itself, Futa Toro, and Bambuk.18

The first half of 1846 was one of intense fighting in the upper valley.
Despite Bundu's efforts at organizing an anti-Kaartan league, the alliance
proved to be less than effective. In March of 1846, the Kaartans defeated the
alliance in a major battle, and subsequently began sending forays into
Bundu.19 The conflict extended into January of 1847, at which point the
Bundunkobe, extremely weary of the prolonged engagement, finally came to
terms with Kaarta and Kamera.20 In fact, Bundu did a complete about-face
in 1849 and raided Guey, its former ally.21 However, the latter conflict was
not a serious one, and the French were able to mediate a peace in March of
1850.

Senoudebou

A major event during Saada Amadi Aissata's reign was the establishment in
1845 of a French fort at Senoudebou, an important village on the caravan
route between Farabana and Bakel.22 This event, in turn, must be seen in the
context of the civil war in Gajaaga and the struggle against Kaarta. The
affair in Gajaaga began in 1834, so that by 1845, Bundu was experiencing
some fatigue. Saada Amadi was also fearful that a competitor, in particular
Farabana, would succeed in persuading the French to build the fort within
its territory. Given its ailing, wartime economy, Bundu made the decision to
accept the French fort.

The decision to allow the construction of a French fort on Bundunke soil,
however, resulted in increased tensions between Boulebane and Koussan,
still simmering from the assumption of power by Saada Amadi Aissata. In
fact, the presence of the French, already acting as a divisive force throughout
the upper valley, would provoke further civil strife among the Sissibe of
Bundu.

In 1843, a French expedition under Huard-Bessiniere, and consisting of
Jamin, Raffenel, and Potin-Patterson, set out to both investigate the gold
mines of Bambuk and to seek a site for establishing another comptoirP They
arrived in Senoudebou on 30 December, and proceeded to negotiate with the
Almaami on ceding the surrounding land to the French.24 At this point,
Bundu faced a dilemma. The French had proven to be treacherous in the
past, and therefore unworthy of trust. At the same time, the Bundunkobe
found it unacceptable to bypass the opportunity for increased trade with
France at a location that was uncontestably on Bundunke soil (in contrast to
Bakel). Furthermore, the Bundunkobe were faced with the prospect that if
they did not agree to the establishment of a French comptoir in Bundu, such
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an arrangement would be made with an eager Farabana in Bambuk.25 In
view of these alternatives, Saada Amadi acquiesced, and an initial agreement
was reached under which the French could settle at Senoudebou.26

On 23 August 1845, a final treaty on the French post at Senoudebou was
reached.27 Representing the French were Parent, Menu Dessable, Paul Holle
and Potin-Patterson, and it was signed by the then-Governor Thomas.
Under its provisions, the land surrounding Senoudebou became French
property. The Almaami received payment for the land, plus annual customs.
The "alcaty" (from al-qddi) Sapato, apparently the leading official in the
advisory council to the Almaami, also received an annual payment, as did the
Almaamfs son Bokar Saada, who was in charge of Senoudebou. Beyond
promising to direct caravans to Bakel, Bundu also pledged to prevent any
caravans from crossing through to the Gambia. The treaty was drawn up in
both French and Arabic.

As would be expected, given the past behavior of the French, the treaty
did not meet with the unanimous approval of the Sissibe. In fact, the
Koussan branch was vigorously opposed to the treaty.28 " Tf you permit the
whites', they said to the Almamy, 'to establish themselves in our land, we will
soon no longer be masters of our wives and our slaves; we want to trade with
them, but we do not intend for them to be our masters'."29 The 1845
arrangement went far beyond that of 1820: instead of simply allowing
foreigners to establish a few traders in a village, Bundu was now ceding
Bundunke land to the non-Muslim French. The Sissibe justifiably feared an
eventual loss of sovereignty.

The second aspect to the objection was the promise to shut down all trade
to the Gambia. Koussan was oriented towards trading in the south, and was
hardly willing to give it up. At the same time, Koussan suspected the French
of trying to intervene in Bundu's internal affairs. Consequently, relations
between Koussan and Saint Louis were irreparably damaged. Wrote one
Frenchman: "Ever since this time, the people of Koussan have continued to
regard us with an evil eye ... "30

Saada Amadi Aissata overruled the dissenting Sissibe, and signed the
treaty. But even he was surprised to see that the French proceeded to install
cannon at the site, and protested this development, stating that he "'had
given permission for the establishment of a trading post, not an armed
fort'."31 It was not until August of 1847, when the then-Governor deGram-
mont visited Senoudebou with Paul Holle, that the Almaami was persuaded
to accept the cannon.32

The benefits of trading with the English were, however, too great to resist.
In 1844, the Governor of Gambia, Richard Graves MacDonnell, reached
Boulebane to discuss the security of the caravan routes to the Gambia.33

There he learned of the initial agreement with Saint Louis. The Bundunkobe
told the French that MacDonnell was sent back empty-handed.34 What
actually transpired was the opposite: "He persuaded the chief to disavow
that treaty and to make another, whereby he agreed to keep open the road
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between Bondou and the river Gambia."35 In other words, the Bundunkobe
engaged in a little duplicity of their own, and went on to sign the final treaty
in 1845 in full view of the agreement with MacDonnell. This is the reason
why the Koussan branch articulated their objection to the French treaty
based upon the land question, and had little to say about the trade to the
Gambia. Although the provision made them uncomfortable, there was an
understanding that it would not be enforced. And while there is no evidence
of any treaty having been signed between MacDonnell and Saada Amadi in
1844, the precise formulation of the Koussan protest is evidence that some
sort of agreement had been reached. Beyond this, the subsequent pattern of
trade also supports the notion that MacDonnell had been given certain
assurances. Notwithstanding such an agreement, the 1845 treaty with the
French had the effect of restoring distrust and suspicion between Boulebane
and Koussan.

At first, it appeared to the French that Boulebane was keeping its promise
to ban the southern trade.36 However, by July of 1846, it had become clear
that commerce between Bundu and the Gambia was very active.37 When
Raffenel visited Bundu for the second time in 1847, he found Saada Amadi
Aissata clad in the red jacket of an English officer.38 He went on to say that
the English continually sent delegates to the Almaami, and that these
solicitations could result in the disruption of the French-Bundunke alliance.
His solution was that the French should visit the Almaami more frequently,
with more gifts. In 1850, however, Bundu was still trading with the English.39

The south

By 1847, the incessant fighting on several fronts had succeeded in demoraliz-
ing the inhabitants of the Upper Senegal. Agricultural production had been
disrupted by the protracted warfare, and complicating matters was the onset
of the perennial "hungry season" or summer drought.40 In response, Saada
Amadi Aissata marched on the small-scale Malinke societies to the south to
acquire both booty and slaves for agricultural purposes. In particular, the
Almaami targeted Wuli, often the object of raiding by preceding almaamies.
Immediately following the peace with Kamera and Kaarta in 1847, the
Almaami led an expedition to the south.41 In this first expedition the
Bundunkobe, combined with forces from Khasso and Bambuk, clearly
crossed into Wuli and Niani, but their primary destination is unclear. There
is evidence that they penetrated Kantora, south of the Gambia, and once a
part of the larger Kaabu empire.42 But Rangon, whose account in this
instance is unsupported by other sources and therefore questionable, main-
tains that the primary objective was Salum, which had been pillaging
caravans returning to Bundu after having traded there.43 According to this
scenario, Bundu forced the submission of Salum, which pledged to cease
interfering with the caravans. Saada Amadi Aissata reportedly returned to
Boulebane with an immense amount of booty, including numerous slaves.44
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By June of 1848, the Almaami was again traveling south. After attacking
the people of Tenda, he headed for Wuli, his primary target.45 In fact,
because of Bundu's ability to raid Wuli with near impunity, the English
began to regard it as a province of Bundu as early as the 1820s.46 Although
the English were interested in Bundunke trade, they also realized that Wuli
acted as a buffer to the potentially disruptive forces of Bundu and Futa
Toro. And while Bundu greatly influenced Wuli, it left no administrative
apparatus there, nor is there evidence that it ever sought to do so. It would
appear, then, that rather than seeking to expand the boundaries of Bundu to
include Wuli, Bundu perceived the non-Muslim land primarily as a
"hunting" ground, an almost inexhaustible source of goods and slaves.

It should be noted that a general uprising of Muslims was taking place
against the states of Niani and Wuli during the 1840s; and that Bundu, Futa
Jallon, the alkali of Walia, and the head cleric in Niani combined forces to
overthrow the non-Muslim dynasties.47 By 1850, Kantora was paying tribute
to Bundu.48 In contrast to Wuli, however, Bundu maintained a military
presence in Kantora: "Almost all the chiefs of Kantora thus had in their pay
some men of Diawara (a province of Bundu) who, in case of war or the
expeditions of pillagers, obeyed Amadi Musa, lieutenant in this country of
the Almamy Sada, chief of Bundu."49 The involvement of a moderately
oriented Bundu in what would appear to be a movement of militant Islam
deserves comment. First of all, Bundu had regularly, almost since its incep-
tion, raided the south. There is no indication that Bundu was ever interested
in spreading Islam beyond its borders - these raids were purely economic in
purpose. That is, Bundu's southern strategy antedates that of Islam's growth
in the area. Secondly, the involvement of other Muslim entities, and the
justification of such expeditions as constituting jihad, was not inconsistent
with the self-image of the Bundunkobe as Muslims, albeit moderates.
Finally, given the rise of Muslim communities in the south and their sub-
sequent struggle with non-Muslims, Bundu really had little choice other than
to support the aspirations of the former.

Termination of the reign

During his 1847 visit, Raffenel went to Senoudebou, where he estimated the
population to be 500 people.50 In this sense Senoudebou was not much
different from the average town, which usually contained about 400 to 600
residents.51 In contrast, he estimated Boulebane's population to be as great
as 2,000.52 On his second trip in 1847, he expanded the maximum possible
number to 3,000.53 In addition to the entrenched Fulbe, Malinke, Wolof,
and Soninke groups long established in Bundu, Raffenel found that other
communities had settled there more recently: the Dianicunda from Tenda;
the Kulet from Salum; the Sandarabe from Niani, a Fulbe group; the
Toronke-Niani, a Mande-speaking people from Niani; the Anann from
Toronke; the Kamana, Fulbe from Futa Jallon; a shadowy group called the
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"Balbade"; and several more Sarakolle, or Soninke groups.54 The influx of
new groups into Bundu suggests that Saada Amadi Aissata's efforts at
returning stability and prosperity to Bundu were succeeding to some extent.
Since most of these groups were from the south, it is possible that they were
brought to Bundu for agricultural purposes; some of them may have been
enslaved.

By the end of Saada Amadi Aissata's reign, Bundu was experiencing
relatively peaceful relations with Kamera and Guey, and was increasingly
more powerful vis-a-vis its neighbors to the south.55 At his death, the
Almaami left six sons; Amadi Saada, who died at Gabou without ruling;
Bokar Saada, who went on to become Almaami; Cire Suma and Usuman
Saada, who both died without reigning; Koli Mudi, who followed the
Umarians to Maasina; and Umar Penda, who reigned and was killed by
Mamadu Lamine in 1886.56 The sources differ as to the length of Saada
Amadi Aissata's tenure.57

Saada Amadi Aissata died near the end of 1851. As the oldest of the
Sissibe, Amadu Sy of the Koussan branch became Almaami (1852-53).
According to the sources, he was always accompanied by a pet lizard that he
claimed as his brother, and with which he had frequent conversations.58 It is
very possible that he was either senile or quite mad. It is also possible that
such a description is meant to somehow symbolize the nature of the Sissibe
reign at this time. If the latter is intended, then perhaps the demented
behavior of Amadu Sy reflects the view that the Sissibe had made a tragic
mistake in agreeing to the French post at Senoudebou, thereby insuring
increased French pressures and interference. In this sense, the economic
imperative of the Bundunke state, so fundamental to its character, was
proving to be its undoing.

Amadu Sy was opposed by the Boulebane branch because of his inability,
and civil disorder prevailed during his rule.59 The leader of the Boulebane
branch, Amadi Saada, moved his residence to Gabou in protest.60 During
the early part of 1853, both the French and the Bundunkobe tried to
persuade Amadi Saada to return to Boulebane, but he refused.61 Amadu Sy
died in September of 1853 at ninety years of age, having participated in a few
conflicts with Kamera and Bambuk.62 Three of his sons, Amadi Amadu,
Tumane Amadu, and Musa Yero, died at Segu under al-hdjj Umar. A fourth
son, Sega Amadu, was living in Senoudebou while Rangon was there.63 Most
of the sources agree his was a short tenure.64

By the middle of the nineteenth century, Bundu was perched on a preci-
pice. Relative to the other states in the region, it was still strong, with none to
match it in military capability save Kaarta. The incessant wars and raiding
suffered by the Bundunkobe were being experienced by the surrounding
entities as well. That Bundu could send expeditions into Gajaaga, Guidi-
makha, and Kaarta, sustain invasions itself, and yet mount major campaigns
into Wuli, Niani, Kantora and possibly Salum is a testimony to its organi-
zational capacity and resilience. It is also evidence of a very serious struggle
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over control of trade in the area. The growing presence of the French and
British gradually introduced a new element into the equation, as the Euro-
peans emerged as much more than merchants; they were now political
players who were becoming increasingly involved in the internal affairs of
the upper valley states. The apparent attempt by the French to influence the
dynastic struggle in Bundu had the effect of renewing animosities between
the two Sissibe branches. The timing of the French initiative was most
ironic in that it coincided with the reemergence of militant Islam under
al-hdjj Umar. The conjunction of these two forces within Bundu would have
profound consequences for the future of the state.
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Al-hajj Umar in Bundu

The return of al-hajj Umar to Senegambia from the east, his involvement in
Bundunke political decisions, and his subsequent jihads, proved an impor-
tant turning point in the fortunes of the Bundunkobe. Their homeland
became a principal theater for the struggle between the French and the
followers of al-hajj Umar over control of the upper valley. With the advent
of the Shaykh, the forces of militancy fought both within Bundu and the
Upper Niger. By the end of the contest, however, these forces had moved
permanently to the Upper Niger, leaving behind a Bundu largely devastated
by war, and under the French-imposed leadership of Bokar Saada.

Materials for the Umarian period are relatively abundant, and are a blend
of exogenous, intermediate, and secondary varieties. The first two types are
heavily biased against Umar, as is to be expected. The major difficulty with
all of the sources, as has been true up to this point in Bundu's development,
is their inability to provide significant insight into Bundu's internal dyna-
mics. This deficiency can be addressed, however, by deductive reasoning
based upon the following: the assumption that the pre-existing rivalry
between the Sissibe branches would continue to have an impact upon
developments at the court; the probability that the Sissibe would be appre-
hensive about a loss of sovereignty to Umar; the idea that by considering
various military engagements in conjunction with prevailing geopolitical
circumstances, overall military strategies and objectives can be discerned
and given a coherent meaning; and the likelihood that pivotal events will
influence and to some extent explain unexpected changes in the behavior of
key individuals.

At the beginning of this period, the dynamic struggle within Bundu
witnessed a relatively weak Koussan against the leadership of Amadi Saada,
the Boulebane leader who had moved his residence to Gabou. However, he
too had suffered some diminution of influence as a result of his failure to
support the crazed Amadu Sy, a decision that angered many of the Sissibe.
The result was that neither branch had sufficient power to control the
almaamate.

The ensuing civil war saw significant emigratory activity from Bundu. The
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Umarian campaign would result in a further decline in the Fulbe population,
as many participated in the fergo or migration to the Upper Niger. This
would leave proportionately larger Soninke and Malinke communities, an
important development for the succeeding, post-war reign of Bokar Saada.
Of course, the removal of such large numbers of people would also adversely
impact both agriculture and commerce.

The Second Civil War and the coming of al-hajj Umar

Saada Amadi Aissata's illegal seizure of power had already driven a wedge
between Koussan and Boulebane. The 1845 treaty with the French con-
cerning Senoudebou exacerbated the tensions, as Koussan interpreted the
development as the beginning of direct French intervention in Bundunke
affairs. The bizarre career of Amadu Sy succeeded in creating greater
distance between the two Sissibe branches, resulting in Amadi Saada's
removal to Gabou to essentially function autonomously. That civil disorder
reportedly ensued indicates that the two branches were entering a state of
crisis. This is confirmed by the fact that both branches developed indepen-
dent leadership in the persons of Amadi Saada (Boulebane) and Sega
Tumane (Koussan), the late Almaami Tumane Mudi's son. That is, the
perception that the branches possessed conflicting agendas congealed to the
extent that leaders emerged based upon their abilities to represent the
interests of their respective constituencies, as opposed to their relationship to
the legal succession. At the same time, it was not unusual for members of the
Koussan branch to support Boulebane candidates for executive office, and
vice-versa. The decision, therefore, to back the candidates of the opposing
branch was informed by considerations other than foreign policy and fami-
lial ties; the matter of personal gain also weighed heavily. Even so, views on
external affairs and descent were sufficient criteria by which the branches
maintained their separation.

The death of Amadu Sy in September of 1853 resulted in a succession
crisis even more serious than that of 1797. Umar Sane, a Boulebane member,
was viewed by Koussan as the rightful heir to Amadu Sy, as he was son of
Amadi Aissata and the Almaami Saada Amadi Aissata's brother.1 Such
support indicates the weakness of Koussan, as it could not advance a
member of its own branch. However, Boulebane rejected his claims, even
though he himself belonged to that branch. Notwithstanding this rejection,
he was embraced by Koussan and proclaimed Almaami. He subsequently
returned to Boulebane, but was in fact a Koussan candidate.

Umar Sane's election was not well-received in the north. The Boulebane
leader out of Gabou, Amadi Saada, rejected the proclamation of Umar Sane
as fraudulent, as did his brother Bokar Saada of Senoudebou. Instead, he
presented his own candidate, Amadi Gai, the son of Usuman Kumba
Tunkara (who perished at Dara Lamine c. 1800).2 It was Amadi Saada's
contention that his father Saada Amadi Aissata had designated Amadi Gai
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as his successor on his deathbed; in point of fact, Amadi Gai was older than
Umar Sane.3 With Umar Sane residing in Boulebane, Amadi Gai was forced
to take up quarters in Gabou with Amadi Saada.

The proclamation of Amadi Gai was of course unacceptable to Koussan.
It was also fraught with danger, since it constituted a second, rival claim for
the post of Almaami. Under the Koussan leader Sega Tumane, the southern
Sissibe repeatedly sought to convince Amadi Saada of Umar Sane's rights,
but the latter proved intractable. Consequently, Bundu had two almaamies,
who each tried to function in a sovereign manner. The friction between the
Sissibe grew, and it was not long before a military solution was sought.4

Although there is little detail on the war, both Ran$on and Kamara
agreed that it devastated the countryside and resulted in substantial migra-
tions to Futa Jallon, Futa Toro, Wuli, and other surrounding states.5 While
Kamara contends that the Second Civil War lasted for three years, it actually
persisted for only one.6 There is some evidence of an unsuccessful attack on
Senoudebou by Koussan.7 The only battle consistently mentioned by the
various sources was at Fissa-Daro, where one Tumane Samba led the
Koussan army in an attack upon the Gabou forces under Amadi Saada.8

Amadi Saada, with reinforcements from Kaarta, was able to withstand the
assault. The war went on, however, with neither side gaining a significant
advantage over the other.

According to Roux and Ran£on, the Sissibe all agreed to negotiate a
settlement to the struggle.9 They go on to say that at a meeting in Diamwali,
in the middle of Bundu, both sides were on the verge of agreeing on a single
sovereign, when the process was interrupted by the arrival of Umar. Of
course, it would be in the interests of the French to portray the Shaykh as
preempting the peace process. Kamara's version is probably more accurate
in recording that Koussan requested al-hdjj Umar's mediation of the dispute,
which would be consistent with its earlier efforts at diplomacy. However, the
Shaykh's involvement in Bundunke affairs began the process by which
Bundu eventually lost its sovereignty.

Al-hdjj Umar Tal al-Futi was born c. 1796 in the village of Aloar (Halwar)
in Futa Toro.10 His father, Eliman Saidu, had participated in the Torodbe
revolt against the Denyanke dynasty, and was probably the leading Muslim
in the village. The seventh often children, Umar was precocious and greatly
influenced by the piety of his mother, Adama. His family, as was true of the
Torodbe in general, belonged to the Qadiriyya brotherhood (tariqa). It was
during Umar's youth that the Tijaniyya penetrated Senegambia. Around
1815, Umar began traveling, studying first in eastern Futa, then going on to
study in Futa Jallon from 1820 to 1825.x l At some point within the next three
years, he may have journeyed to Saint Louis and obtained financial assist-
ance.12 His subsequent travels brought him to Hamdullahi and Sokoto, then
north to Air, the Fezzan, and on to Cairo. He spent two-and-a-half years in
the Hijaz, where he studied Tijani sufism and was appointed lieutenant
(khalifa) of the order in the western Sudan.
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He returned to West Africa sometime in 1831, and spent six more years in
Sokoto.13 A visit to Bornu resulted in a temporary conflict with al-Kanemi,
but a reconciliation was later effected and a Bornuese woman was given to
Umar for a wife. After 1835, his acclaim was heightened to Sokoto as a result
of his participation in Muhammad Bello's fight against Gobir, Katsina, and
the Tuareg. In return, the Sokoto ruler gave his daughter Mariam in
marriage to al-hajj Umar, who also began actively recruiting for the
Tijaniyya brotherhood. In 1839, a return visit to Hamdullahi brought the
fierce opposition of al-Bekkai of Timbuktu to the growing Tijaniyya move-
ment.14 Finally, Umar returned to Futa Jallon in 1840, and developed his
community of followers at Jagunko between 1841 and 1845. After touring
Futa Toro, Bundu, Gajaaga and Khasso, he relocated his community at
Dingiray in 1849. In 1852, he launched his first jihad against Tamba. By
1853, he was formulating plans to assault Kaarta, and he began recruiting in
the upper and middle valleys.

It was Umar's intention to secure the upper valley before attacking
Kaarta.15 He therefore first marched from Dingiray to Farabana in Bambuk,
from which most of the residents had fled to Makhana. It was from his
temporary headquarters at Farabana that al-hajj Umar summoned the
feuding Sissibe. It is no surprise that he declared for the Koussan candidate,
Umar Sane, given Koussan's distrust of non-Muslims and Boulebane's
reliance upon the Kaartans during the Second Civil War. However, he
required that both contestants follow him in his eastern campaigns.16

Kamara reports that Shaykh Umar reprimanded both leaders for engaging
in the internecine war; but there is no evidence, as Oloruntimehin suggests,
that he "attacked" Bundu.17 While at Farabana, the Shaykh also met with
the leaders of Futa Toro, Guey, Khasso and Guidimakha, and assembled his
forces for the struggle with the Bambara. Umar Sane would die at the Battle
of Medine in 1857, while Amadi Gai perished at Yelimane in 1855.18

As it turned out, the Bundunke civil war proved fortuitous for Umar.
Both ruling branches looked to him to resolve their differences, as neither
had the means to do so. Not only was the Shaykh able to mediate the
conflict, but he was also in a position to demand the participation of the
Sissibe in his own agenda. Had Bundu been united under Boulebane's
control, it is conceivable that Umar would have met with a hostile response,
at least from the ruling elite. As matters stood, the Sissibe yielded to the
Shaykh's wishes.

Beyond the relative weakness of the Sissibe, Umar's success in the upper
valley is directly attributable to his considerable prestige. A renowned
teacher, holy man (waif), and worker of miracles, Umar was seen by many as
an answer to the repetitive wars and strife in the region. His popular
following, a factor much more significant than the response of the various
local leaders, was phenomenal. The Bundunkobe made up an important part
of the Umarian army, which by 1855 was divided into three sections: the
N'Guenar, the Yirlabe, and the Toro, after the three provinces of Futa. The
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Bundunkobe served in the Toro division, and were supportive of the
Umarian effort throughout its existence. By the end of 1854, the jihadists
had swelled to 10,000 men. The Umarian reform was in fact a grand social
movement.19

The response to the jihadist call

The Boulebane branch did not respond positively to the news of Umar
Sane's election. Amadi Saada returned to Gabou, where he died shortly
afterwards.20 He was succeeded by his brother Usuman Saada as the head of
the Boulebane party.21 The proposed assault on the "infidels" of Kaarta was
filled with risks for the Boulebane branch; beyond the possibility of Umar
failing, there was the potentially more dangerous threat of his succeeding.
The establishment of an Umarian empire would have two sure con-
sequences: the strict enforcement of sharfa, and the loss of autonomy by the
Bundunke ruling elite. In fact, Umar Sane had already experienced a dimu-
nition in power, becoming "un simple alfa (lieutenant du Cheikh)" while
retaining the prestigious title of Almaami.22

After settling the affairs of Bundu, the Shaykh turned his immediate
attention to the destruction of Kaartan influence in Kamera. In November
of 1854, the Shaykh utterly destroyed Makhana and Tamboucane, killing all
of Samba Yacine's sons and enslaving the women.23 This resulted in Kamera
becoming more "sympathique" toward the French.24 The survivors of
Makhana were eventually transferred to Arondou in 1857.25 In place of the
Bacili Tunkas, Umar elevated a number of clerics to temporal positions, over
whom was placed an almaami. Not all of Gajaaga submitted to the Shaykh,
and his departure for the east resulted in the French regaining their leverage.

Towards the end of 1854, Umar began making preparations for the jihad
against Kaarta itself. The attack was launched in January of 1855, with the
Umarians defeating a Kaartan army at Kholu.26 The next major event, in
February, was the Battle of Yelimane, a provincial capital of Kaarta and
almost completely Soninke.27 On the eve of the battle, the Shaykh reminded
the jihadists of the promise of Paradise. The Umarians were victorious, and
by April the main capital of Nioro had also fallen. The Shaykh established
his new headquarters at Nioro, and there began accumulating the goods he
had been previously sending to Dingiray. He immediately set into motion a
number of reforms, such as restricting the number of wives to four, the
shaving of the head, and the construction of mosques and Qur'anic schools.
Of course, the Tijaniyya brotherhood was promoted.28

At the same time that the jihad was proceeding in the east, the contest for
the upper valley was taking shape. Earlier in June of 1854, the French had
announced an arms embargo, mainly directed against the Moors and Futa
Toro, but affecting Umar as well.29 For Umar's part, it is not at all clear that
he desired hostile relations with Saint Louis. When he met the French in
1847, first at the Coq escale and then at Bakel, the Shaykh sued for peaceful
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relations.30 In the summer of 1854, he sent an envoy to Saint Louis reques-
ting a formal alliance, to which he received a noncommittal response. As far
as the French were concerned, the Shaykh was a primary threat to their
aspiration of controlling eastern Senegal.

The decision by the French to pursue a policy of upper valley domination
was the result of merchant lobbying in France. The increased French trading
presence in the upper valley by the mid-nineteenth century had touched off
an acute struggle among the area's powers, in which Bundu played a
principal role. But the consequence of the intensified warfare was a reduc-
tion in French trading revenues.31 French merchants began clamoring for
the appointment of a governor in Senegal who would restore order. Barrows
has examined this development, and in particular the relationship between
the Bordeaux trading and shipping firm of Maurel and Prom and French
colonial policy makers.32 It is his argument that colonial policy was directly
influenced by such firms, so that governors such as Faidherbe simply imple-
mented plans conceived by Bordeaux merchants: ''virtually none of these
ideas were his."33 "These ideas," beyond seeking to relieve the hostilities in
the region, called for the elimination of customs payments to Futa Toro, the
fortification of French positions along the Senegal River, and the abolition
of the privileged role of the mixed race traitants at Saint Louis.34 The effect
of such changes would be the conducting of trade on the terms of the
Bordeaux wholesalers, rather than the prevailing system where commerce
was regulated by the Africans themselves and the traitants.

In 1854 Faidherbe was appointed Governor of Senegal to pursue these
objectives. Having previously served for several years in Algeria, Faidherbe
is usually credited with having transformed the role of the French in Senegal
from that of traders to soldiers and administrators.35 Under his supervision,
about one-third of modern Senegal was brought under French rule. He was
responsible for organizing the famous Tirailleurs senegalais ("Senegalese
Riflemen"), as well as the publications of Le Moniteur and L'Annuaire du
Senegal. Faidherbe also founded a school for the "sons of chiefs and
interpreters" for the purpose of staffing an expanded bureaucracy. He would
be a key figure in the "pacification" of the upper valley.

In November of 1854, tensions between the French and the Umarians
increased over the French decision to grant asylum to a Sissibe dissident, and
their ill-treatment of the Shaykh's son at Senoudebou. Concerning the
former, a "princess and her daughter" from the Boulebane branch of the
Sissibe had taken refuge in Bakel.36 The French took them into the fort,
while the Umarians demanded their return. Later, when the Shaykh sent one
of his sons to Senoudebou (under Commandant Girardot's command), he
was rejected as a spy by the French.37

In February of 1855, the Shaykh, in need of war materials in his assault on
Kaarta, raided the trade entrepots of Khasso and Gajaaga for the purpose of
confiscating stored French arms. Relations with the French soured precipi-
tously, as evidenced in the Shaykh's famous correspondence of March, 1855,
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in which he lodged several complaints against the French, and threatened to
disrupt their commercial activities. The real issue, however, was the control
of eastern Senegal, to which both the French and the Umarians held claim.

Upon his appointment as Governor, Faidherbe launched a campaign to
overturn Umarian control of the Middle and Upper Senegal. His strategy
was to both wage war and to effect key alliances with indigenous powers
opposed to the Shaykh. In the end, Faidherbe's plans would succeed because
of the French advantage in three critical areas: their control of the area's
trade, the efficacy of their gunboats, and their exclusive control of cannon
power.

In April of 1855, Faidherbe began his campaign by ordering the fort at
Bakel to level the surrounding town because of its support of the Uma-
rians.38 From April through August, the French pummeled villages in
Gajaaga in order to weaken Umarian influence.39 The Umarians responded
by destroying French commerce east of Bakel.40 However, the Shaykh was in
a delicate position. Far from trying to rid the area of the Europeans, he was
rather attempting to force the French to trade on his terms, two of which
called for increased jizya payments and the removal of French forts.

By the fall of 1855, Faidherbe had succeeded in weakening the Umarians
in Gajaaga, having sent six gunboats and 1,000 men into the upper valley.41

He then turned to forming an anti-Umarian league among the upper valley
states, signing treaties with Khasso, Kamera, and Guidimakha.42. In Sept-
ember of the same year, construction of a new fort at Medine began, made
possible by an agreement with the town's ruler, Sambala.43 Faidherbe even
attempted to contact Segu to form an alliance against the Shaykh.44

However, he lacked the key ingredient to the strategy: control over Bundu,
through which ran routes to the Gambia and hence access by the jihadists to
English arms. Furthermore, an alliance with Bundu would enable the French
to cripple the important ties the Shaykh maintained with the Fulbe to the
west, along which flowed men and sustenance. Bundu was critical to Faid-
herbe's designs.

In October of 1855, Faidherbe met the man through whom he would
challenge Umar's ascendancy in Bundu. Bokar Saada, the son of the late
Almaami Saada Amadi Aissata and the Bambara princess Kurubarai Kulu-
bali, approached the French camp at Medine accompanied by a group of
Bambara soldiers.45 The background to this startling development was the
Shaykh's initial victory over Nioro, and the Bambara revolts of 1855 and
1856.46 The focus of the rebellion was the limitation on wives, but the
underlying cause was the Bambara loss of power. When the tuburu, those
indigenous groups which had submitted to the Shaykfts authority, were
required to give half of their booty to the Shaykh, they refused (and
rightfully so). The uprising was cruelly repressed by the end of June,
especially at Yelimane, where many notables were executed by the Shaykh.41

Before this time, Bokar Saada had followed Umar, but he had undoubtedly
become uneasy over the dimunition in power of the Bundunke Almaami,
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who had been assigned to combat in the Upper Niger. Such a loss of status
and, along with it, state autonomy was a disturbing development. In addi-
tion to this, Bokar Saada had inherited the ambition of his father, Saada
Amadi Aissata, and had grown accustomed to both power and the French,
having governed Senoudebou at least since 1845. He had probably con-
cluded that his loyalty to the Shaykh would not be rewarded by a position of
prominence, as his brothers Koli Mudi and Usuman Saada, as well as cousin
Malik Samba Tumane, had already been placed in posts of importance and
high visibility.48 With these considerations as background, the sight of his
relatives' slaughter was the proverbial straw that broke the earners back. He
defected from the Umarian ranks, taking refuge in various places
throughout Kaarta. Faidherbe's arrival at Medine gave him the opportunity
to come out of hiding.49

Not only did Faidherbe extend his protection to Bokar Saada, but he also
proposed that the latter cooperate with the French in exchange for French
support of his candidacy for the almaamate. Bokar Saada accepted, "and all
our efforts were directed, from then on, to have him recognized as Almamy
of Bundu, .. . "50 Those efforts would take the form of destroying villages
which remained loyal to Umar. For the most part, Bokar Saada's claims
were rejected by the Muslim community. According to Mavidal, he was the
only Sissibe who was not in submission to the Shaykh in 1855.51

The fight for Bundu

Umar's resounding victory over Kaarta only served to increase his popular-
ity in Bundu, while strengthening the conviction that his was a divinely
inspired mission. In contrast, Bokar Saada had no base of support beyond
the French: "Enemy of Al-Hajji, Bubakar Saada did not have at that time a
single follower in all of Bundu, and even found himself without a slave who
could serve him. It was under these conditions that he was recognized by us
as Almamy."52 In Umar Sane's absence, Usuman Saada, Bokar Saada's
brother, enjoyed a significant following in Bundu. Politically astute, he had
supported al-hajj Umar since the death of Amadi Saada, his brother and
leader of the Boulebane branch. It was he, in fact, who had led an attack on
Senoudebou in June of 1855.53 Bokar Saada's early strategy, therefore, was
to remove this obstacle to his control of Bundu. Living under French
protection at Senoudebou, Bokar Saada was able to muster a small force
from Bakel, which he then led in an attack on Usuman Saada at Gabou.54

The latter was forced to flee to Somsom-Tata, near Marsa, where he was
again assaulted by Bokar Saada. By March of 1856, Usuman Saada had been
driven out of Somsom-Tata to Debou, at which point he was confronted by a
combined force led by Bokar Saada and Girardot of Senoudebou. Usuman
Saada was able to escape to N'Dioum, in the Ferlo (southwestern Bundu),
where he would remain until 1857.55

With the retreat of Usuman Saada, Bokar Saada was able to fashion a
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small, anti-Umarian following among the remaining Sissibe in Bundu. His
efforts were also assisted by the preoccupation of the Umarians with the
Bambara revolts of 1855 and 1856. In turn, the French exploited the
opportunity to pressure the Bundunkobe to renounce their allegiance to the
Shaykh and acknowledge Bokar Saada as Almaami. A French-backed
Moorish raid into Bundu was conducted to help persuade the recalcitrants; it
was successful in that a number of Sissibe submitted to Bokar Saada in a
formal ceremony in Bakel on 18 February 1856.

Eight days after this ceremony, the Umarians responded by sending a
large detachment from Kaarta under the leadership of two important clerics
from Futa Toro, "Belli" and Tierno Alium.56 They proceeded to remind the
Bundunkobe of the Shaykh's claims, and of their obligation to support the
jihad, and succeeded in stirring up a revolt against Bokar Saada and the
French. The Umarians successfully took the village of Borde, near Bakel,
which had failed to sever ties to the French. Encouraged by their success,
they attempted to seize Bakel's livestock. The French pursued them to
Borde, where they killed about fifty of the Umarians.57 The two clerics who
had led the expedition remained on the field of battle.

However, the more substantive Umarian response to Bokar Saada and the
French in Bundu early in the war was in the form of an attack on Senoude-
bou.58 Beginning in April of 1856, the Umarians repeatedly sought to take
the fort. These attacks involved impressive numbers of soldiers; in May, for
example, some 4,000 men from Bundu, the Futas, and Kamera attacked the
French position. However, the siege of Senoudebou was in the end lifted.

The failure to seize Senoudebou demonstrates a major deficiency in the
Umarian military effort: the inability to capture an important French
stronghold. All attempts to seize the fort were discontinued at the end of
May, allowing the French and Bokar Saada to expand their control. The
following month saw the Commandant at Bakel commission Bokar Saada to
invest the village of Alana, between Guey and Futa Toro.59 Prospects for a
viable government began to improve for Bokar Saada, and the volume of
trade began to increase.60 By August, all of the previously hostile Sissibe
who remained in Bundu had pledged their allegiance to Bokar Saada at
Senoudebou; four children of the leading families were sent to Saint Louis as
evidence of their loyalty.61

Those Sissibe who transferred their allegiance to Bokar Saada were not
necessarily compelled to do so by his magnetic character. Rather, it was the
open display of French power that succeeded in intimidating Bokar Saada's
opposition. As an example, the September voyage of Flize on the steamboat
Le Serpent left a lasting impression on the Bundunkobe.62 Traveling up the
Senegal with Bokar Saada on board, the war vessel symbolized the Euro-
peans' mastery of the water, and their support of Bokar Saada: "All the
residents of the riverside villages, seeing this chief carried in the midst of the
water by a steam boat, something that they did not believe possible, came
and prostrated themselves on the banks of the river, crying out that they no
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longer recognized masters other than the whites and Bubakar Saada, their
protege."63 Following this "show the flag" strategy, Bokar Saada led a
successful expedition against Kenieba in southern Bambuk, in conjunction
with Bugul, the ruler of Farabana. Kenieba was in a gold-bearing region,
and was turned over to the French in 1858. The French were very much
interested in the potential of the area, and Bokar Saada's assault of Kenieba
helped to facilitate French exploitative designs. After Bokar Saada's victory,
Faidherbe placed a garrison and a mining engineer there, but withdrew the
crew in 1860 after an intolerable mortality rate and low specie yield.64

By the end of 1856, the Umarian position in Bundu was relatively weak.
Bokar Saada had been "introduced" to the Bundunke people, and had
begun to expand his power beyond Senoudebou. But the Umarians' basic
problem was not a defection by the common people from the Shaykh', quite
simply, they had failed to take the fortified positions of the French. As the
Commandant of Senoudebou phrased it, the "people of Bundu do not like
Bubacar, they only fear him because he is our protege."65 There was strong
residual support for the Shaykh, and a deep resentment towards the impo-
sition of Bokar Saada: "Bubakar Saada is not well supported by the people
of Bundu, who only tolerate him because of their fear of us, and they did not
want to openly declare against al-Hadji."66 The "softness" in Bokar Saada's
support would become apparent in the months to come.

The watershed of 1857

The year 1857 saw the defeat of the forces of the Shaykh in the upper valley.
The victory of the French was a cumulative one, in that it involved four
major confrontations, all won by the forces of Europe and collaboration.
These four battles were fought at N'Dioum, Amadhie, Medine, and Somsom-
Tata. At their conclusion, the Umarian bid for control of eastern Senegal
effectively ended.

In January of 1857, Bokar Saada finally put together the forces to defeat
his brother Usuman Saada at N'Dioum, in the Ferlo.67 The latter was forced
to pledge his loyalty to Bokar Saada, whose victory was important in that it
removed the focal point of local resistance. However, most of Bundu
remained loyal to al-hajj Umar, and news of his imminent return encouraged
the expression of anti-French sentiment. Substantial numbers continued to
migrate to the east, a movement over which Bokar Saada had little control.68

With the loss of Usuman Saada, the Umarians needed another Sy who
could lead and organize those loyal to the Shaykh. The need was met in the
person of Eli Amadi Kaba, who by March had succeeded in emptying
several villages into a single fortified town named Amadhie (or Amaguie),
near Boulebane. An estimated 6,000 men were housed in the fortification.69

Bokar Saada responded by attacking Amadhie, aided by 260 Malinke
infantrymen, 600 to 700 Douaich Moors on horseback, and some of Gir-
ardot's troops from Senoudebou. After an initial failure, Bokar Saada's men
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were joined by Cornu, Commandant of Bakel, and together they defeated
the tata.70 Thus, by early March, the Umarians had lost two key leaders and
their fortified posts.

While Bokar Saada was engaged at Amadhie, al-hdjj Umar returned to the
upper valley from Kaarta. He needed to replenish his forces for his eastern
campaign, but was not yet willing to concede Senegambia to the French. He
therefore decided to take the French fort at Medine in Khasso. By the
beginning of 1857, most of Khasso had resumed its allegiance to the
Shaykh71 However, Medine remained an important symbol of the French
presence. Of the estimated 10,000 people inside of the fort, only 1,000 could
be classified as soldiers. Of that number, only sixty-four had received
artillery and small arms training, including the eight Europeans who were
present. The remaining 9,000 or so were refugees from the surrounding
war-torn area, the majority of whom were women, children, and the aged.
Notwithstanding these weaknesses, Medine enjoyed certain crucial advan-
tages over the Umarians: its location commanded the surrounding area; its
walls had been fortified; and it contained the superior firepower of four
cannon. In the end, these advantages proved decisive.

In April, the Shaykh began the siege of Medine with an estimated 15,000
troops.72 The siege lasted until late July, when the Senegal River's rising
waters allowed Faidherbe to send relief in the form of two gunboats and 800
men.73 By the time the siege was finally lifted, the Shaykh had lost 2,000 of
his elite troops. By August, death and desertion had reduced his army to
7,000; Almaami Umar Sane of Bundu was among the casualties. The Shaykh
retreated up the Bafing River to Kunjan, where he convalesced for five
months and planned the jihad against Segu. The failure to take Medine
carried serious consequences for the Umarians throughout the upper valley.

While the fate of Medine was still in the balance, Bokar Saada was busy
trying to contain pro-Umarian sentiment in Bundu. The Shaykh's return to
Khasso had ignited a flurry of activity in the west. A significant number of
villages in Kamera and Guey, along with "half of Bundu," had crossed the
Senegal River into Guidimakha on orders of the Shaykh74 Numerous trains
of "Toucouleurs" from Futa Toro were crossing Bundu for Khasso as late as
July.75 These were entire families who were being moved for resettlement in
Kaarta, not just soldiers. Bokar Sada harassed the fleeing caravans, and in
one instance forced a group to return to Futa Toro. However, his efforts did
little to stop the massive hemorrhage of people from the middle and upper
valleys.

During the period of this migration and the fight for Medine, Bokar Saada
turned his attention to the fortress of Somsom-Tata, midway between Bakel
and Senoudebou. Somsom-Tata had been constructed by Almaami Tumane
Mudi for the purpose of defending against Bambara raids.76 The strongest
fortress in Bundu, it was staffed almost completely by slaves loyal to the
former almaamies. The ruler of the village was Malik Samba Tumane,
Almaami Tumane Mudi's grandson, who had imprisoned a Sy named
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al-Kusun in 1856 on charges that the latter was a supporter of Bokar Saada.
The French finally felt capable of challenging the stronghold.

Both Bokar Saada and Girardot led the siege of Somsom-Tata, which
began on the first of August.77 Commandant Cornu of Bakel also joined the
attack, but the French forces were initially turned back. For twelve consecu-
tive days the assault was repulsed. A decision was reached to induce star-
vation upon the tata, when Faidherbe arrived from his succesful defense of
Medine. The General demanded that Malik Samba Tumane release
al-Kusun; the latter responded by executing his prisoner. But Faidherbe's
arrival, combined with news of Medine's defense, weakened the resolve of
the Umarian leader, and he managed to escape on the night of the fifteenth,
after which he went on to settle in Kingui in Kaarta. The tata was forced to
surrender, and the French took 400 captives, mostly women and children. In
the morning, the village was incinerated.

The French alliance remained on the offensive for the remainder of
August. On the twenty-eighth, Brossard de Corbigny commanded the gun-
boats Le Serpent and Le Grand-Bassam up the Faleme River to the village of
N'Dangan, which had served as a way station for the jihadists coming from
Futa Toro and heading for Kaarta.78 In concert with 800 to 1,000 infantry
and 100 cavalry under Bokar Saada, along with troops from Bugul of Fara-
bana, Brossard de Corbigny destroyed the village and took twenty-five cap-
tives. Later in the same day, the alliance sacked the village of Sansanding,
recovering sixty-four prisoners, 250 heads of cattle, and a large quantity of
goats. The dual operation came at a time when a party of Koussan Sissibe,
established at Sambacolo near Senoudebou, was close to an agreement with
Bokar Saada.79 The expedition caused the Umarians to break off nego-
tiations.

The cumulative effect of French victories at N'Dioum, Amadhie, and
Somsom-Tata was to greatly enhance the stature of Bokar Saada. Combined
with the failure to capture the fort at Medine, these circumstances forced
Umar to rethink his overall strategy. It had become clear that the "west,"
including Bundu, would be lost to the "infidels."

Umarian reaction: the hijra of 1858

Umar realized that his combined losses at N'Dioum, Amadhie, Medine, and
Somsom-Tata were tantamount to losing the contest for the upper valley.
His response was to empty the upper valley of its Muslim population by
calling for a massive fergo, or hijra, to the Umarian east. His summons was
extremely effective.

At the beginning of 1858, Umar needed both a new agricultural base and
control of commercial routes free from French domination.80 His inability
to control the Upper Senegal, and the loss of Futa Toro to pro-French
rulers, necessitated this reformulation. He therefore saw Segu as this new
base, and returned to Bambuk and the upper valley for the purpose of
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recruiting for a new jihad and subsequent establishment of Muslim commu-
nities.

One of the Shaykh's lieutenants, Mamadu Diallo, entered southern (or
Upper) Bundu and began preaching the jihad.81 He announced that the
Sissibe dynasty was no longer legitimate, that their dependance on Saint
Louis and opposition to the jihad qualified them as infidels. By February, he
had succeeded in organizing more than 10,000 soldiers, and proceeded to
occupy the old stronghold of N'Dioum. Bokar Saada responded by leading
2,000 men on the tata. Commandant Cornu of Bakel came to his aid later in
February, attacking the stronghold with the added firepower of two can-
non.82 N'Dioum was partially destroyed, but withstood the assault. Bokar
Saada's men retreated in disarray. With the critical confiscation of the
French cannon, N'Dioum began seizing caravans heading for the Gambia,
and served as an entrepot from which the Shaykh could obtain supplies
denied by the French.83

Bokar Saada did not have the opportunity to recoup and attack again.
The news that Umar had come to Tomboura and was heading for central
Bundu caused Bokar Saada and Bugul to retreat hastily to Senoudebou.84

Some time in March, the Shaykh arrived in Goundiourou, near Senoudebou.
Bokar Saada rarely challenged him throughout his stay in Bundu, "for
almost all of Bundu had again abandoned him."85 Accompanying the
Shaykh to Goundiourou were two Sissibe representing both branches. They
carried with them letters written by those Sissibe who had remained in
Kaarta, the contents of which called upon the Bundunkobe to relocate to
Kaarta.86 'The announcement of this order in the towns produced a pro-
found astonishment."87 The notables of Bundu for the most part responded
favorably, and whole families began prepering to move to Kaarta, along
with their livestock.

The Shaykh moved on from Goundiourou to occupy Boulebane at the
beginning of April. He reportedly had thoughts of attacking Senoudebou at
that time, but "his army refused."88 The Shaykh wanted to invest Senoude-
bou, but having already decided to concentrate on Segu, deemed it too risky.
Instead, in an effort to "encourage" the Bundunkobe to emigrate, he began
incinerating villages, causing great devastation.89 There developed a steady
stream of caravans leaving Bundu and heading for the intermediate point of
Goucila, near Makhana, where Bokar Saada's brother Koli Mudi would
send them on to Nioro. That many left their homes involuntarily is substan-
tiated by their return upon learning that the Shaykh had departed from
Bundu. Those who did come back flocked to the posts of Senoudebou and
Bakel, while others went to Medine.90

Umar remained at Boulebane until 13 May, when he took 2,000 people
with him to Futa Toro to continue his recruiting process. The French now
realized his intentions of establishing an empire in the east, and reported that
he had completely abandoned Bundu and Bambuk.91 Bugul returned to
Farabana, and Senoudebou relaxed.92 The Shaykh passed through Samba-
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colo, Somsom-Tata, and Borde before entering Futa Toro, where he
remained until April of 1859.93 He returned to Nioro in June of that year
with some 40,000 people.94

In the aftermath of Umar's activities in 1858 widespread famine set in.
Cultivation had been abandoned in many areas, and the Shaykh had des-
troyed large quantities of stored millet.95 In a letter from a Moor to a friend
in Cayor, the situation was briefly described: "Know that the country is no
longer such as you would recognize, it is completely destroyed. Al-Hajji
Omar ordered everyone to leave and to follow him, and all obeyed."96 A
more graphic description concerns those who defected and returned from
Kaarta: "They are in a great state of misery. The roads are covered with their
dead bodies. A ghastly dearth rules in all the upper valley."97 This same
report estimated that half of southern Bundu's population had perished. By
1859 the suffering had grown worse, and although the state was slowly
repopulating, there was little to which to return.98 The Commandant of
Senoudebou reported in 1859 that the country was peaceful, but that was
largely due to its abandonment.99 Boulebane and Koussan had both been
completely deserted.

Bokar Saada and Senoudebou were not much better off. There reportedly
was not a single cow in the village.100 In order to produce millet, Bokar
Saada traded slaves, which he had in abundance, to Wuli, Kantora, and
Futa Toro. The millet was head-mounted to be transported back, since the
beasts of burden had been taken to Kaarta. Faidherbe tried to transport
food from time to time, but the need far exceeded the supply. These meager
circumstances obtained until 1860, when hostilities essentially came to an
end.

In August of 1858, Bokar Saada signed two treaties with Faidherbe. One
had to do with the goldfields of Kenieba, and was jointly signed by Bugul of
Farabana. The other involved the status of Senoudebou. According to its
terms, the village of Senoudebou became the property of the French, as
opposed to the land near it as specified by the treaty of 1845. Bokar Saada
was obliged to leave as soon as it was feasible. He would no longer receive
customs payments, nor could he tax caravans coming from the east directly
to Senoudebou (the French had actually stopped paying customs to Sen-
oudebou in 1854).101 In return, the "autonomy" of Bundu would be
respected.

The reasons for the French decision to demand Bokar Saada's removal
from Senoudebou are not clear. Among the possible explanations is the
inappropriateness of Bundu's capital remaining on what had essentially
become French soil. Also, from Senoudebou the French could more
effectively curb the flow of trade to the Gambia. Finally, the French viewed
Senoudebou as a staging area for its expansion into Bambuk and even
beyond to the Upper Niger, and possibly did not want Bokar Saada so close
to such projected operations. In any event, Bokar Saada complied by
moving to Ambdallaye, some twenty-five kilometers south of the fort.
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However, the French quickly lost interest in the post, after the disastrous
experience of Kenieba, and abandoned it by 1862.102 The Almaami obtained
permission from Saint Louis to reoccupy Senoudebou, with the understand-
ing that he would vacate whenever the French so requested.

Resolution

The last major battle between the Umarians and Bokar Saada took place at
Guemou in Guidimakha. En route to the east from Futa Toro, Umar had
built a tata there in 1859, and placed it under the command of his nephew,
Cire Adama.103 Cire Adama's primary responsibility was to turn back any
who sought to return to Futa Toro or Bundu from the east.104 The French
called Cire Adama's men "marauders," and complained that many were
being prevented from returning to Bundu.105 Although progress was
reported in checking the Umarians, it would appear that Guemou was
causing quite a problem.106 With the crisis mounting, Bokar Saada sent an
urgent plea to Faidherbe for help.107 The Governor responded by sending a
column of the Senegalese Riflemen under a Lieutenant-Colonel Faron in
September. On 25 October, aided by Bokar Saada and his army of 400, Faron
annihilated the tata at Guemou. The French suffered thirty-nine casualties
and ninety-seven injured, while the Umarians lost 250 men.108 Some 1,500
prisoners were taken. Cire Adama remained on the field of battle.

From 1855 to 1858, Umar and Faidherbe fought over the Upper Senegal.
By the latter year, the Shaykh had come to the conclusion that he would not
be able to dislodge the French from the valley. This conclusion was consist-
ent with the earlier decision to concentrate on the east, a decision that
antedated the military engagements of 1858 and 1859, and which featured a
massive exodus from the Middle and Upper Senegal Valleys. It is not
surprising then, that in August of 1860, Umar and Faidherbe reached an
understanding whereby de facto French control in Senegambia and Umarian
hegemony over what is modern Mali were mutually recognized.109 Bokar
Saada became the uncontested Almaami over what remained of Bundu. As
for the Shaykh, he went on to defeat Segu between 1859 and 1861. Between
1862 and 1864, Hamdullahi and the rest of Maasina fell to the Umarians after
a bitter polemical as well as military campaign. Al-Bekkai of Timbuktu
would label the Shaykh as "'the imposter who does evil and against whom
God has ordainedyY/zJdV'110 After Umar was killed in February of 1864, his
empire was effectively split into three parts: Maasina, Segu, and Kaarta. His
nephew Tijani became the uncontested ruler of Maasina in 1854, while his
son Amadu Sheku ruled Segu. Kaarta, based upon Hanson's argument,
constituted a third autonomous region, whose control was contested in 1870
by two sons of the Shaykh, Habib and Mukhtar, and again in 1885 by others
of Amadu Sheku's brothers. These bids for autonomy would be defeated, as
would Amadu Sheku in the eventual conquest of the region by the French by
1893.111

134



Al-hajj Umar in Bundu

The Shaykh's failure to subdue the French in the upper valley was a direct
consequence of his inability to defeat the key posts of Bakel, Senoudebou,
and Medine. A principal reason for this inability, in turn, was the French
domination of the Senegal and Faleme Rivers by way of gunboats. It was the
Umarians' pattern to attack these posts just prior to the rainy season; not
having succeeded by July, their prospects of victory diminished considerably
due to rising waters and Saint Louis' ability to dispatch gunboats along the
rivers. Had the attacks begun sooner, the Umarians might have succeeded in
taking these posts.

But a second and just as critical reason for the Umarian failure was their
lack of cannon power. Indeed, the French strongholds were able to hold on
until the arrival of the gunboats precisely because of their exclusive posses-
sion of cannon. When the Umarians managed to acquire a cannon, as was the
case with N'Dioum in 1858, they were successful in attaining their objectives.
In short, the technological disadvantages experienced by the Umarians, com-
bined with the ill-timing of their assaults, were factors too great to overcome.

Finally, it must be noted that the Shaykh placed his primary emphasis on
Kaarta and Segu. Had he chosen to really concentrate on Senegambia
instead of the Upper Niger, the French forts may yet have fallen. These
observations must be balanced, however, by the Shaykh's own sense of prior-
ities. If the east was simply more important to him, the costs of fighting in the
west would have to be kept to a minimum. Clearly, the investment was
deemed too costly.

But beyond factors of naval superiority and strategic weakness is the role
of Bokar Saada. Having begun as a follower of the Shaykh and a participant
in his jihad, he soon determined that his interests would be better served by
assuming an antithetical role. He is therefore unique in that, of all the Bun-
dunke nobility, he stood virtually alone against the Shaykh. Of the Sissibe
leadership who were active during this period (from the sons of Musa Yero to
those of Amadu Sy), sixty-seven percent enlisted in the Umarian ranks; fifty-
six percent were from the Boulebane branch, while seventy-one percent
represented Koussan. If Bokar Saada is included, the percentage of Sissibe
following the Shaykh rises to seventy percent. Of the remaining thirty
percent, few actually opposed Umar. Most did not join the jihadists due to
other causes (early deaths, casualties in other conflicts, etc.)112

Given that the overwhelming support of Umar by the Bundunke nobility
was seconded by the majority of the population, one could surmise that
Bokar Saada was not initially much of a factor in the Umarian jihad. But as
the war dragged on, and the Umarian failures mounted, his stature began to
improve. When the Bundunkobe returned from the eastern wars, or revolted
against involuntary relocation, they came to Bokar Saada. When widespread
famine set in, and villages were razed by the Umarians in an attempt to
promote the fergo, the suffering turned to Bokar Saada. With the aban-
donment of the upper valley by the Umarians, there was no one left to contest
the claims of Bokar Saada. He became Almaami by default.
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With the establishment of French hegemony in the upper valley, and the
consolidation of Bokar Saada's authority, the concept of pragmatism would
come to an end, as it ceased to have any relative meaning. Reform Islam had
been defeated in dramatic and conclusive fashion. Bokar Saada would be
free to practice the politics of expediency, in his own interests as well as those
of the state, outside of the context of reformist pressures from regional
militant regimes. Militant Islam would again impact Bundu later in the
century under the direction of Mamadu Lamine, but this subsequent move-
ment would be qualitatively different from those led by al-hajj Umar and
Abdul Qadir. First of all, Mamadu Lamine was profoundly ambitious; there
were other considerations which informed his thinking besides religion.
Secondly, his movement did not emerge out of the same tradition of mili-
tancy that produced the revolutions of the two Futas and the Umarians; it
would not be Fulbe-led, nor would it engender a significant following among
the Fulbe. Finally, whereas al-hajj Umar and Abdul Qadir sought to imple-
ment their policies through a subordinate but preserved Sissibe dynasty,
Mamadu Lamine would seek to completely redefine privilege and power in
Bundu by eliminating the dynasty altogether. In sum, there are fundamental
discontinuities between the earlier reformers and Mamadu Lamine; the
latter represents a clear break with the Bundunke past.

136



The age of Bokar Saada

With the peace established between ah-hajj Umar and Faidherbe in 1860,
Bokar Saada became the undisputed sovereign over all of Bundu. He would
rule until 1885, longer than any previous Almaami, save Maka Jiba. His
immediate challenge was to rebuild the state's economy. The French-
Umarian struggle had devastated the upper valley, resulting in the disruption
of trade and neglect of agriculture. Further exacerbating Bundu's suffering
was a cholera epidemic that impacted the whole of the Senegal Valley during
the 1860s. In an effort to remedy these problems, and in a manner remi-
niscent of his father Saada Amadi Aissata, Bokar Saada developed a policy
of perennial raiding in the neighboring territories, particularly to the south,
to realize several objectives: first, the repopulation of Bundu and the revitali-
zation of its agriculture via the importation of servile labor; second, direct
access to British trade along the Gambia, and in particular the cultivation of
groundnuts, the latter the result of European promotion during the second
half of the nineteenth century; and last, the acquisition of foodstuffs and
cattle to offset their scarcity in Bundu. Bambuk gold continued to be a lure
as well. This rebuilding of Bundu via repopulation and exploitation of
regional trade resulted in approximately ten years of modest economic
recovery. But by the 1870s, and partially as a consequence of the previously
mentioned cholera epidemic, the Almaami resorted to exacting greater
revenue from the Bundunkobe to compensate for the failure of the economy
to sustain satisfactory growth, a policy that caused even more emigratory
activity. In turn, the rise in taxation took on ethnically directed conno-
tations, as most of the burden was borne by the Soninke and Malinke. These
communities greatly outnumbered those of the Fulbe, a significant propor-
tion of which had resettled in the Umarian east. As a result, resentment
against both Bokar Saada and the Fulbe ruling elite became both pervasive
and deep-seated.

Regarding the sources for the reign of Bokar Saada, there is a heavy
reliance upon correspondence with both the French and the British, who are
more concerned with events transpiring along Bundu's periphery than its
center. However, the data are sufficient to allow for insight into the internal
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affairs of the polity. Concerning domestic matters, the exogenous and
intermediate sources are very consistent, and contradict 1984/1987-88 oral
data which cast a very different light on the Almaami. To be specific, the
suffering of the period, and the intense unpopularity of Bokar Saada are
nowhere admitted in the most recent interviews. Given that the Almaami was
a French protege, the latter had little to gain by fabricating reports that he
was greatly disliked by his constituency. Consensus among the exogenous
and intermediate genres, combined with a careful analysis of conditions
during this time, result in the assignment of greater credibility to the
characterization of Bokar Saada's reign as despotic.

The decision by the French to emphasize peanut cultivation along the west
coast in Wolof areas, coupled with their withdrawal from Kenieba in 1860
and Senoudebou in 1862, left Bokar Saada as the only stationary representa-
tive of French interests east of Bakel, besides Sambala of Khasso. He quickly
moved to fill the vacuum, consolidating his base and projecting influence
beyond Bundu's borders. He soon emerged as the most powerful figure in
either the middle or upper valley. The military prowess of the Bundunke
army became a celebrated accomplishment, and Bokar Saada's friendship
was eagerly sought by surrounding potentates, more out of fear than any-
thing else. But the Almaami, while maintaining the alliance with Saint Louis,
also pursued his own agenda, often against the wishes of the French. In
effect, the French had unleased a force that they could not completely
control. But the emphasis on west coast cultivation, combined with the lack
of a suitable replacement for Bokar Saada, left Saint Louis with little choice
other than to work with the Almaami.

The campaigns

Throughout his reign, Bokar Saada was continually marching on the states
to the south. This was an entirely logical strategy in view of the fact that the
French controlled the trade to Bakel and points further west. In addition, the
Bundunkobe were expressly prohibited from taxing caravans arriving in
Senoudebou, and the French had discontinued paying customs to the
Almaami. Bokar Saada's solution was to initiate raids, and those raids,
whether punitive in design or expressly intended to collect booty, soon
assumed a cyclical nature: successful campaigns led to large armies, which in
turn led to more campaigns. Ironically, Bokar Saada would consistently
maintain that his military ventures were in fad jihads.

Bambuk. In September of 1860, the Almaami turned a hostile eye towards
his former friend, Bugul of Farabana, ruler of the most important town in
Bambuk. Prior to the wars of al-hdjj Umar, Bundu and Farabana had
experienced strained relations; previous almaamies had failed to subdue the
town. With the Umarians out of the way, old animosities were rekindled.
Together with Sambala of Khasso, Bokar Saada razed the town.1

Between 1861 and 1877, Bokar Saada led at least fourteen raids into
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Bambuk, attacking the villages of Kakadian and Diangounte (above
Medine, in the province of Niagala), Marougou (southwest Bambuk, in the
province of Sirimana), Sandicounda (near Tenda), Kenieba (in Beledougou,
south of Farabana and the Kenieba goldfields), Mamakono (also in Bele-
dougou), and Saboucire.2 Not all of these ventures were successful. The
battle of Mamakono (1868) was more significant than the others in that an
alliance of Malinke warriors from Niagala, central Bambuk, and Dentilia
(south of Bundu) united against the Bundunkobe. The Malinke forces were
routed, and all of the defeated lands agreed to pay tribute to Bokar Saada.
The Almaami returned to Senoudebou with a rich booty of gold and slaves,
and control over a substantial portion of Bambuk.

Wuli. Far more important than the Bambuk raids were Bokar Saada's
wars with the Upper Gambia state of Wuli. From the time when Pate Gai
chased the Malinke of Contou into Wuli (under the reign of Maka Jiba),
relations between that country and Bundu had been adversarial. Wuli served
as a refuge for the Kamara, Damfa, Nanki, Neri, Diata and the N'Dao,
groups which had similarly been driven out of the Faleme Valley by the
Bundunkobe. Wolof from Salum had also settled there to escape war.3 The
first large migration into Wuli from Bundu and Bambuk took place under
Maka Jiba; Bokar Saada's policy of exorbitant taxation within Bundu, and
the constant pillaging of Bambuk, would force the second significant depart-
ure. This flight from Bundu into Wuli, in turn, was one of the causes of the
Almaamfs heightened interest in the Upper Gambia. A second cause was
the presence of English trading posts and the expansion of groundnut
production.
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In November of 1863, Bokar Saada put together an alliance with Khasso,
Logo and Natiaga (both adjoining Khasso), and Futa Toro for the purpose
of invading Tambacounda.4 The town had become an important collection
center for the groundnut harvest. As a result, Bokar Saada sought to
command this point of exchange with the English. However, the November
expedition was unsuccessful. A new expedition in March of 1864 was again
turned back, and was particularly costly for the Almaami as he suffered num-
erous casualties.

Determined to subjugate the Upper Gambia, Bokar Saada raised a new
army from the same alliance (with the exception of Futa Toro), and invaded
Wuli in April of 1865.5 He told the French that he was doing so in order to
reprimand Wuli for interfering with Bundunke caravans; the French sanc-
tioned the expedition.6 However, there is evidence that Bundu was also in the
region in order to help quell a revolt by jihadists against the Soninke of Kata-
bar.7 Later in November, Bundu seized the village of Goundiourou in Wuli,
enslaving the women and children and bringing them back to Senoudebou.8

By the early part of 1866, the French were beginning to show concern over
Bundu's southern campaigns. The Commandant at Bakel was instructed to
try to dissuade Bokar Saada from undertaking his annual assaults.9 Such
advice fell on deaf ears, for the Almaami was preparing to invade Wuli again.
By April, the news of the Bundunke invasion reached Governor LaPrade at
Saint Louis; not from Bokar Saada, but from Governor D'Arcy of Gambia:
"With much concern I have the honor to inform you that the King of Bondoo
at the head of 12,000 warriors, has broken the kingdom of Wooloo, burning
in his course the British factories at Fatuh-Tenda destroying property
belonging to British Merchants to the account of 7000 pounds."10 D'Arcy
went on to remind LaPrade of the English alliance with Wuli, and called
upon the French to restrain the Almaami, while requiring him to make resti-
tution for Fattetenda. LaPrade responded by saying that France had a lone
treaty with Bundu regarding boundaries between French and Bundunke
land, and that Bundu was an independent power.1 x While he could not make
Bokar Saada desist, the French Governor would attempt to influence him.
This he did, warning the Almaami that he must stop the ravages, adding:
"You ignore, no doubt, that France and England are allied at all points of the
globe."12 For his part, Bokar Saada refused to either stop the expeditions or
pay the English for damages.13 The burning of Fattetenda was important to
his overall strategy for exploiting Upper Gambian trade: such a policy would
reduce the number of entrepots available to the traders of groundnuts,
forcing them to go to those over which Bundu exercised control. LaPrade, in
view of Bundunke resolve, warned Bakel to be wary of the Almaami, and
wrote to Paris for further instructions.14 Paris simply seconded the policy
already adopted by the Governor.15

The Wuli campaign of 1866 made a deep impression upon the English. A
report by McCarthy Island Manager B. Tanner summed up Wuli's pre-
dicament after the raid:
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The next country is Woolie (a Sonninke Country) the inhabitants for the most
part are Pagans and it also has suffered from pillage, war and the attendant
consequences - mainly brought on by the obstinancy of the Chiefs who in
1864—65 refused to allow the King of Bundoo to pass through to give assistance
to the Catabar people and his friends who were at war with Koonting - great
destruction of property and loss of the merchants resulted - this occurred in
1866.

Since this period the Woolie people have sued for peace - the kingdom is at
an end - and the Chiefs who were instrumental in preventing the King and his
people from submitting to the rule of Bundoo ... have recently died ... Being
free from the influence of these chiefs the King (with the consent of his people)
has sent to Bundoo promising submission and desiring peace.16

Bokar Saada's conquest of Wuli was so complete that D'Arcy suspected
"collusion between the Kings of Wooli and Bondoo, otherwise the former
would have fought."17 He warned the British agent David Brown to take
refuge at McCarthy Island in the event of a renewed attack. Brown,
however, viewed the Bundunke conquest differently, stating that Wuli was
not to be blamed; it was simply unable to protect the British merchants
"against a superior force."18

In January of 1867, Bokar Saada launched an effort to subdue all of Wuli.
His army passed through much of that country without the slightest resist-
ance until it reached the capital of Medina. The ruler, or Mansa of Wuli
immediately surrendered, asking for clemency. Bokar Saada was content to
grant the Mansa his wish, on condition that the latter agree to pay a hefty
tribute. That settled, the Almaami returned to Senoudebou. It had taken
eight years to conquer Bambuk, and seven to do the same to Wuli. With the
acquisition of these two entities, rich in slaves, gold, and foodstuffs, Bundu
was able to partially offset the difficulties caused by the French-Umarian
wars. Beyond that, Bokar Saada now had direct access to both British goods
and the rich markets of the Niger. Segu had apparently reconciled itself to
the fact that Bokar Saada ruled Bundu; the Englishman Cooper spoke of the
free flow of commerce coming from Segu and Timbuktu to the Gambia
through Bundu.19 An independent French source also referred to the
"active" commercial relations between Segu and Bundu.20 Wuli remained a
favorite target for Bokar Saada through much of his reign. He was there
almost annually from 1868 to 1879. Much of this "jihadist" activity was no
more than slave-raiding.21

Niani. In 1879, Bokar Saada entered into an important alliance with Alfa
Mulu, sovereign of Fouladougou (south of the Gambia), and Alfa Ibrahima,
ruler of Labe province in Futa Jallon.22 They each had separate objectives.
Alfa Mulu was interested in conquering Kantora (along the Gambia), Alfa
Ibrahima needed help in subduing the village of Kouttang in Kade (in
Kaabu, in the Upper Rivieres-du-Sud), while Bokar Saada had set his sights
on Niani, adjacent to Wuli. Both Alfa Mulu and Alfa Ibrahima achieved their
objectives that same year.23 After a period of inactivity, the allies resumed
the campaign in March of 1880. Confident of victory, the allies were deeply

141



Pragmatism in the age of Jihad

humiliated when they were turned back at Koussalan, Niani's most powerful
village. Celebrated as a tremendous victory in the traditions of the Wolof
and Malinke, the failure at Koussalan effectively ended Bokar Saada's
activities in Wuli and in areas further west along the Gambia.24

Niocolo. Closer to Bundu, but still to the south, was the territory of
Niocolo, an important source of kola nuts. Officially a tributary of Futa
Jallon and largely inhabited by Fulbe, it failed to escape Bokar Saada's
attention. In 1869, 1873 and 1875, the Almaami attacked the territory. The
first two expeditions were successful, resulting in large numbers of captives.
But the third proved disastrous, and ended Bundu's interest in Niocolo.25

Tenda. East of Niocolo lay the territory of Tenda. The villages of Talicori,
Guenou-Dialla and Tingueto were subjected to Bundunke raids in 1862,
1864, 1870 and 1874. Most of these campaigns were led by Bokar Saada's
son Usuman Gassi.26 While Guenou-Dialla suffered the loss of its men to
death, and its women and children to captivity, the other villages were not
seriously disrupted.

The conflict between Bundu and Tenda intensified in 1881, and concerned
the village of Gamon. This tata had the same origins as Tambacounda; that
is, Malinke who had been driven from the Faleme by Bundunke expan-
sionists. According to traditions collected by Ranson, Gamon was actually
founded by a Malinke slave named Samba Takuru, who absconded from
Bundu.27 Over a period of time, Gamon came to be known as a "slave
village," in that a large number of slaves from Bundu settled there. By the
late nineteenth century, it had grown to 1200 residents.28

In 1881, 1883, and 1884, Bokar Saada made successive attempts to seize
Gamon. The 1883 campaign involved a six-month siege, and was unsuccess-
ful. The final assault culminated in the loss of 300 Bundunke men; Bokar
Saada himself was forced to flee to Senoudebou. Nearly 200 Bundunke
captives were later sold into slavery in Niani.29

Bundu and the English

Clearly related to Bokar Saada's southern campaigns were his connections
to the English along the Gambia River. With or without a formal agreement,
trade between the English and Bundu had been vigorous, and was the main
source of external revenue for Koussan. In turn, the English had been just as
eager to trade with Bundu. As early as May of 1827, a treaty between "King
Quia" of Wuli and the Governor of Gambia, Major-General Sir Neil
Campbell, called upon Wuli to "open the paths to Bundoo and other
directions to the east and south of Wooli."30 The outbreak of hostilities
between Almaami Tumane Mudi and Wuli in 1827 was a source of grave
concern for the English. Captain A. M. Fraser, stationed in Gambia at the
time, tried to halt the conflict by sending a letter to "his majesty the Almamy
and King of Bondou," expressing a desire to bypass Wuli as an intermediate
and establish direct relations.31 In an 1829 treaty with the Mansa of Wuli and
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William Hutton, the Acting-Governor of Gambia, the Mansa agreed to
"exert his influence with his ally the King of Bondoo" to promote trade with
the English.32 The correspondence demonstrates that relations with Bundu
were important to the English, and that the latter took pains to improve
relations between Wuli and Bundu to facilitate trade. However, the effort to
establish peace between Wuli and Bundu was wholly unsuccessful.

As a result of Faidherbe's policies, Bundu's alliance with France was no
longer as financially profitable as it once was. Bokar Saada violated no
understanding by maintaining commercial relations with England; the
Treaty of 1858 did not call for exclusive commercial dealings with France, as
did the Treaty of 1845, which in any event was abrogated. Nevertheless, the
French tried to prevent any formal alliance between Bundu and England. In
1867, the Commandant at Bakel was instructed to make every effort to
frustrate such a development.33 In the preceding year, the French had sought
to stop Bokar Saada from attacking Wuli as a favor to the British. It may be
that Saint Louis had its own reasons for seeking to dissuade the Almaami;
the destruction of Wuli would have led to a more intensified interaction
between Senoudebou and Banjul (Bathhurst).

Saint Louis' attempts were less than successful. After Bokar Saada's
ravaging of Wuli in 1866, it became clear to the English that Bundu had
emerged as the premier power in the area, and that a treaty was necessary to
safeguard English interests. As a result, the Almaami was approached and
subsequently signed a treaty with Colonel Samuel Wensley Blackall, Gover-
nor of Gambia, on 12 November 1869. Concluded at McCarthy Island, the
agreement called for peace between the English and the Bundunkobe. Bokar
Saada was to respect the property rights of the English, and was to resist the
temptation to war against any of the states bordering the Gambia. The most
important provision, however, regarded commerce:

The said King of Bondoo does hereby acknowledge the rights which the
subjects of the Queen of England have heretofore and at all times enjoyed of
free and uninterrupted intercourse for trade and commerce, and for all other
legitimate purpose in and throughout the countries adjacent to and bordering
on both banks of the River Gambia and its branches, .. ,34

Bokar Saada signed the documents in Arabic, the English having agreed to
pay him fifty pounds annually. That accomplished, Bokar Saada promptly
went out and invaded Niocolo the following month. By 1870, he was back in
Wuli.

Bokar Saada held the upper hand in his dealings with the English; they
were powerless to resist his incursions. More important than what Bundu
itself had to offer was the fact that it lay between the Gambia and the Niger.
English merchants had been in contact with Segu, and were trying to develop
a route that would go around Bundunke territory.35 However, Bundu
remained important to the English. In April of 1875 it was reported that
Bokar Saada had returned to McCarthy Island, where the English had
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offered him an annual payment worth 7,000 francs to steer caravans from
Kaarta and Segu to the Gambia.36 The Almaami accepted the payment for
1875, as well as gifts of arms and munitions.37 The English were described as
"wooing" Bundu by its generous gifts; when Bokar Saada visited Bakel
earlier in the year, he was described as possessing British arms "of superior
quality to those usually furnished through trade."38

Since Bathurst was helpless to halt the Bundunke ravages, it followed that
the only available option was to continue courting the Almaami s favor. To
have cut off commerce with Bundu would have ensured even greater hostili-
ties in the Gambia, and would have retarded trade with the Niger Valley
states. Therefore, after Bokar Saada had directed no less than seven expedi-
tions into the Gambia between 1870 and 1876, the English stopped com-
plaining to Saint Louis and simply continued contributing to the Almaami s
coffers. In May of 1876, H. J. Cooper, the "Acting Administrator of the
British Settlement of the Gambia," wrote to Bokar Saada and informed him
of British plans to connect with Segu and Timbuktu. He planned to visit
Senoudebou personally, and from there he would "pass to Khasso and visit
your father-in-law, King Sambala, and from thence through Guemakoro,
Marcoaia, Yamina, and on to Segou to visit King Amade Syhou."39 Rela-
tions with the English grew to the point that by 1879, all of the arms in
Bundu, as was the case in Wuli, were of English manufacture.40 The shilling
was being used as part of the currency, and numerous products made in
England were visible. Briere de ITsle, Governor of Senegal, went on to
complain in 1877 that Bokar Saada was being paid by the English, and that
Bundu was paying (and trading) for goods in Kamera and Guey with English
currency.41 Such currency was showing up in substantial amounts, and was
circulating in Bakel as well.

Bokar Saada's statements on maintaining good relations with both Saint
Louis and Bathurst reveal the calculations of a very shrewd leader. As early
as 1863 he wrote to the Governor at Saint Louis: "I love all those whom you
love, and I detest those whom you detest, all the orders that you give me I
will execute, if it pleases God, ... I will say to you that since Bakel and
Senoudebou have existed, our goods have always been directed toward
these settlements."42 The reality, however, was that French policies partially
dictated the Almaami's southern activities. Even the French admitted that
their "neglect" of the Almaami led the latter to direct commerce towards the
Gambia.43 The Almaami, on the other hand, sought to minimize his English
connections to the French: "The English are simply my friends, but I will
never permit them to come and establish themselves in Bundu, which is
French'."44 But on the other hand, it was never to Bundu's advantage to
completely conceal good relations with the English. Indeed, those relations
were an important bargaining tool in obtaining greater concessions from the
French. Saint Louis was concerned about those relations, that they could
eventually undermine the French position in the Upper Senegal. They were
also concerned that the more direct caravan route of Bathurst-Gambia-
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Bundu-Saboucire-Koniakari-Segu would rival and eclipse the older route
of Saint Louis-Bakel-Medine-Segu.45 However, their concern was tempered
by their involvement along the Wolof coast, and by Bokar Saada's professed
loyalty.

Bundu's relations with the English have led Barrows to argue that Bokar
Saada and Sambala were in fact "more than mere puppets."46 He further
contends that while Faidherbe succeeded in creating an anti-Umarian
league, it did not in turn become pro-French once the Umarian threat was
removed.47 While it is largely true that Bokar Saada followed a strategy
independent of Saint Louis, it is also true that he never lost sight of the fact
that it was the French who initially put him in power; he was careful not to
exceed certain limits in his relations with them. Indeed, in contrast to his
dealings with the English, Bokar Saada never attacked a French post,
interfered with their commerce, or threatened to pull out of the alliance. In
all that he did, he never violated the letter of the 1858 treaty. As the Almaami
himself put it: "'Je suis noir, et je suis fransais'."48

Role in the north

With the French-Umarian understanding of 1860, the Upper Senegal grew
relatively quiet. The depopulation of the area, combined with the French
emphasis upon groundnut cultivation along the Wolof coast, resulted in a
diminution of the upper valley's importance. Consequently, Bokar Saada
was primarily concerned with controlling lands to the south. With regard to
the north, he basically sought to limit Bundunke involvement, unless he
believed success was assured. His efforts in the Upper Senegal were therefore
largely confined to assisting the struggle of Abdul Bokar Kan, effective head
of Futa Toro.

Besides Sambala of Khasso, Bokar Saada maintained a strong relation-
ship with Abdul Bokar Kan. The Futanke grand elector was from Bosseya
province, and was noted for his anti-Umarian activity.49 In 1861 he estab-
lished his base of power in eastern Futa, as Futa Toro had disintegrated into
its three basic components of western, central, and eastern Futa.50 He soon
rose to become the most powerful figure in Futa Toro, and exercised power
over the traditional offices.

In 1862, the elector skirmished with French forces over control of the
middle valley. Interestingly enough, he now called upon pro-Umarian senti-
ment to mobilise his anti-French movement, and named Amadu Thierno
Demba Ly as Almaami, originally designated as such by the Shaykh.51 After
a series of battles and political maneuvers, the French conceded Abdul
Bokar's control over eastern Futa by 1864.52 The elector found himself in the
enviable position of enjoying the anti-French, the anti-Umarian, and the
pro-Umarian sentiment concurrently. More than embodying a religious
ideal, he had emerged as the consummate politician.

Formal relations between Bokar Saada and Abdul Bokar date back to at
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least 1859, when the latter contracted a marriage with the Almaamfs niece
Jiba.53 During the difficulties with the French in 1862-63, Bokar Saada was
enlisted by the French to mediate.54 However, the Futanke rejected the
Almaamfs efforts, insulting him in the process. Bokar Saada responded by
preventing his niece from going to Futa Toro to be with her husband. Abdul
Bokar, afraid that his alliance with Bundu was in jeopardy, sought to make
amends.55 In 1866, a reconciliation was reached after the Futanke presented
Bokar Saada with cattle and slaves. Abdul Bokar went on to accompany
Bokar Saada in his expedition to Wuli, and returned to Futa Toro some time
in May with substantial booty. Saint Louis viewed the developing alliance as
potentially helpful; after giving Bokar Saada a cannon, it asked him to use
his influence to get Abdul Bokar involved in more of his expeditions. Said
the French Governor of Abdul Bokar: "We can only benefit from this
troublemaker and his followers being away from Futa as long as possible."56

The emergence of Tierno Brahim in eastern Futa was the first test of the
Bokar Saada-Abdul Bokar alliance. Tierno Brahim was a reformer who
had studied with Sidiya al-Kabir, the famous shaykh and leader of the
Sidiyya brotherhood who lived in Mauritania, and who had in turn studied
under the Kunta shaykhs near Timbuktu.57 Tierno Brahim, having estab-
lished his headquarters at Magama, began encouraging migration to
Magama as well as launching raids into the river valley. In May of 1868,
Abdul Bokar achieved a major victory over Tierno Brahim's forces with the
help of Guey and Khasso, but by the fall of 1868, the reformer had rebuilt
Magama. Later, with the aid of Guey and Khasso, Abdul Bokar again
defeated Magama in April of 1869, and Tierno Brahim was hanged.58

In the campaign against Tierno Brahim, Bokar Saada was extremely
reticent about fighting the reformer, and provided little assistance. In fact,
Tierno Brahim had established contacts of his own with Bokar Saada, and
was trying to convince the latter to renounce ties to Saint Louis.59 The
Almaamfs position was informed by two factors: the preeminence of the
Sidiyya in the region, and Bokar Saada's interest in maintaining as much
power as possible in the middle and upper valleys. Given the strain in
relations with Abdul Bokar as late as 1866, the struggle with Tierno
Brahim, in demonstrating Abdul Bokar's need for external assistance, was
an opportunity to prevent the grand elector from becoming too powerful by
withholding such aid.60 However, with the demise of Tierno Brahim, and
Bokar Saada's own need for aid in subsequent ventures, relations between
the two men became more cooperative.

The utilization of troops from Khasso and Guey was particularly unset-
tling for the other Futankobe.61 They feared that such large infusions of
foreigners would sooner or later result in pillaging and possibly even occu-
pation. Their anxieties were exacerbated in 1871, when Abdul Bokar con-
tracted to marry Sambala of Khasso's daughter. In order to complete the
arrangement, Abdul Bokar needed to give a substantial gift to Sambala in
cattle and slaves. He tried to obtain cattle in eastern Futa, but his consti-
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tuents resisted his appeals. His decision to confiscate their property led to
widespread disaffection. When the elector returned from Khasso in May of
1871, he was met with organized hostility. An important battle at Mbumba
in March of 1872 was disastrous for Abdul Bokar.62 In order to redress his
fortunes, he traveled to various Upper Senegal states to obtain assistance.

Although Abdul Bokar spent some time in Guey and Khasso, the focus of
his attention was Bokar Saada. Easily the most powerful ruler in the Senegal
Valley, the Almaami could prove to be the decisive factor in the struggle back
in Futa Toro. But Bundunke forces were busy in Wuli, Niocolo, and
Bambuk that year, and the Almaami was consequently short of manpower.
A meeting was held in Tiyaabu between the representatives of Bundu and
Guey to discuss Abdul Bokar's request for auxiliaries.63 It was decided that
Guey would supply the infantry and some cavalry, while Bokar Saada would
take the command.

Eastern Futa, or Damga, repeatedly sent envoys to Bokar Saada, pleading
with him to remain neutral.64 Their appeals were futile; Bokar Saada replied
by asking Damga to restore relations with Abdul Bokar.65 When, in turn, the
Almaamfs request was refused, he and Abdul Bokar decided to head for
Damga on 15 April. They led about 2,000 infantry and 1,000 cavalry, half the
number used to defeat Tierno Brahim.66 Facing them were the smaller
forces of Bubu Cire and Malik Hamet, both from eastern Futa. On 19 April,
the battle was joined at Bofel; at its conclusion Bokar Saada tasted bitter
defeat, and returned to Senoudebou in utter humiliation.67 Abdul Bokar was
able to recover later, however, by convincing Malik Harriet's followers to
remain neutral. The following month, he won two key battles, and went on
to restore his authority in eastern Futa.

Despite Bokar Saada's defeat at Bofel, his relations with Abdul Bokar
remained cordial. After Abdul Bokar regained his Damga base, Saada
recovered sufficiently to intervene in matters affecting the upper valley. In
1875, the towns of Lanel and Kotere in Kamera were unable to resolve
their differences.68 Bokar Saada sent his son Usuman Gassi against
Kotere, but the Bundunkobe were turned back. Again, in 1876 the
Almaami tried to take the village and, again, the Bundunke forces were
turned away, with great loss of life. It was not until 1877, when Abdul
Bokar came to Bokar Saada's aid, that Lanel and Kotere agreed to
peace.69 Abdul Bokar would continue to maintain some form of control
over eastern Futa until his death in 1891, when he was assassinated at the
instigation of the French.70

Barrows makes the point that Bokar Saada's friendship with Abdul Bokar
is further indication that the Almaami functioned independently of Saint
Louis.71 While it is true that the French were concerned about this relation-
ship, they also expressed optimism that Bokar Saada would influence Abdul
Bokar to become less anti-French. If nothing more, he could keep the
Futanke elector occupied in some campaign along the Gambia. In fact, it can
be argued that there was some gravitation on the part of Abdul Bokar
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towards the French as his career continued, an indication of various influ-
ences, including those of the Almaami and his niece Jiba.

Conditions within Bundu

Up to this point, the discussion of Bokar Saada has focused upon his
activities outside of Bundu. One of his major concerns within Bundu was the
fort at Senoudebou. The fort was never in very good condition. Raffenel
complained about it as early as 1847. Five years after Bokar Saada moved
back into the fort (1862), he wrote to the Commandant at Bakel complaining
of its deplorable state.72 Ten years later, Governor Briere de l'lsle responded
that he would finally repair Senoudebou, but he did not follow through.73

When Laude visited Bundu in 1879, one of the first subjects Bokar Saada
raised was the condition of Senoudebou.74 He feared that the French had no
intention of making repairs, and that he would have to move his court to
Boulebane if aid was not forthcoming. As it turned out, his fears were
justified: Senoudebou was never repaired.

Another domestic issue was the influx of Bambara immigrants from the
eastern jihad. Al-hajj Umar's harsh treatment of the Bambara nobility was a
factor in Bokar Saada's defection and subsequent opposition. He never
denied his origins, and with the defeat of Kaarta by the Shaykh, he permitted
Bambara survivors to settle in Bundu.75 Many took refuge near Senoudebou
and Bakel, while others sought protection at Medine in Khasso.76 Within
Bundu, the Bambara constructed two villages: Allahina and Kidira.77 Others
settled in Fouladougou near the Gambia River.

It should be noted that some Sissibe had given their daughters in marriage
to the Bambara nobility. The blood ties between Kaarta and Bundu were
extensive in some instances. It is not clear, however, that Bokar Saada
wanted the Bambara immigrants to become absorbed into Bundunke
society, or even if the immigrants desired as much. Regarding those who
settled in areas adjoining Bundu, Bokar Saada tried to force them into a
tributary status.78 Many rejected this arrangement, and moved beyond the
Almaamfs reach. With the fall of Amadu Sheku by 1893, substantial
numbers returned to Kaarta.79

Based upon the previous discussion, Bokar Saada appeared to have been a
successful ruler; projecting power throughout Senegambia, the object of
numerous petitions to form alliances, and so on. But an examination of what
was transpiring inside of Bundu reveals something quite different. For all of
his external success, the Almaami was a tragic figure, a marginal man on
several levels. He was Bundunke, yet he retained an affinity to Kaarta; a
Muslim, yet the enemy of one of the most important Muslims in West
African history; an African, yet loyal to France; a descendant of Malik Sy,
but the first to achieve executive power in Bundu via the instrumentality of
non-Muslim foreigners. In some instances he was forced to identify with one
extreme or the other, but in most cases he chose to maintain the dualities,
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having little care to address the inherent contradictions. In a sense he was the
victim of circumstances beyond his control, a consequence of the policies of
Almaami Amadi Aissata, who forged a short-lived alliance with the Bambara
towards the turn of the nineteenth century, the seal of which was the
marriage of Bokar Saada's mother to Saada Amadi Aissata. As a result,
Bokar Saada literally embodied the Bundu-Kaarta, Muslim-traditionalist
alliance.

However Bokar Saada chose to reconcile the conflicting subsets of his
personality, the Bundunke people were making choices of their own. Before
1859, many had already made the journey to Kaarta and Segu, where the
"true Muslims" now lived. The 1860s saw some economic recovery in Bundu
with the cessation of warfare and the raids of Bokar Saada, but this was
mitigated by the cholera epidemic of the decade. By the 1870s, the Almaami
was frustrated over his inability to command sufficient revenues, and he
therefore decided to increase exactions upon the Bundunkobe themselves.
The Bundunke cultivators, having never fully recovered from the devas-
tation caused by the French-Umarian conflict, were hardly able to support
the Almaamfs desired standard of living.

The despotic government of Bubakar Saada was not designed to repeople
Bundu, and to restore it such as it was before the invasion of Al-Hajj Omar ...

The populations, pillaged and ruined by the arbitrary exactions with which
they were struck by the Almamy, turn their eyes toward a country more
hospitable. A general emigration takes place every year from the prosperous
villages of the Ferlo. The banks of the Faleme, at other times lined with
numerous villages, today exhibit completely deserted forests without end.80

The result of Bokar Saada's oppression was in fact the further depopulation
of Bundu.81 Its richest area, the banks of the Faleme, received the Almaami's
heaviest demands. Those villages which resisted were pillaged. It soon
became a cyclical decline: economic oppression led to emigration, which led
to increased oppression. Most emigrants moved further south.82 By 1879,
long after the cholera epidemic had run its course, Bundu was still char-
acterized as a poor country, "sadly populated."83 Gone were the days of its
fabled productivity and abundance. In 1881, Bundu was calm and peaceful,
but also largely abandoned.84

The oppression shouldered by the Bundunke people was not completely
the function of Bokar Saada's singular greed. Those Sissibe who remained
with him also sought out their own advantage.85 In addition to the nobility,
the royal slaves enjoyed influential positions within the court, and pressured
the Almaami to increase levies on Bundunke subjects.86 In other words, the
Almaamfs entourage was as committed to plunder and self-advancement as
it was to the Almaami, and probably more so. The chief incentive for
supporting Bokar Saada, other than the fear of reprisal, was the spoils of war
and oppression.

It is very likely that relations between the Sissibe and the Jakhanke also
became strained under Bokar Saada, based upon future Jakhanke support of
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Mamadu Lamine, whose movement was in part a reaction to Bokar Saada's
oppression. In addition, the French suspected the Jakhanke of maintaining
links to Samori, and therefore asked Bokar Saada to monitor relations
between the two. The Almaami reportedly even seized a group of slaves given
by Samori to one Bakari Jabi, who had visited Samori.87 However, it is not
clear that in confiscating the slaves Bokar Saada was following a French
directive; he may have simply been exploiting the fears of the French as an
excuse to personally benefit from the Jakhanke's growing number of slaves
taken captive in Samori's wars.

The sense of public trust in the Bundunke almaamate, to the extent that it
existed, was destroyed under Bokar Saada. Bundu, and more specifically
Senoudebou, was no more than his base of operations. Never very popular
in the first place, his domestic policies succeeded in reducing the few adher-
ents he once had. "Boubakar is no longer well-loved by his people; he has
domestic difficulties and oppressed subjects who only seek to throw off the
yoke."88 Whenever he traveled, he was always accompanied by a large
retinue and cavalry, the latter sometimes reaching 600 men.89 Beyond this
indirect evidence of unpopularity was the behavior of a few members of the
Sy family. As early as 1866, his nephew Saada Amadi, fresh from defeat at
Kenieba in Bambuk, abandoned the Almaami. His reason was his disgust at
the ruler's policies, a reference to Bokar Saada's incessant raiding of neigh-
boring states and apparent greed in the distribution of booty.90 He sought
refuge with Abdul Bokar Kan. By 1879, several more Sissibe had gone to
Abdul Bokar Kan, including some of the Almaamfs sons, who were con-
cerned with the harmful effects of overtaxation on the peasantry. According
to Laude, there was even a plan under consideration to recruit Futanke
soldiers, return to Bundu, and force the Almaami to change his destructive
ways.91 Umar Penda was Bokar Saada's brother and in charge of Boulebane,
but even he refused entrance to the Almaami, a further indication of a
fundamental disagreement with the destructive policies of the Almaami.
Facing this kind of dissension, Bokar Saada told Laude: "'Everyone has
forsakened me now; I am going to go to Gambia'."92

The combination of the defeat by Gamon in 1884, and the depopulation of
the Ferlo, served to greatly discourage the warrior-ruler.93 An old man by
now, he eventually took ill. Negotiations with Gamon in May and June of
1885 were fruitless.94 Shortly before his death, he sent Usuman Gassi into
Bambuk in a punitive raid against Farabana.95 He died after this last success
on 10 December 1885. He was survived by seven sons: Usuman Gassi, Saada
Bokar, Wopa Bokar, Cire Ture, Musa Yero, Sulayman Bokar, and Sega
Bokar. An eighth son, Amadi Bokar, had died earlier.96 There is general
agreement about the length of his reign.97

Bokar Saada's personal prestige eclipsed the actual condition of Bundu,
which suffered greatly under his tenure. His incredible indifference to his
constituency left him a man without a "country," a lonely figure when all
was said and done. Awarded the cross of the French Legion of Honor in
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1860, he was noted for his love of alcohol, "esteeming the Bordeaux wines
above all."98 Married to five women, he obviously lived beyond the bound-
aries of sharia."
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Mamadu Lamine and the demise of Bundu

Bundu in the second half of the nineteenth century is a study in pathos. From
the Civil War of 1853-54, to the jihads of al-hdjj Umar, to the ravenous
policies of Bokar Saada, the Bundunkobe endured crisis after crisis. Any
hope for relief was quickly dashed with the "invasion" of the cleric Mamadu
Lamine in the early part of 1886. The combined effect of these incessant wars
was a dramatic decline in Bundu's population. In the late 1850s, during the
wars of Umar, Faidherbe estimated Bundu's population to have been
around 100,000.x This is surely exaggerated; a more credible figure would
have been about 15,000, given the period. By 1887, in the midst of Mamadu
Lamine's campaign, estimates on the population range from 9,350 to
10,000.2 While the method of estimation is not clear, nor is it certain that the
various estimators were working within the same parameters, the qualitative
evidence is consistent with the implications of the quantitative efforts
that Bundu's population declined significantly within a span of thirty-five
years. As a result of Mamadu Lamine'syY/zad, Bundu ceased to be a power of
any substance or importance.

Bokar Saada's death was a major turning point in the fortunes of the
Bundunke people. The French had lost an ally, the Bundunkobe a tyrant.
Umar Penda, Bokar Saada's brother, became Almaami. Around fifty years
old, he had fought alongside Bokar Saada, but he was not as loyal to the
French. Actually Bokar Saada's first son Amadi Bokar was being groomed
as his heir at the "School of Chiefs" in Saint Louis. His death in November
of 1875 was a sore disappointment.3 Under the circumstances, the French
chose to abide by the legal succession process.

The period from the advent of Mamadu Lamine to 1905 is chiefly
informed by intermediate and exogenous materials, with the same con-
sequences as previously encountered - a preoccupation with external devel-
opments and de-emphasis on events within the Bundunke court and society.
The sources must be approached with due caution, as the French assumed an
adversarial relationship to Mamadu Lamine. The account of Henri Frey is
particularly suspect; he consistently portrays the cleric as the aggressor who
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was opposed to the French from early in his career. In view of these
difficulties, records such as Frey's can be employed to reconstruct basic
chronologies, but cannot be relied upon for interpretive purposes. The
analysis of events must be arrived at via independent evaluation of the
sources and the circumstances they seek to describe.

Scholarship concerning Mamadu Lamine himself suggests the difficulty in
assessing his place and purpose in West African history. From the perspec-
tive of people such as Bathily and Oloruntimehin, Mamadu Lamine was a
leader in the anti-colonial resistance. Fisher begs to differ, arguing that the
cleric's activities were much more of a response to local political conditions,
and were in essence a religious movement. Hrbek approximates Fisher's
position by placing Mamadu Lamine "in the ranks of the Western Sudan
revivalists of Islam," where he seeks (unsuccessfully) the friendship of the
French against the Torodbe of Segu and, to a lesser extent, Bundu.4

In contrast to all of the foregoing interpretations, it would appear that,
upon closer scrutiny of Mamadu Lamine, he was neither a leader par
excellence of the resistance to colonialism, nor was he the quintessential
reformer. Rather, Mamadu Lamine should be viewed as a cleric who greatly
aspired to assume theopolitical leadership of a Muslim state. His desire to
undertake such a responsibility was conditioned by his having lived for many
years in various lands under Muslim rule, where he was afforded the
opportunity to observe the machinery of Islamic government, and to which
he grew accustomed. In particular, he became associated with the ruling elite
in Maasina and Segu, where he clearly demonstrated leadership potential.
Such was his promise that he was eventually perceived as a threat in Segu,
and consequently detained. This development essentially crushed his hopes
of succeeding (or perhaps replacing) Amadu Sheku, and upon his release,
forced him to look elsewhere in order to realize his ambition. The bitter
experience in Segu was never forgotten.

Upon returning to the Upper Senegal, Mamadu Lamine would call for the
launching of jihad against Gamon, in Tenda. He would receive tremendous
support because of his reputation as a scholar, a holy man {wait), and a
miracle-worker. At the same time, all of the evidence indicates that Lamine
was also extremely prudent; he understood the commercial and political
entrenchment of the French, and sought to avoid any hostilities with them.
Rather than a confrontation, Mamadu Lamine sought a modus vivendi with
Saint Louis, particularly in view of his designs on Segu. As matters turned
out, confrontation did occur, to the irreversible misfortune of the cleric, but
such a development does not qualify him as an anticolonial figure. He fought
the French out of necessity, in self-defense. The eradication of the French
was not his primary objective.

Notwithstanding the religious content of Mamadu Lamine's appeal, his
movement was also assisted by certain adverse conditions operating in the
upper valley. First of all, he benefitted from resentment to French military
encroachment into the area and its economic consequences. Briere de l'lsle,
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who had become Governor of Senegal in 1876, adopted an imperialistic
policy towards the upper valleys, and viewed the Umarian territories as an
impediment to French interests. He and former Governor Jean Jaure-
guiberry persuaded the Colonial Office to adopt the "Niger Plan," part of
which provided for the creation of an Upper River Command in 1880,
which was staffed by a large number of troops {Tirailleurs senegalais).
Concentrations of soldiers were kept stationed at Kita and Bamako, which
were supplied by the commercial posts of Bakel and Medine, over which
was the administrative center at Kayes. Most of these troops were
recruited from the Senegal Valley, which involved some social disruption.
Perhaps more disturbing, however, was that portion of the Niger Plan that
required the use of forced labor for the purpose of constructing telegraph
and railway lines, beginning in 1879. The French "freedom villages" for
absconded slaves proved to be little more than involuntary labor pools,
and they unwittingly paved the way for the start of Archinard's conquest
in 1890. In fact, the French presence tended to exacerbate the plight of
slaves, as the food demands of the expanded military meant that the need
for agricultural slave labor kept apace.5

A second factor contributing to the growth of Mamadu Lamine's fol-
lowing was the disaffection of the people of Jombokho-Jafunu and Guidi-
makha, who had launched a rebellion against Amadu Sheku's brothers in
Kaarta in 1876 and were brutally repressed. These subject populations
were receptive to Mamadu Lamine's call for a more just society. Finally, a
third factor which aided the development of the cleric's community was
centered in Bundu, where the people were still reeling from the oppression
of Bokar Saada.

An important constituency in Lamine's following were the Mande-
speaking communities of the upper valley, and in particular the Soninke.
By the second half of the nineteenth century, the Mande-speakers outnum-
bered the Fulbe in Bundu.6 Up until the wars of al-hdjj Umar, they had
been willing to adhere to the Bundunke formulation of power. But the
ensuing fergo, or emigration, resulted in an even greater population
imbalance in their favor. In addition, the Soninke had to a great extent
rallied behind the Shaykh. That they suffered disproportionately under
Bokar Saada is possibly explained by this earlier support of the Umarians.
In any event, the policies of Bokar Saada resulted in the alienation of the
Soninke, and provided a critical base for Mamadu Lamine's early efforts
at organization.

In view of the foregoing, Mamadu Lamine, propelled by personal
ambition, promoted the possibility of a more equitable society under the
laws of religion. In response, considerable numbers in the upper valley
gravitated to his camp, as they were both inspired by his vision, and
disgruntled by economic and social conditions already operative.
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Mamadu Lamine's background

Mamadu Lamine was born Ma Lamine Demba Dibassi some time between
1830 and 1840.7 His birthplace was Safalou, in Diakha (in southern Bundu),
and he is therefore considered to have been Jakhanke by Smith and Sanneh.8

On the other hand, Rangon argues that his ethnicity is in doubt, and was
possibly a mixture of Fulbe and Bambara.9 His father was named Alfa
Mamadu, the son of Alfa Mamadu Salif, the latter originally from the
Jakhanke center of Goundiourou in Khasso.10 Lamine's clear association
with both Goundiourou and Diakha province, combined with his strong
subsequent identification with the Soninke, suggests that he was probably
either Jakhanke or Soninke.

It was Alfa Mamadu Salif who emigrated to Safalou; his son married a
woman from Diafounou (northeast of Guidimakha), who became Mamadu
Lamine's mother. Mamadu Lamine's father, as can be deduced from his
title, was a teacher of the Qur'an and a qddfin the village.11 Mamadu Lamine
attended Qur'anic school under his father's instruction, after which he went
to Bakel to further his studies. His shaykh was Fudi Muhammad Salum,
renowned throughout the upper valley.12 Lamine was in Bakel when al-hdjj
Umar passed through in 1847.13 According to Mahammadou Aliou Tyam,
Mamadu Lamine fought under the Shaykh, but Bathily disputes this.14 At
some point after 1855, he made the hajj; however, the precise itinerary of his
travels is shrouded in uncertainty.15 On his return to West Africa in 1879, he
went to Timbuktu and Maasina, where al-Tijani received him with valuable
gifts. From there he journeyed to Segu, where he was apparently placed
under house arrest by a suspicious Amadu Sheku.16 In 1885, Mamadu
Lamine departed from Segu, after reportedly performing numerous mira-
cles, and arrived in Goundiourou in July of that year.17 He had spent some
thirty years away from Senegambia.18

When Mamadu Lamine returned to Khasso, he found a very different set
of circumstances. Before he left, al-hdjj Umar had created a sensation in the
west, and was marching on Kaarta in 1854; by 1885, the Shaykh was dead,
his empire split, and his heir unalterably opposed to the celebrated traveler.
In the early 1850s, Khasso and Guidimakha were strongholds of Umarian
sentiment; by 1885, the anti-Umarian Sambala ruled Khasso and its envir-
ons. Before he made the hajj, Bundu had been an important supplier of
recruits for the jihad; in 1885, Bokar Saada was wielding power. Above all,
the French had become the dominant power in the upper valley.

A reappraisal of Mamadu Lamine's initial objective constitutes the focus
of the remainder of this section and the beginning of the next. In anticipation
of that discussion, and within the context of the preceding paragraphs, it is
possible to summarize Mamadu Lamine's plans for establishing his leader-
ship in the upper valley. First of all, he was from the area. He had extensive
ties throughout the upper valley, as evidenced by the backgrounds of his
parents and grandfather. He had been educated there. Consequently, rather
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than seizing control of an existing Muslim state, he targeted non-Muslim
Gamon for a jihad. Gamon had maintained poor relations with the upper
valley states, particularly Bundu. Lamine reasoned that this historical enmity
would help to persuade Bundu and others to join his campaign. But in addi-
tion to its religious nonconformity and political isolation, Gamon was also
targeted because of its proximity to the Gambia and the groundnut trade.
From Gamon, Lamine would be able to access the commerce of the region,
including that of the French and the British.

By calling for jihad, Lamine had in mind something beyond the raids of
Bokar Saada. Rather, he was advocating a prescriptive holy war for the
purpose of planting a Muslim state on the soil of the vanquished. He would
then be in position to fashion either a confederation (in which existing states
would enjoy autonomy, except in cases of war and in matters involving
foreign policy, and would probably pay tribute); or an empire (in which exist-
ing states would become provinces in a centralized and integrated adminis-
trative structure). The "existing states" consisted of Bundu, Khasso, Guidi-
makha, Kamera, and Guey, which by 1885 constituted the heartland of the
Soninke diaspora. With the creation of either option, Lamine could then
determine whether or not his vendetta against Amadu Sheku remained
desirable.

While Lamine may have been moved by principle and ambition, his fol-
lowers were motivated by other factors. Suffering under French domination,
many saw the jihad as a means of escaping the forced labor requisitions and
the attendant disruption of the social order. Under Muslim rule in Gamon,
they would have an opportunity to renew their communities and way of life.
This hope would be particularly true of disaffected Bundunkobe, who were
fed up with both the Fulbe and the French. For the Soninke, the call to jihad
was in many ways an invitation to self-determination.

Between July and December of 1885, Mamadu Lamine began promoting
his vision of a new Muslim empire by sending letters throughout Senegambia
calling for jihad against Gamon.19 He was well-received by Sambala of
Khasso, who was either unaware of or unthreatened by the cleric's plans.20

Mamadu Lamine also contacted the French. In August, he wrote a letter to
the Governor, expressing an interest in establishing cordial relations:

I have the honor of bringing to your attention that I have arrived from a pilgri-
mage to Mecca, after an absence from my native land of thirty-six years ...

I am the friend of the French and will only follow their orders wherever I am.
I come therefore to ask you in good faith, M. Governor, to allow me to

pursue my activities in integrity and in wisdom, and to teach all of my people
who will be under my authority to walk in the same path.21

The following month, Mamadu Lamine reiterated his peaceful intentions
toward the French:

The infidels are very numerous. I am not even able to make war against them
all, all the more reason to make war against the French [sic, should be: not to
make war ... ], because they are able to improve my situation; for the powder,
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the balls, the firearms, and munitions of war, as well as the paper, are all
French articles, which we are only able to obtain from you and with your
approval; because of that, it is necessary to be in peace.22

Nyambarza argues that Mamadu Lamine really desired friendship with
Saint Louis.23 In contrast, Bathily maintains that, based upon his volatile
personality and the fact that he was already stockpiling arms, Mamadu
Lamine was only engaging in "dissimulation" with the French, that he was
only deceiving them into believing he wanted peaceful relations.24 Ran$on
also maintains that the reformer was involved in subterfuge, based upon
Frey's contention that the Soninke would not follow him if he had a hostile
relationship with Saint Louis.25 In other words, Mamadu Lamine was
deceiving both the French and his own followers. However, the logic of the
situation would suggest that Mamadu Lamine did not desire a confrontation
with the French. Instead, he sought to exploit a good relationship with Saint
Louis to achieve his objective. It was his hope that he could realize the latter
without antagonizing the former. In the end, he could not.

While articulating the need for the Gamon jihad, Lamine also probed the
French on the question of attacking Segu.26 In November of 1885, Colonel
Frey went to Kayes and met with Mamadu Lamine, who proposed that the
French join him in his plan to defeat Amadu Sheku.27 Frey refused. The
cleric then asked permission to go through Guidimakha and Guey; Frey
approved as long as Lamine did not take a large entourage with him.
Sambala was present, and vouched for the cleric's sincerity.28 At this point,
Mamadu Lamine began exhorting the various Muslim communities to join
him in his jihad against the unbelievers. According to Frey, he actually
sought to stir up sentiment against the French; the Soninke in particular
became extremely hostile, and refused to even help transport the French
correspondence.29 However, Frey's official position makes his contention
dubious. At the same time, given the forced labor requisitions of the French,
Soninke resentment towards them would be neither surprising nor con-
tingent upon Mamadu Lamine's agitation.30

Around the beginning of December, Mamadu Lamine paid a visit to
Dramane, near Makhana, a town known for its religious zeal.31 From there
he visited Bakel, continuing to proclaim his loyalty to the French. As
evidence of his good faith, he left his family and slaves behind in Goundiou-
rou, something he had agreed to do in his talks with Frey in November.32

Since Goundiourou was between Kayes and Medine, it was relatively help-
less and subject to reprisal if Mamadu Lamine reneged on his agreement
with Frey. From Bakel he went to Balou, near the mouth of the Faleme, and
from there invited Bundu's participation in the jihad against Gamon.33

War against the Sissibe

When Mamadu Lamine re-entered Senegambia in 1885, the French were not
terribly concerned about what his return might mean. They were busy with
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Lat Dior, Abdul Bokar Kan, Amadu Sheku in Nioro, and the emergence of
the Malinke under Samori. Mamadu Lamine's activities in Goundiourou
had caused some discomfort, hence Frey's visit to Kayes; but his continued
pledges of loyalty went a long way to disarm the French. They watched his
activities at Balou with interest, not alarm.

From Balou, Mamadu Lamine wrote to Bokar Saada, asking him to join
in ihQ jihad against Gamon.34 Since Bundu had recently been defeated by
Gamon, it was possible that the Bundunke ruler would seize another oppor-
tunity to take the village. Instead, the old, sickly Almaami refused either to
participate in such a venture, or to allow Mamadu Lamine to cross Bun-
dunke territory en route to Tenda. His reason for the denial was that he only
marched with "the friends of France."35 However, the unstated reasons for
Bokar Saada's denial included his fear of a potentially hostile theocracy on
his southern border, and his apprehension of Lamine's appeal to the dis-
gruntled within Bundu. Neither was he interested in Bundu's incorporation
into a larger political arrangement; he had opposed Bundu's subordination
under al-hajj Umar, and was no more disposed towards the idea now than he
was then. Finally, Bokar Saada did not exactly relish the thought of a
possible impediment to his relatively free access to the trade and spoils of the
Gambia.

In the course of a developing situation in which Lamine's forces were
massing at Balou, Bokar Saada died, just fifteen days after the cleric's
original request to cross Bundu.36 Suddenly, the executive office of the most
strategically placed power in the upper valley was vacant. At this point,
Bundu was very vulnerable, and Lamine understood this. He knew that the
Bundunkobe were extremely dissatisfied with Sissibe rule. He also antici-
pated a succession struggle, as Umar Penda was sickly and nearly blind,
while Usuman Gassi had every intention of becoming Almaami, having
inherited his father's wealth and influence.37 Umar Penda, in contrast, did
not inspire confidence, and "was without authority over his subjects." He
remained at Boulebane, where he had become a recluse some time prior to
Bokar Saada's death. In short, Bundu was fully enveloped by the crisis, and
the cleric was well aware of it.

It is difficult to believe, then, that the thought of shifting his focus from
Gamon to Bundu did not enter Lamine's mind with Bokar Saada's death.
Given Bundu's problems, it probably would have been easier to defeat the
Sissibe than to have taken on Gamon. However, it is not at all clear that the
cleric changed his original objective at this time. Besides, he did not want to
engender a conflict with the French, a likely consequence of such an alter-
ation in plans. Therefore, it is more probable than not that he resisted the
temptation to seize Bundu at this point.

While Mamadu Lamine was sensitive to the difficulties that could ensue if
he crossed into Bundu without authorization, he had another problem: his
burgeoning forces at Balou. He therefore requested permission from Umar
Penda to enter Bundu as soon as Penda was named Almaami?* The latter
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declined, as he was under instructions from the French.39 He really had little
choice except to depend on the French for help and direction, as Usuman
Gassi, the real power in Bundu, was refusing to cooperate with the new
ruler.40

Mamadu Lamine, with his forces growing in number, enthusiasm, and
restlessness, also began to grow impatient. He again implored Penda for
permission to enter Bundu, and appealed to their common religion, insisting
that his intention was to wage jihad against Gamon.41 Meanwhile, the camp
of the cleric continued to swell with the Soninke and other Mande-speakers
from Bambuk, Khasso, Kamera, and Bundu.42 He also drew support from
the young and idealistic, and from those who had been conscripted into the
involuntary labor details of the French: laborers, soldiers, those who
handled watercraft, etc.43 All of the foregoing were joined to the core of his
support, his tdlibs or original circle of followers.44

In addition to the Soninke populations, Mamadu Lamine also recruited
from the Jakhanke, somewhat surprising in view of their pacifist ideology. In
fact, it would appear that he received significant Jakhanke support, an
indication of their disapproval of the policies of Bokar Saada. However, the
Jakhanke, while distancing themselves from Bokar Saada, still valued their
extensive and historical ties to the Sissibe family. When it became clear to
them that Lamine intended to wage war against the Sissibe as a whole, and to
create a new political order in Bundu, they withdrew their prayers, suste-
nance, and token military support from the cleric. The consequences of the
Jakhanke's decision would be disastrous for them, as will be subsequently
explained.45

With Mamadu Lamine's forces steadily growing at Balou, Umar Penda
decided to move from Boulebane to Gabou, where he would be closer to
Bakel. Upon receiving his final denial from the Almaami, Mamadu Lamine
felt he could no longer wait, and announced that he was going up the Faleme
River to Senoudebou, where he would visit Bokar Saada's grave.46 However,
he insisted that Gamon remained his objective, not Bundu.

Hrbek has forwarded the very plausible suggestion that Usuman Gassi
may have given the cleric permission to enter Bundu, hoping that the
probable conflict between Lamine and Umar Penda would topple the
Almaami, and thus leave Usuman Gassi in charge of all Bundu.47 Indeed,
Ran$on does record that after entering Bundu, Mamadu Lamine sent two
envoys to Usuman Gassi at Diamwali (between Senoudebou and Boule-
bane).48 Usuman Gassi refused to receive the envoys, but he kept the horses.
It is not clear whether the horses were gifts, or simply confiscated. The
context does reveal, however, that Usuman Gassi was not with Umar Penda
during this moment of crisis, and that he did nothing to impede the cleric's
progress into Bundu. Indirect evidence would therefore support Hrbek's
proposal, but this cannot be confirmed.

From Balou, Mamadu Lamine went to Allahina, then on to Senoudebou.
He did not try to enter the fort, but proceeded to Debou and camped there.49
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He remained only one day, before he headed north back to Diamwali. There
is some evidence that he was invited to Diamwali by Usuman Gassi for the
purpose of agreeing to a treaty.50 Whether Usuman Gassi called for this
meeting or not, it is clear that Mamadu Lamine was interested in nego-
tiations, possibly to persuade the Sissibe to join the jihad, or, to effect a
post-victory alliance. This speculation is consistent with the cleric's
treatment of Senoudebou. The town had fully expected an assault; the
cleric's about-face to Diamwali suggests that he wanted to avoid a confront-
ation with Umar Penda. Rangon's contention that the reformer planned to
convene the Sissibe in order to assassinate them is unlikely.51

When Mamadu Lamine arrived at Diamwali, he sent word to Umar
Penda. The Almaami, frightened and convinced that conflict was inevitable,
personally led a troop of men against the cleric.52 By Rangon's own admis-
sion, Umar Penda fired the first shot.53 His troops were quickly over-
whelmed by the Soninke, forcing him to retreat to Boulebane. He left his son
Bokar Umar (or Boubakar Saada) to fend for himself with a company of
thirty men; twenty of that party perished, and Bokar Umar was made a
captive. The next day, Diamwali was pillaged and burned. Usuman Gassi
had apparently escaped unnoticed, perhaps before the cleric's army had even
arrived.54 Umar Penda, after leaving Boulebane under the care of a small
force, went to Bakel to request aid. Bakel was unable, however, to accomo-
date its ally; most of the French forces were in the Upper Niger fighting
Samori.55 It is also possible that the French were not convinced that Lamine
threatened their interests at this time. The Almaami hastened to Futa
Damga, and appealed to Abdul Bokar Kan for help, but the grand elector
was unable to oblige.

Umar Penda's attack on Mamadu Lamine, after the latter had sought a
diplomatic exchange, greatly facilitated the shift in the cleric's focus from
Gamon to Bundu. This change in strategy is evidenced by Lamine's
subsequent activities, and represents a fateful decision on his part. The
choice to remain in Bundu and fight the Sissibe would ultimately lead to
war with the French. However, such a fate must have appeared avoidable
at the time.

While Umar Penda was away trying to procure additional men and arms,
the cleric appeared before Boulebane at the head of three columns. Abdul
Amadi Gai, a Sy "prince," was in charge of defending the capital, as Umar
Penda's wives and daughters were still there. The small garrison was able to
hold off the assault for a brief time, but was short of ammunition, firearms,
and men. Among the twenty-five Bundunkobe who perished behind the
walls, three were members of the Sy family. Although most of the residents
were able to escape, all of the surviving Sissibe, their royal slaves, and their
court officials were taken captive. Only Abdul Amadi Gai managed to elude
the cleric, thanks to a few sympathetic Soninke who feared he would be
executed.

Following these two victories, the ranks of the cleric swelled with Soninke
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volunteers, and further encouraged him to continue on in Bundu.56

Mamadu Lamine remained in Boulebane for four days.57 On the fifth day,
his forces marched on Senoudebou, the seat of the late Bokar Saada's
power. To his surprise, the cleric entered a deserted town.58 Upon learning
of the twin debacles of Diamwali and Boulebane, the population of Sen-
oudebou had quickly dispersed to all points on the map. Included in this
group was Bokar Saada's widow, Lallya, the daughter of Sambala, who
returned to Khasso.59 Usuman Gassi, from wherever he had disappeared,
arrived in Bakel and asked for asylum. If he had anticipated a mutually
destructive conflict between Umar Penda and Mamadu Lamine, from
which he would benefit, he now realized that his projections had gone
awry, and that Mamadu Lamine had emerged as the preeminent power in
Bundu. Of the multi-faceted Bundunke army, with its fabled cavalry and
fearsome reputation, none remained to face the cleric.

Mamadu Lamine occupied Senoudebou for no less than three weeks;
Frey states he was proclaimed "king" of Bundu, and announced that he
was the "Mahdi of the west."60 Whatever else the cleric might accomplish,
the taking of Senoudebou was his crowning achievement. The amount of
support following the victories over Diamwali and Boulebane grew with
the cleric's third and most resounding accomplishment. Joining the cleric,
in addition to those from Khasso, Guidimakha, and Gajaaga, were recruits
from Niani, Niocolo and Bambuk, who had also suffered under Bokar
Saada.61 The Soninke of Gajaaga were given permission to take over
villages in northern Bundu (Leze-Bundu and Leze-Maio). They soon
entered western Bundu (Ferlo Baliniama and Ferlo M'Bal), extending the
cleric's control all the way to N'Dia and Wuro-Kaba (the westernmost
reaches of Bundu). Mamadu Lamine showed himself politically astute, and
offered his friendship and amnesty to the remaining Bundunke villages. He
even sent to Umar Penda, asking him and all the "chiefs of the land" to
come to Senoudebou and talk with him.62 However, the Almaami
responded negatively. By 15 February 1886, the forces of the Soninke
leader had taken control of most of Bundu, including villages neighboring
Bakel.63 In just two weeks, he had become the new master of Bundu, and
had assembled some 6,000 to 7,000 armed men at Senoudebou.64

As with any social movement, it would be erroneous to suggest that
Mamadu Lamine enjoyed unanimous support among the Soninke. Not
even al-hdjj Umar, who probably had the largest popular following in
Senegambia's history, met with universal approval; indeed, even he resor-
ted to forcibly moving the reticent into his camp. Mamadu Lamine was no
different. Those villages which resisted his advances were incinerated; the
village heads were killed, the women and children taken captive, and the
men sometimes forced to serve in the army.65
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Engaging the French

In an attempt to consolidate his authority over Bundu, Mamadu Lamine
made the tactical decision of attacking Borde village, near Bakel, where
Usuman Gassi had taken refuge.66 The operation was risky due to Borde's
proximity to Bakel and the French. However, Lamine gambled that the
French would not interpret the attack as a move against them. After all, the
cleric's family remained at Goundiourou. Hence, the cleric sent an unsuc-
cessful expedition against Borde in March of 1886. Following the failure to
dislodge Usuman Gassi, the cleric ordered his men to remove to Kounguel.

Unfortunately for Mamadu Lamine, the Borde assault was indeed inter-
preted by the French as an attack on Bakel and French interests. The French
had chosen to avoid involvement up to this point, but the Borde affair was
unnerving. Lamine had all along claimed that Gamon was his goal, but he
was actually concentrating on targets in the opposite direction. The French
determined that they could no longer afford to remain idle.

On 14 March, the French took two actions against the cleric. First, they
sent a troop of Senegalese Riflemen against the cleric's men at Kounguel.
Although the latter were victorious, the attack clearly signaled that Lamine
was now considered an enemy of France.67 Secondly, the French seized the
cleric's wives, children, and slaves in Goundiourou.68 They were all trans-
ported to Medine and kept under house arrest. That they had remained at
Goundiourou until this late date demonstrates that Mamadu Lamine did not
desire a conflict with the French, even after entering Bundunke territory.

Mamadu Lamine was stung by the swift and coordinated attack on
Goundiourou and seizure of his family. Perhaps without considering the full
implications of his actions, he responded angrily by striking at the very heart
of French power in the upper valley: Bakel itself. By 1886, Bakel consisted of
the French fort, the village itself, and several other villages all clustered
together.69 There were some 4,000 refugees in Bakel at that time, including
the Bundunke royal family. At least 250 soldiers were defending the position;
Colonel Frey, whose official designation was "Commandant Superieur de
Haut-Senegal," had sent reinforcements to Bakel as early as February.70 By
attacking Bakel, the cleric committed himself to a struggle that he had
consistently sought to avoid.

Mamadu Lamine began the Bakel assault on 1 April, personally com-
manding some 10,000 to 12,000 men (a possible exaggeration).71 For the next
four days, the reformer's forces attacked, only to be repulsed. Following
their failure to storm the fort, the Soninke army attempted a siege, but the
effort was largely finished by 12 April.72 For all practical purposes, the
inability to take Bakel was the turning point in this war, though it would
drag on for two more years. The fact that some of the surrounding villages
were torched, that casualties were inflicted, and that the cleric's men dese-
crated the European cemetery were small consolations indeed.73

Frey lost no time in taking the offensive, and marched into Kamera and
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Guidimakha to punish those communities which had aided the cleric. This
strategy was adopted because the Colonel was not yet in a position to attack
Mamadu Lamine directly; he could not afford to remove the column at
Kayes.74 Attacking villages in Guidimakha would be less risky because of
the proximity to Kayes, and it would also cause the cleric's men to abandon
the army in order to help in the recovery of their home villages. Bangassi,
Samankidy, Salancounda, Gagny, Bokhoro, Goumbe, Guemou-Bambella,
Manahel, and Diougountouron were all taken by 30 April, and a small
garrison left at each village. On 19 April, Mamadu Lamine attacked the
French column at Tamboucane, but was thoroughly defeated.75

Retreat to the south

In view of his sudden reversal, Mamadu Lamine retreated to the south,
where he would attempt to reorganize his followers and establish a network
of Muslim and Soninke support throughout the upper valley. By moving to
the southern extremes of Diakha, and consequently just beyond the limits of
Bundu's control of the area, Lamine was in effect conceding northern Bundu
to the French. However, there was strong anti-Sissibe sentiment in southern
Bundu, so that Lamine retained his control over this area. He reasoned that
an accommodation with the French was still possible, and that a good
military showing might persuade the French to grant him authority over at
least a portion of southern Bundu. However, the French were unwilling, and
continued to push for the cleric's total annihilation.

While Lamine regrouped in Diakha, the Sissibe, rescued from certain
destruction by the French, were able to regain their composure and contri-
bute to the struggle against the cleric. Usuman Gassi was ordered to pursue
the cleric, with 400 cavalry under his command. By 25 April, Gassi reached
Senoudebou, only to find that the cleric had burned it to the ground in his
retreat.76 Umar Penda, commanding a force of 300 cavalry, also pursued the
cleric, but was unable to catch up with him before he entered Diakha.77

Perhaps neither was fully prepared to engage Mamadu Lamine at this time.
The month of May saw the French in an effort to pacify the upper valley.78

During this period the three most important villages of western Guidimakha,
which had been among the first to support the cleric, were subdued.79 Guey
and Kamera were also brought under control. Almaami Umar Penda,
meanwhile, had received a large contingent of Futanke soldiers from Abdul
Bokar Kan. Numbering around 2,000 now, the Bundunke loyalists set out to
reclaim Bundu, attacking villages which had turned against the Sissibe.80

The forces of the cleric fought back, however, and sent expeditions from
Diakha against Dalafine and Goulongo (both in Tiali), Nionsonko, and
Sansanding, pillaging and burning all four.81 Mamadu Lamine continued to
wield considerable influence over most of the realm's southern portion. Frey
commented: "The great fatigue of the troops did not allow me to pursue the
cleric into Diakha, ... "82 Neither did Mamadu Abdul, Abdul Bokar Kan's
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son and commander of the Futanke forces, feel comfortable about going
into Diakha, more or less unified in its support of Mamadu Lamine.83

Lamine established himself at the town of Dianna, in Diakha.84 From
there he maintained contact with the various Soninke communities.85 He
continued to exhort the populations of Guidimakha and Gajaaga to remain
faithful:

In the name of God ... Oh! resident of Gajaaga and Guidimakha, ... unite
completely under the true religion, that is to say, the one of the beneficient
God, unite as well in order to make war against the Christians. Note well that
the Christians are mothers of lies and demons. Oh! residents of Gajaaga and
Guidimakha; I swear to you by God [that] if you do not unite to make war
against the Christians, you will never have proper religion in our times, that is,
the one [religion] of God. The religion of Christians is the one of satan, know
that satan is your enemy, .. ,86

Several insignificant skirmishes took place between the Sissibe and the
forces of Lamine until July, when the cleric sent 1,500 men into Bundu.87

Umar Penda, believing that Lamine's forces would take the usual route and
pass near Boulebane, sent all of the troops with him to intercept Lamine
from the ancient capital. Blind and ailing, the Almaami remained at Fissa-
Daro with the women and children. The cleric's forces, however, took an
alternate route, passing between Koussan and Boggal, and came upon a
defenseless Fissa-Daro. Umar Penda was killed, his body mutilated and
decapitated, and his family and slaves taken captive.88 Usuman Gassi, con-
sistent with his previous pattern, arrived too late to prevent the Almaamfs
death. Umar Penda had reigned only seven months.89 He was survived by
six sons: Bokar Umar, Usuman Umar, Tumane, Cire Bokar, Sega Umar,
and Musa Yero.90

Saada Amadi, the son of Amadi Saada who had led the Boulebane branch
for a short period during the wars of al-hajj Umar, succeeded Umar Penda
as Almaami of Bundu.91 He was the legal heir, and was grudgingly recog-
nized by the Sissibe and the French, even though he had exhibited little
interest in fighting for Bundu's security.92 When word spread that Umar
Penda had been killed, many Bundunkobe began emigrating to the Ferlo
area beyond Bundu's southwestern border. Saada Amadi was able to send
his nephew Amadi Cire against Dalafine in Tiali, a stronghold for the fol-
lowers of the cleric. The village was defeated, with significant loss of life and
freedom.

In response to the loss at Dalafine, Mamadu Lamine personally led a
force of 2,000 into Bundu to retake Senoudebou. The cleric attempted to
capture the crumbling fort by stealth, but a heavy rain on the night pre-
ceding the attack forced his men to create fires in order to dry their
munitions. The fires lit up the night sky, and the jihadists lost the element of
surprise. On 23 September 1886, the cleric proceeded to launch an all-out
assault on the fort. His forces walked into a cross-fire under the direction of
the Bundunke Tirailleur Yoro Kumba, and were forced to beat a retreat.
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According to French estimates, Mamadu Lamine lost at least 170 men
through death, and another 150 to 200 through capture.93 Only the heavy
rains prevented the Bundunkobe from inflicting greater losses.

The cleric retreated in haste to Dianna, his men gradually returning in
groups of eight to ten. The major losses were beginning to accumulate; first
Bakel, then Dalafine, now Senoudebou. The clerical camp began to dim-
inish, and Lamine faced the considerable challenge of convincing his
remaining adherents that matters were under control. In particular, his early
support among the Jakhanke had largely dissipated in view of the fact that
not only was he at war with the Sissibe, the Jakhanke's long-time allies, but
he was now suffering successive defeats at the hands of the French. Lamine
responded to the Jakhanke about-face by attacking their villages in Bundu,
which resulted in significant Jakhanke emigration from Bundu towards the
Gambia. In fact, the Jakhanke community in Bundu never recovered from
the overall effects of this war, and would remain dispersed throughout
Senegambia.94

The correspondence emanating from both Mamadu Lamine and the
French is quite illuminating in that it reveals a full-scale propaganda war
being waged by both sides for the allegiance of the people. For example, on
24 September the day after his defeat at Senoudebou, the cleric sent a letter
to the Governor, suing for peace between his forces and the French.95 He
repeated that he never wanted a war with the French, that the whole affair
began with Umar Penda's refusal to permit his followers to cross Bundu. It
was the Almaami who fired first, ignoring the cleric's demonstrations of
peaceful intentions. He went on to say that it was the French who made a
belligerent move by seizing his family, and attacking his forces at Kounguel.
He then added:

I make known to you, to your governor, ... and I swear to you two times
before God, that I never wanted to fight with you, for I would like to live in
peace with the French ... Know that I have many enemies, other than the
French. The infidels are very numerous ...

How would I be able to declare war, I who know all that [that the French
supply necessary goods] and understand it well. No! No! This is that which
God has decided between us:

I have forgotten all that which you have done to me ... Accept and forget
also; this is what I fervently ask and it is my great desire. If I am able to receive
that from God and from you, I will give thanks to God.96

Earlier in 1886, Colonel Gallieni had taken over from Frey as Commandant
Superieur. He had three objectives in mind: to destroy Mamadu Lamine, to
establish good relations with Amadu Sheku to Saint Louis' advantage, and
to drive Samori from the Upper Niger.97 With the latest attack at Senoude-
bou, Gallieni could not afford to allow Mamadu Lamine to simply recover
at Dianna, as Frey had done. He ordered one Lieutenant Bonacorsi to go to
Bundu in October, and to determine the cleric's level of popular support.98

He was also to find out if Almaami Saada Amadi was capable of leading
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Bundu. The Commandant Superieur then launched his own campaign of
intimidation, sending a circular to the communities of the Upper Faleme,
along with those in Wuli, Tenda, and even Dianna:

An evil man, an impostor, a liar, a man who seeks to enrich himself at your
expense, came into your lands to ask for forces to combat the French. Some of
you had the weakness to follow him, and you know what has happened. As
soon as they were before the French, they were killed or forced to flee.

If you are reasonable, listen to my advice. This is what I say to you. Chase
far from you Mamadu Lamine, refuse to give him access to your country and
the cooperation of your arms.

If you do not do that, if you continue to help Mamadu Lamine, there will be
great unhappiness, the columns of my soldiers will come to find him in your
land, and then there will be disaster for all."

Besides Lamine, the French were also unhappy with Saada Amadi, and
looked more and more to Usuman Gassi. They viewed Saada Amadi as
lacking the will to prosecute the war. "With uncaring attitude and without
authority, he allowed the partition of Bundu into a series of appanages,
where each of the Sissibe princes, operating on a small scale, continued the
traditions of Bu Bakar Sada."100 That is to say, the oppressive tactics of the
late Almaami were continued by the "princes." At the same time, what
Saada Amadi did not rule, the other Sissibe controlled. When Gallieni met
Saada Amadi in December of 1886, he described him as "a sovereign without
a kingdom."101 He had about fifty cavalry with him, and a number of
untrained, inexperienced "civilians" who were likely to disrupt the discipline
of the Tirailleurs.102 The Almaami controlled only Senoudebou, and was
apparently not very enthusiastic about extending his authority. It must be
remembered, however, that this was the same Saada Amadi who abandoned
Bokar Saada in 1866 in protest against his fiscal oppression. It is therefore
possible that, rather than simply being lethargic by nature, Saada Amadi
understood only too well the basis for Mamadu Lamine's popular following.

At the same time that Gallieni was writing his circulars, he came to
Arondou and began preparing to march on Dianna. Since Mamadu Lamine
was being furnished with volunteers from both sides of the Faleme, the
Lieutenant-Colonel decided to form two columns. He would lead the first
column from Arondou.103 The second column, under Captain Valliere, was
to proceed southwest from Diamou, located fifty-four kilometers east of
Kayes, the actual terminal point for the Upper Senegal railroad.104 The two
columns, totalling 975 men, began marching on 12 December, with Gallieni
stopping at Senoudebou.105 He took the opportunity to persuade the
Almaami to place Bundu under the exclusive protectorate of France.106 He
then placed the Bundunke contingent under the command of one Guerrin.107

Usuman Gassi also marched with the French forces.
By the end of 1886, after a series of skirmishes which forced Mamadu

Lamine's steady retreat, the cleric was finished in Bundu. The Soninke
communities which remained, including those in Diakha, had all submitted
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to French authority.108 Bambuk was also under their control, and nego-
tiations were opened with Wuli, Tenda, Badon, Niocolo, and the communi-
ties bordering the Faleme. "Bundu, with all of its dependences being
returned to their old masters, became from then on the docile subjects of the
authority of the French."109 As for Usuman Gassi, he was nominated for,
and later received in 1888, the cross of the French Legion of Honor, in
recognition of his military leadership against Mamadu Lamine.110

Toubacouta

Having escaped to Wuli, Mamadu Lamine eventually found refuge in
nearby Toubacouta. Founded in 1869, this village had a history of conflicts
with the Sissibe of Bundu.111 It was therefore disposed to receive the belea-
guered cleric. According to Rangon, the town quickly became the head-
quarters of marginal elements from the neighboring states of Niani,
Sandugu, Salum, and other sections of the Gambia Valley. While at Touba-
couta, Mamadu Lamine experienced great success in reconstructing his
army. Apparently the Malinke population of the Gambia, especially those
of Niani, were as receptive to the cleric's message as were the Soninke of the
Upper Senegal. In the course of a few months, the cleric's strength had
grown to an estimated 4,000 to 5,000 men, a possible exaggeration to justify
the French pursuit of a man who was clearly finished in Bundu.112

During this lull before the final storm, northern and central Bundu were
described as peaceful, with most of the population involved in culti-
vation.113 They were also depicted as evincing little interest in taking up the
war with Mamadu Lamine. The ravages of the preceding year, followed by
yet another famine, and aggravated by unchecked raiding on the part of the
people of Gamon, were debilitating to say the least.114

On 28 November 1887, the French forces departed for Toubacouta from
Bani Israila, having passed the previous seven months at the ancient site.115

The Tiralleurs totaled 250 men, of which there was a "Torodo" contingent
of 120, a unit from Wuli of 200, and auxiliaries from Fouladougou number-
ing 2,000.116 Bundu could only muster 300 infantry and thirty cavalry, the
latter led by Usuman Gassi. The French estimated that Mamadu Lamine's
4,000 man force was composed of the following groups: 700 Soninke, who
represented the remainder of his earliest following; 800 residents of Touba-
couta; 200 Wolof from Salum; 300 led by Mamadu Fatuma, an ally of the
cleric and characterized by Rangon as a "rogue"; and 2,000 supplied by
Niani.117

On 8 December the French finally reached Toubacouta. The attack
began at seven in the morning, and Usuman Gassi once again distinguished
himself on the field of battle. Toubacouta was destroyed; many lost their
lives.118 Among the casualties were some of the key figures in Mamadu
Lamine's inner circle, including Amadi Bure, his qddi\ Sura Kate Jawara, his
advisor, and the tdlibs who had been with him since Bakel. As for the

167



Pragmatism in the age of Jihad

French forces, all fifty casualties were from among the Bundu and Wuli
soldiers.119 No European casualties were reported; three or four Tirailleurs
were wounded.

Although Mamadu Lamine escaped the Toubacouta debacle, his follow-
ing had been irreversibly dismembered. Pursued by the ruler of Fouladou-
gou and Bundunke soldiers, the cleric made his way west along the Gambia
until he reached the tiny village of N'Goga-Soukota, two or three kilometers
south of the river.120 No sooner did he reach the sanctuary than the
Fouladougou-Bundu forces surrounded him. He was fatally wounded, and
expired before he could be brought to the French camp. The hour of his
death occurred sometime between 9 and 11 December.121 The griot of
Fouladougou's ruler decapitated the body, satisfied with bringing the grisly
trophy back to the French camp.122

Commentary

Mamadu Lamine and al-hajj Umar are more similar than not in that they
were both driven by ambition and operated out of a vision to establish
theocratic empires. Notwithstanding their appeals to a universal religion,
both men had followings which were dominated by particular ethnic groups:
the Fulbe under Umar, and the Soninke under Mamadu Lamine. Likewise,
as Umar began his jihad from Futa Jallon against nearby Tamba, so
Mamadu Lamine identified non-Muslim Gamon as the initial target of his
campaign. However, the plans of the clerics diverge after this point. Umar
would go on to concentrate his efforts in the "pagan" east, and transported
his vision of Muslim domination to the Upper Niger. In contrast, Mamadu
Lamine sought to create a confederation or empire in his native Upper
Senegal. To a large extent, Umar's decision to focus on the east was
determined by the French conquest of the Upper Senegal; the Shaykh had
the option of going elsewhere. By the time of Mamadu Lamine's activities,
however, he had very few options: the French were in the Upper Senegal,
and the Umarians in the Upper Niger. His more accommodating posture
towards the French, therefore, was chiefly informed by the political realities
in which he found himself. Even so, it must be recalled that Umar also
sought some degree of accommodation with the French before their struggle
for the Upper Senegal.

While both leaders were motivated by religious ideals and personal
agendas, this was not necessarily the case for their constituencies. In par-
ticular, the followers of Mamadu Lamine were reacting to the expansion of
French military and economic control in the Upper Senegal, as evidenced by
military conscription, involuntary labor, and the intensification of agri-
cultural slavery. They were also responding to Sissibe domination; they were
therefore not so much agitating for a new theocracy as they were fighting
against the status quo. In this way, Mamadu Lamine was the beneficiary of
factors which he himself did not help to create. In contrast, al-hajj Umar's
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following was largely composed of those inspired by his vision, who were not
necessarily distruntled over socioeconomic conditions in the Middle and
Upper Senegal. To the extent that this is true is testimony to the extra-
ordinary abilities of the Shaykh.

Finally, both Umar and Mamadu Lamine fought the French, but the
former did so on a much larger scale, for a longer period of time, and with
much more resolve. During the period of the struggle for the Upper Senegal,
the Umarians were quite earnest in their bid to drive the French out. In
contrast, Mamadu Lamine, with the exception of his initial attack on Bakel,
was forever on the defensive, and fought reluctantly. While he engaged the
French, it was not out of a clear conviction that the European presence had
to be expunged. The view of him as an anticolonial figure is therefore not
altogether justified.

Though the duration of his activities was brief, Mamadu Lamine's accom-
plishments were impressive. In less than two months, he had defeated the
preeminent power of the region. But his "success" in Bundu can be directly
attributed to the destructive policies of Bokar Saada. In the midst of an
economic crunch, the Almaami had resorted to exorbitant taxation of his
subjects. Trying to minimize the political fallout of his measures, the
Soninke were selected to carry a disproportionate share of the burden.
Bundu unraveled into its constituent ethnicities, to all of which Mamadu
Lamine appealed. But the deep and unique despair of the Soninke commu-
nity in particular, along with the fractured loyalties of the Sissibe, were both
functions of Bokar Saada's policies, and suffice to explain Bundu's rapid
submission to Mamadu Lamine.

The "French Almaami"

With the defeat of Mamadu Lamine at the close of 1887, the French decided
to end once and for all any threat to its continued domination of Senegal. By
the latter part of 1888, most of western Senegal was under their control, with
the exception of Jolof.123 It fell two years later, with the help of Bundunke
forces among others. From 1890 to 1893, the new Commandant Superieur,
Louis Archinard, defeated Amadu Sheku and the east. That old nemesis
Abdul Bokar Kan was assassinated in 1891, leaving the French as the
uncontested rulers of all Futa Toro. It should be remembered that both
Abdul Bokar Kan and, to a lesser extent, Amadu Sheku had been supportive
of the French in their efforts to overcome Mamadu Lamine. Given the
overall French thrust since Faidherbe, no independent power could have
survived.

As far as Bundu was concerned, the French began to control the succes-
sion by selecting and placing into power their own candidates from among
the Sissibe contestants. There was no need to send the Tirailleurs to gain
control of the area; the French were already in command, and now assumed
the authority to dictate the terms of the almaamate. In a move that presaged
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subsequent events in Futa Damga and Segu, the French removed the
Bundunke ruler in 1888. Having backed Usuman Gassi all along, they had
been disturbed about Almaami Saada Amadi's lackluster performance in the
struggle with Mamadu Lamine. Therefore Gallieni, at that time still the
Commandant Superieur, deposed Saada Amadi in May of 1888. He was
replaced by Usuman Gassi.124

Usuman Gassi (1888-91) was not a passive participant in his own
ascension. He was one of the first to malign the conduct of Saada Amadi
during the last war, and his charges were the most serious.125 Already
suspicious of Saada Amadi, the French installed Usuman Gassi in Senoude-
bou. Saada Amadi, fearing for his life, fled to Futa Damga and took refuge
with Abdul Bokar Kan.126 From his asylum in Futa Damga, Saada Amadi
wrote to the Commandant of Bakel, protesting his ouster.127

The selection of Usuman Gassi was not well-received in Bundu; at least
three groups opposed him, differentiated on the basis of their distinct
grievances. One group was simply opposed to the French intervening in
Bundunke affairs, and continued to pay taxes to Saada Amadi in Futa
Damga.128 A second, more numerous faction was against Usuman Gassi
because of Usuman Gassi, not because of their reverence for Bundunke
succession law. For them, the new Almaami represented life under Bokar
Saada; Usuman Gassi had been one of the principal vehicles, if not an
architect, through which Bokar Saada carried out his policies. The military
prowess he displayed in fighting Mamadu Lamine was derivative of his
activities under his father, so that his rise was ominous.

A third group consisted primarily of Sissibe. Their opposition to Usuman
Gassi is most revealing. The basic problem was not Saada Amadi's ouster.
Rather, the installation of Usuman Gassi disrupted the succession process
\hdii followed Saada Amadi. There were four Sy "princes" who were ahead of
Usuman Gassi, in the following order: Amadi Cire, a nephew of Bokar
Saada; Saada Bokar, Bokar Saada's son; Amadi Usuman, another nephew
of Bokar Saada; and Umar Sane, Amadi Usuman's brother.129 Amadi Cire
and Saada Bokar resided at Senoudebou, while Amadi Usuman and Umar
Sane lived in Boulebane. The key to understanding the nature of the third
group's resistance is the fact that they all declared for Amadi Cire, not the
deposed Saada Amadi.130

The French responded to this potential difficulty by sending two separate
missions to Bundu in order to emphasize Saint Louis' support of Usuman
Gassi. Dorr went to Senoudebou in 1888, and reported that the new Almaa-
ra/'s brothers, courtiers, and notables all pledged their allegiance to the
French candidate.131 However, the resistance continued to manifest itself,
and in the spring of 1889, Briquelot was sent to Bundu by Archinard to
affirm the French position.132 He was instructed to visit all the important
villages, where he was to assemble the leaders and make it clear that Usuman
Gassi was the only Almaami recognized by the French. Anyone who did not
pledge to Usuman Gassi would be an enemy of France. In a report filed in
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May, Briquelot related that he had been successful in persuading Amadi
Usuman and Malik Ture (who followed Usuman Gassi in the order of
succession) to acknowledge the new Almaami.133

That Briquelot was only able to influence two principals indicates the
depth of resentment towards the French nomination. However, the
resentment was of a quality that did not require a military solution. In the
face of this passive resistance (by ignoring the ruler's imperatives and
refusing to pay taxes), Usuman Gassi showed himself an astute politician.
"Usuman was eager to declare that if he was the Almamy for the French,
Amady Cire will always be the true ruler of Bundu."134 From 1888 to 1889,
Amadi Cire was the effective ruler of Bundu, recognized by a majority of the
popular as well as the ruling strata.135 In response to Usuman Gassi's
diplomacy, the Bundunke elite ceased to resist, for the most part, his claim to
be the "French Almaami"136

Given the rapprochement between Usuman Gassi and Amadi Cire, the
French turned their attention to Saada Amadi in Futa Damga. When
Briquelot was in Bundu, his primary objective was to extinguish the fires
caused by Saada Amadi's deposition. He was instructed to ignore any
correspondence the Qx-Almaami might send.137 If the Bundunkobe brought
up his ouster, Briquelot was to remind them of Saada Amadi's supposed
cowardice in the wars against Mamadu Lamine. For his part, Saada Amadi
continued to remonstrate. He repeatedly reminded the Bundunkobe of his
forced exile, and of the illegality of Usuman Gassi's selection.138 His agi-
tation created concern; Saint Louis feared both the possibility of an internal
uprising and the invasion of Bundu by Abdul Bokar Kan and Saada Amadi.
To protect Usuman Gassi, the French sent a small company of soldiers to
Senoudebou, who remained throughout 1888.139 The Futanke grand elector
was repeatedly warned not to intervene on behalf of Saada Amadi.140 Archi-
nard in fact reports that a Futanke invasion on behalf of Saada Amadi was
under way in the spring of 1888, but that reinforcements from Kayes and
Bambuk convinced Abdul Bokar Kan to recall the mission before any
fighting actually occurred.141 Saada Amadi remained in Futa Damga until
Abdul Bokar Kan's death in 1891.142

French expectations concerning Usuman Gassi ran very high when he first
took office. Having performed so valiantly against Mamadu Lamine, he was
thought to be the ideal choice to lead Bundu into "prosperity." It was believed
that he could offset the considerable influence and prestige of Abdul Bokar
Kan; Archinard was convinced that he would defend Bundunke territory
against any encroachment from Futa Damga with the utmost vigor. Archi-
nard, in devising his grandiose schemes, envisioned a unitary Fulbe state. In
referring to Futa Toro and Futa Jallon, the "father of French imperialism"
observed that "these contingents are capable of being a great help to us once
they are united under the control of a single chief, the Almamy of Bundu."143

That is, the Commandant Superieur intended to build his upper valley policies
around the stable, reliable cornerstone that was Bundu.
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Usuman Gassi proved to be a major disappointment to the French.
"Surrounded by his wives and his griots, he became apathetic and absolutely
incapable of energy."144 Reflective of his primary concerns was his corres-
pondence with the French, a substantial proportion of which discusses at
length such matters as the death of his horse and the need for its
replacement.145 A disciple of Bokar Saada as well as a son, the Almaami
soon reverted to the policies of his father: exorbitant taxation and the illegal
confiscation of goods.146 As a result, Bundu remained underpopulated, with
even more emigratory activity towards Niani and Niocolo.

The highlight of his brief tenure was his voyage to Paris in 1889. Archi-
nard planned the trip in order to acquaint the Almaami with "some ideas on
the order of work and on organization."147 According to Ran$on, Usuman
Gassi's visit caused a considerable stir among the Parisians, who were quite
taken with his tall stature, exotic dress, and numerous entourage.148

However, Roux reports that he went back to Bundu "without one new idea,
happy to return to his cohort of griots, the privation of which had been very
painful for him."149 Archinard's vision of a single Fulbe entity under
Bundu's hegemony would have to await another Almaami. He never mater-
ialized.

Usuman Gassi participated in Archinard's campaign against Nioro. In the
course of this operation, the Almaami succumbed to a fever, and died 31
January 1891.150 He was survived by a single son, Amadi Usuman, having
reigned one year and eight months.151

At the death of Usuman Gassi, the French chose Malik Ture as Almaami
(1891-1902), as he had been one of the few Sissibe who had supported the
deceased ruler from the beginning. The decision, like that concerning
Usuman Gassi, was ill-received. Malik Ture was sixth in the order of
succession, behind Usuman Gassi.152 As a consequence, the new Almaami
was "abandoned" by the Sissibe and everyone else.153 The opposition to
Malik Ture was led by Amadi Cire and Amadi Usuman, who had led the
resistance to Usuman Gassi.154 This was the second time that the French had
bypassed the legal process, the second time that these two had been over-
looked. By this point in the history of Senegambia, however, it is clear that
the last concern on the part of the French was the offending of indigenous
sensibilities.

In addition to his problems with the Sissibe nobility, Malik Ture faced a
potentially disastrous challenge from Saada Amadi. Abdul Bokar Kan's
death in 1891 removed Saada Amadi's source of asylum; he returned to
Bundu, where he was embraced by many Sissibe and the royal awlube.155 He
immediately began agitating for his own empowerment, emphasizing the
illegality of Malik Ture's selection.156 Roux, Commandant at Bakel at the
time, finally put an end to the difficulty by arresting Saada Amadi in March
of 1892. He remained confined at Bakel until January of 1893, when he was
released. He again took refuge, this time in Futa Jallon, at which point the
sources cease to discuss him.157
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Malik Ture's reign was quiet, but not entirely uneventful. In 1893, he and
the French officer Hostains conducted campaigns against the Jakhanke
centers of Sillacounda, Samecounta, and Laminia, all in Niocolo. These
settlements had received considerable numbers of slaves from Samori in
payment for their prayers of support for the latter's military success, and
were therefore viewed by the French as allies of Samori. The result was
further Jakhanke emigration towards the Gambia, where they enjoyed
greater autonomy under the British.158

Bundu under Malik Ture also experienced the impact of some 20,000
people returning to the Senegal Valley from Kaarta between 1891 and 1893,
following the French conquest of the area. This repatriation was to some
degree mitigated by another outbreak of cholera at Bakel, Podor and
Dagana in August of 1893.159 At the same time, the influx of such a large
number of Fulbe repatriates and (in all probability) their slaves, combined
with the previous emigration of substantial numbers of Soninke during the
wars of Mamadu Lamine, resulted in a more ethnically balanced, albeit
smaller population. However, the Bundu to which they returned was very
different from the one they had left. Fields had been left unattended, and
cultivation languished. In response to the crisis, the repatriates focused their
energies on resuscitating the agricultural sector.

Abandoned by most of the important Sissibe, Malik Ture lived out his
tenure at Gabou, where the population was estimated at 500, most of whom
had come from Boulebane.160 Malik Ture had resided in Gabou as early as
1888, and chose to remain there to be in closer proximity to Bakel, given
Sissibe hostility. They never forgave his acceptance of the Almaami posi-
tion.161 Toward the latter end of his reign, he was reported to have been
surrounded by worthless griots and incompetent advisors.162 He died in
1902, having reigned fourteen years.163 He was the last of the Bundunke
almaamies.

Termination

On 4 February 1905, France officially ended the Bundunke almaamate. On
that day, Bundu was divided into two sections. The southern half (Bundu
meridional) was placed under chef de canton Abdul Sega, a resident of
Koussan and a former assistant to Bokar Saada.164 Northern Bundu (Bundu
septentrional) was given to chef du canton Wopa Bokar, who lived at Sen-
oudebou. Abdul Sega is registered as an Almaami in the Fonds Curtin, and
"reigned" for twelve years, having died in 1917.165 He was succeeded by his
son, Saada Abdul Sy, who was chef du canton from 1918 to 1954.166 Saada
Abdul Sy's widow, Maimouna Mamadu Sy, was among those interviewed by
Curtinin 1966.

Although both Abdul Sega and Wopa Bokar were Sissibe, they were far
removed from the almaamate according to the legal order. Their selection by
the French, and designation as chefs, was consistent with French policy since
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the removal of Saada Amadi in 1888, and indicates the view in Saint Louis
that the most effective way of ending the almaamate was through weakening
its ties to those most closely associated with it. Bundu had proved a loyal
friend and ally, but its insignificance relative to the general scheme of things
allowed the French to set it aside. In a real sense, the Bundunke almaamies
had been chefs du canton since Bokar Saada.
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Malik Sy, as portrayed by the Bundunke traditions, is not presented as a
scholar, but rather as a fashioner of amulets, a practitioner of the bdtin
sciences. Consequently, while not necessarily erudite, he nevertheless per-
formed the services of a cleric, and was considered to be a member of the
Torodbe. In view of this, the critical issue for the establishment of Bundu in
the late seventeenth century was the transformation of Malik Sy from an
advisor to the court to actually constituting the court. That is, the real
question facing Malik Sy was whether or not his leadership could be
extended from the domain of spirituality to that of political governance.
That the answer to this question was affirmative, notwithstanding Bundu's
inauspicious beginnings, is all the more remarkable in light of the available
paradigms. To be quite specific, there were no existing examples of success-
ful, clerically led polities anywhere in West Africa. The tubenan experience
had been nothing short of an unmitigated disaster; stability had been
re-introduced into the region via traditional forms of government. The
followers of Nasir al-Din had failed to sustain his reform movement, thus
casting considerable doubt upon any such subsequent attempts within Sene-
gambia. But at the same time, the policies of the Denyanke dynasty of Futa
Toro, Malik Sy's homeland, proved to be increasingly incompatible with the
needs of Muslims to pursue their faith in a secure environment, free of
harassment from officials fearful of lingering tubenan sentiments, and pro-
tected from the ravages of the transsaharan and transatlantic slave trades.

Given such conditions, Malik Sy founded a polity that was to be ruled by
clerics, but not necessarily governed by a strict adherence to Islamic law
(although it is possible that elements of sharia were implemented; the data
simply do not allow for a conclusive finding on this matter). As evidence of
this approach, non-Muslim communities would also be encouraged to reside
in Bundu, as it was very practical and beneficial to the new micro-state. This
was because southern Gajaaga, historically a land of asylum for political
refugees, was sparsely populated. Malik Sy and the early Torodbe leadership
sought to increase the population by various means, including the accept-
ance of non-Muslims. The need for increasing the population, combined
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with both the egalitarian ideals of the Torodbe and the identification of
southern Gajaaga with refuge, explains Bundu's early and abiding reception
of a variety of groups. Immigrants who were productive, and who could
contribute to the economy of the state, were highly valued; the fact that they
failed to embrace Islam, or that they were the political or social outcasts of
other societies, was immaterial. In Bundu they all found asylum, and
consented to live under an Islamic but tolerant political leadership.

From the foregoing, it is clear that Bundu adopted a pragmatic posture
from its inception. As the polity matured, its leadership emphasized the
state's commercial and agricultural growth, and tended to resist attempts at
reformation via the rigid application of sharia to either the structure of
government or the related social order. Within the context of the preceding
tubenan failure, and in conjunction with the ongoing danger emanating from
the slave trades, such an arrangement was most acceptable to the Muslim
community in Bundu. If anything, they sought to avoid further political
upheaval and uncertainty; indeed, this is why they came to southern
Gajaaga, the land historically associated with apolitical existence. This
pragmatic approach was further strengthened by the examples of governing
dynasties in the region, from some of which Malik Sy had learned aspects of
statecraft. The movement towards a moderate, anti-militant approach to
government was accelerated by the presence of the pacifist Jakhanke clerisy,
whose prestige quickly eclipsed that of the Sissibe in the realm of religion. In
turn, the spiritual ascendance of the Jakhanke, together with the pressures of
governing a temporal entity, encouraged the Sissibe to move away from
scholarly endeavors and piety, to which they had never made significant
pretense. As a result, the Sissibe leadership of Bundu began to function more
and more as a secular dynasty; that is, their foreign and domestic policies
were influenced more by considerations of expendiency than by religion. At
the same time, however, the Sissibe remained Muslim in the area of their
personal lives, and restricted positions of political and commercial influence
to other Muslims. In other words, Bundu began to function very early on as
a moderate Muslim power.

After a period of instability, the state was reconstituted by Maka Jiba, at
which time it can be considered a successful experiment. As such, it is within
the context of eighteenth and nineteenth century West Africa that the
characterization of Bundu as a pragmatic polity takes on greater meaning.
For it is during these centuries that West Africa became a veritable hotbed of
Islamic reformist activity, often assuming the proportions of social revo-
lutions via military campaigns; i.e., militancy. By the late nineteenth century,
there were few areas within West Africa which remained fundamentally
unchanged by the rise of militant Islam; Senegambia had certainly been
thoroughly affected by several successive waves of militant movements. It is
in light of the onset of militant Islam that Bundu becomes even more unique,
in that it struggled to remain distinctive from both non-Muslim powers and
militant entities.
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Under Maka Jiba, the gravitation of the Sissibe towards secular rule
intensified as a result of the area's commercial growth. Bundu greatly
expanded in the course of the eighteenth century, as it sought to exploit its
strategic position between the Upper Senegal and Gambia Rivers. The
productive and commercial sectors of the economy became intertwined, and
the success of these sectors undergirded the prosperity of Bundu itself. By
virtue of its location, Bundu rapidly grew from a collection of a few humble
villages into a state of some importance, with aspirations of becoming a
regional power. The emphasis within the ruling elite on agriculture, artis-
anry, and trade was such that any question of comprehensive Islamization
became positively unacceptable, as it was perceived as antithetical to the
welfare of the state. That is, in a climate of growing prosperity and economic
expansion, the disruption to the productive capacity of the Bundunkobe that
would accompany substantial social change was seen as undesirable and
dangerous. Hence, the economic growth of the realm served to reinforce
pragmatism among the ruling elite.

It is an observation of no small irony that the very success of the
Bundunke experiment was to some extent related to the development in
Senegambia of domestic, political, and social fissures of lethal potential. To
be more direct, the demonstration that the clerical community could in fact
wield temporal power did not go unnoticed among the Muslims of Futa
Jallon and Futa Toro. Indeed, the struggles of Bubu Malik and Maka Jiba
were greatly aided by elements from both territories, so that the eventual
consolidation of Muslim clerical power in Bundu necessarily reached the
hearing of those who would lead the jihads in the two Futas. This is not at all
to argue that the eighteenth-century social transformations experienced by
the two Futas were directly inspired by the example of Bundu; however, it is
to say that, whatever the actual factors of causation, the militant camps of
the Futas were cognizant of the Bundunke experiment. From the militant
perspective, the jihads and consequent implementation ofsharta within their
respective societies was in a very real sense the pursuit of the Bundunke
experiment to its logical end; i.e., the social implementation of religious
prescription by clerical leaders. Armed with the sure knowledge that clerical
temporal leadership was feasible in West Africa, the adherents of militant
Islam successfully prosecuted the jihad in the mountains of present day
Guinea and in the Middle Senegal.

The victory of militancy in the Futas proved to be an ominous develop-
ment for the Sissibe of Bundu, as it would result in external pressures for
Bundu to conform to the more complete ideal of Islamic theocratic rule as
expressed in the Futas. The creation of almaamates which embraced sharta
clearly illuminated the contrasting secular proclivities of the Bundunke
ruling elite, and found some support within Bundu to embrace comprehen-
sive reform, as can be seen in Amadi Gai's attempt to structural change in
response to external stimuli. The Bundunke elite, however, remained pre-
occupied with the economic health and political viability of the state within

177



Conclusion

the context of intense regional competition. The pragmatists remained
convinced of the sagacity of their approach, and felt their authority threat-
ened by those who argued for thoroughgoing reform. Indeed, the moderate
Bundunke view of the social upheavals of the Futas was very different from
that of the militants; for the former, the very duration of the jihads (1720s to
1740s in Futa Jallon, 1760s to 1770s in Futa Toro) was sufficient cause for
recoil, as disruption over such prolonged periods would surely spell the
decline of Bundu in the region. Armed with the approbation of the esteemed
Jakhanke clerisy, the Sissibe resisted the protestations of the reformers. That
the moderate order was maintained in the face of Islamic militancy is
testimony to both the efficacy of Sissibe pragmatism, and the dependence of
the Bundunke reformers upon the leadership and success of external mili-
tancy. With the removal of such support, the reform movement within
Bundu quickly withered away.

To be more specific, the division of the Sissibe into two branches was
eventually exploited by the Almaami Abdul Qadir of Futa Toro, whose
popularity and commitment to the expansion of the Islamic revolution
overwhelmed the position of Bundunke pragmatism in the last decade of the
eighteenth century. But the way in which Abdul Qadir orchestrated the
succession process was perceived by most Bundunkobe as a violation of their
sovereignty, so that the controversy over Islamic law became secondary to
that of legitimacy. The position of the Koussan branch, backed by Abdul
Qadir, was effectively undermined by the latter's lack of political sensitivity.
That position became even weaker with the summary execution of Sega Gai.
The entire political arrangement was greatly supported by the prestige of
Abdul Qadir; combined with the callousness he demonstrated towards the
Bundunkobe, his misfortunes in Cayor eventually led to his demise. With his
decline, the Koussan branch's position became untenable, and Amadi
Aissata was able to seize power in the name of Boulebane. His ascension
marked the reassertion of pragmatism in Bundu, without the state ever
having had an opportunity to experience the full implementation of sharia.

Under the leadership of the Boulebane branch in the mid-nineteenth
century, Bundu experienced its greatest territorial expansion. The principal
motivation was the growth of regional trade, accelerated by the estab-
lishment of the French fort at Bakel. As the competition increased, Bundu's
prominence became more and more pronounced, as it was able to exploit its
strategic location to its advantage vis-a-vis other neighboring states. By
virtue of its successful development, the forces of pragmatism became even
more entrenched, convinced that theirs was the appropriate method of
governance. However, French resistance to Bundunke hegemony in the
Upper Senegal was a major factor in preventing the former from realizing its
full potential.

The 1845 treaty with the French would again divide the Bundunke ruling
elite. For the Koussan branch in particular, the relinquishing of Bundunke
soil at Senoudebou was completely unacceptable. The French were neither
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Muslims nor Bundunke. Furthermore, from Senoudebou the French would
be able to monitor the agreement to halt trade with the British along the
Gambia. Finally, the French presence represented interference in Bundu's
internal affairs. This portentous development resulted in the degeneration of
relations between the two royal branches, as the ensuing controversy came
to preoccupy the attention of the Sissibe. In short order, other matters of
state became hostage to the debate between the branches.

The culmination of the controversy was armed conflict, into which entered
the luminary of the age, al-hdjj Umar. His advent once again raised the issue
of reform within Bundu. Once again, militancy was championed by someone
from outside Bundu. But the magnitude of this particular movement far
exceeded that led by Abdul Qadir. And, in contrast to Abdul Qadir's
emphasis upon administrative change, reform under Umar meant the sub-
mission of Bundu to his authority and its enlistment in his campaigns against
a "pagan" east. Bundu was literally swept away with the swelling tide of the
Umarian movement, along with the rest of Senegambia. So charged became
the atmosphere with religious and political expectancy that virtually the
whole of the Sissibe nobility embraced the vision of the Shaykh. Many would
pay the ultimate price in a foreign land, the Umarian east. Few dared to
swim against the powerful current of the Futanke'sy/Zzfld.

The rise of the Umarians coincided with the heightened interest of the
French in the Senegal Valley. The simultaneous development of both powers
in the region, followed by the acrimonious turn in their relations, spelled
disaster for the Bundunkobe, who were either relocated in Kaarta and the
Upper Niger, or forced to witness the gradual destruction of their land.
Because Bundu assumed such a role, the viability of the central government
was essentially destroyed, preventing the militants from ever having an
opportunity to govern the state.

In the contest for the Upper Senegal, Bundu was a major arena for the
conflicting forces of the Umarians and the French. The latter, while enjoying
superior firepower, needed someone to whom indigenous, anti-Umarian
elements could rally, and to whom political power could be entrusted. The
need was met in the person of Bokar Saada, who displayed all of the
characteristics of an opportunist in his rejection of the Umarian movement.
The French victory in the Upper Senegal, together with the 1860 "under-
standing" between Faidherbe and the Shaykh, left Bundu in the hands of this
descendant of Fulbe and Bambara nobility. With his ascendance, the
pragmatic-versus-militant dichotomy within Bundunke society effectively
came to an end; the vast majority of reformers relocated to the east, leaving
the west to the "infidels" and Bokar Saada.

Having initially begun his tenure as a French agent, Bokar Saada eventu-
ally fashioned commercial and diplomatic policies at variance with those of
Saint Louis. Such autonomy became possible through French preoccupation
with groundnut cultivation along the Wolof coast. But Bokar Saada inher-
ited a land seared by war and great hardship. He immediately embarked
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upon a series of campaigns into the Malinke states to the south, from which
he extracted slaves and others for purposes of population augmentation and
agriculture. But after a period of reconstruction, the Almaami began to exact
exorbitant taxation from the Mande-speaking populations. The Malinke
and Soninke components of Bundu now surpassed that of the Fulbe, many
of whom had resettled in the east. Bokar Saada's economic oppression
resulted in growing hostility and renewed emigration. His policies repre-
sented a refutation of the early established principle of toleration within a
heterogeneous state, and greatly exacerbated the problems of the Bundun-
kobe, begun earlier during the French-Umarian wars. Feared and despised,
Bokar Saada was the epitome of unrestrained power gone awry.

The Almaami(s policies created such depth of despair and discontent that,
immediately after his death, the state once more entered a period of war. In
this instance, the cleric Mamadu Lamine was able to seize control of the
state, having benefitted from anti-Sissibe and anti-French sentiment
throughout the Upper Senegal. The Bundunkobe, now largely Mande-
speaking, responded with enthusiasm to the cleric's call for the expulsion of
the Sissibe. Eventually, though reluctantly, the cleric would have to issue the
same call with regard to the French. This call represents, once again, an
external bid to direct internal change, and was eagerly received because of
Bokar Saada's oppression and French conscription policies. In the end,
however, Mamadu Lamine's efforts were frustrated and nullified by the
French, who were resolute in their determination to control the Upper
Senegal. With the defeat of this last clerically led movement, Bundu accepted
a much more insignificant role in the area, as the upper valley itself became
peripheral to the periphery of groundnut production along the Wolof coast
and astride the Gambia River.

In sum, the experiment in Islamic pragmatism begun by Malik Sy was,
with the exception of Bokar Saada's reign, a remarkable success. The polity
not only survived for approximately 200 years, but it expanded its territorial
control over the course of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. The
policies of the pragmatists resulted in prosperity for many of the Bundun-
kobe; fidelity to the original vision of a multiethnic state assured its steady
growth. While remaining opposed to the claims of the reformers, Bundu was
able to influence the development of Islamic government in the Futas. By
restricting administrative posts and commercial opportunities to Muslims,
and by supporting the activities of the Jakhanke clerisy, Bundunke leaders
encouraged the gradual Islamization of the society, so that by the end of the
eighteenth century, Bundu was declared by inhabitant and visitor alike as a
Muslim land.

The Sissibe of Bundu sought to maintain a balance between the demands
of religious law and the politico-economic realities of their time. Their
approach to the Islamization of their society was in sharp contrast to the
pattern of militancy in the Futas and under the Umarians. In many ways, the
contrast points to the fundamental question of what it means to be a Muslim
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Conclusion

in an environment characterized by rapid change and under the increasing
control of non-Muslim, foreign powers. As such, the contrast anticipates the
contemporary Muslim world's struggle to reconcile the words of the Prophet
with the challenges of post-modernity.
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Appendix A

Ruler list

Malik Sy
Bubu Malik

Tumane Bubu (in other traditions, a four
or five year reign)

Interregnum
Maka Jiba
Samba Tumane
Amadi Gai
Musa Gai
Sega Gai
Amadi Aissata
Musa Yero
Tumane Mudi
Malik Kumba
Saada Amadi Aissata
Amadu Sy
Second Civil War
Umar Sane
Bokar Saada
Umar Penda
Saada Amadi
Usuman Gassi
Amadi Cire
Malik Ture

Rancon

1693-99
1699-1718

not mentioned

1718-28
1728-64
1764
1764-85
1785-90
1790-94
1794-1819
1819-27
1827-35
1835-39
1839-51
1852-53
1852-54
1854-56
1856-85
1885-86
1886-88
1889-91
not mentioned
1891-1905

Curtin

(1700-2)-
(1719-27)

ended 1731-35
(1731-35)-64
not mentioned
1764-86
1786-90
1790-97
1797-1/1819
1819-26

1835-37
1837-51

Corrected

1698-99
1699-1715

1716-20
1720-64
1764
1764-86
1786-90
1790-97
1797-1/1819
1819-26

1835-37
1837-51

1853-54
1854-4/1857
1857-85

1886-5/1888
1888-91
1888-91
1891-1902
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Major events in Bundu

1699 Battle of Arondou
1699 Reconquest by Bubu Malik
1720-64 Invasion of "Ormankube"
1725-35 Samba Gelaajo Jegi is Satigi in Futa Toro
1740-43 Samba Gelaajo Jegi is Satigi in Futa Toro
8/1734 Ayuba Sulayman Diallo arrives at James Fort
1735 Thomas Hull visits
1744 Pierre David visits
1747-51 War with Sule N jai of Futa Toro
1773 Death of Ayuba Sulayman Diallo
1786 Rubault visits
1791 Houghton visits
1795 Mungo Park visits
1797 First Civil War begins
1800 Battle of Dara Lamine
1806-7 Death of Abdul Qadir
1817-18 War with Kaarta
1817 Bredif and Chastelus visit
1818 Mollien visits
1818-19 Gray and Dochard visit
11 /1820 Treaty with the French
1820 French fort at Bakel permanently established
8/1821 Musa Yero unsuccessfully attacks Tiyaabu
1829-32 Tuane Mudi campaigning in Wuli
1830s Incursions by the Moors and Kaarta
1838 Fox visits
1842 Assault by Bundu against Makhana, Tambucane
1843 Expedition by Huard-Bessiniere, Jamin, Raffenel, and Potin-Patterson
1844-^6 War with Guidimakha
8/1845 Treaty with the French
1846 Incursions by Guidimakha, Kaarta
1847 Raffenel's second visit
1847-50 Raids into Wuli, Niani, Kantora
1849-50 Raids into Guey
1853-54 Second Civil War
6/1854 French arms embargo
1/1855 Umarian victory over Kaartans at Kholu
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2/1855 Umarian victory at Yelimane
4/1855 FallofNioro
4/1855 Bakel, Senoudebou defended
6/1855 Senoudebou defended
7/1855 French destroy Tiyaabu, Kounguel
10/1855 Faidherbe meets Bokar Saada
2/1856 Formal submission of remaining Sissibe to Bokar Saada
2/1856 Umarians defeated at Borde (near Bakel)
3/1856 Umarians defeated at Debou
4-5/1856 Senoudebou defeated
1/1857 Usuman Saada defeated at N'Dioum
3/1857 Umarians defeated at Amadhie
4/1857 Invasions by Guidimakha
4/1857 Battle of Medine
8/1857 Battle of Somsom-Tata
1858 Umarian hijra
3/1858 al-hdjj Umar arrives in Goundiourou
4—5/1858 al-hdjj Umar occupies Boulebane
5/1858 Beginning of widespread famine
10/1859 Battle of Guemou
8/1860 Faidherbe and al-hdjj Umar recognize separate spheres
1861-85 Raids by Bokar Saada into Bambuk, Wuli, Niocolo, Tenda, Niani, Kantora,

Kada
4/1872 Bokar Saada defeated at Bofel
1/1886 Mamadu Lamine invades Bundu
2/1886 Mamadu Lamine controls most of Bundu
4/1886 Bakel defended
6/1886 Umar Penda killed at Fissa-Daro
9/1886 Senoudebou defended
12/1886 French arrive at Dianna
12/1887 Bundu becomes French protectorate
12/1887 Toubacouta falls
12/1887 Death of Mamadu Lamine
5/1888 Saada Amadi deposed by Gallieni; replaced by Usuman Gassi
5/1888 Amadi Cire becomes "Almaami of Bundunkobe"
2/1905 Bundunke Almaamate officially ended by the French
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Appendix C

Descendants of Malik Sy
Ibn Morvan

I (married woman of Toro)

Hamet

D'Diob-Hamet Daouda
Hamet

Malik Sy

Maty-Hamet Tieougue-Hamet

Almaami Boubakar (Futa Jallon)

• Bubu Malik
(Eliman)

Tumane Malik Mudi Malik

Tumane Bubu
Malik Sy

Mudi Bubu
Malik Sy

MakaJiba (Eliman) Alium Bubu Malik

Amadi Gai
(Almaami)

Samba
Tumane
(Eliman)

Musa Gai
(Almaami)

Umar Musa

Malik Musa

Sega Gai
(Almaami)

Bubacar
Sega

Pate Gai

Amadi Pate
Gai (ruled
briefly 1797)

Amadi
Aissata
(Almaami)

Malik
Aissata

Musa Yero
(Almaami)

Usuman
Tunkara

Appendix C Descendants of Malik Sy
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Descendants of Amadi Gai and Amadi Aissata
Amadi Gai (Almaami)

Amadi
Makumba

Sega
Amadi Gai

Salif
Amadi Gai

Abd al-Rahman
Amadi Gai

Tumane
Mudi
(Almaami)

Malik
Kumba
(Almaami)

Amadu Sy
(Almaami)

Saada Amadi Aissata
(Almaami)

Amadi Aissata (Almaami)

Umar Sane (Almaami)

Appendix D Descendants of Amadi Gai and Amadi Aissata
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Descendants of Saada Amadi Aissata and the line of succession (1886)

Amadi Saada
(Boulebane leader)

Saada Amadi
(Almaami)

Saada Amadi Aissata

I

Bokar Saada
(Almaami)

Saada Bokar

Amadi Bokar

Usuman Gassi (Almaami)

Cire
Suma

Amadi Cire
(Almaami)

Koli
Mudi

Usuman
Saada
(Boulebane
Leader)

I
Amadi Usuman

Umar Sane

Malik Ture (Almaami)

Umar
Penda
(Almaami)

Bokar Saada
(or Bokar Umar)

Wopa Bokar

Cire Ture

Musa Yero

Sulayman Bokar

Sega Bokar Order of succession at Umar Penda's death (Dec. 1886): 1.) Saada Amadi
2.) Amadi Cire 3.) Saada Bokar 4.) Amadi Usuman 5.) Umar Sane
6.) Usuman Gassi 7.) Malik Ture

Appendix E Descendants of Saada Amadi Aissata and the line of succession (1886)



Appendix F

The Sissibe Umarians

This is a list of the sons of the almaamies, indicating those who followed al-hajj Umar. It must be
remembered that the Sissibe included many members beyond the almaamies' immediate fami-
lies, and it may be assumed that the remaining Sissibe followed the Shaykh in proportions
similar to the group under consideration.

Musa Yero

Demba Musa
Saada Dude
Bala Setai

Malik Kumba

Samba Gaissiri
Musa Yero Malik
Bubacar Malik
Boila Malik
Alium Malik

Sada Amadi Aissata

Koli Mudi
Usuman Saada
Bokar Saada
Amadi Saada
Cire Suma
Umar Penda

-Umarians

-Umarians

-Umarian
- Umarian

Tumane Mudi

Umar Bili Kari
Abdul Salum
Ali Gitta
Hamet
Bubacar Sidiq
Sega Tumane
Suracoto
Samba Tumane
al-Kusun
Abbas
Ibrahim Tenendia
Salif

Amadu Sy

Amadi Amadu
Tumane Amadu
Musa Yero
Sega Amadu

Umar Sane

- Umarians

> -Umarians

- Umarian
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Treaty of 1820

Conditions aux quelles les Francais s'engagents1

1. Les Fran9ais s'engagent a accorder a tous les habitans de Bondou, qui viendraient au poste.
2. Les Francais s'engagent a proteger le commerce entre eux et les gens de Bondou et a les

faciliter de tous les moyens.
3. Les Francais ne prendront aucune part aux guerres qui pourraient avoir lieu dans le pays.

Conditions aux quelles Almaamy s'engage
1. L'Almamy de Bondou s'engage a proteger tous les Europeens ou leurs envoyes dans le pays,

sous sa domination, a empecher qu'il ne leur fait aucun tort, ni dommage.
2. L'Almamy promet de faciliter le commerce avec les Europeens, de proteger tous ceux des

contrees environnantes, qui viendraient a Baquel dans ce but.
3. L'Almamy promet enfin de ne se joindre d'aucune maniere a ceux qui seraient ennemis des

Francais.

Fait et clos a Baquel, le 12 Novembre, 1820.
Signe: Hesse

ANF-OM, Senegal IV-15; ANS 136, 242.
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Treaty of 1845

Traite avec FAlmamy du Boundou pour la concession d'un terrain devant servir a etablir un
comptoir commercial a Senoudebou.1 (Aout 23, 1845).

A la Gloire du tout puissant Createur du ciel, de la terre et des mers, pere Eternal et unique de
tous les Etres vivants.

Entre Saada Almamy du Boundou et la comission nomme par M. Thomas Gouverneur du
Senegal et Dependances; composee de

M.A. Parent, Directeur du
Genie, President.
Menn Dessable Chirurgien, 2e

Classe de marine.
Paulholle, Commandant le poste
de Bakel.
Potin-Patterson, Gerant de la
Compagnie de Galam, a Senoudebou.

Article ler. II a ete convenu ce qui suit: L'Almamy du Boundou cede a la France en toute
propriete un terrain situe pres du tata de F Almamy, ayant pour longeur six cents pas d'un grand
homme a partir de la Riviere allant dans l'interieur a cinq cents pas d'un grand homme pour
largeur a partir du tata allant plus bas pour y etablir un comptoir commercial pres d'un village
de Senoudebou pour le montant de:

100 pieces de Guinee bleue
100 fusils dont 10 a 2 coups et 90 simples
100 grains d'Ambre
100 grains de Corail
100 bagateller

Qui leur ont ete remis entre les mains "aussitot" apres la Signature du traite.

Article 2. Independamment du Prix d'achat du terrain le Gouvernement francais s'engage de
payer annuellement et aux principaux chefs designes ci apres les coutumes suivantes.

A l'Almamy
40 Objets dont 30 pieces de Guinee bleue.
20 fusils (10 a deux coups et 10 de munitions).
A ceux qui le remplaceront
a Amady son fils (apres la
mort de Saada) sur les quarante
objets precites, 20 a chacun;
10 fusils et 10 pieces de
Guinee.
A Alcaty Chiapato.
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Un fusil a deux coups 1 piece de coton blanc.
1 piece de Guinee bleue. 1 piece de mousseline.

A son fils Boubakar a Senoudebou.
Un fusil a deux coups. 5 pieces de Guinee bleue.

Article 3. L'Almamy du Boundou prend Tengagement par ce traite de proteger notre com-
merce et de faire arriver au Comptoir tous les produits de leur pays et d'empecher les caravanes
de se diriger vers la Gambie.

Article 4. Au moyen des coutumes annuelles, FAlmamy du Boundou donne droit au comptoir
de couper des arbres pour les constructions, 2.) de couper du bois a bruler et a faire des briques,
3.) de prendre de la terre des pierres ou du sable partout ou il n'existera pas de culture, 4.) de
pecher et de ramasser des coquilles dans la riviere de Faleme.

Article 5. Les coutumes annuelles de 1845 a 1846 ont remises au Roi et aux chefs en presence
de la comission.

Fait double a Senoudebou ecrit en Arabe et en frangais le toute arrete et convenu en notre
presence le 23 Aout-1845.

Approuve: Le Gouverneur
Signe: Thomas

Signe: Parent, Menn Des-
sable, Paulholle, et Patterson.

ANS 13G, 242.
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Treaty of 18 August 1858

Article 1. En reconnaissance des services qui lui ont ete rendus, l'Almamy du Boundou,
Boubakar Saada, declare en son nom et au nom de ses successeurs, que, outre le cours de la
Faleme, les territoires suivent appartiennent a la France en toute propriete.1

1.) Le territoire de Senoudebou, dont Boubakar evacuera la partie qu'il occupe des que
les circonstances le lui permettront.

2.) Une route de 30 metres de largeur de Senoudebou a Bakel.
3.) Le territoire du village de Ndangan.
4.) Une route de 20 metres de largeur de Ndangan a Kenieba.
5.) Une route de 20 metres de largeur conduisant directement de Senoudebou, rive

droite, a Kenieba.
Le trace de ces routes est au Choix du Gouvernement francais.

Article 2. L'Almamy ne percevra aucun droit sur les caravanes qui viennent de l'Est direct-
ement a Senoudebou.

Article 3. Quand Boubakar aura quitte Senoudebou, il ne mettra aucun obstacle a que des
gens du Bondou, libres de leurs personnes, viennent grossir les populations de nos villages.

Article 4. Les Francais auront la facilite de fonder un etabissement sur la haut Faleme,
lorsqu'ils le jugeront a propos, en dedommageant les proprietaires du terrain s'il est occupe.

Article 5. Les Francois sont completement maitres et independants dans leurs etablissements.
Us laisseront le gouvernement du pays a ses Chefs naturels Boubakar Saada et ses successeurs.

Article 6. Tous les traites ou Conventions anterieures sont abroges.

Signe: L. Faidherbe
Boubakar Saada

Ont signe comme temoins:
Coquet, capitaine, commandant de Senoudebou
Bonnet, capitaine d'artillerie, chef d'etat major.

ANF-OM, Senegal IV, 44d.
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Treaty of 15 August 1858

Article 1. Pour mettre fin aux discussions entre Bougoul, chef de Farabanna et du Niagalla, et
Boubakar Saada, almamy du Bondou, le Gouverner decide que le marigot de Lally separera le
territoire dont les habitants obeissent a Bougoul.1

Article 2. Les sujets de l'Almamy, comme les Malinkes du Bambouck, exploiteront les mines
d'or de Cotily concurrement avec les Francais.

Article 3. Pendant les deux premieres annees, pour que le gouvernement franc.ais puisse se
rendre compte de la richesse des mines de Cotily, tout Tor extrait par les indigenes sur ce point
sera vendu a l'administration des mines au prix moyen de deux gros pour une piece de guinee,
ou pour d'autres marchandises au prix courant debattu entre les parties.

L'administration des mines sera pourvue de toutes les marchandises dont les indigenes ont
besoin, elle aura soin de ne pas faire monter le prix de Tor dans leur pays.

Signe: L. Faidherbe
Bougoul

Boubakar Saada

Ont signe comme temoins:
Le Directeur des mines: Maritz
Le capitaine d'artillerie, chef d'etat major: Bonnet.

Lamartiny, Etudes, p. 55.
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Treaty of 12 November 1869

Between His Excellency Colonel Samuel Wensley Blackall, Governor-in-Chief of the West
African Settlements, on behalf of Her most Gracious Majesty, Victoria, by the grace of God
Queen of Great-Britain and Ireland, and Barcary Sardho, King of Bondou, concluded, ratified,
and confirmed by Benjamin Tanner, esquire, specially appointed by his Excellency the said
Governor-in-Chief for that purpose.1

1. There shall be peace and friendship between the subjects of the Queen of England and the
people, subjects of the said Barcary Sardho, King of Bondou.

2. The lives and properties of the subjects of the Queen of England, and of all other persons
living under Her Majesty's protection in the British Settlements on the River Gambia, shall be
inviolate, and no country law, or customs is to be put in force against them, nor are any of the
Queen's subjects or other persons living under Her Majesty's protection to break through any
country law, or customs, or to commit any illegal act within the territory or upon any of the
subjects of the said Barcary Barcary [sic] Sardho, King of Bondou.

3. The said King of Bondou does hereby acknowledge the rights which the subjects of the Queen
of England have heretofore and at all times enjoyed, of free and uninterrupted intercourse for
trade and commerce, and for all other legitimate purposes in and throughout the countries
adjacent to and bordering on both banks of the River Gambia and its branches, and Barcary
Sardho, King of Bondou, does hereby on his own part confirm, guarantee, and assure the same
to the subjects of the Queen of England this right of free and unrestricted intercourse, so far as
his own country and his power and influence extends, and further engages that the subjects of
the Queen of England shall be allowed to remain in peaceable possession of the lands and
houses or factories which they have purchased or hired in the countries [and] territories adjacent
to and bordering on the said River Gambia, nor shall the goods of the Queen's subjects be seized
nor their persons harmed, and if the subjects of the Queen of England are wronged or ill-treated
by the subjects of the said Barcary Sardho, King of Bondou, he will punish those who wrong
and ill-treat Her Majesty's subjects.

4. The aforesaid Barcary Sardho, King of Bondou, engages not to enter into any war or commit
any act of aggression on any of the Chiefs bordering on the banks of the said River Gambia by
which the trade of the country with the British settlement on the River Gambia shall be
interrupted, and the safety of the persons and property of the subjects of the Queen of England
shall be lost, compromised, or endangered.

5. The paths shall be kept open through the kingdom of Bondou to other countries and down to the
banks of the said River Gambia, so that English traders may carry goods through the said country
to sell or barter them elsewhere, and the traders of other countries may bring their goods or
produce through the said country to trade with the English people freely and without molestation.

197



Appendices

6. If the people or subjects of the King of Bondou take away the property of an English person,
or should not pay their just debts to any English person, the aforesaid King engages to do all he
can to make the people restore the property taken away and pay their debts, and if English
people should take away the property of the people or subjects of the said King of Bondou, or
should not pay just debts due to the said people, the said King shall make known the
circumstances to the Officer for the time being Administering the Government of the Gambia,
who will do all in his power to make the English person restore the property and pay their debts.

7. For the purposes of this Treaty all French subjects resident in the British Settlement on the
River Gambia shall be considered to enjoy the same rights and privileges and be subject to the
same stipulations as British subjects.

8. In consideration of the foregoing stipulations of this Treaty being agreed upon and strictly
adhered to on the part of the said Barcary Sardho, King of Bondou, aforesaid, and of his
successors, his Excellency Colonel Samuel Wensley Blackall, Governor-in-Chief of the West
Africa Settlements, agrees for himself and successors in the said office on the part of Her
Majesty the Queen of England to pay or cause to be paid annually on the first day of July in each
year at M'Carthy's Island the sum of two hundred and fifty dollars to any person duly
authorized by the said King of Bondou to receive the same.

9. The said King of Bondou shall within forty and eight hours of the ratification of this Treaty
proceed to proclaim the same throughout his territory.

Done in duplicate and signed by both parties at M'Carthy's Island on the twelfth day of
November in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and sixty-nine (1869).

(Signed) B. Tanner
For the King of Bondou: (Arabic) Sangary Signarty for the King of

Bondou.

Witnesses to signature -
(Signed) Edward Duxeault.
(Signed) Edward Hughes.

Translation of Barcary Sardho's Endorsement on this Treaty

Barcary Sardho sends his compliments to the King of M'Carthy's Island.
Since the time we agreed there is fifty pounds between us every year.
(He then sends his compliments to all the merchants).
Malamin Jammy is to take the customs and the arrears that are due.
Read by Moree Sao and translated by Thomas B. Moore in the presence of Edward Duxeault.

NAG, Class 54, Piece no. 9.
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